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Key Figures
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Infranor Group       
1,000 CHF 03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08

    

Sales 67,827 60,706 62,731 71,287 75,564

Change versus previous year as % 7,0 – 10,5 3,3 13,6 6,0

Gross margin as % of sales 53,4 55,5 56,5 56,2 56,8

EBIT 3,647 1,122 4,182 4,530 5,402

Change versus previous year as % 33.1 – 69.2 272.7 8.3 19.2

as % of sales 5,4 1,8 6,7 6,3 7,1

Net profi t/(loss)Net profi t/(loss)Net profi 1,563 – 674 1,140 2,202 2,790

Change versus previous year as % 349,1 – – 93,2 26,7

Return on sales as % 2,3 – 1,8 3,1 3,7

RONOA  (Return On Net Operating Assets) as % 10.8 3.8 15.0 15.4 17.0

EVA (Economic Value Added) 817 – 737 1,429 1,119 1,101

Cash fl ow from operating activities 3,032 2,213 2,437 680 5,205

Change versus previous year as % 4.2 – 27.0 10.1 – 72.1 665.4

as % of sales 4,5 3,6 3,9 1,0 6,9

Free cash fl owFree cash fl owFree cash fl 2,190 1,368 93 – 2,059 3,822

as % of sales 3,2 2,3 0,1 – 2,9 5,1

Total assets 45,627 41,049 41,246 47,565 48,248

Shareholders’ equity 5,639 4,150 5,380 7,728 14,033

Equity ratio (%) 12,0 10,0 13,0 16,2 29,1

Return on equity (%) 31,5 – 13,8 23,9 33,6 25,6

Number of employees 284 283 269 298 299

Sales in 1,000 CHF Gross margin as % EBIT in 1,000 CHF Net profit in 1,000 CHF
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Infranor Inter Securities

Key stock figures       
03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08

    

Number of bearer shares as at 30.4. 635,750 640,800 640,800 642,925 775,496

    

Share capital as at 30.4.  million CHF 12.7 12.8 12.8 12.8 15.5

Dividend per bearer share  CHF 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.50 2.00

Payout ratio  % 41,0 – 55,0 43,0 54,8

Consolidated EBIT per share  CHF 5.74 1.75 6.53 7.05 6.97

Consolidated earnings per share  CHF 2.46 – 1.07 1.80 3.49 4.00

Consolidated equity per share  CHF 8.87 6.48 8.40 12.02 18.09

P / E ratio 19.4 – 21.7 13.8 11.3

    
Stock prices       
CHF 03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08

    

High 49.00 50.25 42.50 52.00 51.75

Low 34.05 38.00 31.50 25.30 40.00

As at 30.4. 47.75 42.50 39.00 48.00 45.00

    
Market capitalization       
million CHF 03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08

As at 30.4. 

    
Key  figures convertible bond       

03/04 04/05 06/07 07/08 07/08

Number of bonds at year-end 897,000 876,800 876,800 868,300 338,016

Number of bonds converted     

in the course of the year 3,000 20,200 0 8,500 530,284

Prices     

High in % 104.00 104.50 101.50 120.00 112.00

Low in % 98.00 97.50 97.50 99.00 107.00

As at 30.4. in % 104.50 97.50 101.50 112.00 110.50

  

  

Share price performance of bearer share

Infranor in comparison
with SSCI

Infranor
SSCI
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Activities
Infranor, which was established in 1941, has 
focussed its activities on the automation of 
mechanical processes in industry since 1959. 

Infranor automation solutions provide quick, 
precise individual movements in machin-
ery and overall control of machinery, systems 
and equipment used in industrial manu-
facturing, the packaging industry, industrial 
handling, the process industries for food, 
chemicals, pharmaceuticals and textiles, plas-
tic and paper processing as well as in me-
dical and nuclear engineering. Thanks to a     
wide range of experience in many differ-
ent application areas, Infranor is also in a 
position to take on markets with new de-
mands at any time. Infranor sells automation 
solutions ranging from individual compo-
nents to entire systems that have been devel-
oped and adapted in accordance with cus-
tomer requirements. In these applications, we 
mainly use our own servo motors, elec-
tronic systems, controllers and software. These 
components drive, regulate and control 
movements, coordinate multiple axes and 
control entire machines.

Infranor’s target is to achieve a high level 
of value creation by providing applications 
in forward-looking niche markets that re-
quire extensive know-how, excellent engi-
neering skills and flexibility for product 
adaptations.

Core competence
Infranor’s core competence is in intelligent 
mechatronics: electronic signals are con-
verted into controlled movements, and the 
interaction thereof is then coordinated 
in programmable systems. Infranor combines 
the synergies of different engineering 
disciplines with this mechatronic approach. 
This core competence applies to all of 
the Infranor Group’s activities.

Organisation
The Infranor Group operates on the market 
with two divisions – Infranor and Cybelec.

Infranor Division
The Infranor Division forms a worldwide 
network of independent operational
units that provide customer-specific opti-
mised industrial-automation solutions. 
The engineering companies are the decen-
tralised link to markets and customers. 
They have autonomous, extensive problem-
solving expertise in the use of individual 
components and combinations thereof and 
for creating entire systems. The scope of 
their work includes engineering, the sale of 
Infranor products and complementary 
products and service. The Infranor Support 
Centre in Switzerland is available to them 
for dealing with complex problems. 

Infranor – Added value with controlled motion

Infranor Group   Annual Report 2007/2008   Profile

Profile
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The product companies provide sophisticat-
ed, self-developed base products that 
can be adapted to customer requirements. 
Their components can be systemati-
cally combined with other Infranor pro-
ducts. The scope of their work includes 
product development and production plus 
sales and service. With their know-how 
and presence in different regions, they re-
present a source of important technical 
support for the engineering companies.  

Cybelec Division
The Cybelec Division is a world market 
leader for the continuous automation of 
bending presses based on numeric control-
lers. Cybelec has acquired this position 
by means of a range of products that covers 
all aspects of bending presses. Cybelec 
is a leader in every product category – from 
entry level to mid-range and the high end. 

To its customers, Cybelec is a full-range pro-
vider of everything that has to do with 
bending presses, with electric drives and 
electronics. For two years, Cybelec has 
also provided machine controllers for the 
machine-tool industry under the brand 
name Fastware. It also provides the engineer-
ing companies of the Infranor Division 
with supervisory controllers for general auto-
mation solutions.

Markets
The Infranor Group supplies to manufactur-
ers of all kinds of production materials. 
The company’s main sales territories are the 
three primary geographical markets for 
automation: Europe, North America and Asia. 
The total volume of these markets for 
servo motors, amplifiers, regulators, control-
lers and electronic system components 
is several billion Swiss francs. The classical 
industrial markets of Europe and the 
USA grow by an average of 3 percent at a 
high level, and the new Asian markets 
are showing growth rates of  about 10 per-
cent, albeit starting at a relatively low 
level. The activities of the Infranor Group 
in the automation market are concen-
trated on niches in which it works out opti-
mum solutions in close technical colla-
boration with customers.

Strategy
Both divisions address their customers di-
rectly and specifically via the Internet 
and technical exhibitions. Synergies between 
the two divisions are actively exploited.

The Infranor Division operates as an indus-
try-independent specialist for automation 

– – 

– – 

Fields of Activity
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Sustainability
Human Resources
It is extremely important for the future suc-
cess of the Infranor Group to ensure that 
the company has qualified employees, also 
when the company expands its activities. 
This goal will be achieved by recruiting suit-
able new employees and providing conti-
nuous internal training, particularly from
the Infranor Support Centre. 

Environment
Value is placed on conscious ecological be-
haviour in everyday operation in all of 
the Infranor Group companies. Energy-sav-
ing measures in the overall manufac-
turing process and extensive recyclability 
of products and their packaging are a 
matter of course.

  

solutions. Servo motors with intelligent am-
plifiers and supervisory controllers from 
our own development and production are 
the main products being used.

The Cybelec Division operates as an indus-
try-related full-range supplier that 
employs non-Infranor sales channels.

Both divisions aim to achieve growth that is 
organic and also possibly through acqui-
sitions (should the opportunity arise). The 
main focus of the Infranor Division is 
on increasing its market share by means of 
new products and special application 
solutions. The division increases its market 
presence by reinforcing existing sales 
structures and making fill-in acquisitions 
wherever possible. Geographical expan-
sion is also a possibility. As well as increasing 
its share of the market, the Cybelec 
Division seeks to expand inside and outside 
the sheet-metal processing industry and 
particularly by expanding into related pro-
cesses and new niche markets.  

Financial targets
The growth strategy of the Infranor Group 
is mainly oriented to increasing profits. 
The plan is to achieve an EBIT margin of 
more than 10 percent in the medium 
term. The prerequisites for this are a profit-
able increase in sales, conscientious 
margin management and careful monitoring 
of operating costs. 

– – 

– – 

Infranor Group   Annual Report 2007/2008   Profile  
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branch-specific financial indicators. The 
American business of both divisions was re-
strained, which was further accentuated 
by the exchange rate trend between the dol-
lar and the Swiss franc. On the other 
hand, sales with China increased signifi-
cantly compared to the previous year 
with a double-digit increase. However, this 
started at significantly lower numbers. 

The Cybelec Division was able to fully ex-
ploit its market strength and benefited 
accordingly from strong market demand. 
The Infranor Division took on its power-
ful competition by expanding its activities in 
the know-how-intensive system business. 
The Zurich-based international Infranor 
Support Centre was established for 
this purpose. The Support Centre backs up 
the high level of expertise of the local 
companies with its extensive systems know-
ledge and therefore puts them in a posi-
tion to provide their customers with compre-
hensive solutions.

Structural and organisational improvements  
In the 2007/08 financial year, Group man-
agement was involved in projects to in-
crease efficiency and sales, most of which 
will have an effect on results for the 
current financial year. 

An extensive project for a global Infranor 
web site has been started in the Mar-
keting Department. After technical exhibi-
tions, the Internet is currently the most 
important source of information for custom-
ers. Adapting the web site to today’s cus-
tomer requirements is being accompanied 
by a branding project, the intention of 
which is to make Infranor's market presence 

Split into two divisions
In the 2007/08 financial year, the Infranor 
Group introduced a new organisational 
structure with the Infranor and Cybelec Divi-
sions. These two divisions also determine 
segment reporting from this Annual Report 
onwards. 

This restructuring will provide more focus 
on the different activities, capabilities 
and markets of the two divisions. Both inter-
nal and external clarity about the range 
of services is achieved, and the different struc-
tures of the two divisions that are required 
can be managed in parallel without problems. 

As a result of the reorganisation, Dr. Jean-
Pierre van Griethuysen (head of the 
Cybelec Division) has been appointed as  
one of the Infranor Group managers. 
The Infranor Division will continue to be 
managed concurrently by the CEO of 
the Group.

Market trends  
The Cybelec Division has particularly bene-
fited from positive financial develop-
ments in Europe and Asia. Its contribution 
to the 4 million CHF increase in net 
sales of the Group was 80 percent. The 
Infranor Group did not expand as 
much because of various geographical and 

Infranor Group   Annual Report 2007/2008   Business Year 2007/2008  

The 2007/2008 Financial Year
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more focussed and efficient. In order to 
ensure that there is a rational, continuous 
and uniform flow of information within 
the Group, a global  IT project has been in-
itiated, which will be implemented over 
the next two to three years. In order to com-
ply with the new legal obligations that 
have been in force since 1 June 2007 to pro-
vide proof of an internal monitoring system
(IMS), an IMS with multilingual software was 
started up in the entire Group in May 2008. 

The new organisational structure was also 
implemented in the legal structure of the 
Infranor Group. Thus, now all companies 
of the Infranor Division are included in the 
subholding Infranor Holding SA, inclu-
ding the non-operative ISA Innovation SA, 
which is responsible for patent manage-
ment, and the real estate company Violet-In-
dim Sarl. Cybelec SA, in Yverdon-les-Bains, 
is the operative headquarters and parent com-
pany of both the subsidiaries Cybelec Srl. 
in Milan and Cybelec Numerical Control 
Technology (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. As a result, 
the Infranor Inter AG quoted on the stock 
market has only three subsidiaries: Infranor 
Holding SA, Cybelec SA and ISA Manage-
ment SA.

Comments on financial results
Group net sales increased by 6.0 percent 
from 71.3 million CHF to 75.6 million CHF, 
47.7 million CHF of which was achieved 
by the Infranor Division (previous year: 47.1 
million CHF). The main contributors to 
this growth were Germany and England and 
the product companies Infranor Elec-
tronics and Mavilor Motors. Net sales for the 
Cybelec Division was 27.8 million CHF 
(24.2 million CHF). Cybelec was therefore 

responsible for the majority of the growth. 
The increase was distributed proport-
ionally over all countries in which the divi-
sion operated. 

In spite of considerable price pressure, gross 
margin was increased from 56.2 percent 
to 56.8 percent at Cybelec, mainly due to cost 
cutting, which in conjunction with the 
additional sales resulted in an increase of 
2.8 million CHF. 

Total Group costs increased by 1.6 million 
CHF or 4.8 percent, almost all as a result 
of higher personnel expenses due to salary 
adjustments as well as strategic and 
sales-related personnel additions. Overall, 
an EBIT margin increase of 7.1 percent 
(6.3 percent) was achieved. Net profit in-
creased by 26.7 percent to 2.8 million 
CHF (2.2 million CHF). This corresponds 
to a net profit ratio of 3.7 percent, 
i.e. a return on equity of 25.6 percent. 

A good operating cash flow of 5.2 million CHF operating cash flow of 5.2 million CHF operating cash
(0.7 million CHF), minus investments 
for the machine-tool park at Mavilor Motors, 
for IT and for the Cybelec building, 
led to free cash flow of 3.8 million CHF 
(− 2.1 million CHF).

Consolidated balance sheet
Total assets increased by 0.7 million to 
48.2 million CHF, or by 1.4 percent. This re-
sulted from the extraordinarily good 
net sales in April of 1.1 million CHF, an 
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Mavilor Motor NovagammaMavilor Motor Novagamma

Sales shares
by product

Servomotors 31%

Controllers 25%

Numerical
taxes 30%

Services  8%

Traded products 6%

Sales by geographic
region

Switzerland 14%

Europe excl.
Switzerland 68%

North America 8% 

Asia/Africa  10%
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Board of Directors and Annual 
General Meeting
As was announced, Nicolas Eichenberger is 
standing down as President of the Board 
of Directors as of April 30, 2008. He will re-
main a Member of the Board of Directors 
as Vice President. His successor is Martin 
Bölsterli, who will hand over his post of CEO 
to his successor during the course of the 
year.

Because of the positive results of the Infranor 
Group, the Board of Directors is recom-
mending the distribution of a dividend of 10 
percent of the par value, or 2.00 CHF 
per share, at the Annual General Meeting 
on September 11, 2008.

Thank you
From trainee to operations manager and 
from bookkeeper to fitter, our employ-
ees have done their utmost to improve the 
Infranor Group’s situation again this 
year. They therefore deserve our thanks. We, 
of course, would also like to thank our 
business partners and our customers for their 
commitment, goodwill and support. We 
also thank our shareholders and bondhold-
ers for the confidence that they have 
shown in us. Our employees, business part-
ners and financial backers have once 
again contributed to the positive, sustained 
future of our Group companies. 

Nicolas EichenbergerNicolas EichenbergerNicolas Eichenberger
President of the Board of Directors

Martin Bölsterli
Chief Executive Officer

increased number of debtors and addi-
tional cash reserves. On the other hand, net 
inventories were reduced by more than 
10 percent or by 1.0 million CHF. On the lia-
bilities side, improved cash management 
made it possible to  reduce current financial 
liabilities by 1.0 million CHF to 5.1 million 
CHF. Creditors were also reduced by 1.3 mil-
lion CHF. The following changes occurred 
in the shareholder’s equity structure: 5.2 mil-
lion CHF of bonds were converted from 
outstanding convertible bonds, mainly by the 
primary shareholder Perrot Duval Holding. 
Together with net profits, this resulted in 
a new, strengthened shareholder’s equity of 
29 percent.  

Outlook
The outlook for the next twelve months 
is extremely uncertain. Incoming orders and 
order backlogs dropped off by mid 2008. 
This is likely associated with known econo-
mic fluctuations. The majority of the 
Infranor Group’s customers are reserved in 
their predictions. Infranor expects net 
sales for the entire Group to be similar to the 
2007/08 financial year and (unless some-
thing unexpected happens) a net profit that 
is slightly better than the previous year. 

Infranor securities
Bearer shares
At the beginning of the 2007/08 financial 
year the price was CHF 48.00. It remained at 
around this value during the course of 
the year and finished at 45.00 CHF at the end
of April. The 52-week high was 51.75 CHF, 
and the low was 40.00 CHF.  

Subordinated convertible bonds 2002-2009
The price at the beginning of the financial 
year was 117, 0 percent and at the end of 
the year it was 110,5 percent. 530,284 of the 
bonds were converted into 132,571 shares 
in 2007/08. 
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Infranor’s sales break-
down by key sector

Industrial
manufacturing 57%

Industrial
handling 16%

Processing
industry 6%

Packaging 4%

Others 17%
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Dynamics and precision

Our customer manufactures machinery used to cut textiles to size 

such as for the polo shirts shown here. A laser cutting head 

follows pre-programmed contours extremely quickly and precisely, 

cutting out the desired design from the material. The cutting 

head is guided by two integrated BME series motors from Infranor. 

These were selected because of their excellent dynamics and 

repeat accuracy. 
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Segment reports

Segment Report 
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Infranor Division
This division consists of the classical Infranor 
activities, i.e. all of the activities of an in-
dustry-independent drive specialist. The eight 
Infranor engineering companies serve 
their local markets and use the base prod-
ucts that are developed and manufac-
tured by the product companies. These are 
servo motors from Mavilor and servo-
amplifier controllers from Infranor Electron-
ics, Mesa and Automotion. The ELITE 
CNC controller from Cybelec is also used to 
control entire systems. Outside the mar-
kets of the Infranor companies, the product 
companies collaborate with representa-
tives worldwide.  

At the end of April 2008, the division con-
sisted of twelve operating companies. From 
a legal standpoint, the division consists of 
the sub-holding Infranor Holding SA, located 
in Coppet, to which the ISA Innovation 
SA patent-management company and the real 
estate company Violet-Indim Sarl now be-
long. The full list of companies can be found 
in the Appendix.

– – Segment Infranor 
1,000 CHF 07/08 06/07

Order intake 47,935 48,898

Change versus previous year 

as % – 2,0 %

Orders on hand 8,866 8,882

Change versus previous year

 as % – 0,2 %

Net sales 47,743 47,078

Change versus previous year 

as % 1,4 %

EBITDA 4,211 4,198

as % of net sales 8,8 % 8,9 %

EBIT 3,207 3,321

as % of net sales 6,7 % 7,1 %

Average number 

of employees 211 211

Assets net 8,636 13,635

Gross investments 2,242 1,138

Integrated Motor BME 0505

Sales shares
by product

Servomotors 49%

Controllers 37%

Numerical
taxes 2%

Services  5%

Traded products 7%

As was the case in the two previous years, the 
Infranor Division expanded its compo-
nent business with a range of subsystems and 
entire systems. The implementation of 
strategic system solutions is extremely impor-
tant to the Infranor Division from a strate-
gic standpoint. For this reason, the central 
Infranor Support Centre was established 
in Zurich; it provides the engineering com-
panies with technical support in their 
system projects and trains local employees. 
The division believes that this procedure 
will strengthen its market position consid-
erably. 
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Ecological energy with Infranor

Propellers used on wind turbines are cast in a mould. The surface, 

which is subject to complex aerodynamic calculations and 

design, is manufactured on a machine made in Spain and which has 

hundreds of individually adjustable points. These adjustments 

are made automatically using Infranor Mavilor servo motors on the 

basis of values transmitted from a central controller. These 

motors were chosen because of their compactness as well as ease 

and speed of installation.  
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Cybelec Division
This division is an industry-specific full-range 
supplier with a leading position in indus-
tries or industrial niche markets. In the area 
of bending presses, the division has clear-
ly achieved this position as far as controllers 
are concerned. Cybelec is the world’s 
largest provider in terms of volume. Thanks 
to a flexible product policy, entry-level 
products, controllers for the wide general 
market and leading-edge products can 
all be provided. 

It is pleasing to see that a customer base has 
already established itself over the last 
twelve months for the special machine-tool 
controllers marketed under the name 
Fastware. Other niches will follow. Cybelec 
has its own sales companies in both the 
Italian and Chinese markets, which are im-
portant for bending presses. This local 
presence is an important competitive advan-
tage in the long term since many custom-
ers still prefer to do business with a local pro-
vider. 

Infranor Group   Annual Report 2007/2008   Infranor Division - Cybelec Division 

Infranor has products that are technically 
state-of-the-art and extremely suitable for use 
in system architectures. The systems exper-
tise of front-line sales people is being contin-
uously developed. 

Varying results have been achieved in indivi-
dual markets. The companies in Germany, 
England and China have achieved considera-
ble growth compared to the previous year. 
Of the product companies, mainly Mavilor 
and Infranor Electronics have experi-
enced growth, particularly because of in-
creased sales in markets that are dealt 
with by representatives. Due to a drop in 
sales to the biggest customer of the 
Spanish company, that company’s net sales 
decreased by more than 1 million CHF. 
The Dutch company, which has not yet suc-
ceeded in establishing itself on the mar-
ket, also had a significant decrease in net 
sales. The weaker performance of Auto-
motion can be attributed to developments in 
the exchange rate situation; measured in 
US dollars, the company’s net sales figures are 
better than those from the previous year. 

Overall, net sales of the Infranor Division 
was  with 47,1 million CHF better than 
the previous year. At 59,1 percent gross mar-
gin was because of pricing pressure con-
siderably lower. Operating costs were similar 
to those of the previous year, resulting in 
an EBIT margin of 6,7 percent (7.1 percent). 

Infranor Electronics SAS, Infranor Electronics SAS, 
Drive GemDriveDrive GemDrive

Sales by geographic
region

Switzerland 18%

Europe excl.
Switzerland 65%

North America 13%

Asia/Africa  4%

Breakdown of sales
among the key sectors

Industrial
manufacturing 33%

Industrial
handling/
assembly 25%

Processing
industry 10%

Packaging 6%

Others 25%



Beer pump

Covers made from stainless steel, bent on a bending 

press equipped with Infranor Cybelec controllers which provide

maximum bending accuracy and rapid manufacturing cycles.
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Important German customers are now 
looked after by a key account manager based 
in Germany. Cybelec is firmly anchored in 
all important geographical markets in which 
bending presses are manufactured with 
the exception of Austria. 

The Cybelec Division experienced considera-
ble growth last year. Net sales increased 
from 24.2 million CHF to 27.8 million CHF. 
Gross margin was 53.2 percent and was 
therefore an encouraging 4,4 percentage 
points better than the previous year. Spe-
cific efforts to achieve rational outsourcing 
of electronic manufacturing have there-
fore been fruitful. 

Sales and logistics have been bolstered in 
Yverdon-les-Bains, and the new machine-tool 
controller area has been set up. Cybelec 
has a strengthened sales and service centre 
in China. The manufacture of a local 
controller with a Swiss design is also being set 
up. Hidden defects in the deliveries 
of a key supplier led to warranty and good-
will costs of more than 0.5 million CHF. 
The EBIT margin of the Cybelec Division in-
creased from 8.6 percent to 11,6 percent, 
which means, that the target figure of 10 per-
cent has been exceeded.

Segment Cybelec 
1,000 CHF 07/08 06/07

Order intake 26,903 29,353

Change versus previous year 

as % – 8,3 %

Orders on hand 5,536 6,700

Change versus previous year 

as % – 17,4 %

Net sales 27,821 24,209

Change versus previous year 

as % 14,9 %

EBITDA 3,679 2,492

as % of net sales 13,2 % 10,3 %

EBIT 3,237 2,082

as % of net sales 11,6 % 8,6 %

Average number 

of employees 81 80

Assets net in 1,000 CHF 8,975 8,711

Gross investments in 1,000 CHF 544 527

Segment Report 

Cybelec Control

Sales shares
by product

Komponenten 10%

Numerical
taxes 78%

Services 13%

Sales by geographic
region

Europe 80%

North America 2%

ROW 17%
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The companies are also divided into two 
divisions from a legal standpoint. The com-
panies in the Infranor Division are gath-
ered under the subholding Infranor Holding 
SA in Coppet, and the companies in 
the Cybelec Division are gathered under the 
Cybelec SA headquarters in Yverdon-les-
Bains. As a company that is quoted on the 
share market, Infranor Inter AG owns 
100% of Infranor Holding SA and Cybelec SA 
as well as the management company of 
the Group, ISA Management SA. The rest of 
the information concerning direct invest-
ments and their subsidiaries can be found on 
page 39. Infranor Inter AG does not have 
any holdings in listed companies. Infranor 
Inter AG bearer shares are traded on the Lo-
cal Caps segment of the SWX Swiss Ex-
change under security number 724910, Tele-
kurs und Swissquote: INI, Thomson 
Reuters: INI.S. Based on the 2007/08 year-
end price of 45.00 CHF, the market 
capitalization as of April 30, 2008, was 
34.9 million CHF.

Registered office:
Infranor Inter AG
Schaffhauserstrasse 418
Postfach, CH-8050 Zurich
T +41 (0)44 307 45 00
F +41 (0)44 307 45 10
www.infranor.com

1.2 Key shareholders
As of April 30, 2008, Perrot Duval Holding SA, 
Geneva, which is listed on the SWX Swiss 
Exchange, and its investment company Bleu-
Indim SA, held 78.7 percent (previous
year: 77.3 percent) of the shares of Infranor 
Inter AG.

The Board of Directors is unaware of any 
other shareholders holding more than 3 per-
cent of the share capital.

1.3 Cross-shareholdings
There are no cross-shareholdings.

1. Group structure and major shareholders
The chapter on corporate governance shows 
how Infranor Inter AG has organized 
management and control functions within 
the Group. The corporate governance 
disclosures are fully compliant with the SWX 
Swiss Exchange directive on information 
relating to corporate governance.  

1.1 Group structure
The Infranor Group is divided into two divi-
sions. The Infranor Division operates
as an industry-independent drive specialist, 
particularly in the general servo and 
drive technology area, and these products 
are used by manufacturers of machinery 
and equipment in many different industries. 
The Infranor Division is divided up into 
product companies and engineering/sales 
companies. The Cybelec Division is a 
complete provider of everything that has to 
do with bending presses, with electric 
drives and electronics. The company also 
supplies controls for machine-tool man-
ufacturing and general machine automation.   

Corporate Governance

Cybelec Division
 Cybelec SA 
 Yverdon-les-Bains

Infranor Inter SA
 Zurich

Infranor Division
 Infranor Holding SA
 Coppet

Group Management Company
                ISA Management SA
 Coppet / Zurich
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2.3 Changes in capital

as at April 30 2008 2007 2006
Share capital 15,509,920 12,858,500 12,816,000

Legal reserve 4,485,420 1,707,500 1,603,000

Treasury

shares 467,128 467,128 410,327

Unappropri-

ated retained

earnings 3,955,878 5,757,532 5,434,742

Total 24,418,346 20,790,660 20,264,069

In the past year, 530,284 bonds were 
converted into 132,571 shares, thereby in-
creasing the company’s share capital by 
2,651,420 CHF (previous year: conversion 
of 8,500 bonds). 

Details of the change in consolidated 
shareholder equity over the last three busi-
ness years can be found in the statement 
of changes in equity in the Consolidated An-
nual Financial Statements on page 35.

In the last four business years, the following 
capital increases were recorded in the 
Commercial Register as a result of conver-
sion of bonds into new shares:

Date of
entry in
Commercial
Register

Increase
in CHF

Cumulative
conversion
from bond

during

New
total

share
capital

23.08.2004 15,000 2003/04 12,715,000

25.08.2005 101,000 2004/05 12,816,000

13.07.2007 42,500 2006/07 12,858,500

The share capital increase will be re-
corded in the Commercial Register in July 
2008 on the basis of the conversions in 
the 2007/08 financial year of 2,651,420 CHF.

2.4 Shares and participation certificates
As of April 30, 2008, Infranor Inter AG ex-
clusively had a total of 775,496 bearer shares, 
each with a par value of 20.00 CHF, giving each with a par value of 20.00 CHF, giving each with a par value of 20.00 CHF
a total of 15,509,920 CHF. 

2. Capital structure
2.1 Share capital
The share capital amounts to 15.5 million 
CHF divided into 775,496 bearer shares with 
a par value of 20.00 CHF. With the excep-a par value of 20.00 CHF. With the excep-a par value of 20.00 CHF
tion of treasury shares, all shares issued by the 
company are entitled to dividend payments. 
The share capital is fully paid up.

As of April 30, 2008, the Infranor Group 
owned 11,110 (previous year: 11,110) 
treasury shares, which are not entitled to 
dividends when paid out.

2.2 Authorised and conditional capital
At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of 
Infranor Inter AG held on October 31, 2002, Infranor Inter AG held on October 31, 2002, Infranor Inter A
a motion was passed to raise conditional 
capital of no more than 6,350,000 CHF, con-
sisting of no more than 317,500 bearer 
shares, each with a par value of 20.00 CHF. 
According to Article 5a of the Articles 
of Association, the company’s share capital 
may be increased through the exercise of 
options or conversion rights that have 
been granted in connection with bonds or 
loans of the company or one of its sub-
sidiaries. These shares are excluded from 
the shareholders' subscription rights. 
As of April 30, 2008, there was still condi-
tional share capital of 3,540,080 CHF 
after conversion of bonds. 
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Of these, 11,110 are treasury shares that 
Infranor Inter AG holds to cover an existing 
option plan that is no longer maintained. 
The remaining shares are not subject to any 
restrictions on voting rights.

2.5 Profit-sharing certificates
There are no profit-sharing certificates.

2.6 Limitations on transferability and 
nominee registrations
There are no restrictions of any kind 
applicable to the transfer or ownership of 
Infranor Inter AG bearer shares.Infranor Inter AG bearer shares.Infranor Inter A

2.7 Convertible bonds and options  
Convertible bonds
On December 18, 2002, the company
issued a subordinated convertible bond of a 
maximum of 12.7 million CHF, carrying 
a 5 percent coupon. Four bonds, each with 
a par value of 10.00 CHF, may be converted 
into one new bearer share of 20.00 CHF 
between June 16, 2003, and December 11, 
2009, or up to 10 calendar days prior to 
early redemption of the convertible bond. 
The convertible bonds have been traded 
over the counter at Bondpartners AG, 
Lausanne, since March 18, 2003. Sharehold-
ers subscribed for 9.0 million CHF of 
the convertible bond issue. The listing of the 
maximum of 317,500 new bearer shares 
on the Local Caps segment of the SWX Swiss 

Exchange was approved on June 16, 2003. 
After December 18, 2007, Infranor can 
redeem the bonds early at any time, subject 
to 30 calendar days notice, at the par 
value plus accrued interest.

Options
There are no negotiable options. The 
existing option plan that is no longer main-
tained for the CEO consists of the right 
to buy options on bearer shares in Infranor 
Inter AG. The options are pledged in 
shares from the treasury shares. Details of 
this employee option plan can be found 
on page 47 and under Point 21.5 on page 57.    

3. Board of Directors
3.1 Members of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors consists of three ex-
ecutive and two non-executive Members. 
The two non-executive Members have never 
held an executive position within the 
Infranor Group. Neither do they have a
significant business relationship with 
the Group.

Dr. Richard Müller, Nicolas Eichenberger,
Martin Bölsterli, François Jaquier, Francesc Cruellas
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Executive Members of the Board of Directors

Martin Bölsterli (1942), 
citizen of Baden and Winterthur,
residing in Ennetbaden (CH)

Vice President of the 
Board of Directors and CEO
since 1 May 1998 until 30 April 2008,
Member since 1991
Chairman of the Board of Directors
since 1 May 2008
Elected until 30 April 2011

Martin Bölsterli graduated in mechanical engineering from ETH and
has an extensive knowledge of business administration. During 
the course of his career prior to joining Infranor, he held senior man-
agement positions at large mechanical engineering companies in 
Switzerland and abroad, namely Maag Zahnräder AG, Bühler-Uzwil 
and Heberlein. He is also a member of the Board of Directors at 
other, unlisted companies.

Nicolas Eichenberger (1958), 
citizen of Geneva and Trub, residing 
in Mies (CH)

Chairman of the Board of Directors
since 1 May 1999 until 30 April 2008,
Vice President since 1 May 2008
Elected until 30 April 2011

Nicolas Eichenberger trained in law and holds a chemistry 
degree (lic.chem.). Between 1992 and 1998, he was Chief Executive 
Officer of Infranor Inter AG. Since 1989, he has also worked 
for other Perrot Duval Group companies. He was previously em-
ployed at Sapal in Lausanne. Nicolas Eichenberger is Chief 
Executive Officer of Perrot Duval Holding SA and since 1 May 2008 
he is chairman of the Board of Directors. He is a member of the 
Board of Directors at other, unlisted companies.

Francesc Cruellas (1947), 
Spanish  citizen, residing  
in Tiana (Barcelona/E)

Member since 1987
Elected until 30 April 2011

Francesc Cruellas studied mechanical engineering at the Technical
University of Catalonia (Barcelona). He was already employed at
Mavilor Motors SA (E) before the company was taken over by Infranor
in 1979. He previously held a senior management position at a food
company in Spain. Francesc Cruellas sits on the Board of Directors
at other, unlisted companies.

Non-executive Members of the Board of Directors

Dr. Richard Müller (1949), 
citizen of Lenzburg, in Oberlunkhofen 
(CH) 

Attorney-at-law
Member since 1992
Elected until 30 April 2011

Richard Müller is a graduate of the University of Zurich with a PhD
in law. He worked as an attorney-at-law in Zurich from 1987 until
he moved to Zug in 1994. He is a member of the Board of Directors
of several unlisted companies. He was previously a legal adviser
to banks and industrial enterprises.

François Jaquier (1962), 
citizen of Villars-le-Comte (CH), 
in Monaco (MC) 

Independent Investment adviser
Member since 2001
Elected until 30 April 2011

François Jaquier graduated in law from the University of Lausanne.
He worked for Credit Suisse Group as head of its San Francisco
office for four years and in Monaco for a further four years. He has
been an independent investment adviser since 2001. He sits on
the Board of Directors at other, unlisted companies.

Honorary Chairman

Maurice Eichenberger (1922)
citizen of Geneva and Trub (CH), 
residing in Monaco (MC) 

Maurice Eichenberger was chairman of the Board of Perrot Duval
Holding SA until 1990 and until 1992 Board member of Infranor Inter
AG. Since 1992 he has been appointed as Honorary Chairman of
Infranor Inter AG.

– – 

– – 

– – 

– – 

– – 
– – 

– – 
– – 

– – 
– – 
– – 

– – 
– – 
– – 
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ber of the Board of Directors. On the occa-
sion of its meeting on July 4, 2008, 
the Board of Directors decided that as of the 
2008/09 financial year, Martin Bölsterli 
will become Chairman and Nicolas 
Eichenberger will become Vice Chairman. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for de-
fining the Group’s strategy. It also checks 
the company’s basic plans and targets and also 
identifies external risks and opportunities.

The Board of Directors has a quorum if at 
least half of its Members are present. It 
passes its resolutions with the majority of the 
votes cast. In the event of a tied vote, the 
Chairman has the casting vote. During the 
2007/08 business year, the Board of Direc-
tors had four one-day meetings.

Up to April 30, 2008, the Remuneration 
Committee of the Board of Directors 
consisted of Messrs. Nicolas Eichenberger, 
Martin Bölsterli and Richard Müller. As
of May 1, 2008, Mr. François Jaquier will re-
place Mr. Nicolas Eichenberger.

The Remuneration Committee makes sug-
gestions concerning the compensation 
paid to the executive Members of the Board 
of Directors, Group Management, and 
the General Managers of the Group compa-
nies on behalf of the Board as a whole, 
which approves them. The Remuneration 
Committee had two half-day meetings 
during the 2007/08 financial year.

With regard to new legal regulations, a Board 
of Directors Audit Committee was newly 
formed consisting of Messrs. Martin Bölsterli 
and Nicolas Eichenberger. Together with 
the CFO, this Committee checks all of the re-
levant facts concerning financial planning, 
finance controlling, adherence to laws and 

3.2 Other activities and vested interests
Mr. Nicolas Eichenberger, Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of Infranor Inter AG Board of Directors of Infranor Inter AG Board of Directors of Infranor Inter A
(Vice Chairman as of May 1, 2008), is the 
Chief Executive Officer of Perrot Duval 
Holding SA, Geneva (Chairman of the Board 
of Directors as of May 1, 2008).

The other Members of the Board of Direc-
tors do not perform any other activities 
and have no vested interests that would be of 
significance for the Infranor Group and 
are not mentioned in the overview on page 21.

3.3 Cross-involvement
Mr. Nicolas Eichenberger is a member of 
the Board of Directors of Perrot Duval 
Holding SA, Geneva. There is no other cross-
involvement among the Boards of Direc-
tors of listed companies.

3.4 Elections and terms of office
The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting elects 
the Members of the Board of Directors 
for a term of three years. The term of office 
is the relevant financial year (May to April). 
Members may be re-elected. All Mem-
bers of the Board of Directors are elected 
until the end of the 2010/11 financial 
year. There are no limitations to the term year. There are no limitations to the term year
of office.

3.5 Internal organisation structure 
and committees
The Board of Directors constitutes itself 
from its own Members and elects the
Chairman, the Vice Chairman and the Secre-
tary, who does not have to be a mem-



 23Infranor Group Annual Report 2007/2008   Corporate Governance  

cash flow, overview of key figures and 
changes to these figures). These quarterly 
reports contain a rolling forecast inclu-
ding values from the previous year and budg-
eted values. Significant items are always 
reported immediately. Financial reporting is 
a fixed constituent of the meetings of the 
Board of Directors. Deviations are discussed 
and measures may be initiated as a result.

As well as the statutory auditors, the CFO or 
Group Controller works on behalf of the 
Board of Directors to check for adherence to 
Group guidelines and regulations and the 
suitability of the control instruments and the 
procedures within individual Group com-
panies. Every year, the Group auditor defines 
the main risk-related auditing items. The 
work of the Group auditor as well as the lo-
cal auditors is evaluated by the CEO and 
the CFO on behalf of the Audit Committee. 
A comprehensive central internal control 
system (ICS) based on the COSO model was 
introduced during the course of 2007/08 
with internet-based multilingual software. 
The process-oriented checks relate primarily 
to the financial security of the processes 
and protecting the Group from offences or 
negligent actions. The topics of product 
reliability, quality assurance and traceability 
are covered by various standards such as 
ISO 9001. The continuous results and meas-
ures of the ICS are currently reported to 
the Board of Directors by the CFO at quar-
terly intervals. The effectiveness of the 
ICS controls is checked and documented on-
site by Group Management and reported 
to the Audit Committee. The Audit Commit-
tee reviews the ICS concept at yearly inter-
vals with regard to identifying, evaluating and 
remedying risks associated with business 
activities and adapts it to new requirements 
as necessary. 

legislation and monitors the Group-wide in-
ternal control systems (ICS) on behalf of 
the Board of Directors as a whole. The Com-
mittee also carries out an audit meeting 
with the Group auditor and discusses his sug-
gestions for improvements.

3.6 Powers and responsibilities
The responsibility for everyday business 
is delegated to the CEO, who is responsible 
for the organisation of Group Manage-
ment and the divisions. 

The detailed competencies and responsibili-
ties of the Board of Directors and the reg-
ulation of powers and responsibilities between
the Board of Directors and Group Manage-
ment are recorded in the Rules of Organisa-
tion, which were revised at the end of 
April 2008. These can be inspected at the 
company headquarters.

3.7 Information and control instruments 
relating to Group Management
Group Management notifies the Board of 
Directors about business affairs on a
regular basis. The management reporting 
on behalf of the Board of Directors con-
sists of monthly reports about sales, incom-
ing orders and volume of outstanding or-
ders of all Group units and in a consolidated 
report. At quarterly intervals the Board of 
Directors receives the units’ quarterly ac-
counts and the consolidated Group accounts 
(income statement, balance sheet and 
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Martin Bölsterli (1942)

CEO since 1998
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
and CEO since Mai 2008 

Personal details on page 21.

Francesc Cruellas (1949)
Senior Vice President of  Motors and 
Mechanical Components 
since 1987

Personal details on page 21.

Pius Bernet (1957),
Citizen of Egolzwil, residing in 
Egolzwil (CH)

CFO since 2002

Pius Bernet completed basic business training in banking and holds
degrees in business economics and accountancy. He has held 
seniorfinancial positions at Mövenpick and Swissair Group and 
served a CFO at Schweiter, Motorola Schweiz and most recently 
at the EMEA/ ASIA division of K-Tron International (USA). He sits on 
the Board of Directors of one unlisted company.

Bruno Guanziroli (1957),
Citizen of Onsernone, 
in Baar (Switzerland)

Sales and Marketing 
Manager since February 2007

Bruno Guanziroli is a degreed mechanical engineer and also studied 
economics, majoring in marketing. He left Infranor on May 31, 2008.

Dr. Jean-Pierre van Griethuysen 
(1956), 
Citizen of Sonvilier (BE), residing
in St-Sulpice (Switzerland) since 
1995

General Manager of Cybelec SA 
since 2000

Jean-Pierre van Griethuysen earned a degree in mechanical engi-
neering from the Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale Lausanne  (EPFL) and 
completed his studies with a PhD in robotics. In his professional 
career he worked as a project manager at Charmilles Technologies SA 
in Geneva and then as a lead scientist and lecturer at the EPFL. 
Before he took up his post at Cybelec SA he was technical manager 
at SIP (Société Genevoise d'Instruments de Physique) in Geneva.

– – 
– – 

– – 

– – 

– – 

4. Group Management
4.1 Members of Group Management

Pius Bernet, Dr. Jean-Pierre van Griethuysen, 
Martin Bölsterli, Francesc Cruellas

– 
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April 30, 2008, and was superseded by a new 
regulation in connection with the retire-
ment of his position of CEO and his new func-
tion as the Chairman of the Board of Di-
rectors of the Infranor Group for 2008/09.

5.Compensation, shareholdings and loans
5.1 Content and method of determining 
compensation
The Board of Directors makes decisions 
about compensation given to the Board of Di-
rectors and Group Management on an-
nual basis in accordance with the recommen-
dations of the Remuneration Committee 
of the Board of Directors (see also general ex-
planations concerning the Remunera-
tion Committee on page 22). The compensa-
tion of the non-executive Members of the 
Board of Directors comprises a fixed fee and 
fixed flat-rate expense allowance. The 
compensation of the executive Members of 
the Board of Directors is included in the 
compensation they receive as Members of 
Group Management. Compensation 
paid to executive Members of the Board of 
Directors and other Members of Group 
Management is based on a fixed component 
and a variable performance-related com-
ponent. The variable component of the over-
all payments is primarily oriented to 
Group profits before tax as well as partially 
on previously defined individual per-
formance targets. Claims are all paid in cash. 
The option plan for Martin Bölsterli elapsed 
on April 30, 2007, and was not renewed.

5.2 Compensation paid to Members of the 
Board of Directors and Group Management
This information is shown in the Appendix 
to the Financial Statements of Infranor Inter 
AG on page 69 in accordance with AG on page 69 in accordance with A
Article 663b bis. Swiss Code of Obligations.

4.2 Other activities and vested interests
The Members of Group Management do 
not carry out any activities other than those 
mentioned in the overview and have no 
vested interests that would be of significance 
for the Infranor Group. 

4.3 Management contracts
The two Group companies ISA Management 
SA and Infranor Holding SA have a man-
agement contract in place with Perrot Duval 
Management SA, Coppet. The core ele-
ment of these management contracts is the 
compensation for the services that have 
been provided by Nicolas Eichenberger as 
an executive member of the Board of 
Directors as well as advisory work performed 
by other Members of the Board of Direc-
tors of Perrot Duval Holding SA. Perrot 
Duval Management SA charged 498,500 CHF 
for management services in the reporting 
year (previous year: 471,210 CHF). On the 
other hand, the same company was billed 
for services by ISA Management SA in the 
amount of 33,500 CHF (previous year: 
CHF 49,730). These management contracts 
were agreed to at typical market condi-
tions according to a time and materials basis 
for an indeterminate period. However, 
the contracts can be terminated at annual 
intervals.

Martin Bölsterli, a company formed by this 
degreed engineer from the ETH and located 
in Zug, has a management contract with 
ISA Management SA, Coppet. The core ele-
ment of this management contract is 
the compensation for the services provided 
by Martin Bölsterli as the CEO and 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of the 
Infranor Group and associated admin-
istrative work. Services that were charged for 
during 2007/08 amounted to a total of 
537,940 CHF (previous year: 404,622 CHF). 
This management contract expired on 
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6. Shareholders’ participation
6.1 Restrictions on voting rights and voting 
by proxy
The company’s Articles of Association do 
not contain any restrictions applicable 
to voting rights or restrictions with regards 
to voting by proxy.to voting by proxy.to voting by proxy

6.2 Statutory quorums
The quorums stipulated in the Articles of 
Association for resolutions carried at the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting are in line with
legal quorums (Article 703 et seq. Swiss 
Code of Obligations).

6.3 Convocation of the Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting and placing items on the agenda
The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting is called 
by the Board of Directors or by the gov-
erning bodies and persons designated by law 
in accordance with legal and statutory re-
quirements. One or more shareholders who 
together represent at least 10 percent of 
the share capital may request that a Share-
holders’ Meeting be called or an item 
be placed on the agenda. In addition, share-
holders whose shares represent a par val-
ue of 1.0 million CHF may also request that 
an item be added to the agenda.

6.4 Entry in the share register
Since only bearer shares have been issued, 
there is no share register.there is no share register.there is no share register

7. Changes of control and defence measures
7.1 Obligation to submit an offer
A party acquiring shares in the company is 
not obliged to submit a public purchase 
offer (opting out) pursuant to Articles 32 
and 52 of the Federal Act on Stock Ex-
changes and Securities Trading (Article 6a, changes and Securities Trading (Article 6a, changes and Securities T
Articles of Association).

7.2 Change of control clauses
There are no clauses on changes of con-
trol benefiting the Board of Directors, 
Group Management and other key personnel.

8. Auditors
8.1 Duration of the audit mandate and dura-
tion of the appointment  of the lead auditor
Deloitte AG, Zurich, has been the Infranor 
Group’s auditor since 2003/04; Martin 
Welser, as lead auditor, was responsible for 
the mandate for the first time for the 
2007/08 financial year.

The auditor for Infranor Inter AG was also 
Deloitte AG, Zurich, for the first time in 
2007/08. Martin Welser was the lead audi-
tor for the 2007/08 financial year.

The auditor is chosen for a period of one 
year in each case.

8.2 Auditing fees
The worldwide auditing fees of Group au-
ditor Deloitte AG were 207,124 CHF (previ-ditor Deloitte AG were 207,124 CHF (previ-ditor Deloitte A
ous year: 110,000 CHF) for the 2007/08 
financial year. The remaining foreign audit 
companies charged 90,038 CHF (previous 
year: 204,315 CHF).
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8.3 Additional fees
No additional fees were paid to the Group 
auditor Deloitte AG.auditor Deloitte AG.auditor Deloitte A

8.4 Supervisory and control instruments 
pertaining to the audit
The Audit Committee is responsible for eval-
uating the external audit. The Commit-
tee draws up an audit report on behalf of the 
Board of Directors. At least one meeting 
between the external auditor and the Audit 
Committee takes place at annual intervals. 
The main findings for each company (manage-
ment letters) and the consolidated state-
ment, which are summarised in the audit re-
port, are discussed in depth at these meet-
ings. The auditor also shows the checking that 
has been carried out (audit, review) for 
each company and the current developments 
in the IFRS (International Financial Report-
ing Standards) and the effects thereof on the 
consolidated financial statements of the 
Infranor Group. 

9. Information policy
We provide shareholders, financial analysts 
and financial journalists with clear and 
transparent information by means of our An-
nual Report and half-year report as well as 
personally at the Annual Media Conference 
and the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. 
Media and shareholders known to the com-
pany are directly provided with figures 

and comments every quarter. Orientation 
to current events takes place using 
media information. The Infranor website 
(www.infranor.com) contains a special 
section called “For Investors”.

Infranor Inter AG reports on events that 
may affect the share price in accordance with 
Article 72 of the Listing Rules of the 
SWX Swiss Exchange regarding ad-hoc dis-
closures.

Contact
Available to answer questions personally are:

Martin Bölsterli
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
Phone +41 (0)44 307 45 28 
boelsterli@infrainter.ch

Pius Bernet 
Chief Financial Officer
Phone +41 (0)44 307 45 25
bernet@infrainter.ch

Key dates
September 11, 2008
2007/08 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting

December 16, 2008
Half-yearly report 2008/09

March 10, 2009 
Third quarter 2008/09 results

July 7, 2009
2008/09 results

September 10, 2009
2008/09 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting

– – 

– – 



28

Operating Companies
of the Infranor Group
As at May 1, 2008

Company Activities Manager
Number of 
employees 

Infranor Division      

Infranor S.A. Engineering, sales and service Raymond Käser 9 
CH-Coppet  raymond.kaeser@infranor.ch  
CH-Zurich Sales office   

  
Infranor S.A.S. Engineering, sales and service Patrice Delattre 10 
FR-Linas  delattre@infranorfrance.com  

  
Infranor Spain S.L.U. Engineering, sales and service Josep Barbeta 18 
ES-Badalona (Barcelona) barbeta@infranor.es   
ES-San Sebastian Sales office   

  
Infranor B.V. Engineering, sales and service Robert Vermaase 2 
NL-Oud-Beijerland (Rotterdam) r.vermaase@infranor.nl   

  
Infranor GmbH Engineering, sales and service Peter Fritsch 6 
DE-Hanau  p.fritsch@infranor.de

  
Infranor Ltd. Engineering, sales and service Adrian Hazelwood 4 
UK-Cranleigh  a_hazelwood@infranor.ltd.uk  

  
Infranor, Inc. Engineering, sales and service Dan D’Aquila 7 
US-Wilmington MA (Boston) ddaquila@infranorusa.com   

  
Infranor Asia Ltd. Engineering, sales and service Raymond Käser 5 
CH-Zurich,  raymond.kaeser@infranor.ch  
CN-Shanghai Representation office jiong.pan@infranor.cn   

  
Automotion, Inc. Development, manufacturing and sale Nathan Turner 16 
US-Ann Arbor, MI nturner@automotioninc.com   

  
Infranor Electronics S.A.S. Development, manufacturing and sale Gilles Lanquetin 33 
FR-Lourdes  g.lanquetin@infranor.fr  

  
Mavilor Motors S.A. Development, manufacturing and sale Francesc Cruellas 85 
ES-Sta. Perpètua de Mogoda (Barcelona)  fcruellas@mavilor.es   

  
MESA Automation GmbH Engineering, sales and service Bernd Eberding 14 
DE-Berlin  eb@mesa-berlin.de
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Cybelec Division     

Cybelec S.A. Development, manufacturing and sale Dr. Jean-Pierre van Griethuysen 58 
CH-Yverdon-les-Bains  jpvangriethuysen@cybelec.ch  
US-Marseilles Representation office oley.bob@gmail.com   

  
Cybelec S.r.l. Engineering, sales and service Enzo Vicinanza 3 
IT-Cinisello Balsamo (Milano) evicinanza@cybelec.it   

  
Cybelec Numeric Control Manufacturing, sale & service Yi Wan Li 21 
Technology (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.  yiwanli@cybelec.com.cn  
CN-Shanghai   

  

Company Activities Manager
Number of
employees 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

1,000 CHF111,000 CH,000 CH,000 CHFFF NoteNNNoteoteote 30.04.083330.04.080.04.080.04.08 %%%% 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.000777 %%%%

AssetsAAAssetssetssetsss

Current assetsCCCurrurrurreeent assnt assnt asseeetttsss

Cash CCCaaash sh sh 4444 3,8173,3,3,818181777 7,97,97,97,9 3,199333,199,199,199 6,7666,7,7,7

Cash equivalents, securities,Cash equivalents, securities,Cash equivalents, securities,Cash equivalents, securities,

fi nancial instrumentsfififi n n nfi nfififi nfi nfi nfififi nfi aaancincinciaaal instrumentl instrumentl instrumentsss 4444 69696969 0,20,20,20,2 1,318111,318,318,318 2,82,2,2,888

Trade accounts receivableTTTrade accrade accrade accooounts receivaunts receivaunts receivabbbllleee 5555 18,013181818,,,010101333 37,3373737,,,37,373737,37,37,373737,37333 17,276171717,,,17,171717,17,17,171717,17276276276 36,3363636,,,333

Other receivablesOther receivableOther receivableOther receivablesss 6666 1,480111,,,480480480 3,13,13,13,1 998999999888 2,1222,1,1,1

InventoriesIIInventorienventorienventoriesss 7777 13,6501113,6503,6503,650 28,32228,38,38,3 14,9301114,934,934,93000 31,431,431,431,4

Deferred chargesDDDeferred chareferred chareferred chargggeeesss 687687687687 1,41,1,1,444 1,2551,1,1,222555555 2,62,2,2,666

Total current assetsTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll current asset current asset current assetsss 3333 37,716373737,,,37,373737,37,37,373737,37717171666 78,278,78,78,222 38,976333888,,,976976976 81,9888111,,,999

Fixed assetsFixFixFixeeed assd assd asseeetttsss

Financial assetsFinFinFinaaancincinciaaal l l aaassetssetssetsss 21222111 0,00,0,0,000 22222222 0,0000,,,000

Property, plant and equipmentPPProroroppperty, erty, erty, ppplant and elant and elant and eqqquiuiuipppmentmentment 8888 6,2836,26,26,2838383 13,013,13,13,000 5,1245,5,5,111222444 10,8101010,8,8,8

Intangible assetsIIIntangintangintangibbble assetle assetle assetsss 9999 2,5052,2,2,555000555 5,25,5,5,222 2,006222,,,006006006 4,2444,2,2,2

Deferred tax assetsDDDeeeffferred tax assetserred tax assetserred tax assets 10101010 1,723111,,,777232323 3,63,63,63,6 1,4371,1,1,437437437 3,13,13,13,1

Total fi xed assetsTotal fiTotal fiTotal fi x x xTotal fi xTotal fiTotal fiTotal fi xTotal fi xTotal fi xTotal fiTotal fiTotal fi xTotal fi eeed assd assd asseeetttsss 3333 10,53210,5310,5310,53222 21,82221,1,1,888 8,5898,5898,5898,589 18,118,18,18,111

Total assetsTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll asset asset assetsss 48,2484448,8,8,242424888 100,0111000000,0,0,0 47,565474747,,,47,474747,47,47,474747,47565565565 100,0111000000,0,0,0

LiabilitiesLiabilitiLiabilitiLiabilitieseses

Current liabilitiesCCCurrent liabilitiesurrent liabilitiesurrent liabilities

Current fi nancial liabilitiesCurrent fiCurrent fiCurrent fi n n nCurrent fi nCurrent fiCurrent fiCurrent fi nCurrent fi nCurrent fi nCurrent fiCurrent fiCurrent fi nCurrent fi aaancincinciaaal lil lil liaaabilitiebilitiebilitiesss 11111111 5,1295,1295,1295,129 10,61110,0,0,666 6,1546,6,6,154154154 12,91112,92,92,9

Trade accountsTTTrade accrade accrade accooountsuntsunts

payablepayapayapayabbbllleee 12121212 7,080777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7080080080 14,714,14,14,777 8,4398,8,8,439439439 17,7111777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7777

Other current liabilitiesOther current liabilitiesOther current liabilitiesOther current liabilities 13111333 920920920920 1,91,1,1,999 871888777111 1,8111,,,888

Accruals and deferred incomeAccruals and deferred incAccruals and deferred incAccruals and deferred incooomememe 14111444 5,1215,1215,1215,121 10,61110,0,0,666 3,975333,,,999757575 8,48,48,48,4

Short-term provisionsSSShort-term hort-term hort-term ppprovisionrovisionrovisionsss 15151515 1,047111,,,040404777 2,2222,,,222 735777333555 1,61,1,1,666

Provisions for income taxesPPPProvisions for income taxerovisions for income taxerovisions for income taxesss 1,222111,,,222222222 2,5222,5,5,5 694666949494 1,51,1,1,555

Total current liabilitiesTotal currTotal currTotal curreeent liabilitint liabilitint liabilitieseses 3333 20,51920,20,20,519519519 42,542,542,542,5 20,86820,20,20,888666888 43,94443,93,93,9

Long-term liabilitiesLong-term Long-term Long-term llliabiiabiiabilllitieitieitiesss

Non-current fi nancial liabilitiesNNNooon-current fin-current fin-current fi nancial liabilities nancial liabilities nancial liabilitiesn-current fi nancial liabilitiesn-current fin-current fin-current fi nancial liabilitiesn-current fi nancial liabilitiesn-current fi nancial liabilitiesn-current fin-current fin-current fi nancial liabilitiesn-current fi 11111111 1,123111,,,121212333 2,3222,,,333 1,1511,1,1,151515111 2,42,2,2,444

Subordinated convertible bond 2002 – 09SSSubordinated convertible bond 2002 – 0ubordinated convertible bond 2002 – 0ubordinated convertible bond 2002 – 0999 11111111 3,3293,323,323,32999 6,96,96,96,9 8,4648,8,8,464464464 17,8111777,8,8,87,8777,87,87,8777,87

Subordinated CDO 2006 – 13SSSubordinated CDO 2006 – 13ubordinated CDO 2006 – 13ubordinated CDO 2006 – 13 11111111 8,1368,138,138,13666 16,9111666,,,999 8,105888,105,105,105 17,01117,7,7,000

Long-term provisionsLLLonononggg-term provision-term provision-term provisionsss 16161616 621666212121 1,31,31,31,3 833833833833 1,8111,,,888

Deferred tax liabilitiesDDDeferred tax liabilitieseferred tax liabilitieseferred tax liabilities 10101010 487444878787 1,0111,0,0,0 416416416416 0,9000,,,999

Total long-term liabilitiesTotal lonTotal lonTotal longgg-term liabilitie-term liabilitie-term liabilitiesss 13,696111333,,,696969666 28,4222888,4,4,4 18,9691118,8,8,969969969 39,9393939,,,999

Total liabilitiesTotal liabilitieTotal liabilitieTotal liabilitiesss 34,2153334,4,4,222151515 70,97770,0,0,999 39,83739,83739,83739,837 83,88883,3,3,888

Shareholders’ equitySSShareholders’ equithareholders’ equithareholders’ equityyy

Share capitalSSShare capitahare capitahare capitalll 18181818 15,509111555,,,555000999 32,232,232,232,2 12,858121212,8,8,8555888 27,0222777,0,0,07,0777,07,07,0777,07

Reserves resulting from acquisitionsReserves resultinReserves resultinReserves resultinggg fffrom acquisitionrom acquisitionrom acquisitionsss – 5,713– 5,71– 5,71– 5,71333 – 11,8––– 11, 11, 11,888 – 8,364– 8,364– 8,364– 8,364 – 17,6– 17,– 17,– 17,666

Revenue reservesRevenue reserveRevenue reserveRevenue reservesss 1,418111,41,41,41888 2,92,2,2,999 164111666444 0,4000,4,4,4

Treasury sharesTTTreasury sharesreasury sharesreasury shares – 222– 222– 222– 222 – 0,5– 0– 0– 0,5,5,5 – 222– 222– 222– 222 – 0,5– 0– 0– 0,,,555

Currency translation differencesCurrencCurrencCurrencyyy translation differences translation differences translation differences 251251251251 0,50,50,50,5 1,0901,1,1,090909000 2,3222,,,333

Profi t/(loss) for the yearPPPProfirofirofi t/ t/ t/rofi t/rofirofirofi t/rofi t/rofi t/rofirofirofi t/rofi (((losslossloss))) for the  for the  for the yyyeaeaearrr 2,7902,2,2,797979000 5,85,85,85,8 2,202222,20,20,20222 4,64,64,64,6

Total shareholders’ equityTotal shareholders’ eTotal shareholders’ eTotal shareholders’ eqqquituituityyy 14,0331114,034,034,03333 29,12229,9,9,111 7,7287,727,727,72888 16,2111666,,,222

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equityTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll llliabiiabiiabilllities and sharehoities and sharehoities and shareholllders’ equityders’ equityders’ equity 48,248484848,,,248248248 100,0100,0100,0100,0 47,565474747,,,47,474747,47,47,474747,47565565565 100,0111000000,0,0,0
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Consolidated Income Statements

1,000 CHF111,000 CH,000 CH,000 CHFFF NoteNNNoteoteote 07/080007/7/7/080808 %%%% 06/07000666///070707 %%%%

Net salesNNNet saet saet sallleeesss 1, 19, 201,1,1, 19 19 19,,, 2 2 2000 75,564777555,,,565656444 100,0111000000,0,0,0 71,287717171,,,287287287 100,0100100100,0,0,0

Material Costs of goods soldMaterial Costs oMaterial Costs oMaterial Costs offf goods sol goods sol goods solf goods solfff goods solf goods solf goods solfff goods solf ddd – 31,469––– 333111,,,444666999 – 41,6– 41– 41– 41,6,6,6 – 33,267––– 33,267 33,267 33,267 – 46,7––– 46,7 46,7 46,7

Change in inventoriesChanChanChanggge in inventoriese in inventoriese in inventories – 1,209– 1,209– 1,209– 1,209 – 1,6– 1,– 1,– 1,666 2,066222,,,066066066 2,92,92,92,9

Gross marginGGGross marginross marginross margin 42,88642,42,42,886886886 56,856,56,56,888 40,0864440,0860,0860,086 56,2555666,,,222

Personnel costsPPPersonnel costersonnel costersonnel costsss 21212121 – 25,283––– 25 25 25,,,282828333 – 33,5– – – 33,533,533,5 – 23,972––– 23 23 23,,,979797222 – 33,6––– 33 33 33,,,666

General and administrative costsGGGeneral and administrative costeneral and administrative costeneral and administrative costsss 22222222 – 3,390– 3,390– 3,390– 3,390 – 4,5– – – 444,,,555 – 3,015––– 3, 3, 3,000151515 – 4,3– 4,3– 4,3– 4,3

Sales costsSSSales cales cales cooostsstssts 23232323 – 2,183––– 2,1 2,1 2,1838383 – 2,9– 2,– 2,– 2,999 – 2,198––– 2,19 2,19 2,19888 – 3,1– – – 333,,,111

Other operating expensesOOOther operatinther operatinther operatinggg expense expense expensesss 24242424 – 5,849– 5– 5– 5,8,8,8494949 – 7,7––– 7 7 7,,, 7, 7 7 7, 7, 7, 7 7 7, 7777 – 5,564– 5– 5– 5,,,564564564 – 7,8––– 7 7 7,8,8,8 7,8 7 7 7,8 7,8 7,8 7 7 7,8 7

Other operating incomeOther operating incomOther operating incomOther operating incomeee 25222555 791797979111 1,0111,0,0,0 466444666666 0,7000,,,777

Total operating expensesTotal operatinTotal operatinTotal operatinggg expenses expenses expenses – 35,914––– 333555,,,919191444 – 47,6– 47– 47– 47,6,6,6– 47,6– 47– 47– 47,6– 47,6– 47,6– 47– 47– 47,6– 47 – 34,283––– 34,2 34,2 34,2888333 – 48,1––– 4 4 4888,,,111

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation andEEEarnings before interest, tax, depreciation andarnings before interest, tax, depreciation andarnings before interest, tax, depreciation and

amortization (EBITDA)aaamortization (EBITDA)mortization (EBITDA)mortization (EBITDA) 6,972666,,,979797222 9,2999,,,222 5,8035,85,85,8030303 8,18,18,18,1

Depreciation and amortizationDDDepreciation and amortizatioepreciation and amortizatioepreciation and amortizationnn 26262626 – 1,570– 1,570– 1,570– 1,570 – 2,1– – – 222,,,111 – 1,273– 1,273– 1,273– 1,273 – 1,8– 1,– 1,– 1,888

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)EEEarnings before interest and tax (EBITarnings before interest and tax (EBITarnings before interest and tax (EBIT))) 5,4025,405,405,40222 7,17,7,7,111 4,5304,534,534,53000 6,3666,3,3,3

Finance incomeFFFinance incominance incominance incomeee 114114114114 0,20,0,0,222 404404040444 0,6000,,,666

Financial expensesFinancial expensesFinancial expensesFinancial expenses – 1,823– 1– 1– 1,,,828282333 – 2,4– – – 2,42,42,4 – 1,723– 1,723– 1,723– 1,723 – 2,4– 2,4– 2,4– 2,4

Financial resultFinancial resultFinancial resultFinancial result 27222777 – 1,709– 1,709– 1,709– 1,709 – 2,2– – – 222,,,222 – 1,319––– 1,319 1,319 1,319 – 1,8– 1,– 1,– 1,888

Profi t before taxesPPPrororofififi t b t b t bfi t bfififi t bfi t bfi t bfififi t bfi efefeforororeee tax tax taxeseses 3,693333,,,696969333 4,9444,9,9,9 3,2113,23,23,2111111 4,5444,,,555

TaxesTaTaTaxexexesss 10101010 – 903––– 90 90 90333 – 1,2– 1,– 1,– 1,222 – 1,009– 1,– 1,– 1,000000999 – 1,4– 1,– 1,– 1,444

Net profi t/(loss)Net profiNet profiNet profi t/(loss) t/(loss) t/(loss)Net profi t/(loss)Net profiNet profiNet profi t/(loss)Net profi t/(loss)Net profi t/(loss)Net profiNet profiNet profi t/(loss)Net profi 2,790222,790,790,790 3,7333,7,7,7 2,202222,2,2,2020202 3,1333,,,111

Undiluted earnings per share in CHFUUUndiluted earnings per share in CHndiluted earnings per share in CHndiluted earnings per share in CHFFF 28282828 4.00444...000000 3.493.493.493.49

Diluted earnings per share in CHFDDDiluted earnings per share in CHiluted earnings per share in CHiluted earnings per share in CHFFF 28282828 3.64333...646464 3.073.073.073.07

In order to enhance comparability, the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures for the fi nancial cost/return has been restated.IIIn order to enhance comparability, the classin order to enhance comparability, the classin order to enhance comparability, the classifififi cation o cation o cation ofi cation ofififi cation ofi cation ofi cation ofififi cation ofi fff the previous years’  the previous years’  the previous years’ f the previous years’ fff the previous years’ f the previous years’ f the previous years’ fff the previous years’ f fififi gures  gures  gures fi gures fififi gures fi gures fi gures fififi gures fi fffor the or the or the fififi nancial cost/return has been restated. nancial cost/return has been restated. nancial cost/return has been restated.fi nancial cost/return has been restated.fififi nancial cost/return has been restated.fi nancial cost/return has been restated.fi nancial cost/return has been restated.fififi nancial cost/return has been restated.fi
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Consolidated Cash flow Statements

1,000 CHF111,000 CH,000 CH,000 CHFFF NoteNotNotNoteee 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07000666///070707

(Indirect method with cash and cash equivalents)(Indirect method with cash and cash e(Indirect method with cash and cash e(Indirect method with cash and cash eqqquivalentsuivalentsuivalents)))

Cash fl ow from operating activitiesCCCash ash ash flflfl ow  ow  ow fl ow flflfl ow fl ow fl ow flflfl ow fl fffrom operatinrom operatinrom operatinggg activities activities activities

Net profi t/(loss) before income taxes andNet profiNet profiNet profi t/ t/ t/Net profi t/Net profiNet profiNet profi t/Net profi t/Net profi t/Net profiNet profiNet profi t/Net profi (((losslossloss))) before income taxes and before income taxes and before income taxes and

netted fi nancial items (EBIT)netted finetted finetted fi nancial items  nancial items  nancial items netted fi nancial items netted finetted finetted fi nancial items netted fi nancial items netted fi nancial items netted finetted finetted fi nancial items netted fi (((EBITEBITEBIT))) 5,401555,40,40,40111 4,5304,534,534,53000

Depreciation / amortisation of fi xed assetsDDDeeepppreciation / amortisation of fireciation / amortisation of fireciation / amortisation of fi xed asset xed asset xed assetreciation / amortisation of fi xed assetreciation / amortisation of fireciation / amortisation of fireciation / amortisation of fi xed assetreciation / amortisation of fi xed assetreciation / amortisation of fi xed assetreciation / amortisation of fireciation / amortisation of fireciation / amortisation of fi xed assetreciation / amortisation of fi sss 26222666 1,570111,57,57,57000 1,2731,1,1,222777333

Write-downs and provisionsWWWrite-downs and rite-downs and rite-downs and ppprovisionsrovisionsrovisions 442442442442 – 648– 64– 64– 64888

Interest receivedIIIntntnteeerrreeest rst rst reeeccceeeiviviveeeddd 163111636363 47474747

Interest paidIIInterest paidnterest paidnterest paid – 1,705––– 1,70 1,70 1,70555 – 1,806– 1,806– 1,806– 1,806

Income taxes paidIIIncome taxes ncome taxes ncome taxes pppaiaiaiddd – 697– 69– 69– 69777 – 625– – – 666222555

Cash fl ow before change in net current assetsCCCash fl ow before change in net current assetsash fl ow before change in net current assetsash fl ow before change in net current assets 5,1745,5,5,171717444 2,7712,2,2,777777111

Change in trade accounts receivablesChange in trade accounts receivableChange in trade accounts receivableChange in trade accounts receivablesss – 1,088––– 1 1 1,,,080808888 – 1,176– 1,176– 1,176– 1,176

Change in inventoriesChanChanChanggge in inventoriese in inventoriese in inventories 1,021111,02,02,02111 – 1,754– 1,75– 1,75– 1,75444

Change in other current assetsCCChanhanhanggge in other current assete in other current assete in other current assetsss 65656565 – 516––– 555111666

Change in tradeCCChange in tradehange in tradehange in trade

accounts payablesaaaccounts payaccounts payaccounts payabbblelelesss – 1,303––– 1 1 1,,,333000333 1,268111,,,262626888

Change in other current liabilitiesChanChanChanggge in other current liabilitiee in other current liabilitiee in other current liabilitiesss 1,336111,,,336336336 87888777

Cash fl ow from operating activitiesCCCash fl ow from operating activitiesash fl ow from operating activitiesash fl ow from operating activities 5,205555,20,20,20555 680666888000

Cash fl ow from investing activitiesCCCash ash ash flflfl ow  ow  ow fl ow flflfl ow fl ow fl ow flflfl ow fl fffrom investinrom investinrom investinggg activities activities activities

Disinvestments / investments of fi nancial assetsDDDisinvestments / investments oisinvestments / investments oisinvestments / investments offf fififi nancial assets nancial assets nancial assetsfi nancial assetsfififi nancial assetsfi nancial assetsfi nancial assetsfififi nancial assetsfi 4444 1,2491,21,21,2444999 – 1,235– 1,23– 1,23– 1,23555

Investments in property, plant and equipmentIIInvestments in property, plant and equipmennvestments in property, plant and equipmennvestments in property, plant and equipmenttt 8888 – 1,711– – – 111,7,7,7111111 – 1,046– 1,– 1,– 1,000444666

Disposal of property, plant and equipmentDDDisisisppposal of osal of osal of ppprororoppperty, erty, erty, ppplant and elant and elant and eqqquiuiuipppmenmenmenttt 29222999 44444444

Investments in intangible assetsIIInvestments in intanginvestments in intanginvestments in intangibbble assetsle assetsle assets 9999 – 950– 95– 95– 95000 – 502– 502– 502– 502

Cash fl ow from investing activitiesCCCash ash ash flflfl ow  ow  ow fl ow flflfl ow fl ow fl ow flflfl ow fl fffrom investinrom investinrom investinggg activities activities activities – 1,383––– 1 1 1,,,383383383 – 2,739– 2– 2– 2,,,737373999

Free cash fl owFree cash flFree cash flFree cash fl ow ow owFree cash fl owFree cash flFree cash flFree cash fl owFree cash fl owFree cash fl owFree cash flFree cash flFree cash fl owFree cash fl 3,822333,,,888222222 – 2,059– 2,– 2,– 2,000555999

Cash fl ow from fi nancing activitiesCCCash ash ash flflfl ow  ow  ow fl ow flflfl ow fl ow fl ow flflfl ow fl fffrom rom rom fififi nancin nancin nancinfi nancinfififi nancinfi nancinfi nancinfififi nancinfi ggg activities activities activities

Decrease in current fi nancial liabilitiesDDDecreecreecreaaase in current se in current se in current fififi n n nfi nfififi nfi nfi nfififi nfi aaancincinciaaal lil lil liaaabilitiesbilitiesbilities – 1,051––– 1 1 1,0,0,0555111 – 5,766––– 5,766 5,766 5,766

Decrease / Increase in non-current fi nancial liabilitesDDDecrease / Increase in necrease / Increase in necrease / Increase in nooon-current n-current n-current fififi nancial liabilite nancial liabilite nancial liabilitefi nancial liabilitefififi nancial liabilitefi nancial liabilitefi nancial liabilitefififi nancial liabilitefi sss – 737– 7– 7– 7373737 8,3588,3588,3588,358

Change in obligations under leasesCCChanhanhanggge in oblie in oblie in obligggations under leaseations under leaseations under leasesss – 422––– 422422422 – 297– – – 292929777

Payment of dividendsPPPaaayyyment of dividendment of dividendment of dividendsss – 948– – – 999444888 – 631– 6– 6– 6313131

Transactions involving treasury sharesTTTransactions involving treasury shareransactions involving treasury shareransactions involving treasury sharesss 0000 – 57––– 57 57 57

Cash fl ow from fi nancing activitiesCCCash fl ow from fiash fl ow from fiash fl ow from fi nancin nancin nancinash fl ow from fi nancinash fl ow from fiash fl ow from fiash fl ow from fi nancinash fl ow from fi nancinash fl ow from fi nancinash fl ow from fiash fl ow from fiash fl ow from fi nancinash fl ow from fi ggg activities activities activities – 3,158––– 3,15 3,15 3,15888 1,6071,1,1,606060777

Currency translation differences on cash andCurrency translation differences on cash anCurrency translation differences on cash anCurrency translation differences on cash anddd

cash equivalentscascascashhh e e eqqquivauivauivalllentententsss – 46––– 4 4 4666 39333999

Change in cash and cash equivalentsCCChanhanhanggge in cash and cash equivalente in cash and cash equivalente in cash and cash equivalentsss 618666111888 – 413––– 41 41 41333

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the yearCash and cash equivalents at the beCash and cash equivalents at the beCash and cash equivalents at the beggginnininnininninggg of the year of the year of the year 4444 3,1993,193,193,19999 3,6123,63,63,6121212

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the yearCash and cash eCash and cash eCash and cash eqqquivalents at the end of the yeauivalents at the end of the yeauivalents at the end of the yearrr 4444 3,817333,,,818181777 3,1993,3,3,111999999

Change in cash and cash equivalentsCCChanhanhanggge in cash and cash equivalente in cash and cash equivalente in cash and cash equivalentsss 4444 618666111888 – 413––– 41 41 41333

In order to enhance comparability, the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures has been restated.IIIn order to enhance comparability, the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures has been restated.n order to enhance comparability, the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures has been restated.n order to enhance comparability, the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures has been restated.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Defi nition of the equity categories used within the Infranor 
Group:

The share capital is the share capital of the parent company, 
Infranor Inter AG.

Reserves from acquisitions comprise the goodwill from company 
acquisitions that was taken directly to equity in the past as well 
as premiums from capital increases.

– – 

– – 

1,000 CHF111,000 CH,000 CH,000 CHFFF ShareSSShareharehare ReservesReReRessseeervrvrveseses RevenueRRReeevvveeenununueee TreasuryTreasurTreasurTreasuryyy Currency CCCurrencurrencurrencyyy TotalTotalTotalTotal

capitalcacacapppitaitaitalll acquisitionsaaacccqqquuuiiisssiiitttiiionononsss reservesrrreserveseserveseserves sharesssshhhaaaresresres translationtttranslatiranslatiranslationonon shareholders’sssharehoharehoharehollldersdersders’’’

differencesdddifferenceifferenceifferencesss equityeqeqequuuiiitttyyy

As at 30.4.06AAAsss at  at  at 3330.4.060.4.060.4.06 12,8161112,2,2,888161616 – 8,414– – – 888,41,41,41444 828888222888 – 198– 1– 1– 1989898 348333444888 5,380555,,,383838000

Net currency translation differencesNet currency translation diNet currency translation diNet currency translation difffffferenceerenceerencesss 742742742742 742777444222

Net profi tNet Net Net ppprofi rofi rofi ttt 2,2022,22,22,2020202 2,202222,20,20,20222

Total reported expenditure and incomeTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll re re reppported exorted exorted expppenditure and incomenditure and incomenditure and incomeee 0000 0000 2,202222,,,202020222 0000 742742742742 2,9442,2,2,949494444

Treasury sharesTTTreasurreasurreasuryyy shares shares shares – 33– 3– 3– 3333 – 24– 24– 24– 24 – 57– – – 555777

Increase in capital due to convertible bondIIIncrease in capital due to convertible bondncrease in capital due to convertible bondncrease in capital due to convertible bond 42444222 42444222 84848484

Option planOpOpOption tion tion ppplalalannn 8888 8888

DividendDDDividendividendividend – 631––– 6 6 6313131 – 631––– 63 63 63111

Total transactions with shareholdersTotal transactions with sharTotal transactions with sharTotal transactions with shareeeholdholdholdeeerrrsss 42424242 50555000 – 664––– 66 66 66444 – 24– 24– 24– 24 0000 – 596––– 59 59 59666

As at 30.4.07AAAsss at  at  at 3330.4.00.4.00.4.0777 12,85812,85812,85812,858 – 8,364– 8,36– 8,36– 8,36444 2,3662,32,32,3666666 – 222– 222– 222– 222 1,0901,1,1,000999000 7,7287,727,727,72888

Net currency translation differencesNet currency translation differenceNet currency translation differenceNet currency translation differencesss – 839– 8– 8– 8393939 – 839––– 888393939

Net profi tNet Net Net ppprofi rofi rofi ttt 2,790222,,,790790790 2,7902,2,2,797979000

Total reported expenditure and incomeTotal reTotal reTotal reppported exorted exorted expppenditure and incomenditure and incomenditure and incomeee 0000 0000 2,790222,,,790790790 0000 – 839– – – 888333999 1,951111,,,959595111

Treasury sharesTTTreasurreasurreasuryyy shares shares shares 0000 0000

Increase in capital due to convertible bondIIIncrease in cancrease in cancrease in capppital due to convertible bondital due to convertible bondital due to convertible bond 2,651222,,,666555111 2,6512,2,2,666555111 5,3025,305,305,30222

Option planOpOpOption tion tion ppplalalannn 0000

DividendDDDividividivideeendndnd – 948––– 94 94 94888 – 948––– 999484848

Total transactions with shareholdersTotal transactions with sharTotal transactions with sharTotal transactions with shareeeholdholdholdeeerrrsss 2,651222,65,65,65111 2,6512,652,652,65111 – 948––– 999444888 0000 0000 4,3544,34,34,3555444

As at 30.4.08AAAs at 30.4.0s at 30.4.0s at 30.4.0888 15,509151515,,,555000999 – 5,713––– 5 5 5,,,717171333 4,2084,4,4,202020888 – 222––– 222222222 251252525111 14,0331114,034,034,03333

Revenue reserves comprise profi ts retained in Group companies 
and the reserves set up with these profi ts.and the reserves set up with these profi ts.and the reserves set up with these profi

The item Treasury shares comprises the Infranor Inter AG shares 
bought back from the market at the respective stock market price 
at par value. The difference between par value and market value 
is charged to Revenue reserves.

Currency translation differences comprise all currency-translation 
differences relating to currency conversions by foreign Group 
companies.

– – 

– – 

– – 
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1.1 Segment report by division111.1 .1 .1 SSSeeegggment report by divisioment report by divisioment report by divisionnn
1,000 CHF111,,,000 000 000 CCCHFHFHF Infranor DivisionInInInfffranranranooor Divisir Divisir Divisiononon Cybelec Division CCCybelec Division ybelec Division ybelec Division OthersOthOthOtheeerrrsss Total GroupTotal GrouTotal GrouTotal Grouppp

07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07000666///070707 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07000666///070707 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07000666///070707

Order intakeOrder intakOrder intakOrder intakeee 47,9354447,9357,9357,935 48,898484848,,,898989888 26,90326,9026,9026,90333 29,35329,329,329,3555333 74,83874,74,74,888333888 78,251787878,,,252525111

Change versus previous year as %CCChange versus previous year as hange versus previous year as hange versus previous year as %%% – 2,0 %––– 2 2 2,,,0 0 0 %%% – 8,3 %– 8– 8– 8,,,3 3 3 %%% – 4,4 %– 4– 4– 4,,,4 %4 %4 % 2,7 %2,2,2,7 7 7 %%%

Orders on handOrdOrdOrdeeers on handrs on handrs on hand 8,8668,8,8,868686666 8,8828,888,888,88222 5,536555,,,555363636 6,700666,,,707070000 14,402141414,,,444020202 15,582151515,,,555828282

Change versus previous year as %ChanChanChanggge versus previous year as e versus previous year as e versus previous year as %%% – 0,2 %––– 0,2  0,2  0,2 %%% – 17,4 %– 17,4 – 17,4 – 17,4 %%% – 7,6 %– 7,6 – 7,6 – 7,6 %%% 7,5 %777,5 ,5 ,5 7,5 777,5 7,5 7,5 777,5 7 %%%

Net salesNNNet saet saet sallleeesss 47,74347,7447,7447,74333 47,07847,0747,0747,07888 27,82127,27,27,888212121 24,20924,224,224,2090909 75,56475,56475,56475,564 71,28771,28771,28771,287

between divisionsbbbetween divisietween divisietween divisiooonnnsss 208222000888 241241241241 596595959666 681681681681 – 804––– 888040404 – 922– – – 922922922 0000 0000

Change versus previous year as %Change versus previous year as Change versus previous year as Change versus previous year as %%% 1,4 %1,1,1,4 4 4 %%% 14,9 %111444,,,9 9 9 %%% 6,0 %6,6,6,0 %0 %0 % 13,7 %131313,,,7 7 7 %%%

Operating expensesOperating expensesOperating expensesOperating expenses – 43,532––– 4 4 43,3,3,555323232 – 42,880– 42,– 42,– 42,888888000 – 24,142––– 222444,,,141414222 – 21,717––– 21,717 21,717 21,717 – 918– 918– 918– 918 – 887– – – 888888777 – 68,592– 68– 68– 68,,,595959222 – 65,484––– 65,4 65,4 65,4888444

EBITDAEEEBBBIIITDTDTDAAA 4,211444,,,222111111 4,1984,194,194,19888 3,679333,,,666797979 2,492222,492,492,492 – 918– 91– 91– 91888 – 887– – – 888888777 6,972666,97,97,97222 5,803555,803,803,803

as % of salesaaas s s %%% of sales of sales of sales 8,8 %888,8 ,8 ,8 %%% 8,9 %8,8,8,9 %9 %9 % 13,2 %1113,2 3,2 3,2 %%% 10,3 %111000,,,3 3 3 %%% 9,2 %999,2 ,2 ,2 %%% 8,1 %888,,,1 1 1 %%%

DepreciationDDDeeepppreciatioreciatioreciationnn – 1,004––– 1 1 1,004,004,004 – 877– – – 888777777 – 442– 442– 442– 442 – 410– 41– 41– 41000 – 124– 124– 124– 124 14141414 – 1,570––– 1 1 1,,,575757000 – 1,273– 1– 1– 1,2,2,2777333

EBITEBITEBITEBIT 3,2073,3,3,222000777 3,321333,,,321321321 3,2373,2373,2373,237 2,0822,2,2,000888222 – 1,042– 1– 1– 1,0,0,0444222 – 873– – – 888737373 5,402555,,,444020202 4,530444,,,535353000

as % of salesaaas s s %%% o o offf sales sales salesf salesfff salesf salesf salesfff salesf 6,7 %6,7 6,7 6,7 %%% 7,1 %7,1 %7,1 %7,1 % 11,6 %1111,6 1,6 1,6 %%% 8,6 %888,6 ,6 ,6 %%% 7,1 %7,1 7,1 7,1 %%% 6,4 %6,4 6,4 6,4 %%%

Financial resultFinFinFinaaancincinciaaal resull resull resulttt – 1,709––– 1,70 1,70 1,70999 – 1,319––– 1, 1, 1,333111999

Income taxesIIIncncncooome taxesme taxesme taxes – 903– 903– 903– 903 – 1,009– 1– 1– 1,,,009009009

Net profi tNet Net Net ppprororofififi t t tfi tfififi tfi tfi tfififi tfi 2,790222,,,797979000 2,2022,2,2,202020222

Number of employeesNumber oNumber oNumber offf employee employee employeef employeefff employeef employeef employeefff employeef sss 211222111111 211222111111 81888111 80808080 7777 7777 299222999999 298222989898

EBIT / employee (1,000 CHF)EBIT / emEBIT / emEBIT / emppployee (1,000 CHF)loyee (1,000 CHF)loyee (1,000 CHF) 15151515 16111666 40444000 26222666 – 149––– 14 14 14999 – 125––– 1 1 1252525 18111888 15151515

Total assetsTTTotal assetsotal assetsotal assetsTotal assetsTTTotal assetsTotal assetsTotal assetsTTTotal assetsT 31,038313131,,,038038038 30,827333000,8,8,8222777 16,843111666,,,848484333 16,415161616,,,414141555 367367367367 323333232323 48,248444888,,,242424888 47,565474747,,,47,474747,47,47,474747,47565565565

Total liabilitiesTTTotal liabilitieotal liabilitieotal liabilitieTotal liabilitieTTTotal liabilitieTotal liabilitieTotal liabilitieTTTotal liabilitieT sss – 22,402––– 22,402 22,402 22,402 – 17,192– 17,192– 17,192– 17,192 – 7,868– 7,868– 7,868– 7,868 – 7,704– 7,7– 7,7– 7,7000444 – 3,945– – – 333,94,94,94555 – 14,941– 14,94– 14,94– 14,94111 – 34,215– – – 3334,4,4,222111555 – 39,837––– 39,837 39,837 39,837

Assets netAssets neAssets neAssets nettt 8,636888,63,63,63666 13,6351113,3,3,666333555 8,975888,975,975,975 8,7118,7118,7118,711 – 3,578– 3,57– 3,57– 3,57888 – 14,618––– 14,618 14,618 14,618 14,03314,03314,03314,033 7,7287,727,727,72888

Investments in property, plant and equipmentIIInvestments in nvestments in nvestments in ppprororoppperty, erty, erty, ppplant and elant and elant and eqqquiuiuipppmenmenmenttt 1,869111,,,869869869 1,042111,,,042042042 389389389389 215212121555 150111555000 25222555 2,408222,,,404040888 1,2821,1,1,222828282

Investments in intangible assetsIIInvestments in intangible assetsnvestments in intangible assetsnvestments in intangible assets 373333777333 96969696 155155155155 312333121212 422444222222 86868686 950999505050 494494949444

Total investmentsToToTotal investmenttal investmenttal investmentsss 2,242222,,,222444222 1,1381,131,131,13888 544544544544 527555272727 572555777222 111111111111 3,3583,353,353,35888 1,7761,771,771,77666

Depreciation of property, plant and equipmentDDDeeepppreciation of reciation of reciation of ppprororoppperty, erty, erty, ppplant and elant and elant and eqqquiuiuipppmenmenmenttt – 830– 83– 83– 83000 – 723– 7– 7– 7232323 – 165––– 165 165 165 – 160––– 16 16 16000 – 130––– 13 13 13000 – 20– 2– 2– 2000 – 1,125––– 1 1 1,,,121212555 – 903––– 90 90 90333

Amortization of intangible assetsAmortization oAmortization oAmortization offf intangible asset intangible asset intangible assetf intangible assetfff intangible assetf intangible assetf intangible assetfff intangible assetf sss – 174––– 174174174 – 154– 15– 15– 15444 – 277––– 277277277  – 249 – 24 – 24 – 24999  6666  33 33 33 33  – 445 –  –  – 445445445 – 370– 37– 37– 37000

Total depreciation and amortizationTTTotal depreciation and amortizationotal depreciation and amortizationotal depreciation and amortizationTotal depreciation and amortizationTTTotal depreciation and amortizationTotal depreciation and amortizationTotal depreciation and amortizationTTTotal depreciation and amortizationT – 1,004––– 1,00 1,00 1,00444 – 877– – – 888777777 – 442––– 44 44 44222 – 409– 4– 4– 4090909 – 124––– 1 1 1222444 13111333 – 1,570––– 1,570 1,570 1,570 – 1,273– 1,273– 1,273– 1,273

1.2. Segment report by region111.2. .2. .2. SSSeeegggment report by rement report by rement report by regggionionion
1,000 CHF111,,,000 CHF000 CHF000 CHF Net salesNeNeNet salt salt saleseses Non current assetsNNNon curron curron curreeent assnt assnt asseeetttsss Gross investmentsGGGross invross invross inveeestmstmstmeeentntntsss Number of employeesNumber oNumber oNumber offf em em emppployeesloyeesloyees

according to benefi ciaryaccordinaccordinaccordinggg to benefi to benefi to benefi ciar ciar ciar to benefi ciar to benefi to benefi to benefi ciar to benefi ciar to benefi ciar to benefi to benefi to benefi ciar to benefi yyy by service providerby service provideby service provideby service providerrr by service providerbbby service providey service providey service providerrr by service providerbbby service providey service providey service providerrr

07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07000666///070707 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07000666///070707 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07000666///070707

Europe / Middle East / AfricaEuroEuroEuropppe / Middle East / Africae / Middle East / Africae / Middle East / Africa 62,645666222,,,645645645 58,80158,858,858,8010101 8,588888,,,588588588 6,924666,,,924924924 3,261333,,,261261261 1,642111,,,646464222 249242424999 252252525222

North and South AmericaNorth and South AmericNorth and South AmericNorth and South Americaaa 6,528666,,,528528528 7,209777,20,20,207,20777,207,207,20777,207 999 98999888 46464646 86888666 5555 23232323 25252525

Asia / Pacifi cAsiAsiAsiaaa /// P P P/ P/// P/ P/ P/// P/ aaacicicifififi c c cfi cfififi cfi cfi cfififi cfi 6,391666,,,333999111 5,2775,275,275,27777 102111020202 160160160160 11111111 129121212999 27272727 21212121

TotalToToTotatatalll 75,5647775,565,565,56444 71,287777111,,,282828777 8,788888,7,7,7888888 7,130777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7131313000 3,3583,353,353,35888 1,776111,,,777777666 299222999999 298222989898

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Segment report

The Group has split its business activities between the two 
segments Infranor Division and Cybelec Division for the fi rst time segments Infranor Division and Cybelec Division for the fi rst time segments Infranor Division and Cybelec Division for the fi
during the 2007/08 fi nancial year. Additional notes in this regard 
can be found on page 7 in the Report section and on page 18

in the Corporate Governance section. The new segments also 
correspond to a new legal structure and new internal reporting 
(management approach). General Group costs that cannot
be assigned are shown separately. Transactions between the 
segments are conducted at arm’s length.
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2. Consolidation principles and accounting policies

General
The Infranor Group is active in the automation industry. The 
parent company, Infranor Inter AG, has its headquarters in Zurich 
(Switzerland). The business activities of the Infranor Group 
mainly consist of the development, production and global sales 
of high-quality automation components and solutions. The Group 
earns more than half of its revenue in the EU.

Registered offi ce:Registered offi ce:Registered offi
Infranor Inter AG
Schaffhauserstrasse 418
P.O. Box
CH-8050 Zurich
T +41 (0) 44 307 45 00
F +41 (0) 44 307 45 10
www.infranor.com

Basis for preparing the Group’s fi nancial statementsBasis for preparing the Group’s fi nancial statementsBasis for preparing the Group’s fi
The fi nancial statements of the Infranor Group were prepared
as of April 30, 2008, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), always on the basis of historical 
costs unless the following notes on consolidation principles and 
accounting policies state otherwise. Information required under 
the Swiss Code of Obligations has also been provided.

The annual fi nancial statements are presented in Swiss francs 
(1,000 CHF). However, the majority of the Group’s transactions 
are conducted in euros.

Change in accounting principles
The Infranor Group applies the new and changed IFRS/IAS 
standards and interpretations that came into force on January 1, 
2007. Use has been made of IFRS 8, Operative Segments,
although it is not yet in force.

IFRS 7, Financial Instruments, Disclosures:
This standard regulates the disclosure of fi nancial instruments This standard regulates the disclosure of fi nancial instruments This standard regulates the disclosure of fi
and supersedes the previous disclosure regulations of IAS 30 and 
IAS 32. The disclosure regulations in IFRS 7 contain qualitative 
and quantitative information about risks from fi nancial instru-and quantitative information about risks from fi nancial instru-and quantitative information about risks from fi
ments, particularly credit, liquidity and market risks. Information 
about fi nancial instruments stated in the appendix has been 
expanded according to the new standard.

IFRS 8, Operative Segments:
For the fi rst time, the Group divided up its business activities for 
the 2007/08 business year into two segments, and it has also 
decided to use the new standard that supersedes IAS 14 before it 
offi cially comes into force. The segment information on page 36 
has been shown in accordance with the new regulations. The 
previous years’ fi gures have been adapted to the new presenta-
tion format.

IAS 1 Amendments to IAS (revised): Disclosure 
 of fi nancial statement  of fi nancial statement  of fi
IFRIC 8 Application area of IFRS 2 Share-based 
 compensation
IFRIC 9 Reassessment of embedded derivatives
IFRIC 10 Interim reporting and impairment of assets
IFRIC 11  Intragroup transactions and treasury stock
 in accordance with IFRS 2

The above-mentioned standards and interpretations did not lead 
to adjustments of the Group’s accounting and valuation methods, 
but they did lead to additional disclosures. They have not affected 
the 2007/08 year under review.

– – 

– – 
– – 
– – 
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At the point in time when these consolidated fi nancial statements At the point in time when these consolidated fi nancial statements At the point in time when these consolidated fi
were released, the following IFRS/IAS standards and interpreta-
tions had been approved but were not yet in force, nor were they 
being used before they came into force:

IAS 1 Revised fi nancial statementIAS 1 Revised fi nancial statementIAS 1 Revised fi
 (effective January 1, 2009)
IAS 23 Activation of liability costs, revised
 (effective January 1, 2009)
IFRS 2 Stock-based compensation, revised
 (effective January 1, 2009)
IFRS 3 Business combinations, revised
 (effective July 1, 2009)
IFRS 27 Company statements and separate individual 
  statements, revised
 (effective July 1, 2009)
IFRIC 12  Service concession arrangements
 (effective January 1, 2008)
IFRIC 13  Customer bonding programs 
 (effective July 1, 2008)
IFRIC 14  Limitation of a performance-oriented
 asset, minimum fi nancing regulations and 
 the interaction thereof (effective January 1, 2008)
Improvements to IFRS 2008 (effective January 1, 2009)

It is management’s opinion that drawing up the fi nancial state-It is management’s opinion that drawing up the fi nancial state-It is management’s opinion that drawing up the fi
ments on the basis of these IFRS/IAS standards and interpreta-
tions starting with the 2008/09 fi nancial year will not signifi cantly tions starting with the 2008/09 fi nancial year will not signifi cantly tions starting with the 2008/09 fi nancial year will not signifi
infl uence the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements.infl uence the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements.infl uence the Group’s consolidated fi

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated fi nancial statements – consisting of the balance 
sheet, income statement, cash fl ow statement, statement of 
changes in equity, and appendix – are based on the audited 
annual fi nancial statements of the companies that fall within the 
scope of consolidation. The consolidated fi nancial statements are 
prepared from the annual fi nancial statements of the individual 
companies, which comply with local regulations and practices in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) by applying uniform Group-wide consolidation principles 
and accounting policies.

– – 

– – 

– – 

– – 

– – 

– – 

– – 

– – 

– – 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidation principles
The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Infranor Group 
cover all companies in which the Group directly or indirectly 
holds more than 50 percent of the voting rights or over which the 
Group exercises signifi cant inflGroup exercises signifi cant inflGroup exercises signifi  uence in some other way. Newly  cant infl uence in some other way. Newly  cant infl
acquired companies are consolidated from the date of their 
acquisition. The results of companies that have been sold are 
recognised until the date of sale. Companies in which the Group 
holds more than 20 percent but not more than 50 percent of the 
voting rights are accounted for under the equity method pro-
vided the Group does not exercise signifi cant inflvided the Group does not exercise signifi cant inflvided the Group does not exercise signifi  uence in some  cant infl uence in some  cant infl
other way. The proportionate equity and the proportionate profi t/other way. The proportionate equity and the proportionate profi t/other way. The proportionate equity and the proportionate profi
loss for the period are stated in the consolidated fi nancial state-loss for the period are stated in the consolidated fi nancial state-loss for the period are stated in the consolidated fi
ments even if the proportionate equity exceeds the historical 
cost. 

Holdings in excess of 50 percent are consolidated by the pur-
chase method applied in the UK and the USA. The assets and 
liabilities of newly acquired companies are stated at fair value at 
the time of acquisition. Minority interests show the minorities’ 
share of total assets less liabilities. 

All transactions and balances between the consolidated compa-
nies are eliminated during the course of consolidation. Intragroup 
profi ts generated from internal transactions are eliminated.

Companies included in the consolidation 
The only change to the scope of consolidation in the 2007/08 
fi nancial year was the divestiture of the Swiss company Violet-
Indim SA, which was merged when consolidation took place.
The companies were legally reorganised as of April 30, 2008, in 
accordance with the newly created segments. All companies in 
the Infranor Division are now subsidiaries of Infranor Holding SA, 
Coppet. There were no changes in the Cybelec Division. 

The following companies were fully consolidated as of April 30, 
2008:



 39Infranor Group Financial Report 2007/2008

Group companies Note Purpose5)  Share capital Participation Year 

listed by place of jurisdiction founded 

       

Infranor Inter AG, CH-Zurich 1 F CHF 15,509,920 n/a 1987 

ISA  Management  S.A.,  CH-Coppet S CHF 200,000 100 % 1986 

Infranor  Holding  S.A.,  CH-Coppet 2 F, S CHF 5,000,000 100 % 1941 

Infranor  S.A.,  CH-Coppet  E CHF 500,000 100 % 1953 

Infranor  S.A.S.,  FR-Linas E EUR 38,250 100 % 1992 

Infranor  Electronics  S.A.S.,  FR-Lourdes P EUR 37,000 100 % 2005 

Infranor  B.V.,  NL-Oud-Beijerland E EUR 100,000 100 % 2005 

Infranor  GmbH,  DE-Hanau  E EUR 100,000 100 % 1968 

MESA  Automation  GmbH,  DE-Berlin P EUR 100,000 100 % 1982 

Infranor  Ltd.,  UK-Crainleigh E GBP 200,000 100 % 1983 

Infranor Spain S.L.U., ES-Badalona E EUR 150,000 100 % 2006 

Infranor  Asia Ltd., CH-Zurich E CHF 300,000 100 % 2005 

Infranor  Holdings  USA,  Inc.,  USA-Dover DE F USD 1,620 100 % 2001 

   Infranor,  Inc.,  USA-Wilmington, MA 3 E USD 331,000 100 % 1982 

   Automotion,  Inc.,  USA-Ann  Arbor,  MI 4 P USD 1,053,070 100 % 1983 

Mavilor  Motors  S.A.,  ES-Sta. Perpetua de Mogoda P EUR 135,000 100 % 1973 

ISA  Innovations  S.A.,  CH-Coppet S CHF 50,000 100 % 1980 

Violet-Indim  Sarl,  FR-Lourdes  F EUR 8,000 100 % 2000 

Cybelec  S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bains P CHF 250,000 100 % 1970 

Cybelec  S.r.l.,  IT-Cinisello Balsamo E EUR 100,000 100 % 2004 

Cybelec  Numerical Control Technology 

   (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., CN-Shanghai P CNY 1,304,400 100 % 2006 

1   The share capital increased by 2.65 million CHF to 15.51 million CHF 

during 2007/08 due to conversion of bonds.
2   The share capital was increased by 3.91 million CHF to 5.00 million CHF  

by means of contributions in kind. Violet Indim SA, Fribourg was 

absorbed by means of amalgamation.

3   The share capital was increased by 0.33 million USD to 0,33 million USD
4   The share capital was increased by 0.59 million USD to 1,05 million USD
5   E = Engineering and sales

   P = Production, development and sales

   F = Finance

   S = Services
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Financial risk managementFFFinancial risk managemeninancial risk managemeninancial risk managementtt
Financial risk management takes place within the Infranor GroupFFFinancial risk management takes place within the Infranor Groupinancial risk management takes place within the Infranor Groupinancial risk management takes place within the Infranor Group
in accordance with the principles and guidelines laid down by iiin accordance with the principles and guidelines laid down by n accordance with the principles and guidelines laid down by n accordance with the principles and guidelines laid down by 
management. These regulate the hedging of exchange-rate,mmmanaanaanagggement. These reement. These reement. These regggulate the hedulate the hedulate the hedggginininggg o o offf exchan exchan exchanf exchanfff exchanf exchanf exchanfff exchanf ggge-rate,e-rate,e-rate,
interest, market, credit and liquidity risks. There are also guide-iiinterest, market, credit and liquidity risks. There are also nterest, market, credit and liquidity risks. There are also nterest, market, credit and liquidity risks. There are also ggguide-uide-uide-
lines for managing liquid assets and obtaining loans. Risklines for manalines for manalines for managgginininggg liquid assets and obtainin liquid assets and obtainin liquid assets and obtaininggg loans. Ris loans. Ris loans. Riskkk
management is aimed at minimising potential negative effectsmmmanagement is aimed at minimising potential negative eanagement is aimed at minimising potential negative eanagement is aimed at minimising potential negative effffffectsectsects
on the fi nancial situation. ooon the n the n the fififi nancial situati nancial situati nancial situatifi nancial situatifififi nancial situatifi nancial situatifi nancial situatifififi nancial situatifi ooon. n. n. 

Market risksMMMarararkekeket rist rist riskkksss
The Group is exposed to market risks, mainly in the form of The GrouThe GrouThe Grouppp is ex is ex is exppposed to market risks, mainly in the form oosed to market risks, mainly in the form oosed to market risks, mainly in the form offf
interest-rate and foreign-currency risks as well as credit risks due iiinterest-rate and nterest-rate and nterest-rate and ffforeign-currency risks as well as credit risks due oreign-currency risks as well as credit risks due oreign-currency risks as well as credit risks due 
to third parties not meeting obligations. The Board of Directors is to third parties not meeting obligations. The Board oto third parties not meeting obligations. The Board oto third parties not meeting obligations. The Board offf Directors is  Directors is  Directors is f Directors is fff Directors is f Directors is f Directors is fff Directors is f
responsible for monitoring the Group’s internal management sys-rrresponsible for monitorinesponsible for monitorinesponsible for monitoringgg the Group’s internal mana the Group’s internal mana the Group’s internal managggement sys-ement sys-ement sys-
tems, which can manage but not eliminate all risk of unsuccessfultems, which can manatems, which can manatems, which can managgge but not eliminate all risk of unsuccessfule but not eliminate all risk of unsuccessfule but not eliminate all risk of unsuccessful
transactions. These systems offer adequate but not total protec-transactions. These systems offer adetransactions. These systems offer adetransactions. These systems offer adeqqquate but not total uate but not total uate but not total ppprotecrotecrotec---
tion against errors and losses. Group Management is responsibletion against errors and losses. tion against errors and losses. tion against errors and losses. GGGroup Management is responsibleroup Management is responsibleroup Management is responsible
for identifying and assessing signifi cant risks for each Groupfffor identior identior identifffyinyinyinggg and assessin and assessin and assessinggg si si sigggnininifififi cant risks  cant risks  cant risks fi cant risks fififi cant risks fi cant risks fi cant risks fififi cant risks fi fffor each or each or each GGGrouprouproup
company. In addition to adopting quantitative approaches and company. company. company. IIIn addition to adoptinn addition to adoptinn addition to adoptinggg quantitative approaches and  quantitative approaches and  quantitative approaches and 
formal guidelines – which represent just one element of a com-ffformal ormal ormal ggguidelines – which represent just one element of a com-uidelines – which represent just one element of a com-uidelines – which represent just one element of a com-
prehensive approach to risk management – Group Management prehensive approach to risk management – prehensive approach to risk management – prehensive approach to risk management – GGGroup Management roup Management roup Management 
attaches importance to building up and maintaining a suitable aaattaches importance to building up and maintaining a suitable ttaches importance to building up and maintaining a suitable ttaches importance to building up and maintaining a suitable 
risk-management culture.rrrisk-manaisk-manaisk-managggement cultureement cultureement culture...

The Group’s risk policy also includes protecting against risksThe Group’s risk policy also includes protectinThe Group’s risk policy also includes protectinThe Group’s risk policy also includes protectinggg a a agggainst risksainst risksainst risks
through comprehensive and effi cient insurance cover as well asthrough comprehensive and ethrough comprehensive and ethrough comprehensive and effiffiffi cient insurance cover as well as cient insurance cover as well as cient insurance cover as well asffi cient insurance cover as well asffiffiffi cient insurance cover as well asffi cient insurance cover as well asffi cient insurance cover as well asffiffiffi cient insurance cover as well asffi
through Infranor’s broad spread of customers across variousthrough Inthrough Inthrough Infffranor’s broad spread oranor’s broad spread oranor’s broad spread offf customers across various customers across various customers across variousf customers across variousfff customers across variousf customers across variousf customers across variousfff customers across variousf
sectors of industry and geographical regions.sssectors of industry and ectors of industry and ectors of industry and gggeoeoeogggraphical reraphical reraphical regggions.ions.ions.

Foreign-currency translationFFForeign-currency translatiooreign-currency translatiooreign-currency translationnn
The consolidated accounts are prepared in Swiss francs (CHF). The consolidated accounts are prepared in Swiss francs The consolidated accounts are prepared in Swiss francs The consolidated accounts are prepared in Swiss francs (((CHFCHFCHF))). . . 
The items included in the fi nancial statements of the individualThe items included in the The items included in the The items included in the fififi nancial statements  nancial statements  nancial statements fi nancial statements fififi nancial statements fi nancial statements fi nancial statements fififi nancial statements fi ofofof the individual the individual the individualof the individualofofof the individualof the individualof the individualofofof the individualof
Group companies are presented in the currency of the primaryGGGrourourouppp com com compppanies are anies are anies are pppresented in the currency of the resented in the currency of the resented in the currency of the ppprimaryrimaryrimary
economic environment in which the respective company operates eeeconomic environment in wconomic environment in wconomic environment in whhhicicichhh t t thhhe rese rese respppective comective comective compppany oany oany oppperates erates erates 
(functional currency). The income statements of foreign compa-(functional currency). The income statements of foreign compa-(functional currency). The income statements of foreign compa-(functional currency). The income statements of foreign compa-
nies are translated into Swiss francs at the average exchangenies are translated into nies are translated into nies are translated into SSSwiss francs at the average exchangewiss francs at the average exchangewiss francs at the average exchange
rates.rrrates.ates.ates.

The balance sheets of subsidiaries are translated at the exchangeThe balance sheets of subsidiaries are translated at the exchanThe balance sheets of subsidiaries are translated at the exchanThe balance sheets of subsidiaries are translated at the exchangggeee
rates that apply on 30  April, using the closing date method. The rrrates that apply on 30  April, using the closing date method. The ates that apply on 30  April, using the closing date method. The ates that apply on 30  April, using the closing date method. The 
resulting translation differences are taken to equity and arerrresulting translation diesulting translation diesulting translation difffffferences are taken to equity and areerences are taken to equity and areerences are taken to equity and are
recognised in the income statement only if and when the subsidi-rrrecoecoecogggnised in the income statement only inised in the income statement only inised in the income statement only ifff and when the subsidi and when the subsidi and when the subsidif and when the subsidifff and when the subsidif and when the subsidif and when the subsidifff and when the subsidif ---
aries are deconsolidated.aaaries are ries are ries are dddeconsoeconsoeconsollliiidddateateateddd...

Foreign-currency transactions at Group companies are recordedFFForeioreioreigggn-currency transactions at Group companies are recordedn-currency transactions at Group companies are recordedn-currency transactions at Group companies are recorded
at the exchange rates ruling on the date of the transaction. Gains at the exchange rates ruling on the date of the transaction. Gains at the exchange rates ruling on the date of the transaction. Gains at the exchange rates ruling on the date of the transaction. Gains 
and losses from such transactions and from the translation of and land land looosses sses sses fffrrrooom such transactim such transactim such transactiooons and ns and ns and fffrrrooom the translatim the translatim the translatiooon n n ofofof
foreign-currency assets and liabilities are taken to the income ffforeioreioreigggn-currency assets and liabilities are taken to the income n-currency assets and liabilities are taken to the income n-currency assets and liabilities are taken to the income 
statement, with the carrying amounts in the balance sheet being statement, with the carryinstatement, with the carryinstatement, with the carryinggg amounts in the  amounts in the  amounts in the bbbalance sheet alance sheet alance sheet bbbeineineinggg
translated at the exchange rate ruling at year-end. Foreign-tttranslated at the exchanranslated at the exchanranslated at the exchanggge rate ruline rate ruline rate rulinggg at year-end. Forei at year-end. Forei at year-end. Foreigggn-n-n-
exchange differences on Group loans to a foreign company whichexchange diexchange diexchange difffffferences on erences on erences on GGGroup loans to a roup loans to a roup loans to a ffforeign company whichoreign company whichoreign company which
are seen as part of the investment are recognised in consolidatedare seen as part oare seen as part oare seen as part offf the investment are recognised in consolidated the investment are recognised in consolidated the investment are recognised in consolidatedf the investment are recognised in consolidatedfff the investment are recognised in consolidatedf the investment are recognised in consolidatedf the investment are recognised in consolidatedfff the investment are recognised in consolidatedf
equity.eeeqqquity.uity.uity.

The following exchange rates were used:TTThe followinhe followinhe followinggg exchan exchan exchanggge rates were usede rates were usede rates were used:::

CHFCCCHFHFHF Year-end ratesYYYear-end ratesear-end ratesear-end ratesYear-end ratesYYYear-end ratesYear-end ratesYear-end ratesYYYear-end ratesY Average ratesAAAveraveraveraAveraAAAveraAveraAveraAAAveraA ggge ratee ratee ratesss

for the balance sheetfffor the balance sheeor the balance sheeor the balance sheettt  for the year for the for the  for the  for the yyyear for theear for theear for the

 income statementiiincome statementncome statementncome statement

30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.000777 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07000666///070707

USAUSAUSAUSA USDUUUSSSDDD 1.04781.0471.0471.047888 1.21511.1.1.222151515111 1.13301.1331.1331.133000 1.22601.2261.2261.226000

EuropeEEEuropeuropeurope EUREUREUREUR 1.6200111...666222000000 1.65271.65271.65271.6527 1.63501.61.61.6350350350 1.59601.5961.5961.596000

UKUUUKKK GBPGGGBBBPPP 2.06942.06942.06942.0694 2.42922.422.422.42929292 2.2790222.2790.2790.2790 2.35802.3582.3582.358000

ChinaCCChinhinhinaaa CNYCCCNNNYYY 0.1501000.1501.1501.1501 0.1576000.1.1.1555777666 0.15400.15400.15400.1540 0.1560000.1.1.1560560560

Financial instrumentsFFFinanciainanciainancialll instrum instrum instrumeeentsntsnts
The fi nancial instruments used are entered in the balance sheet TTThe fi nancial instruments used are entered in the balance sheet he fi nancial instruments used are entered in the balance sheet he fi nancial instruments used are entered in the balance sheet 
on the trading date. Derivative fi nancial instruments are stated inooon the tradinn the tradinn the tradinggg date. Derivative fi nancial instruments are stated in date. Derivative fi nancial instruments are stated in date. Derivative fi nancial instruments are stated in
the balance sheet at fair value in accordance with IAS 39. Thettthe balance sheet at fair value in acche balance sheet at fair value in acche balance sheet at fair value in accooordance with IArdance with IArdance with IASSS 3339. The9. The9. The
Group occasionally uses forward exchange contracts. Forward GGGroup occasionally uses roup occasionally uses roup occasionally uses ffforward exchange contracts. Forward orward exchange contracts. Forward orward exchange contracts. Forward 
exchange transactions are concluded for the purpose of hedgingexchanexchanexchanggge transactions are concluded for the purpose of hede transactions are concluded for the purpose of hede transactions are concluded for the purpose of hedggginininggg
a current contract or an amount due from a customer in a foreign a current contract or an amount due from a customer in a foreia current contract or an amount due from a customer in a foreia current contract or an amount due from a customer in a foreigggn n n 
currency (fair value hedge). In this case, each of the changes in currency (fair value hedge). In this case, each of the changes in currency (fair value hedge). In this case, each of the changes in currency (fair value hedge). In this case, each of the changes in 
the fair value of the hedging instrument and the hedged item arettthe he he fffair value oair value oair value offf the hedging instrument and the hedged item are the hedging instrument and the hedged item are the hedging instrument and the hedged item aref the hedging instrument and the hedged item arefff the hedging instrument and the hedged item aref the hedging instrument and the hedged item aref the hedging instrument and the hedged item arefff the hedging instrument and the hedged item aref
taken to income, bearing in mind deferred taxes, and the fair tttaken to income, bearinaken to income, bearinaken to income, bearinggg in mind de in mind de in mind deffferred taxes, and the erred taxes, and the erred taxes, and the fffair air air 
values are stated on the balance sheet with the hedged item. vvvalues are stated on the alues are stated on the alues are stated on the bbbalance sheet with the hedalance sheet with the hedalance sheet with the hedggged item. ed item. ed item. 
Ultimately, the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrumentUUUltimately, the chanltimately, the chanltimately, the changgges in the fair value of the hedes in the fair value of the hedes in the fair value of the hedggginininggg instrument instrument instrument
and the hedged item offset each other on the income statement. and the hedged item oand the hedged item oand the hedged item offffffset each other on the income statement. set each other on the income statement. set each other on the income statement. 
The classifi cation of the fi nancial instruments is described in theTTThe classihe classihe classifififi cati cati catifi catifififi catifi catifi catifififi catifi ooon n n ofofof the  the  the of the ofofof the of the of the ofofof the of fififi nancial instruments is described in the nancial instruments is described in the nancial instruments is described in thefi nancial instruments is described in thefififi nancial instruments is described in thefi nancial instruments is described in thefi nancial instruments is described in thefififi nancial instruments is described in thefi
following note. Financial instruments include in particular bank followinfollowinfollowinggg note. Financial instruments include in particular bank  note. Financial instruments include in particular bank  note. Financial instruments include in particular bank 
deposits, trade accounts receivable and payable, and interest-dededeppposits, trade accounts receivaosits, trade accounts receivaosits, trade accounts receivabbble and le and le and pppayaayaayabbble, and interest-le, and interest-le, and interest-
bearing liabilities. The majority are quoted in Swiss francs and bbbearing liabilities. The majority are quoted in earing liabilities. The majority are quoted in earing liabilities. The majority are quoted in SSSwiss francs and wiss francs and wiss francs and 
euros. The bank deposits and the trade accounts receivable and euros. The baneuros. The baneuros. The bankkk deposits and the trade accounts receivable and  deposits and the trade accounts receivable and  deposits and the trade accounts receivable and 
payable are mostly carried at fair value. The fair value of the twopayable are mostly carried at payable are mostly carried at payable are mostly carried at fffair value. The air value. The air value. The fffair value oair value oair value offf the two the two the twof the twofff the twof the twof the twofff the twof
subordinate fi nancial instruments was calculated as follows:subordinate fi nancial instruments was calculated as follows:subordinate fi nancial instruments was calculated as follows:subordinate fi nancial instruments was calculated as follows:

The convertible bond was valued at the respective fi nal exchange TTThe convertible bond was valued at the respective fihe convertible bond was valued at the respective fihe convertible bond was valued at the respective fi nal exchange  nal exchange  nal exchange he convertible bond was valued at the respective fi nal exchange he convertible bond was valued at the respective fihe convertible bond was valued at the respective fihe convertible bond was valued at the respective fi nal exchange he convertible bond was valued at the respective fi nal exchange he convertible bond was valued at the respective fi nal exchange he convertible bond was valued at the respective fihe convertible bond was valued at the respective fihe convertible bond was valued at the respective fi nal exchange he convertible bond was valued at the respective fi
rate before the balance sheet date. The collateralised debt obliga-rate berate berate befffore the balance sheet date. The collateralised debt obliga-ore the balance sheet date. The collateralised debt obliga-ore the balance sheet date. The collateralised debt obliga-
tion was discounted down because of increased interest rates withtttiiiooon was discn was discn was discooounted dunted dunted dooown because wn because wn because ofofof increased interest rates with increased interest rates with increased interest rates withof increased interest rates withofofof increased interest rates withof increased interest rates withof increased interest rates withofofof increased interest rates withof
an interest difference of 1.5 percent for 2007/08 and 0.75 percent an interest difference of 1.5 an interest difference of 1.5 an interest difference of 1.5 pppercent for 2007/08 and 0.75 ercent for 2007/08 and 0.75 ercent for 2007/08 and 0.75 pppercent ercent ercent 
for 2006/07.  for 2006/07.  for 2006/07.  for 2006/07.  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Financial instrumentsFFFinancial instrumentsinancial instrumentsinancial instruments
Financial instruments assetsFinanciaFinanciaFinancialll instruments assets instruments assets instruments assets

RecognizedRRRecoecoecogggnizenizenizeddd Cash,CCCashashash,,, Book valueBBBookookook value value value Fair valueFFFair valueair valueair value

The fi nancial instruments of the GroupTTThe fi nancial instruments of the Grouhe fi nancial instruments of the Grouhe fi nancial instruments of the Grouppp fair valuefair valufair valufair valueee credit andcccrereredddit anit anit anddd

are divided up into the following categories:aaare divided up into the re divided up into the re divided up into the fffollowing categoriesollowing categoriesollowing categories::: designated duringdddesignateesignateesignateddd dddurinurinuringgg receivablesrrreceiveceiveceivaaablesblesbles

1,000 CHF111,000 CH,000 CH,000 CHFFF registrationrereregigigistratstratstratiiiooonnn

30th April 20083330th 0th 0th AAApripriprilll 2008 2008 2008

Cash CCCash ash ash 3,817333,8,8,8111777 3,817333,8,8,8111777 3,8173,83,83,8171717

Cash equivalents, securities, fi nancial instrumentsCash equivalents, securities, Cash equivalents, securities, Cash equivalents, securities, fififi nancial instruments nancial instruments nancial instrumentsfi nancial instrumentsfififi nancial instrumentsfi nancial instrumentsfi nancial instrumentsfififi nancial instrumentsfi 55555555 14141414 69696969 69696969

Trade accounts receivableTTTrade accounts receivablrade accounts receivablrade accounts receivableee 18,01318,0118,0118,01333 18,01318,01318,01318,013 18,0131118,0138,0138,013

Other receivablesOOOther receivablether receivablether receivablesss 1,444111,,,444444444 1,444111,,,444444444 1,444111,,,444444444

Financial assetsFFFinancial assetinancial assetinancial assetsss 22222222 22222222 22222222

Total 30th April 2008Total 30th ATotal 30th ATotal 30th Apppril 2008ril 2008ril 2008 55555555 23,310222333,,,313131000 23,365232323,,,365365365 23,365232323,,,365365365

30th April 20073330th April 2000th April 2000th April 200777

Cash CaCaCash sh sh 3,1993,3,3,111999999 3,1993,3,3,111999999 3,1993,3,3,111999999

Cash equivalents, securities, fi nancial instrumentsCash eCash eCash eqqquivalents, securities, fiuivalents, securities, fiuivalents, securities, fi nancial instruments nancial instruments nancial instrumentsuivalents, securities, fi nancial instrumentsuivalents, securities, fiuivalents, securities, fiuivalents, securities, fi nancial instrumentsuivalents, securities, fi nancial instrumentsuivalents, securities, fi nancial instrumentsuivalents, securities, fiuivalents, securities, fiuivalents, securities, fi nancial instrumentsuivalents, securities, fi 1,318111,,,313131888 1,318111,,,313131888 1,3181,1,1,313131888

Trade accounts receivableTTTrade accounts receivarade accounts receivarade accounts receivabbbllleee 17,276111777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7272727666 17,276111777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7272727666 17,276171717,,,17,171717,17,17,171717,17276276276

Other receivablesOther receivableOther receivableOther receivablesss 937999333777 937939393777 937937937937

Financial assetsFinFinFinaaancincinciaaal l l aaassetssetssetsss 22222222 22222222 22222222

Total 30th April 2007TTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll 30th  30th  30th ApApApriririlll 2007 2007 2007 22,752222222,,,757575222 22,752222222,,,757575222 22,752222222,,,757575222

Financial instruments liabilitiesFinancial instrumFinancial instrumFinancial instrumeeents liabilitints liabilitints liabilitieseses

RecognizedRecoRecoRecogggnizenizenizeddd Cash,Cash,Cash,Cash, BookBookBookBook FairFFFaaairirir

The fi nancial instruments of the GroupTTThe fi nancial instruments of the Grouhe fi nancial instruments of the Grouhe fi nancial instruments of the Grouppp fair valuefffaaair vir vir vaaalululueee credit andcccredit redit redit aaannnddd  value v v vaaalueluelue  value v v vaaalueluelue

are divided up into the following categories:aaare divided up into the following categoriesre divided up into the following categoriesre divided up into the following categories::: designated duringdddesignated durinesignated durinesignated duringgg receivablesrrreceivaeceivaeceivabbbleslesles

1,000 CHF1,1,1,000 CH000 CH000 CHFFF registrationregistratioregistratioregistrationnn

30th April 20083330th April 20080th April 20080th April 2008

Current fi nancial liabilitiesCurrent fiCurrent fiCurrent fi n n nCurrent fi nCurrent fiCurrent fiCurrent fi nCurrent fi nCurrent fi nCurrent fiCurrent fiCurrent fi nCurrent fi aaancincinciaaal lil lil liaaabilitiebilitiebilitiesss 2222 5,1275,15,15,1272727 5,1295,15,15,1292929 5,129555,1,1,1292929

Trade accounts payableTTTrade accounts rade accounts rade accounts pppayaayaayabbbllleee 7,080777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7080080080 7,080777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7080080080 7,080777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7080808000

Other current liabilitiesOther current liabilitiesOther current liabilitiesOther current liabilities 803888000333 803888030303 803888030303

Accruals and deferred incomeAccruals and deAccruals and deAccruals and deffferred incomeerred incomeerred income 4,694444,69,69,69444 4,6944,694,694,69444 4,6944,6944,6944,694

Non-current fi nancial liabilitiesNNNooon-current n-current n-current fififi nancial liabilities nancial liabilities nancial liabilitiesfi nancial liabilitiesfififi nancial liabilitiesfi nancial liabilitiesfi nancial liabilitiesfififi nancial liabilitiesfi 1,1221,121,121,12222 1,1221,121,121,12222 1,122111,12,12,12222

Subordinated convertible bond 2002 – 09SSSubububooordinated crdinated crdinated cooonvertible bnvertible bnvertible booond 2002 – 0nd 2002 – 0nd 2002 – 0999 3,3293,3293,3293,329 3,3293,3293,3293,329 3,6843,3,3,684684684

Subordinated CDO 2006 – 13SSSubububooordinated CDrdinated CDrdinated CDOOO 2006 – 1 2006 – 1 2006 – 1333 8,1368,8,8,131313666 8,1368,8,8,131313666 7,630777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7636363000

Total 30th April 2008Total 30th ATotal 30th ATotal 30th Apppril 2008ril 2008ril 2008 2222 30,29130,30,30,291291291 30,29330,30,30,292929333 30,1423330,0,0,141414222

30th April 20073330th 0th 0th AAApripriprilll 200 200 200777

Current fi nancial liabilitiesCurrent fiCurrent fiCurrent fi nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitieCurrent fi nancial liabilitieCurrent fiCurrent fiCurrent fi nancial liabilitieCurrent fi nancial liabilitieCurrent fi nancial liabilitieCurrent fiCurrent fiCurrent fi nancial liabilitieCurrent fi sss 6,154666,,,151515444 6,1546,6,6,151515444 6,1546,6,6,154154154

Trade accounts payableTTTrade accounts rade accounts rade accounts pppayaayaayabbbllleee 8,4398,8,8,434343999 8,4398,8,8,439439439 8,4398,8,8,439439439

Other current liabilitiesOther current liabilitiesOther current liabilitiesOther current liabilities 850858585000 850858585000 850850850850

Accruals and deferred incomeAccruals and deAccruals and deAccruals and deffferred incerred incerred incooomememe 3,658333,65,65,65888 3,658333,65,65,65888 3,658333,65,65,65888

Non-current fi nancial liabilitiesNNNooon-current fin-current fin-current fi nancial liabilities nancial liabilities nancial liabilitiesn-current fi nancial liabilitiesn-current fin-current fin-current fi nancial liabilitiesn-current fi nancial liabilitiesn-current fi nancial liabilitiesn-current fin-current fin-current fi nancial liabilitiesn-current fi 1,1511,1511,1511,151 1,1511,1511,1511,151 1,1511,1511,1511,151

Subordinated convertible bond 2002 – 09SSSubububooordinated crdinated crdinated cooonvertible bnvertible bnvertible booond 2002 – 0nd 2002 – 0nd 2002 – 0999 8,4648,8,8,464646444 8,4648,8,8,464646444 9,5069,9,9,506506506

Subordinated CDO 2006 – 13SSSubordinated CDO 2006 – 13ubordinated CDO 2006 – 13ubordinated CDO 2006 – 13 8,1058,8,8,101010555 8,1058,8,8,105105105 7,910777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7919191000

Total 30th April 2007Total 30th April 2007Total 30th April 2007Total 30th April 2007 36,8213336,8216,8216,821 36,8213336,8216,8216,821 37,66837,66837,66837,668
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Liquidity risksLLLiiiqqquidituidituidityyy risk risk risksss
Group companies require adequate liquid assets for meetingGGGroup companies require adequate liquid assets for meetingroup companies require adequate liquid assets for meetingroup companies require adequate liquid assets for meeting
their fi nancial obligations. The Group’s management company is their their their fififi nancial obligations. The  nancial obligations. The  nancial obligations. The fi nancial obligations. The fififi nancial obligations. The fi nancial obligations. The fi nancial obligations. The fififi nancial obligations. The fi GGGroup’s management company is roup’s management company is roup’s management company is 
responsible for obtaining short-term and long-term loans andrrresponsible esponsible esponsible fffor obtaininor obtaininor obtaininggg short-term and lon short-term and lon short-term and longgg-term loans and-term loans and-term loans and
managing the liquidity that is not necessary for operations. At the mmmanaanaanaggginininggg the liquidity that is not necessary for operations. At the  the liquidity that is not necessary for operations. At the  the liquidity that is not necessary for operations. At the 
balance sheet date, the situation with regard to available liquidity bbbalance sheet date, the situation with realance sheet date, the situation with realance sheet date, the situation with regggard to available liquidity ard to available liquidity ard to available liquidity 
was as follows:was as was as was as fofofollllllooows:ws:ws:

Liquidity reserves and credit limitsLLLiiiqqquidituidituidityyy reserves and credit  reserves and credit  reserves and credit lllimitsimitsimits
1,000 CHF111,000 CH,000 CH,000 CHFFF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.0730.04.030.04.030.04.0777

Cash and cash equivalentsCCCash and cash eash and cash eash and cash eqqquivalentsuivalentsuivalents 3,886333,,,886886886 4,5174,4,4,515151777

Credit limitsCCCredit limitredit limitredit limitsss 19,210191919,,,212121000 20,055222000,,,050505555

./. Use of credit limits./. Use o./. Use o./. Use offf credit limit credit limit credit limitf credit limitfff credit limitf credit limitf credit limitfff credit limitf sss – 4,755– – – 4,4,4,755755755 – 5,832––– 5 5 5,8,8,8333222

Total liquidity reserves andTotal liTotal liTotal liqqquidituidituidityyy reserves an reserves an reserves anddd

unused credit limitsuuunused credit nused credit nused credit lllimitimitimitsss 18,341181818,34,34,34111 18,7401118,7408,7408,740

Suffi cient assets for normal business operations are available in 
the form of the PULS CDO 2006-1 subordinate collateralised debt 
obligation with term until mid-2013, with credit limits provided by 
CREDIT SUISSE and the Zurich Cantonal Banks and local fi nancial CREDIT SUISSE and the Zurich Cantonal Banks and local fi nancial CREDIT SUISSE and the Zurich Cantonal Banks and local fi
institutions. In the event of a major acquisition or extraordinary 
investment, additional fi nancing using borrowings and equity 
would be taken into consideration. 

Financial liability payments
The following table contains a summary of the due dates of 
fi nancial liabilities. Further details about interest-bearing fi nancial fi nancial liabilities. Further details about interest-bearing fi nancial fi nancial liabilities. Further details about interest-bearing fi
liabilities can be found in Note 11.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial liability payment dates in the year under reviewFFFinanciainanciainancialll llliabiiabiiabilllity payment dates in the year under reviewity payment dates in the year under reviewity payment dates in the year under review
Outfl ow of funds including interestOOOutfl ow of funds includinutfl ow of funds includinutfl ow of funds includinggg interes interes interesttt

1,000 CHF111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHHHFFF Book valuesBooBooBook valuesk valuesk values TotalTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll Less thanLess thLess thLess thaaannn BetweenBBBetweenetweenetween More thanMoMoMore thanre thanre than

30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.0830.04.030.04.030.04.0888 1 year111 yea yea yearrr 2 and 5 years222 and 5 year and 5 year and 5 yearsss 5 years555 year year yearsss

Current interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitiesCurrent interest-yielding Current interest-yielding Current interest-yielding fififi nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefififi nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefififi nancial liabilitiefi sss 5,0495,045,045,04999 5,287555,,,282828777 5,287555,2,2,2878787 0000 0000

Non-interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitiesNon-interest-yieldinNon-interest-yieldinNon-interest-yieldinggg fififi nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefififi nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefififi nancial liabilitiefi sss 80888000 80808080 80808080 0000 0000

Trade accounts payableTTTrade accounts rade accounts rade accounts pppayablayablayableee 7,0807,7,7,080080080 7,0807,07,07,0888000 7,080777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7080080080 0000 0000

Other current liabilitiesOOOther current liabilitiesther current liabilitiesther current liabilities 920999202020 920999222000 920920920920 0000 0000

Accruals and deferred incomeAccruals and deAccruals and deAccruals and deffferred incomeerred incomeerred income 5,121555,,,121121121 4,694444,6,6,6949494 4,6944,4,4,696969444 0000 0000

Non-current interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitiesNon-current interest-yielding Non-current interest-yielding Non-current interest-yielding fififi nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefififi nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefififi nancial liabilitiefi sss 1,0321,1,1,000323232 1,174111,,,111777444 0000 1,1741,171,171,17444 0000

Subordinated non-current interest-yieldingSSSubordinated non-current interest-yieldinubordinated non-current interest-yieldinubordinated non-current interest-yieldinggg

fi nancial liabilities fififi nancial liabilities  nancial liabilities  nancial liabilities fi nancial liabilities fififi nancial liabilities fi nancial liabilities fi nancial liabilities fififi nancial liabilities fi 11,465111111,,,464646555 15,038151515,,,030303888 769769769769 5,8435,5,5,843843843 8,426888,,,426426426

Non-interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitiesNon-interest-yielding fiNon-interest-yielding fiNon-interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitieNon-interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieNon-interest-yielding fiNon-interest-yielding fiNon-interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieNon-interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieNon-interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieNon-interest-yielding fiNon-interest-yielding fiNon-interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieNon-interest-yielding fi sss 90909090 90909090 0000 90999000 0000

TotalTotalTotalTotal 30,837333000,,,838383777 34,363333444,363,363,363 18,830181818,,,830830830 7,1077,7,7,111070707 8,426888,,,424242666

Financial liability payment dates in the previous yearFFFinancial liability payment dates in the previous yearinancial liability payment dates in the previous yearinancial liability payment dates in the previous year
Outfl ow of funds including interestOOOutfl ow of funds includinutfl ow of funds includinutfl ow of funds includinggg interes interes interesttt

Book valuesBBBook valuesook valuesook values TotalTotaTotaTotalll Less thanLess thLess thLess thaaannn BetweenBeBeBetwtwtweeeeeennn More thanMMMore thanore thanore than

1,000 CHF 111,000 CHF ,000 CHF ,000 CHF 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707 30.04.073330.04.00.04.00.04.0777 1 year111 yea yea yearrr 2 and 5 years222 and 5 year and 5 year and 5 yearsss 5 years555 year year yearsss

Current interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitiesCurrent interest-yielding fiCurrent interest-yielding fiCurrent interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitieCurrent interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieCurrent interest-yielding fiCurrent interest-yielding fiCurrent interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieCurrent interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieCurrent interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieCurrent interest-yielding fiCurrent interest-yielding fiCurrent interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieCurrent interest-yielding fi sss 6,0846,6,6,000848484 6,3136,6,6,313313313 6,313666,,,313313313 0000 0000

Non-interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitiesNon-interest-yielding Non-interest-yielding Non-interest-yielding fififi nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefififi nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefi nancial liabilitiefififi nancial liabilitiefi sss 70777000 70707070 70777000 0000 0000

Trade accounts payableTTTrade accounts payablerade accounts payablerade accounts payable 8,439888,43,43,43999 8,4398,438,438,43999 8,439888,439,439,439 0000 0000

Other current liabilitiesOOOther current liabilitiesther current liabilitiesther current liabilities 871888777111 871888717171 871888777111 0000 0000

Accruals and deferred incomeAccruals and deferred incAccruals and deferred incAccruals and deferred incooomememe 3,9753,93,93,9777555 3,658333,,,656565888 3,6583,3,3,656565888 0000 0000

Non-current interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitiesNon-current interest-yielding fiNon-current interest-yielding fiNon-current interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitieNon-current interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieNon-current interest-yielding fiNon-current interest-yielding fiNon-current interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieNon-current interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieNon-current interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieNon-current interest-yielding fiNon-current interest-yielding fiNon-current interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitieNon-current interest-yielding fi sss 981981981981 1,0881,1,1,080808888 0000 1,0881,1,1,000888888 0000

Subordinated non-current interest-yieldingSSSubordinated non-current interest-yieldingubordinated non-current interest-yieldingubordinated non-current interest-yielding

fi nancial liabilities fififi n n nfi nfififi nfi nfi nfififi nfi aaancincinciaaal lil lil liaaabilities bilities bilities 16,569161616,5,5,5696969 21,86421,21,21,888646464 1,036111,,,000333666 11,79911,79911,79911,799 9,029999,,,000292929

Non-interest-yielding fi nancial liabilitiesNon-interest-yieldinNon-interest-yieldinNon-interest-yieldinggg fi fi fi nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie fi nancial liabilitie fi fi fi nancial liabilitie fi nancial liabilitie fi nancial liabilitie fi fi fi nancial liabilitie fi sss 170111777000 170111707070 0000 170171717000 0000

TotalToToTotatatalll 37,159333777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7151515999 42,473424242,,,473473473 20,387202020,,,383838777 13,057111333,0,0,0555777 9,0299,09,09,0292929
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Interest-rate risksIIInterest-rate risksnterest-rate risksnterest-rate risks
Interest-rate risks result from changes in interest rates, which IIInterest-rate risks result from changes in interest rates, which nterest-rate risks result from changes in interest rates, which nterest-rate risks result from changes in interest rates, which 
affect the Group’s assets and income situation. Changes inaffaffaffect the ect the ect the GGGroup’s assets and income situation. Changes inroup’s assets and income situation. Changes inroup’s assets and income situation. Changes in
interest rates lead to changes to the interest-related income andiiinterest rates lead to channterest rates lead to channterest rates lead to changgges to the interest-related income andes to the interest-related income andes to the interest-related income and
expense for interest-bearing assets and liabilities. Interesteeexpense for interest-bearinxpense for interest-bearinxpense for interest-bearinggg assets and liabilities. Interest assets and liabilities. Interest assets and liabilities. Interest
management takes place in a central location within the Infranor mmmanaanaanagggement takes place in a central location within the Infranor ement takes place in a central location within the Infranor ement takes place in a central location within the Infranor 
Group. The Infranor Group does not have any major interest-GGGroup. The Inroup. The Inroup. The Infffranor ranor ranor GGGroup does not have any maroup does not have any maroup does not have any majjjor interest-or interest-or interest-
bearing assets. Thus the effect of changes in interest rates on bbbearing assets. Thus the eearing assets. Thus the eearing assets. Thus the effffffect oect oect offf changes in interest rates on  changes in interest rates on  changes in interest rates on f changes in interest rates on fff changes in interest rates on f changes in interest rates on f changes in interest rates on fff changes in interest rates on f
interest income is minimal. The effect of changes in interestiiinterest income is minimal. The effect of channterest income is minimal. The effect of channterest income is minimal. The effect of changgges in intereses in intereses in interesttt
rates on interest expenditure is more signifi cant. On the balancerrrates on interest expenditure is more siates on interest expenditure is more siates on interest expenditure is more sigggnifinifinifi cant.  cant.  cant. nifi cant. nifinifinifi cant. nifi cant. nifi cant. nifinifinifi cant. nifi OOOn the balancen the balancen the balance
sheet date of April 30, 2008, interest-bearing liabilities weresssheet date of April 30, 2008, interest-bearing liabilities werheet date of April 30, 2008, interest-bearing liabilities werheet date of April 30, 2008, interest-bearing liabilities wereee
17.60 million CHF (previous year: 23.60 million CHF), and the 17.60 million CHF 17.60 million CHF 17.60 million CHF (((previous year: 23.60 million CHFprevious year: 23.60 million CHFprevious year: 23.60 million CHF))), and the , and the , and the 
average interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fi nancing was aaaveraveraveraggge interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fie interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fie interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fi nancin nancin nancine interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fi nancine interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fie interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fie interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fi nancine interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fi nancine interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fi nancine interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fie interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fie interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fi nancine interest rate for CHF, Euro and US dollar fi ggg was  was  was 
5.72 percent (previous year: 4.48 percent). The interest-rate risk5.72 5.72 5.72 pppercent (ercent (ercent (ppprevious year: 4.48 revious year: 4.48 revious year: 4.48 pppercent). The interest-rate riskercent). The interest-rate riskercent). The interest-rate risk
at the Infranor Group is therefore primarily in long-term interest-aaat the Infranor Group is therefore primarily in lont the Infranor Group is therefore primarily in lont the Infranor Group is therefore primarily in longgg-term interest-term interest-term interest---
bearing liabilities. In most cases, the Group has concluded long-bbbearing liabilities. In most cases, the earing liabilities. In most cases, the earing liabilities. In most cases, the GGGroup has concluded long-roup has concluded long-roup has concluded long-
term contracts at fi xed interest rates in order to minimise the riskterm cterm cterm cooontracts at ntracts at ntracts at fififi xed interest rates in  xed interest rates in  xed interest rates in fi xed interest rates in fififi xed interest rates in fi xed interest rates in fi xed interest rates in fififi xed interest rates in fi ooorder trder trder tooo minimise the risk minimise the risk minimise the risk
of changes in interest rates. Interest is currently paid on the ooof chanf chanf changgges in interest rates. Interest is currently paid on the es in interest rates. Interest is currently paid on the es in interest rates. Interest is currently paid on the 
remainder of its non-current fi nancial liabilities at money-marketrrremainder of its non-current fi nancial liabilities at money-marketemainder of its non-current fi nancial liabilities at money-marketemainder of its non-current fi nancial liabilities at money-market
rates. The Group reviews the interest-rate situation and hedgingrrrates. The Group reviews the interest-rate situation and hedgingates. The Group reviews the interest-rate situation and hedgingates. The Group reviews the interest-rate situation and hedging
opportunities on a regular basis. No derivatives are used forooopportunities on a regular basis. No derivatives are used pportunities on a regular basis. No derivatives are used pportunities on a regular basis. No derivatives are used fffororor
the purpose of hedging interest-rate risks.the purpose othe purpose othe purpose offf hed hed hedf hedfff hedf hedf hedfff hedf ggginininggg interest-rate risks. interest-rate risks. interest-rate risks.

The following table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi ts andThe followinThe followinThe followinggg table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi ts and ts and ts and table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi ts and table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi ts and table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi ts and table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi ts and table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi ts and table shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi
other equity components to potential interest-rate changes in the ooother equity components to potential interest-rate changes in the ther equity components to potential interest-rate changes in the ther equity components to potential interest-rate changes in the 
CHF, euro and US dollar areas (assuming that all other variablesCHF, euro and US dollar areas CHF, euro and US dollar areas CHF, euro and US dollar areas (((assuming that all other variablesassuming that all other variablesassuming that all other variables
are constant).aaare constantre constantre constant)))...

CurrencyCCCurrencurrencurrencyyy Increase /IIIncrencrencreaaase se se /// Effect onEffect Effect Effect ononon Effect on otherEffect Effect Effect ooon n n ooothertherther

DecreaseDDDecreasecreasecreaseee profi tppprofirofirofi t t trofi trofirofirofi trofi trofi trofirofirofi trofi components ofccccomomomppponents oonents oonents offf

ExchangeEEExchangxchangxchangeee after taxesafter taxeafter taxeafter taxesss shareholers’shareholersshareholersshareholers’’’

 Rate R R Raaattteee (1,000 CHF)(((1,000 CHF1,000 CHF1,000 CHF))) equityequequequiiitytyty

(1,000 CHF)(((1,000 CHF1,000 CHF1,000 CHF)))

07/08070707///080808  06/07 06 06 06///070707 07/08070707///000888  06/07 06 06 06///070707

CHFCCCHHHFFF +50 bp+++50 50 50 bbbppp 39333999 56565656 0000 0000

–50 bp–50 bp–50 bp–50 bp – 39– – – 333999 – 56––– 565656 0000 0000

EUREEEUUURRR +50 bp+++50 bp50 bp50 bp 3333 6666 0000 0000

–50 bp–50 –50 –50 bpbpbp – 3––– 333 – 6– 6– 6– 6 0000 0000

USDUSUSUSDDD +50 bp+++50 50 50 bpbpbp 0000 – 2––– 222 0000 0000

–50 bp–50 bp–50 bp–50 bp 0000 2222 0000 0000

Exchange-rate risks
The Infranor Group operates on a worldwide basis and is there-
fore subjected to exchange-rate fl uctuations, which affect report-
ing in Swiss francs. The Group sells products and services in 
foreign currencies and is therefore exposed to fl uctuations in foreign currencies and is therefore exposed to fl uctuations in foreign currencies and is therefore exposed to fl
foreign exchange rates. The largest percentage of sales is gener-
ated in the European Union in euros, while a further signifi cant ated in the European Union in euros, while a further signifi cant ated in the European Union in euros, while a further signifi
percentage is generated in Swiss francs. Exchange-rate risks are 
monitored continuously and, if necessary, hedged using forward 
contracts, swaps or currency options. Certain investments in 
foreign Group companies are hedged by appropriate bank loans 
in the same currency. Exchange-rate risks arising from intra-
company loans are occasionally hedged by means of forward 
exchange contracts. 

The Infranor Group is subject above all to exchange-rate risks 
with regard to the euro and the US dollar. The following table 
shows the sensitivity of post-tax profi ts and other equity compo-
nents to potential changes in interest rates associated with
the euro and US dollar (assuming that all other variables are 
constant).

Currency Increase / Effect  Effect on other

 Decrease  on profi t profi t profi  components of

Exchange after taxes shareholders’

Rate  (1,000 CHF) equity

    (1,000 CHF)

   07/08  06/07  07/08  06/07

  

EUR + 3 % 133 102 0 0

– 3 % – 133 – 102 0 0

USD + 8 % – 6 121 0 0

– 8 % 6 – 121 0 0

Credit risks
Credit risks result from the possibility that the other party to a 
transaction is incapable or unwilling to meet its obligations, 
causing fi nancial damage to the Group. There is no large concen-
tration of risk relating to trade accounts receivable. In order to 
minimise credit risks, local management agrees to additional 
collateral (e.g. irrevocably confi rmed credits, bank guarantees, 
trade indemnity insurance etc.) where this is deemed appropriate 
on the basis of specifi c sector/country and customer analyses. As 
far as trade accounts receivable are concerned, active risk man-
agement is performed in the form of continuous monitoring and 
checking of the credit risks.

The credit risks of other fi nancial assets are monitored by means 
of exclusive collaboration with top-class fi nancial institutions. As of exclusive collaboration with top-class fi nancial institutions. As of exclusive collaboration with top-class fi
of April 30, 2008, 0.61 million CHF / 16.0 percent of cash is depos-
ited with a single credit institution (previous year: 1.30 million CHF / 
40 percent). This institution has fi rst-class creditworthiness and 
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many years of experience.mmmany years of exany years of exany years of exppperience.erience.erience.

Capital managementCCCapital managementapital managementapital management
The capital of the Infranor Group is managed with regard toThe capital oThe capital oThe capital offf the In the In the Inf the Infff the Inf the Inf the Infff the Inf fffranor ranor ranor GGGroup is managed with regard toroup is managed with regard toroup is managed with regard to
guaranteeing the continuity of operating activities, achieving ggguaranteeinuaranteeinuaranteeinggg the continuity of operatin the continuity of operatin the continuity of operatinggg activities, achievin activities, achievin activities, achievinggg
growth targets, achieving an appropriate return for shareholders,gggrowth tarrowth tarrowth targggets, achievinets, achievinets, achievinggg an appropriate return for shareholders, an appropriate return for shareholders, an appropriate return for shareholders,
and optimising the capital structure in order to reduce capital aaand optimising the capital structure in order to reduce capital nd optimising the capital structure in order to reduce capital nd optimising the capital structure in order to reduce capital 
costs. The capital structure can be infl uenced by changes in costs. The capital structure can be incosts. The capital structure can be incosts. The capital structure can be inflflfl uenced by changes in  uenced by changes in  uenced by changes in fl uenced by changes in flflfl uenced by changes in fl uenced by changes in fl uenced by changes in flflfl uenced by changes in fl
dividend payments, making capital repayments, increasing dddividend payments, makinividend payments, makinividend payments, makinggg capital repayments, increasin capital repayments, increasin capital repayments, increasinggg
capital, selling assets and repaying liabilities.capital, sellincapital, sellincapital, sellinggg assets and repayin assets and repayin assets and repayinggg lia lia liabbbilities.ilities.ilities.

Like other companies, the Infranor Group monitors the capitalLike other comLike other comLike other compppanies, the Infranor Grouanies, the Infranor Grouanies, the Infranor Grouppp monitors the ca monitors the ca monitors the capppitalitalital
structure on the basis of the level of net liability. Net liability is ssstructure on the basis otructure on the basis otructure on the basis offf the level o the level o the level of the level offf the level of the level of the level offf the level of fff net liabilit net liabilit net liabilitf net liabilitfff net liabilitf net liabilitf net liabilitfff net liabilitf yyy. Net liabilit. Net liabilit. Net liabilityyy is  is  is 
expressed in terms of a percentage of total capital. Net liability, eeexpressed in terms oxpressed in terms oxpressed in terms offf a percenta a percenta a percentaf a percentafff a percentaf a percentaf a percentafff a percentaf ggge oe oe offf total capital. Net liability,  total capital. Net liability,  total capital. Net liability, f total capital. Net liability, fff total capital. Net liability, f total capital. Net liability, f total capital. Net liability, fff total capital. Net liability, f
which is lower compared to the previous year, is mainly attribu-which is lower comwhich is lower comwhich is lower compppared to the ared to the ared to the ppprevious year, is mainly attrirevious year, is mainly attrirevious year, is mainly attribbbu-u-u-
table to the conversion of bonds into share capital.table to the conversion of bonds into share catable to the conversion of bonds into share catable to the conversion of bonds into share capppital.ital.ital.

Level of net indebtednessLeLeLevvveeel ol ol offf n n neeet indt indt indeeebtbtbteeedndndneeessssss
1,000 CHF1,1,1,000 CH000 CH000 CHFFF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.0730.04.030.04.030.04.0777

Financial liabilitiesFinFinFinaaancincinciaaal lil lil liaaabilitiebilitiebilitiesss 6,252666,,,222555222 7,3057,37,37,3050505

Sub ordinated fi nancial obligationsSSSub ordinated fiub ordinated fiub ordinated fi nancial obli nancial obli nancial obliub ordinated fi nancial obliub ordinated fiub ordinated fiub ordinated fi nancial obliub ordinated fi nancial obliub ordinated fi nancial obliub ordinated fiub ordinated fiub ordinated fi nancial obliub ordinated fi gggationationationsss 11 4651111 4651 4651 465 16,56916,16,16,555696969

./. Cash and cash equivalents./. ./. ./. CCCash and cash eash and cash eash and cash eqqquivalentsuivalentsuivalents – 3,886– 3– 3– 3,,,888888666 – 4,517––– 4 4 4,,,515151777

Net indebtednessNNNeeet indt indt indeeebtbtbteeedndndneeessssss 13 831111333 8 8 8313131 19,357111999,,,353535777

Shareholders’ equitySSShareholders’ equityhareholders’ equityhareholders’ equity 14 03314 014 014 0333333 7,7287,727,727,72888

Total capitalTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll capita capita capitalll 27 8642227 7 7 888666444 22,5682222,562,562,56888

Level of net indebtedness in %Level of net indebtedness in %Level of net indebtedness in %Level of net indebtedness in % 49.649.49.49.666 85.885.85.85.888

Taking into consideration the remaining subordinated convertible TakinTakinTakinggg into consideration the remainin into consideration the remainin into consideration the remaininggg subordinated convertible  subordinated convertible  subordinated convertible 
bond, the fi nancial equity is 36.0 percent (previous year: 34.0 per-bbbond, the fiond, the fiond, the fi nancial e nancial e nancial eond, the fi nancial eond, the fiond, the fiond, the fi nancial eond, the fi nancial eond, the fi nancial eond, the fiond, the fiond, the fi nancial eond, the fi qqquity is 36.0 uity is 36.0 uity is 36.0 pppercent (ercent (ercent (ppprevious year: 34.0 revious year: 34.0 revious year: 34.0 pppererer---er-ererer-er-er-ererer-er
cent).centcentcent)))...

Key assumptions and sources of uncertainty in estimatesKKKey assumptions and sources of uncertainty in estimatesey assumptions and sources of uncertainty in estimatesey assumptions and sources of uncertainty in estimates
Accounting procedures require management to make certainAAAccountinccountinccountinggg procedures require mana procedures require mana procedures require managggement to make certainement to make certainement to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the amount of stated eeestimates and assumstimates and assumstimates and assumppptions that affect the amount of stated tions that affect the amount of stated tions that affect the amount of stated 
assets and liabilities as well as contingent assets and liabilities at aaassets and liabilities as well as contingent assets and liabilities at ssets and liabilities as well as contingent assets and liabilities at ssets and liabilities as well as contingent assets and liabilities at 
the time the statements are prepared, but also income and the time the statements are prepared, but also income and the time the statements are prepared, but also income and the time the statements are prepared, but also income and 
expenses for the reporting period. Their estimates and assump-eeexpenses for the reportinxpenses for the reportinxpenses for the reportinggg period. Their estimates and assump period. Their estimates and assump period. Their estimates and assump---
tions are based on past experience and on various other factors tions are based on tions are based on tions are based on pppast exast exast exppperience and on various other factors erience and on various other factors erience and on various other factors 
deemed applicable in the given circumstances. Actual resultsdddeemed applicable in the given circumstances. Actual resultseemed applicable in the given circumstances. Actual resultseemed applicable in the given circumstances. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.mmmaaayyy di di diffffffer er er fffrom these estimates.rom these estimates.rom these estimates.

Assumptions and estimates are constantly monitored andAAAssumssumssumppptions and estimates are constantly monitored andtions and estimates are constantly monitored andtions and estimates are constantly monitored and
adjusted whenever new information becomes available. Anyaaadjusted whenever new information becomes available. Anydjusted whenever new information becomes available. Anydjusted whenever new information becomes available. Any
changes are recognised in the income statement in the reporting changes are recognised in the income statement in the reporting changes are recognised in the income statement in the reporting changes are recognised in the income statement in the reporting 
period in which the estimate was adjusted. The most important period in which the estimate was adperiod in which the estimate was adperiod in which the estimate was adjjjusted. The most important usted. The most important usted. The most important 
assumptions are listed below but are also explained in the aaassumptions are listed ssumptions are listed ssumptions are listed bbbelow elow elow bbbut are also explained in the ut are also explained in the ut are also explained in the 
corresponding notes.corresponcorresponcorrespondddinininggg notes notes notes...

– – – – ––––

––––––––

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Income is only recognised where, in the opinion of management, 
the relevant risks and benefi ts have been transferred to the 
customer. For certain transactions, this means that the payments 
received are accrued in the balance sheet and assigned to the 
income statement only once the contractual terms have been 
met. Based on the information available at the current point in 
time, management believes that the accruals and provisions that 
have been formed are appropriate.

Other intangible fi xed assets are reviewed annually, while assets 
in kind are reviewed if there are indications of impairment. To 
assess whether impairment has occurred, management estima-
tions and valuations are conducted with regard to the expected 
future cash fl ows arising from the use and possible disposal of 
such assets.

In determining the assets and liabilities from current and deferred 
income taxes, far-reaching estimates must be made. Some of 
these estimates are based on the interpretation of existing tax 
legislation and regulations. Management assesses the value of 
deferred tax claims annually on the basis of the tax gains that are 
anticipated in the future and is of the opinion that these estimates 
are fair and that adequate account has been taken of uncertainties 
with respect to income taxes in the stated assets and liabilities.

At only a few Infranor Groups sites, employees are insured under 
retirement schemes that are classed as defi ned-benefiretirement schemes that are classed as defi ned-benefiretirement schemes that are classed as defi  t plans  ned-benefi t plans  ned-benefi
under IAS 19. Calculation of the stated accruals and liabilities in 
relation to these plans in accordance with IFRS is based on 
statistical and actuarial calculations. Discrepancies in relation to 
the actuaries’ assumptions, which have been agreed with Man-
agement, may have an infl uence on the stated accruals and 
liabilities from employee retirement schemes in future reporting 
periods. 

A number of Group companies are involved in legal disputes. 
Management has conducted an assessment of the possible 
consequences of these legal cases on the basis of the informa-
tion currently available and taken due account of them on the 
balance sheet

Net sales
Revenue from product sales or service provision is recognised at 
the time the products are delivered or the services are provided, 
less sales deductions and value added taxes.

– – 

– – 

– – 

– – 

– – 
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Cash and cash equivalentsCCCash and cash eash and cash eash and cash eqqquivalentuivalentuivalentsss
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, postal giro Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, postal giro Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, postal giro Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, postal giro 
account and bank deposits as well as amounts due from money-aaaccount and bank deposits as well as amounts due ccount and bank deposits as well as amounts due ccount and bank deposits as well as amounts due fffrom moneyrom moneyrom money---
market transactions maturing in up to 3 months. mmmarket transactions maturinarket transactions maturinarket transactions maturinggg in up to 3 months.  in up to 3 months.  in up to 3 months. 

Trade accounts receivableTTTrade accounts receivablerade accounts receivablerade accounts receivableTrade accounts receivableTTTrade accounts receivableTrade accounts receivableTrade accounts receivableTTTrade accounts receivableT
Trade receivables are carried in the balance sheet at face value. TrTrTraaade receivde receivde receivaaables bles bles aaare cre cre caaarried in the brried in the brried in the baaalllaaance sheet nce sheet nce sheet aaat ft ft faaace vce vce vaaalue. lue. lue. 
The necessary provisions are recognised for doubtful debts.The necessary provisions are recognised The necessary provisions are recognised The necessary provisions are recognised fffor doubtor doubtor doubtffful debts.ul debts.ul debts.

Inventories and work in progressIIInventories and work in pronventories and work in pronventories and work in progggresresressss
Purchased goods and products manufactured in-house are PPPurchased urchased urchased gggoods and products manufactured in-house are oods and products manufactured in-house are oods and products manufactured in-house are 
recognised at cost. Manufacturing cost includes the cost of the rrrecognised at cost. Manufacturing cost includes the cost of the ecognised at cost. Manufacturing cost includes the cost of the ecognised at cost. Manufacturing cost includes the cost of the 
components, all specifi c production costs (actual costs) plus ancomponents, all specifi c production costs components, all specifi c production costs components, all specifi c production costs (((actual costsactual costsactual costs))) plus an plus an plus an
appropriate allocation of production overhead and production-aaappropriate allocation oppropriate allocation oppropriate allocation offf production overhead and production- production overhead and production- production overhead and production-f production overhead and production-fff production overhead and production-f production overhead and production-f production overhead and production-fff production overhead and production-f
related depreciation and amortisation. A write-down is charged if rrrelated depreciation and amortisation. A write-down is charelated depreciation and amortisation. A write-down is charelated depreciation and amortisation. A write-down is charggged ied ied ifff
the net value realisable from the sale of an item is lower than the the net value realisable from the sale of an item is lower than the the net value realisable from the sale of an item is lower than the the net value realisable from the sale of an item is lower than the 
cost of inventories calculated in accordance with the methodscccooost st st ofofof invent invent inventof inventofofof inventof inventof inventofofof inventof ooories calculated in accries calculated in accries calculated in accooordance with the methrdance with the methrdance with the methooodsdsds
described above.dddescribed abescribed abescribed aboooveveve...

Inventories are measured using the weighted average cost IIInventories are measured usinnventories are measured usinnventories are measured usinggg the wei the wei the weiggghted averahted averahted averaggge cost e cost e cost 
method. An additional write-down is charged for obsolete inven-mmmethod. An additional write-down is charethod. An additional write-down is charethod. An additional write-down is charggged for obsolete inven-ed for obsolete inven-ed for obsolete inven-
tory items based on turnover frequency. Discounts received are tory items based on turnover tory items based on turnover tory items based on turnover fffrequency. Discounts received are requency. Discounts received are requency. Discounts received are 
recognised as a reduction in the purchase price.rrrecognised as a reduction in the purchase priceecognised as a reduction in the purchase priceecognised as a reduction in the purchase price...

Intragroup profi ts from internal deliveries are eliminated in the IIIntrantrantragggroup profi ts from internal deliveries are eliminated in the roup profi ts from internal deliveries are eliminated in the roup profi ts from internal deliveries are eliminated in the 
income statement.iiincome statement.ncome statement.ncome statement.

Property, plant and equipmentProperty, plant and equipmenProperty, plant and equipmenProperty, plant and equipmenttt
Property, plant and equipment are evaluated at cost minus anyPPProperty, plant and equipment are evaluated at cost minus anyroperty, plant and equipment are evaluated at cost minus anyroperty, plant and equipment are evaluated at cost minus any
necessary depreciation in accordance with the straight-linenecessary necessary necessary dddepreciation in accorepreciation in accorepreciation in accordddance witance witance withhh t t thhhe straie straie straighghght-t-t-lllineineine
method over the following probable usage periods: buildings and mmmethod over the followinethod over the followinethod over the followinggg probable usa probable usa probable usaggge periods: buildine periods: buildine periods: buildingggs and s and s and 
installations, 20 to 25 years; machinery and tools, industrialiiinstallations, 20 to 25 years; machinery and tools, industrialnstallations, 20 to 25 years; machinery and tools, industrialnstallations, 20 to 25 years; machinery and tools, industrial
plants, offi ce furniture and equipment, 5 to 10 years; motor plants, oplants, oplants, offiffiffi ce  ce  ce ffi ce ffiffiffi ce ffi ce ffi ce ffiffiffi ce ffi fffurniture and equipment, 5 to 10 years; motor urniture and equipment, 5 to 10 years; motor urniture and equipment, 5 to 10 years; motor 
vehicles and IT equipment, 2 to 5 years.vehicles and vehicles and vehicles and ITITIT e e eqqquiuiuipppment, 2 to 5 years.ment, 2 to 5 years.ment, 2 to 5 years.

LeasesLLLeaseeaseeasesss
Lease agreements for property, plant and equipment where bothLease agreements Lease agreements Lease agreements fffor property, plant and equipment where bothor property, plant and equipment where bothor property, plant and equipment where both
the risks and the rights incident to ownership are transferred to the risks and the rights incident to ownership are transthe risks and the rights incident to ownership are transthe risks and the rights incident to ownership are transffferred to erred to erred to 
the Group (fi nance leases) are capitalised at present value at the Grouthe Grouthe Grouppp (fi nance leases) are ca (fi nance leases) are ca (fi nance leases) are capppitalised at italised at italised at pppresent value at resent value at resent value at 
acquisition and written down over the aforementioned estimated aaacccqqquisition and written down over the aforementioned estimated uisition and written down over the aforementioned estimated uisition and written down over the aforementioned estimated 
useful lives. The corresponding liabilities are recognised under uuuseful lives. The corresponding liabilities are recognised under seful lives. The corresponding liabilities are recognised under seful lives. The corresponding liabilities are recognised under 
“Current fi nancial liabilities” or “Non-current fi nancial liabilities”“““Current Current Current fififi nancial liabilities”  nancial liabilities”  nancial liabilities” fi nancial liabilities” fififi nancial liabilities” fi nancial liabilities” fi nancial liabilities” fififi nancial liabilities” fi ooor “Nr “Nr “Nooon-current n-current n-current fififi nancial liabilities” nancial liabilities” nancial liabilities”fi nancial liabilities”fififi nancial liabilities”fi nancial liabilities”fi nancial liabilities”fififi nancial liabilities”fi
depending on whether they fall due within or after 12 months. dddependinependinependinggg on whether they  on whether they  on whether they fffall due within or aall due within or aall due within or afffter 12 months. ter 12 months. ter 12 months. fter 12 months. fffter 12 months. fter 12 months. fter 12 months. fffter 12 months. f
The cost of maintaining and repairing the property, plant and The cost of maintaininThe cost of maintaininThe cost of maintaininggg and repairin and repairin and repairinggg the property, plant and  the property, plant and  the property, plant and 
equipment is charged to the income statement if it does not addeeequipment is charquipment is charquipment is charggged to the income statement if it does not added to the income statement if it does not added to the income statement if it does not add
value.vvvaaalue.lue.lue.

Payments made under “Operating leasing” are charged directly PPPayments made under “ayments made under “ayments made under “OOOperating leasing” are charged directly perating leasing” are charged directly perating leasing” are charged directly 
to the income statement.to tto tto thhhe income statemente income statemente income statement...

Intangible assets and goodwillIIIntangible assets and goodwillntangible assets and goodwillntangible assets and goodwill
Before the switch to IFRS, goodwill arising on acquisitions wasBBBefore the switch to IFRefore the switch to IFRefore the switch to IFRSSS, goodwill arising on acquisitions was, goodwill arising on acquisitions was, goodwill arising on acquisitions was
eliminated against equity. For the adoption of IFRS as pereliminated against equity. For the adoption of IFReliminated against equity. For the adoption of IFReliminated against equity. For the adoption of IFRSSS as pe as pe as perrr
April 30, 2004, Infranor has decided not to apply IFRS 3, Business April 30, 2004, Infranor has decided not to apply IFRS 3, Business April 30, 2004, Infranor has decided not to apply IFRS 3, Business April 30, 2004, Infranor has decided not to apply IFRS 3, Business 
Combinations, retrospectively when accounting for goodwill.Combinations, retrospectively when accountinCombinations, retrospectively when accountinCombinations, retrospectively when accountinggg for  for  for gggoodwilloodwilloodwill...

The last acquisition, of Automotion, Inc., on December 1, 2000,TTThe last ache last ache last acqqquisition, of Automotion, Inc., on December 1, 2000,uisition, of Automotion, Inc., on December 1, 2000,uisition, of Automotion, Inc., on December 1, 2000,
on which Infranor effectively paid goodwill in the amount ofooon which Inn which Inn which Infffranor eranor eranor effffffectively paid goodwill in the amount oectively paid goodwill in the amount oectively paid goodwill in the amount offf
7.77 million CHF, was charged directly and in full to consolidated7.77 million CHF, was char7.77 million CHF, was char7.77 million CHF, was charggged directly and in ed directly and in ed directly and in fffull to consolidatedull to consolidatedull to consolidated
equity. The 1989 acquisition of Cybelec SA, on which goodwillequity. The 1989 acquisition of Cybelec SA, on which equity. The 1989 acquisition of Cybelec SA, on which equity. The 1989 acquisition of Cybelec SA, on which gggoodwiloodwiloodwillll
in the amount of 13.83 million CHF was paid, was also charged in the amount of 13.83 million CHF was paid, was also charin the amount of 13.83 million CHF was paid, was also charin the amount of 13.83 million CHF was paid, was also charggged ed ed 
directly to equity.directly to equitydirectly to equitydirectly to equity...

Research and development costs are, in principle, entered directlyRRResearch and development costs are, in principle, entered directlyesearch and development costs are, in principle, entered directlyesearch and development costs are, in principle, entered directly
on the income statement. Provided that they fulfi l the capital-ooon the income statement. Provided that they fulfi l the can the income statement. Provided that they fulfi l the can the income statement. Provided that they fulfi l the capppitalitalital---
asset criteria (in particular, the prospect of a net return is estab-asset criteria (in asset criteria (in asset criteria (in ppparticular, the articular, the articular, the ppprosrosrospppect of a net return is estab-ect of a net return is estab-ect of a net return is estab-
lished), extensive services covering the development of newlishedlishedlished))), extensive services covering the development of new, extensive services covering the development of new, extensive services covering the development of new
products are entered on the balance sheet at their purchase or products are entered on the balance sheet at their purchase or products are entered on the balance sheet at their purchase or products are entered on the balance sheet at their purchase or 
production cost (without taking account of fi nance costs) andproduction cost production cost production cost (((without takinwithout takinwithout takinggg account of fi account of fi account of fi nance costs nance costs nance costs account of fi nance costs account of fi account of fi account of fi nance costs account of fi nance costs account of fi nance costs account of fi account of fi account of fi nance costs account of fi ))) and and and
depreciated over their useful life up to a maximum of 7 years.dededepppreciated over their useful life ureciated over their useful life ureciated over their useful life uppp to a maximum of 7 years. to a maximum of 7 years. to a maximum of 7 years.
Licences, trademarks and patents are amortised over 3 to 10LLLicences, trademaricences, trademaricences, trademarkkks and s and s and pppatents are amortised over 3 to 10atents are amortised over 3 to 10atents are amortised over 3 to 10
years, software over 2 to 5 years and product development overyyyears, soears, soears, soffftware over 2 to 5 years and product development overtware over 2 to 5 years and product development overtware over 2 to 5 years and product development overftware over 2 to 5 years and product development overffftware over 2 to 5 years and product development overftware over 2 to 5 years and product development overftware over 2 to 5 years and product development overffftware over 2 to 5 years and product development overf
2 to 5 years.222 to 5  to 5  to 5 yyyearsearsears...

Impairment of assetsIIImmmpppairment of assetairment of assetairment of assetsss
At least at each balance sheet date, the Group’s assets are re-At least at each balance sheet date, the GrouAt least at each balance sheet date, the GrouAt least at each balance sheet date, the Grouppp’s assets are re-’s assets are re-’s assets are re-
viewed for impairment. If there are indications that an asset may vvviewed iewed iewed fffor impairment. Ior impairment. Ior impairment. Ifff there are indications that an asset may  there are indications that an asset may  there are indications that an asset may f there are indications that an asset may fff there are indications that an asset may f there are indications that an asset may f there are indications that an asset may fff there are indications that an asset may f
be impaired, the recoverable value of the asset is calculated. An bbbe impaired, the recoverable value oe impaired, the recoverable value oe impaired, the recoverable value offf the asset is calculated. An  the asset is calculated. An  the asset is calculated. An f the asset is calculated. An fff the asset is calculated. An f the asset is calculated. An f the asset is calculated. An fff the asset is calculated. An f
impairment charge is recognised if the current carrying value impairment charimpairment charimpairment charggge is recoe is recoe is recogggnised if the current carryinnised if the current carryinnised if the current carryinggg value  value  value 
exceeds the recoverable value. The recoverable value is the exceeds the recoverable value. The recoverable value is the exceeds the recoverable value. The recoverable value is the exceeds the recoverable value. The recoverable value is the 
higher of the estimated net selling price and value in use. Tohigher ohigher ohigher offf the estimated net selling price and value in use. To the estimated net selling price and value in use. To the estimated net selling price and value in use. Tof the estimated net selling price and value in use. Tofff the estimated net selling price and value in use. Tof the estimated net selling price and value in use. Tof the estimated net selling price and value in use. Tofff the estimated net selling price and value in use. Tof
determine value in use, the present value of estimated future determine value in use, the present value odetermine value in use, the present value odetermine value in use, the present value offf estimated  estimated  estimated f estimated fff estimated f estimated f estimated fff estimated f fffuture uture uture 
cash fl ows is calculated. The discount rate used for this is the cash fl ows is calculated. The discount rate used for this is the cash fl ows is calculated. The discount rate used for this is the cash fl ows is calculated. The discount rate used for this is the 
average interest rate on capital in the country in which the asset averaaveraaveraggge interest rate on capitae interest rate on capitae interest rate on capitalll in t in t in thhhe country in we country in we country in whhhicicichhh t t thhhe asset e asset e asset 
is located, bearing in mind the specifi c risks to the asset.is located, bearing in mind the specifi c risks to the assetis located, bearing in mind the specifi c risks to the assetis located, bearing in mind the specifi c risks to the asset...

LiabilitiesLLLiabiiabiiabilllitiitiitieeesss
At their fi rst balancing of accounts, borrowings are stated at fairAt their fiAt their fiAt their fi rst balancin rst balancin rst balancin rst balancinAt their fiAt their fiAt their fi rst balancinAt their fiAt their fiAt their fiAt their fi rst balancinAt their fiAt their fiAt their fi rst balancinAt their fi rst balancinAt their fi rst balancinAt their fiAt their fiAt their fi rst balancinAt their fi ggg of accounts, borrowin of accounts, borrowin of accounts, borrowingggs are stated at fairs are stated at fairs are stated at fair
value less the transaction costs incurred, and for all subsequent vvvalue less the transaction costs incurred, and for all subsealue less the transaction costs incurred, and for all subsealue less the transaction costs incurred, and for all subseqqquent uent uent 
periods they are measured using the amortised cost method. periods they are measured using the amortised cost method. periods they are measured using the amortised cost method. periods they are measured using the amortised cost method. 
Differences between the cash infl ow (after deduction of transac-Differences between the cash inflDifferences between the cash inflDifferences between the cash infl ow  ow  ow Differences between the cash infl ow Differences between the cash inflDifferences between the cash inflDifferences between the cash infl ow Differences between the cash infl ow Differences between the cash infl ow Differences between the cash inflDifferences between the cash inflDifferences between the cash infl ow Differences between the cash infl (((after deduction of transac-after deduction of transac-after deduction of transac-
tion costs) and the repayment amounts are recognised in the tttion costsion costsion costs))) and the repayment amounts are reco and the repayment amounts are reco and the repayment amounts are recogggnised in the nised in the nised in the 
income statement using the effective interest rate method overincome statement usinincome statement usinincome statement usinggg the effective interest rate method over the effective interest rate method over the effective interest rate method over
the period during which the external funds are being drawn upon.ttthe period durinhe period durinhe period duringgg which the external funds are bein which the external funds are bein which the external funds are beinggg drawn upon. drawn upon. drawn upon.
Financial liabilities comprise borrowings on current accounts at FFFinancial liabilities comprise borrowings on current accounts at inancial liabilities comprise borrowings on current accounts at inancial liabilities comprise borrowings on current accounts at 
banks, obligations under fi nance leases and all other fi nancial bbbanks, obligations under anks, obligations under anks, obligations under fififi nance leases and all other  nance leases and all other  nance leases and all other fi nance leases and all other fififi nance leases and all other fi nance leases and all other fi nance leases and all other fififi nance leases and all other fi fififi nancial  nancial  nancial fi nancial fififi nancial fi nancial fi nancial fififi nancial fi
debts. The face value of trade accounts payable is usually taken debts. The face value of trade accounts debts. The face value of trade accounts debts. The face value of trade accounts pppayable is usually taken ayable is usually taken ayable is usually taken 
as their fair value.as their fair valueas their fair valueas their fair value...
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Convertible bondCCConvonvonveeertiblrtiblrtibleee bond bond bond
When issuing convertible bonds, the fair value of the liabilityWWWhen issuinhen issuinhen issuinggg convertible bonds, the fair value of the liability convertible bonds, the fair value of the liability convertible bonds, the fair value of the liability
component is carried under the separate item “Subordinatedcomponent is carried under the separate item “component is carried under the separate item “component is carried under the separate item “SSSubordinatedubordinatedubordinated
bond” on the basis of a typical market interest rate for a compa-bbbond” on the basis oond” on the basis oond” on the basis offf a typical market interest rate  a typical market interest rate  a typical market interest rate f a typical market interest rate fff a typical market interest rate f a typical market interest rate f a typical market interest rate fff a typical market interest rate f fffor a compa-or a compa-or a compa-
rable, non-convertible bond using the amortised cost method. rrraaabbble, non-convertile, non-convertile, non-convertibbble le le bbbond usinond usinond usinggg the amortised cost method.  the amortised cost method.  the amortised cost method. 
The remainder of the cash infl ow (equity component) is assignedThe remainder of the cash infl ow (equity component) is assiThe remainder of the cash infl ow (equity component) is assiThe remainder of the cash infl ow (equity component) is assigggnednedned
to the option to convert and taken to equity. The value of the to the oto the oto the oppption to convert and taken to etion to convert and taken to etion to convert and taken to eqqquity. The value of the uity. The value of the uity. The value of the 
option to convert doesn’t change in the subsequent reportingoooption to convert doesn’t change in the subsequent reportingption to convert doesn’t change in the subsequent reportingption to convert doesn’t change in the subsequent reporting
periods.periods.periods.periods.

Collateralised Debt Obligation “PULS CDO 2006-1”, 2006-13CCCollateralised Debt ollateralised Debt ollateralised Debt OOObligation “PULS CDbligation “PULS CDbligation “PULS CDOOO 2006-1”, 2006-13 2006-1”, 2006-13 2006-1”, 2006-13
On July 25, 2006, Infranor Holding SA, a subholding of Infranor OOOn July 25, 2006, Infranor Holding SA, a subholding of Infranor n July 25, 2006, Infranor Holding SA, a subholding of Infranor n July 25, 2006, Infranor Holding SA, a subholding of Infranor 
Inter AG, issued a 7-year subordinated Swiss franc collateralised IIInter AG, issued a 7-nter AG, issued a 7-nter AG, issued a 7-yyyear subordinated ear subordinated ear subordinated SSSwiss franc collateralised wiss franc collateralised wiss franc collateralised 
debt obligation (CDO) in the amount of 8.30 million CHF carrying dddebt obliebt obliebt obligggation ation ation (((CDOCDOCDO))) in the amount of 8.30 million CHF carryin in the amount of 8.30 million CHF carryin in the amount of 8.30 million CHF carryinggg
a coupon of 7.26 percent; this was done within the scope of PULS aaa cou cou coupppon of 7.26 on of 7.26 on of 7.26 pppercent; this was done within the scoercent; this was done within the scoercent; this was done within the scopppe of PULS e of PULS e of PULS 
CDO 2006-1, 2006-13, a collateralised debt obligation in the totalCDO 2006-1, 2006-13, a collateralised debt obliCDO 2006-1, 2006-13, a collateralised debt obliCDO 2006-1, 2006-13, a collateralised debt obligggation in the totalation in the totalation in the total
amount of 260 million euros. Merrill Lynch, Germany, acted as aaamount omount omount offf 260 million euros. Merrill Lynch,  260 million euros. Merrill Lynch,  260 million euros. Merrill Lynch, f 260 million euros. Merrill Lynch, fff 260 million euros. Merrill Lynch, f 260 million euros. Merrill Lynch, f 260 million euros. Merrill Lynch, fff 260 million euros. Merrill Lynch, f GGGermany, acted as ermany, acted as ermany, acted as 
arranger, and Capital Securities Group AG, Baar, acted as theaaarranger, and Capital Securities Group AG, Baar, acted as therranger, and Capital Securities Group AG, Baar, acted as therranger, and Capital Securities Group AG, Baar, acted as the
portfolio manager. The new capital was used exclusively to repay portfolio manaportfolio manaportfolio managgger. The new capital was used exclusively to repay er. The new capital was used exclusively to repay er. The new capital was used exclusively to repay 
bank loans of the Infranor Group, with the result that the Group’sbbbank loans of the Infranor Grouank loans of the Infranor Grouank loans of the Infranor Grouppp, with the result that the Grou, with the result that the Grou, with the result that the Grouppp’s’s’s
long-term fi nancing is now guaranteed by this subordinated loanlong-term fi nancing is now guaranteed by this subordinated loanlong-term fi nancing is now guaranteed by this subordinated loanlong-term fi nancing is now guaranteed by this subordinated loan
and the existing convertible bond.aaand the existing convertible bondnd the existing convertible bondnd the existing convertible bond...

Long-term provisionsLLLonononggg-term prov-term prov-term proviiisssiiionononsss
Long-term provisions comprise pension obligations and other LLLonononggg-term provisions comprise pension o-term provisions comprise pension o-term provisions comprise pension obbblililigggations and other ations and other ations and other 
obligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncer-ooobligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncerbligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncerbligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncer---bligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncer-bligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncerbligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncerbligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncer-bligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncer-bligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncer-bligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncerbligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncerbligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncer-bligations towards employees plus liabilities which are uncer
tain, either in terms of their due date or their amount.taintaintain,,, either in terms o either in terms o either in terms offf their due date or their amount. their due date or their amount. their due date or their amount.f their due date or their amount.fff their due date or their amount.f their due date or their amount.f their due date or their amount.fff their due date or their amount.f

Income taxesIIIncomncomncomeee tax tax taxeeesss
Provisions are provided for taxes incurred on business income PPProvisions are rovisions are rovisions are ppprovided for taxes incurred on business income rovided for taxes incurred on business income rovided for taxes incurred on business income 
irrespective of when such liabilities fall due for payment and iiirresrresrrespppective of when such liabilities fall due for ective of when such liabilities fall due for ective of when such liabilities fall due for pppayment and ayment and ayment and 
bearing in mind any tax-deductible losses carried forward.bbbearing in mind any tax-deductible losses carried earing in mind any tax-deductible losses carried earing in mind any tax-deductible losses carried ffforwardorwardorward...

Deferred taxesDDDeeefffeeerrrrrreeed taxd taxd taxeseses
Deferred taxes are taxes for temporary differences between the DDDeferred taxes are taxes for temeferred taxes are taxes for temeferred taxes are taxes for temppporary differences between the orary differences between the orary differences between the 
values of assets and liabilities as recognised by the revenuevalues of assets and liabilities as recognised by the revenuevalues of assets and liabilities as recognised by the revenuevalues of assets and liabilities as recognised by the revenue
authorities and the values as stated in the consolidated fi nancialaaauthuthuthooorities and the values as stated in the crities and the values as stated in the crities and the values as stated in the cooonsnsnsooolidated lidated lidated fififi nancial nancial nancialfi nancialfififi nancialfi nancialfi nancialfififi nancialfi
statements. Deferred taxes are calculated using the liabilityssstatements. Detatements. Detatements. Deffferred taxes are calculated usinerred taxes are calculated usinerred taxes are calculated usinggg the liability the liability the liability
method on the basis of the local tax rate ruling at the balance mmmethod on the basis of the local tax rate rulinethod on the basis of the local tax rate rulinethod on the basis of the local tax rate rulinggg at the balance  at the balance  at the balance 
sheet date. Deferred tax assets are calculated for all deductible sssheet date. Deferred tax assets are calculated for all deductible heet date. Deferred tax assets are calculated for all deductible heet date. Deferred tax assets are calculated for all deductible 
temporary differences if it is likely that suffi cient taxable income temporary ditemporary ditemporary difffffferences ierences ierences ifff it is likely that su it is likely that su it is likely that suf it is likely that sufff it is likely that suf it is likely that suf it is likely that sufff it is likely that suf ffiffiffi cient taxable income  cient taxable income  cient taxable income ffi cient taxable income ffiffiffi cient taxable income ffi cient taxable income ffi cient taxable income ffiffiffi cient taxable income ffi
will be generated in the future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities will be generated in the will be generated in the will be generated in the fffuture. Deuture. Deuture. Deffferred tax assets and liabilities erred tax assets and liabilities erred tax assets and liabilities 
are netted insofar as legal regulations permit offsetting. Changes aaare netted insofar as lere netted insofar as lere netted insofar as legggal real real regggulations permit offsettinulations permit offsettinulations permit offsettinggg. Chan. Chan. Changgges es es 
in the amounts of deferred taxes are recognised as tax expense.iiin the amounts of deferred taxes are recon the amounts of deferred taxes are recon the amounts of deferred taxes are recogggnised as tax expense.nised as tax expense.nised as tax expense.

Provisions are not provided for taxes that would be incurred werePPProvisions are not provided rovisions are not provided rovisions are not provided fffor taxes that would be incurred wereor taxes that would be incurred wereor taxes that would be incurred were
Group companies to distribute retained earnings, except whereGGGroup companies to distribute retained earnings, except whereroup companies to distribute retained earnings, except whereroup companies to distribute retained earnings, except where
a distribution can be expected in the foreseeable future or whereaaa distribution can be ex distribution can be ex distribution can be expppected in the foreseeable future or whereected in the foreseeable future or whereected in the foreseeable future or where
it has been decided.iiit has t has t has bbbeen decidedeen decidedeen decided...

Earnings per shareEEEarninarninarningggs per shares per shares per share
Diluted earnings per share include the dilutive effect of the Diluted earninDiluted earninDiluted earningggs per share include the dilutive effect of the s per share include the dilutive effect of the s per share include the dilutive effect of the 
conditional share capital, which is drawn upon mainly as a result conditional share capital, which is drawn upon mainly as a result conditional share capital, which is drawn upon mainly as a result conditional share capital, which is drawn upon mainly as a result 
of the conversion of the bond.ofofof the c the c the cof the cofofof the cof the cof the cofofof the cof ooonversinversinversiooon n n ofofof the b the b the bof the bofofof the bof the bof the bofofof the bof ooondndnd...

Payments made to employeesPayments made to empPayments made to empPayments made to empllloyeesoyeesoyees
In accordance with local laws and practices, the Group operates In accordance with local laws and In accordance with local laws and In accordance with local laws and pppractices, the Grouractices, the Grouractices, the Grouppp o o oppperates erates erates 
various benefi t plans. These plans include both defi ned-benefi t vvvarious benearious benearious benefififi t plans. These plans include both de t plans. These plans include both de t plans. These plans include both defi t plans. These plans include both defififi t plans. These plans include both defi t plans. These plans include both defi t plans. These plans include both defififi t plans. These plans include both defi fififi ned-bene ned-bene ned-benefi ned-benefififi ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefififi ned-benefi fififi t  t  t fi t fififi t fi t fi t fififi t fi
and defi ned-contribution plans.and deand deand defififi ned-contribution plans ned-contribution plans ned-contribution plansfi ned-contribution plansfififi ned-contribution plansfi ned-contribution plansfi ned-contribution plansfififi ned-contribution plansfi ...

The expense and present value of the benefi t obligations for theTTThe expense and present value of the benefihe expense and present value of the benefihe expense and present value of the benefi t obli t obli t oblihe expense and present value of the benefi t oblihe expense and present value of the benefihe expense and present value of the benefihe expense and present value of the benefi t oblihe expense and present value of the benefi t oblihe expense and present value of the benefi t oblihe expense and present value of the benefihe expense and present value of the benefihe expense and present value of the benefi t oblihe expense and present value of the benefi gggations for theations for theations for the
material defi ned-benefi t plans are determined based on different mmmaterial defiaterial defiaterial defi ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefiaterial defi ned-benefiaterial defiaterial defiaterial defi ned-benefiaterial defi ned-benefiaterial defi ned-benefiaterial defiaterial defiaterial defi ned-benefiaterial defi  t  t  t  ned-benefi t  ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefi t  ned-benefi t  ned-benefi t  ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefi t  ned-benefi ppplans are determined based on different lans are determined based on different lans are determined based on different 
economic and demographic assumptions using the Projected economic and demographic assumptions using the Projected economic and demographic assumptions using the Projected economic and demographic assumptions using the Projected 
Unit Credit Method. This takes into account insurance years up toUUUnit nit nit CCCredit Method. This takes into account insurance years up toredit Method. This takes into account insurance years up toredit Method. This takes into account insurance years up to
the valuation date. The major assumptions involved in the calcu-ttthe valuation date. he valuation date. he valuation date. TTThe major assumptions involved in the calcu-he major assumptions involved in the calcu-he major assumptions involved in the calcu-
lation are expectations about future salary increases, return on lation are exlation are exlation are expppectations about future salary increases, return on ectations about future salary increases, return on ectations about future salary increases, return on 
pension assets, turnover and life expectancy.pppension assets, turnover and life exension assets, turnover and life exension assets, turnover and life expppectancy.ectancy.ectancy.

Valuation of benefi t obligations for material benefi t plans isVVValuation oaluation oaluation oValuation oVVValuation oValuation oValuation oVVValuation oV fff bene bene benef benefff benef benef benefff benef fififi t obligations  t obligations  t obligations fi t obligations fififi t obligations fi t obligations fi t obligations fififi t obligations fi fffor material beneor material beneor material benefififi t plans is t plans is t plans isfi t plans isfififi t plans isfi t plans isfi t plans isfififi t plans isfi
conducted annually by independent actuaries. The last valuation conducted annually conducted annually conducted annually bbby indey indey indepppendent actuaries. endent actuaries. endent actuaries. TTThe last valuation he last valuation he last valuation 
of the benefi t obligations for the material benefi t plans was ooof the benefif the benefif the benefi t obli t obli t oblif the benefi t oblif the benefif the benefif the benefi t oblif the benefi t oblif the benefi t oblif the benefif the benefif the benefi t oblif the benefi gggations for the material benefi t plans was ations for the material benefi t plans was ations for the material benefi t plans was 
carried out as per December 31, 2007, and was updated as of carried out as carried out as carried out as ppper December 31, 2007, and was uer December 31, 2007, and was uer December 31, 2007, and was upppdated as of dated as of dated as of 
April 30, 2008. Valuation of pension assets is done annually, atApril 30, 2008. Valuation oApril 30, 2008. Valuation oApril 30, 2008. Valuation offf pension assets is done annually, at pension assets is done annually, at pension assets is done annually, atf pension assets is done annually, atfff pension assets is done annually, atf pension assets is done annually, atf pension assets is done annually, atfff pension assets is done annually, atf
market value.mmmarket valuearket valuearket value...

Current benefi t claims are recorded in the profi t and loss accountCurrent benefi t claims are recorded in the Current benefi t claims are recorded in the Current benefi t claims are recorded in the ppprofi t and loss accountrofi t and loss accountrofi t and loss account
for the period in which they occurred. Retroactive improvementsfor the for the for the ppperiod in which they occurred. Retroactive imeriod in which they occurred. Retroactive imeriod in which they occurred. Retroactive imppprovementsrovementsrovements
in benefi ts due to changes in the plan are recognised on the in benein benein benefififi ts due to changes in the plan are recognised on the  ts due to changes in the plan are recognised on the  ts due to changes in the plan are recognised on the fi ts due to changes in the plan are recognised on the fififi ts due to changes in the plan are recognised on the fi ts due to changes in the plan are recognised on the fi ts due to changes in the plan are recognised on the fififi ts due to changes in the plan are recognised on the fi
income statement using a straight-line method over the average income statement usinincome statement usinincome statement usinggg a strai a strai a straiggght-line method over the averaht-line method over the averaht-line method over the averaggge e e 
period up until the reaching of the vesting date. As soon as period up until the reachinperiod up until the reachinperiod up until the reachinggg of the vestin of the vestin of the vestinggg date. As soon as  date. As soon as  date. As soon as 
deferred benefi ts become vested, these are immediately recog-deferred benefi ts become vested, these are immediately recodeferred benefi ts become vested, these are immediately recodeferred benefi ts become vested, these are immediately recoggg---
nised on the income statement.nised nised nised ooon the incn the incn the incooome statementme statementme statement...

Actuarial gains and losses in the defi ned-benefi t plans are recog-Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial gggains and losses in the deains and losses in the deains and losses in the defififi ned-bene ned-bene ned-benefi ned-benefififi ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefififi ned-benefi fififi t plans are reco t plans are reco t plans are recofi t plans are recofififi t plans are recofi t plans are recofi t plans are recofififi t plans are recofi ggg---
nised in the income statement as soon as they exceed the greater niseniseniseddd in t in t in thhhe income statement as soon as te income statement as soon as te income statement as soon as thhhey exceeey exceeey exceeddd t t thhhe e e gggreater reater reater 
of the following two amounts: 10 percent of the present value of ooof the followinf the followinf the followinggg two amounts: 10 percent of the present value of  two amounts: 10 percent of the present value of  two amounts: 10 percent of the present value of 
the defi ned-benefi t obligation and 10 percent of the market value ttthe dehe dehe defififi ned-bene ned-bene ned-benefi ned-benefififi ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefififi ned-benefi fififi t obligation and 10 percent o t obligation and 10 percent o t obligation and 10 percent ofi t obligation and 10 percent ofififi t obligation and 10 percent ofi t obligation and 10 percent ofi t obligation and 10 percent ofififi t obligation and 10 percent ofi fff the market value  the market value  the market value f the market value fff the market value f the market value f the market value fff the market value f
of the assets. The proportion that exceeds this amount will be ofofof the assets. The proportion that exceeds this amount will be  the assets. The proportion that exceeds this amount will be  the assets. The proportion that exceeds this amount will be of the assets. The proportion that exceeds this amount will be ofofof the assets. The proportion that exceeds this amount will be of the assets. The proportion that exceeds this amount will be of the assets. The proportion that exceeds this amount will be ofofof the assets. The proportion that exceeds this amount will be of
amortised on a straight-line basis over the average remainingamortised on a straiamortised on a straiamortised on a straiggght-line ht-line ht-line bbbasis over the averaasis over the averaasis over the averaggge remainine remainine remaininggg
working life of the insured party.wwworkinorkinorkinggg life of the insured party life of the insured party life of the insured party...

The recognised asset will be limited to the present value of any TTThe recognised asset will be limited to the present value ohe recognised asset will be limited to the present value ohe recognised asset will be limited to the present value offf any  any  any f any fff any f any f any fff any f
economic benefi ts available in the form of reductions in future ecececooonnnooomic benemic benemic benefififi ts available in the  ts available in the  ts available in the fi ts available in the fififi ts available in the fi ts available in the fi ts available in the fififi ts available in the fi fofoform rm rm ofofof reducti reducti reductiof reductiofofof reductiof reductiof reductiofofof reductiof ooons in ns in ns in fffuture uture uture 
employer contributions to the plan.emememppployer contriloyer contriloyer contribbbutions to the utions to the utions to the ppplan.lan.lan.

The employer contributions to defi ned-contribution plans are TTThe emhe emhe emppployer contributions to defiloyer contributions to defiloyer contributions to defi ned-contribution  ned-contribution  ned-contribution loyer contributions to defi ned-contribution loyer contributions to defiloyer contributions to defiloyer contributions to defi ned-contribution loyer contributions to defi ned-contribution loyer contributions to defi ned-contribution loyer contributions to defiloyer contributions to defiloyer contributions to defi ned-contribution loyer contributions to defi ppplans are lans are lans are 
recognised in the profi t and loss account in the period in whichrecognised in the prorecognised in the prorecognised in the profififi t and loss account in the period in which t and loss account in the period in which t and loss account in the period in whichfi t and loss account in the period in whichfififi t and loss account in the period in whichfi t and loss account in the period in whichfi t and loss account in the period in whichfififi t and loss account in the period in whichfi
they occur.tttheheheyyy occur. occur. occur.
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Employee stock option planEEEmmmplplployee stocoyee stocoyee stockkk o o oppption tion tion plplplaaannn
From October 1, 1999, to April 30, 2007, options to purchase FFFrom October 1, 1999, to Arom October 1, 1999, to Arom October 1, 1999, to Apppril 30, 2007, oril 30, 2007, oril 30, 2007, oppptions to tions to tions to pppurchase urchase urchase 
Infranor Inter AG bearer shares were sold to one senior employee IIInnnfffranor Inter Aranor Inter Aranor Inter AGGG bearer shares were sold to one senior employee  bearer shares were sold to one senior employee  bearer shares were sold to one senior employee 
of the Group and member of the Board of Directors. This optionofofof the  the  the of the ofofof the of the of the ofofof the of GGGroup and member oroup and member oroup and member offf the Board o the Board o the Board of the Board offf the Board of the Board of the Board offf the Board of fff Directors. This option Directors. This option Directors. This optionf Directors. This optionfff Directors. This optionf Directors. This optionf Directors. This optionfff Directors. This optionf
plan has expired and was not renewed.plplplan an an hhhas exas exas expppireireireddd an an anddd was not renewe was not renewe was not reneweddd...

The benefi t consisted of options to purchase Infranor Inter shares The benefi t consisted of oThe benefi t consisted of oThe benefi t consisted of oppptions to tions to tions to pppurchase Infranor Inter shares urchase Infranor Inter shares urchase Infranor Inter shares 
at a predetermined price. Options were granted within the scope aaat a predetermined price. Options were granted within the scope t a predetermined price. Options were granted within the scope t a predetermined price. Options were granted within the scope 
of this stock option plan. The last options were issued in theofofof this stock option plan. The last options were issued in the this stock option plan. The last options were issued in the this stock option plan. The last options were issued in theof this stock option plan. The last options were issued in theofofof this stock option plan. The last options were issued in theof this stock option plan. The last options were issued in theof this stock option plan. The last options were issued in theofofof this stock option plan. The last options were issued in theof
2006/07 fi nancial year. In order to hedge these liabilities and 222006/07 fi nancial year. In order to hed006/07 fi nancial year. In order to hed006/07 fi nancial year. In order to hedggge these liabilities and e these liabilities and e these liabilities and 
cover all potentially outstanding options, the Group purchased cover all potentially outstandincover all potentially outstandincover all potentially outstandinggg options, the Group purchased  options, the Group purchased  options, the Group purchased 
the necessary number of shares and holds these until the options the necessary number of shares and holds these until the othe necessary number of shares and holds these until the othe necessary number of shares and holds these until the oppptions tions tions 
expire or are exercised. No additional shares will be issued aseeexpire or are exercised. No additional shares will be issued asxpire or are exercised. No additional shares will be issued asxpire or are exercised. No additional shares will be issued as
part of this equity compensation plan.part opart opart offf this equity compensation plan. this equity compensation plan. this equity compensation plan.f this equity compensation plan.fff this equity compensation plan.f this equity compensation plan.f this equity compensation plan.fff this equity compensation plan.f

The options’ strike prices were determined at the grant dateThe options’ strike prices were determined at the The options’ strike prices were determined at the The options’ strike prices were determined at the gggrant datrant datrant dateee
on the basis of the then current share price. The time value toooon the basis of the then current share n the basis of the then current share n the basis of the then current share ppprice. The time value torice. The time value torice. The time value to
be attached to the options is calculated by an actuary usingbbbe attached to the options is calculated by an actuary usine attached to the options is calculated by an actuary usine attached to the options is calculated by an actuary usinggg
the Black-Scholes formula. If share prices are lower during thethe Black-Scholes formula. If share prices are lower durinthe Black-Scholes formula. If share prices are lower durinthe Black-Scholes formula. If share prices are lower duringgg the the the
exercise period, the options’ strike prices are not adjusted. The eeexercise period, the options’ strike prices are not adjusted. The xercise period, the options’ strike prices are not adjusted. The xercise period, the options’ strike prices are not adjusted. The 
options are subject to a three-year vesting period.oooptions are subject to a three-year vestinptions are subject to a three-year vestinptions are subject to a three-year vestinggg period. period. period.

Transactions with related partiesTTTransactions with related partiesransactions with related partiesransactions with related partiesTransactions with related partiesTTTransactions with related partiesTransactions with related partiesTransactions with related partiesTTTransactions with related partiesT
Related parties (natural or legal) are defi ned as any party directlyRRRelated parties elated parties elated parties (((natural or lenatural or lenatural or legggalalal))) are defi ned as any party directly are defi ned as any party directly are defi ned as any party directly
or indirectly able to exercise signifi cant infl uence over the com-ooor indirectly able to exercise sir indirectly able to exercise sir indirectly able to exercise sigggnifinifinifi cant infl cant infl cant inflnifi cant inflnifinifinifi cant inflnifi cant inflnifi cant inflnifinifinifi cant inflnifi  uence over the com uence over the com uence over the com cant infl uence over the com cant infl cant infl cant infl uence over the com cant infl uence over the com cant infl uence over the com cant infl cant infl cant infl uence over the com cant infl ---
pany or the Group as it makes fi nancial or operating decisions.pany or the Group as it makes fi nancial or operatinpany or the Group as it makes fi nancial or operatinpany or the Group as it makes fi nancial or operatinpany or the Group as it makes fi nancial or operatinggg decisions. decisions. decisions.
Companies which, in turn, are directly or indirectly controlled by Companies which, in turn, are directly or indirectly controlled by Companies which, in turn, are directly or indirectly controlled by Companies which, in turn, are directly or indirectly controlled by 
related parties are also deemed to be related parties.rrrelated parties are also deemed to be related partieselated parties are also deemed to be related partieselated parties are also deemed to be related parties...

Off-balance sheet transactionsOOOff-balancff-balancff-balanceee sh sh sheeeeeet transactiont transactiont transactionsss
Off-balance sheet transactions compriseOOOff-balance sheet transactions comff-balance sheet transactions comff-balance sheet transactions compppriseriserise
a) Contingent liabilities and pledged assetsa)a)a) Contingent liabilities and pledged assets Contingent liabilities and pledged assets Contingent liabilities and pledged assets
b) Other obligations not recognised on the balance sheets.b)b)b) Other obligations not recognised on the balance sheets. Other obligations not recognised on the balance sheets. Other obligations not recognised on the balance sheets.

Contingent liabilities and obligations not recognised on theContinContinContingggent liabilities and oblient liabilities and oblient liabilities and obligggations not recoations not recoations not recogggnised on thenised on thenised on the
balance sheet includebababalllaaance sheet includnce sheet includnce sheet includeee
c) Guarantees (usually to creditor banks).ccc))) Guarantees  Guarantees  Guarantees (((usuallusuallusuallyyy to creditor banks to creditor banks to creditor banks).).).
b)  Pledges in accordance with Section 663b. 2 of the Swiss Codeb)b)b)  Pled  Pled  Pledggges in accordance with Section 663b. 2 of the Swiss Codes in accordance with Section 663b. 2 of the Swiss Codes in accordance with Section 663b. 2 of the Swiss Codeee

of Obligations (as a rule, to creditor banks).ooof Oblif Oblif Obligggations (as a rule, to creditor banks)ations (as a rule, to creditor banks)ations (as a rule, to creditor banks)...
c) Guarantees such as purchase guarantees or commitmentsccc) Guarantees such as purchase ) Guarantees such as purchase ) Guarantees such as purchase ggguarantees or commitmentsuarantees or commitmentsuarantees or commitments
d) Operating leases (excluding interest expense).d)d)d) Operating leases  Operating leases  Operating leases (((excluding interest expenseexcluding interest expenseexcluding interest expense)))...

Off-balance sheet transactions are measured as at the balance OOOff-balance sheet transactiff-balance sheet transactiff-balance sheet transactiooons are measured as at the balance ns are measured as at the balance ns are measured as at the balance 
sheet date at year-end rates based on the agreements in place.sssheet date at year-end rates heet date at year-end rates heet date at year-end rates bbbased on the aased on the aased on the agggreements in placereements in placereements in place...

Explanatory notes on the consolidated fi nancial statementsEEExxxppplanatory notes on the consolidated filanatory notes on the consolidated filanatory notes on the consolidated fi nancial statement nancial statement nancial statementlanatory notes on the consolidated fi nancial statementlanatory notes on the consolidated filanatory notes on the consolidated filanatory notes on the consolidated fi nancial statementlanatory notes on the consolidated fi nancial statementlanatory notes on the consolidated fi nancial statementlanatory notes on the consolidated filanatory notes on the consolidated filanatory notes on the consolidated fi nancial statementlanatory notes on the consolidated fi sss

3. Impact of foreign currencies on the balance sheet333. Impact o. Impact o. Impact offf ffforeign currencies on the balance sheetoreign currencies on the balance sheetoreign currencies on the balance sheet
Change as against the previous yearCCChange as against the previous yeahange as against the previous yeahange as against the previous yearrr 30.04.0830.04.0830.04.0830.04.08 30.04.073330.04.00.04.00.04.0777

Current assetsCurrent Current Current aaassetssetssetsss – 2,4 %––– 2,4  2,4  2,4 %%% 2,7 %2,7 %2,7 %2,7 %

Fixed assetsFixed Fixed Fixed aaassetsssetsssets – 1,6 %––– 1,6  1,6  1,6 %%% 3,5 %333,5 %,5 %,5 %

Current liabilitiesCCCurrent liabilitiesurrent liabilitiesurrent liabilities – 1,7 %––– 1 1 1,,,7 7 7 %%% 3,3 %3,3,3,3 3 3 %%%

4. Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities4. Cash, cash e4. Cash, cash e4. Cash, cash eqqquivalents and marketable securitiesuivalents and marketable securitiesuivalents and marketable securities

4.1 Cash by currency4.1 4.1 4.1 CCCash by currencash by currencash by currencyyy
1,000 CHF1,1,1,000 CH000 CH000 CHFFF 30.04.0830.04.0830.04.0830.04.08 30.04.0730.04.030.04.030.04.0777

CHFCCCHFHFHF 2,220222,22,22,22000 1,2811,2811,2811,281

EUREUEUEURRR 870888777000 920999222000

USDUSUSUSDDD 195195195195 433444333333

Other currencies (GBP, CNY)Other currencies Other currencies Other currencies (((GBPGBPGBP,,,GBP,GBPGBPGBP,GBP,GBP,GBPGBPGBP,GBP CNY CNY CNY))) 532532532532 565565656555

Total cashTotal casTotal casTotal cashhh 3,817333,817,817,817 3,1993,193,193,19999

The actual yield on current accounts with banks and cash and TTThe actual yield on current accounts with banhe actual yield on current accounts with banhe actual yield on current accounts with bankkks and cash and s and cash and s and cash and 
cash-equivalent holdings is the variable overnight rate paid by cash-equivalent holdincash-equivalent holdincash-equivalent holdingggs is the varias is the varias is the variabbble overnile overnile overniggght rate paid ht rate paid ht rate paid bbby y y 
the banks on customer deposits in the respective currencies.ttthe banks on customer dehe banks on customer dehe banks on customer deppposits in the resosits in the resosits in the respppective currencies.ective currencies.ective currencies.

4.2 Cash equivalents and marketable securities4.2 4.2 4.2 CCCash equivalents and marketable securitieash equivalents and marketable securitieash equivalents and marketable securitiesss
1,000 CHF1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHHHFFF 30.04.0830.04.0830.04.0830.04.08 30.04.073330.04.00.04.00.04.0777

Checks, bills Checks, bills Checks, bills Checks, bills 14141414 0000

Receivables from derivativeReceivables frReceivables frReceivables frooom derivativm derivativm derivativeee

fi nancial instrumentsfififi nancial instrument nancial instrument nancial instrumentfi nancial instrumentfififi nancial instrumentfi nancial instrumentfi nancial instrumentfififi nancial instrumentfi sss 55555555 0000

Time deposits 3 – 12 monthsTTTime deime deime deppposits 3 – 12 monthsosits 3 – 12 monthsosits 3 – 12 months 0000 1,318111,,,313131888

Total marketable securitiesTotal markTotal markTotal markeeetabltabltableee s s seeecuriticuriticuritieseses 69666999 1,3181,311,311,31888

5. Trade accounts receivable555. Trad. Trad. Tradeee accounts r accounts r accounts reeeccceeeivablivablivableee
1,000 CHF1,1,1,000 CH000 CH000 CHFFF 30.04.083330.04.080.04.080.04.08 30.04.0730.04.030.04.030.04.0777

Total trade accounts Total trade accounts Total trade accounts Total trade accounts 

receivable (gross)receivable (grossreceivable (grossreceivable (gross))) 18,868111888,,,888666888 17,992171717,992,992,99217,992171717,99217,99217,992171717,99217

Bad debt allowancesBBBad dead dead debbbt allt allt allooowancewancewancesss – 855– 855– 855– 855 – 716– 71– 71– 71666

Total trade accounts Total tradTotal tradTotal tradeee accounts  accounts  accounts 

receivable (net)receivable receivable receivable (((netnetnet))) 18,01318,0118,0118,01333 17,2761117,277,277,27666
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As of April 30, 2008, receivables totalling 0.66 million CHFAs of April 30, 2008, receivables totallinAs of April 30, 2008, receivables totallinAs of April 30, 2008, receivables totallinggg 0.66 million CHF 0.66 million CHF 0.66 million CHF
(previous year: 1.22 million CHF) were pledged with banks as (previous year: 1.22 million CHF) were pledged with banks as (previous year: 1.22 million CHF) were pledged with banks as (previous year: 1.22 million CHF) were pledged with banks as 
loan collateral.llloooan can can cooollateral.llateral.llateral.

Trade accounts receivable are normally due within 30 to 120 days; TTTrade accounts receivarade accounts receivarade accounts receivaTrade accounts receivaTTTrade accounts receivaTrade accounts receivaTrade accounts receivaTTTrade accounts receivaT bbble are normallle are normallle are normallyyy due within 30 to 120 da due within 30 to 120 da due within 30 to 120 dayyys; s; s; 
in principle they are interest-free and unsecured. The risk of iiin n n ppprincirincirincippple they are interest-free and unsecured. The risk ole they are interest-free and unsecured. The risk ole they are interest-free and unsecured. The risk offf
default is taken into account in the corresponding value adjust-dddefault is taken into account in the corresponding value adjustefault is taken into account in the corresponding value adjustefault is taken into account in the corresponding value adjust---
ments.memements.nts.nts.

5.1 Age structure of trade accounts receivable555.1 A.1 A.1 Aggge structure of trade accounts receivablee structure of trade accounts receivablee structure of trade accounts receivable
1,000 CHF111,000 CH,000 CH,000 CHFFF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07333000...0004.4.4.070707

Not dueNoNoNot dut dut dueee 10,496111000,,,494949666 11,607111111,,,606060777

Overdue by up to 1 monthOverdue by uOverdue by uOverdue by uppp to 1 month to 1 month to 1 month 4,156444,,,151515666 3,0233,3,3,020202333

Overdue by between 1 and 3 monthsOverdue bOverdue bOverdue byyy between 1 and 3 month between 1 and 3 month between 1 and 3 monthsss 3,2203,3,3,222222000 2,0322,032,032,03222

Overdue by between 3 and 6 monthsOverdue by between 3 and 6 monthOverdue by between 3 and 6 monthOverdue by between 3 and 6 monthsss 293222999333 442444444222

Overdue by between 6 and 12 monthsOOOverdue by between 6 and 12 monthsverdue by between 6 and 12 monthsverdue by between 6 and 12 months 323323232333 684686868444

Overdue by more than 12 monthsOOOverdue bverdue bverdue byyy more than 12 months more than 12 months more than 12 months 380383838000 204204204204

Total trade accounts Total tradTotal tradTotal tradeee accounts  accounts  accounts 

receivablerrreeeccceeeivablivablivableee 18,8681118,868,868,86888 17,9921117,997,997,99222

Bad debt allowancesBad debt allBad debt allBad debt allooowancewancewancesss – 855– – – 888555555 – 716– 71– 71– 71666

Total net trade accountsTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll net trade accounts net trade accounts net trade accounts

receivablerrreeeccceeeivablivablivableee 18,013181818,,,010101333 17,276111777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7272727666

5.2 Change to valuation allowance for doubtful receivables555.2 Change to valuation allowance .2 Change to valuation allowance .2 Change to valuation allowance fffor doubtor doubtor doubtffful receivablesul receivablesul receivables
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHF HF HF TotalToToTotatatalll TotalToToTotaltaltal

07/08070707///000888 06/07060606///000777

As at 1.5.AAAsss at 1. at 1. at 1.555... 716717171666 729777222999

Used valuation allowanceUUUsed valuatised valuatised valuatiooon alln alln allooowancwancwanceee – 97––– 999777 – 52– – – 525252

Released valuation allowanceRRReleased valuatieleased valuatieleased valuatiooon alln alln allooowancwancwanceee – 4––– 444 – 13––– 1 1 1333

Formed valuation allowanceFFFormed valuation allowanceormed valuation allowanceormed valuation allowance 250250250250 35353535

Currency translation differencesCurrencCurrencCurrencyyy translation di translation di translation difffffferenceserenceserences – 10– 1– 1– 1000 17111777

As at 30.4. AAAs at 30.4. s at 30.4. s at 30.4. 855888555555 716777111666

5.3 Trade accounts receivable by currency555.3 .3 .3 TTTrade accounts receivabrade accounts receivabrade accounts receivabTrade accounts receivabTTTrade accounts receivabTrade accounts receivabTrade accounts receivabTTTrade accounts receivabT llle be be byyy currenc currenc currencyyy
1,000 CHF111,000 CH,000 CH,000 CHFFF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07333000...0004.4.4.070707

CHFCCCHHHFFF 3,4633,3,3,464646333 2,7992,2,2,777999999

EUREUREUREUR 13,524131313,,,525252444 13,547111333,,,545454777

USDUUUSDSDSD 1,146111,,,141414666 1,051111,05,05,05111

GBPGGGBBBPPP 241222444111 418414141888

CYNCCCYNYNYN 494494494494 177177177177

Total trade accounts TTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll trad trad tradeee accounts  accounts  accounts 

receivablerrreeeccceeeivablivablivableee 18,868181818,,,868686888 17,992171717,,,17,171717,17,17,171717,17999999222

6. Other receivables6. 6. 6. OOOther receivablether receivablether receivablesss
1,000 CHF111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHHHFFF 30.04.0830.04.030.04.030.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

Prior tax charges, withholding taxesPPPPrior tax charges, withholding taxerior tax charges, withholding taxerior tax charges, withholding taxesss 1,127111,,,127127127 693696969333

Income tax receivablesIIIIncome tax receivablencome tax receivablencome tax receivablesss 37333777 61666111

Advance payments to suppliersAdvance payments to supplierAdvance payments to supplierAdvance payments to suppliersss 24242424 106106106106

Other receivablesOOOOther receivablether receivablether receivablesss 292292929222 138138138138

TotalToToTotatatalll 1,480111,,,484848000 998999999888

7. Inventories7. Inventories7. Inventories7. Inventories
1,000 CHF1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHHHFFF 30.04.0830.04.030.04.030.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

Raw materials and suppliesRRRaw materials and supplieaw materials and supplieaw materials and suppliesss 7,424777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7444242424 8,4838,8,8,444838383

Semi-fi nished products and work in progressSSSemi-fi nished products and work in proemi-fi nished products and work in proemi-fi nished products and work in progggressressress 2,933222,9,9,9333333 2,5402,542,542,54000

Finished productsFinished Finished Finished ppproductroductroductsss 4,597444,5,5,5999777 5,140555,14,14,14000

Inventories (gross)IIIInventories (grossnventories (grossnventories (gross))) 14,954111444,,,959595444 16,163161616,,,161616333

Valuation allowanceVVValuation allowancealuation allowancealuation allowanceValuation allowanceVVValuation allowanceValuation allowanceValuation allowanceVVValuation allowanceV – 1,304– 1– 1– 1,,,333040404 – 1,233––– 1 1 1,,,232323333

Inventories (net)IIInventories nventories nventories (((netnetnet))) 13,650111333,,,656565000 14,93014,93014,93014,930

Obsolete parts with a total value of around 0.17 million CHFOOObsolete parts with a total value of around 0.17 million CHFbsolete parts with a total value of around 0.17 million CHFbsolete parts with a total value of around 0.17 million CHF
(previous year: 0.93 million CHF) were scrapped, as a result of (((previous year: 0.93 million CHFprevious year: 0.93 million CHFprevious year: 0.93 million CHF))) were scrapped, as a result of  were scrapped, as a result of  were scrapped, as a result of 
which the gross carrying value and the relevant valuation allow-wwwhhhicicichhh t t thhhe e e gggross carryinross carryinross carryinggg va va valllue anue anue anddd t t thhhe ree ree relllevant vaevant vaevant vallluation auation auation allllllow-ow-ow-
ance fell by the same amount as of April 30, 2008.ance fell by the same amount as of Aance fell by the same amount as of Aance fell by the same amount as of Apppril 30, 2008.ril 30, 2008.ril 30, 2008.
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8. Property, plant and equipment

8.1 Property, plant and equipment in the year under review888.1 Pro.1 Pro.1 Proppperty, erty, erty, ppplant and equilant and equilant and equipppment in the year under reviewment in the year under reviewment in the year under review
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHF HF HF Land, buildings/LLLand, and, and, bbbuildingsuildingsuildings/// Machinery/MMMachinerachinerachinery/y/y/ ITITITIT IndustrialIIIndustriandustriandustrialll Offi ce furnitureOOOffiffiffi ce furnitur ce furnitur ce furniturffi ce furniturffiffiffi ce furniturffi ce furniturffi ce furniturffiffiffi ce furniturffi eee MotorMoMoMotttooorrr TotalToToTotatatalll

installationsinstainstainstallllllationsationsations toolstootootoolllsss hardwarehhhararardddwarewareware plantppplllantantant and equipmentaaannnddd equipmen equipmen equipmenttt vehiclesvehvehvehiciciclelelesss 07/080007/087/087/08

CostCCCosososttt

As at 1.5.AAAs at 1.5.s at 1.5.s at 1.5. 1,596111,,,595959666 12,34112,312,312,3444111 1,6801,1,1,686868000 2,817222,,,817817817 1,360111,,,363636000 539555393939 20,333202020,,,333333333

AdditionsAAAdditiondditiondditionsss 285285285285 1,2881,1,1,222888888 205205205205 369333666999 133111333333 128121212888 2,4082,2,2,408408408

DisposalsDDDisposalsisposalsisposals – 98– – – 989898 – 132––– 13 13 13222 – 6– – – 666 – 117– 11– 11– 11777 – 27– 2– 2– 2777 – 380––– 333888000

Reclassifi cation / additionReclassiReclassiReclassifififi cati cati catifi catifififi catifi catifi catifififi catifi ooon / additin / additin / additiooonnn 34333444 – 34––– 343434 0000

Currency translation differencesCurrency translation differencesCurrency translation differencesCurrency translation differences – 32––– 323232 – 238––– 2 2 2383838 – 35– – – 333555 – 59––– 595959 – 32––– 323232 – 7– 7– 7– 7 – 403––– 40 40 40333

As at 30.4. AAAs at 30.4. s at 30.4. s at 30.4. 1,849111,8,8,8444999 13,29313,29313,29313,293 1,7521,1,1,757575222 3,1213,3,3,111222111 1,310111,,,313131000 633666333333 21,958212121,,,958958958

Accumulated depreciationAccumulated depreciatioAccumulated depreciatioAccumulated depreciationnn

As at 1.5.AAAs at 1.5.s at 1.5.s at 1.5. – 560– – – 560560560 – 10,014– 1– 1– 1000,,,000111444 – 1,425– 1,4– 1,4– 1,4222555 – 1,811– 1,811– 1,811– 1,811 – 1,129– 1,1– 1,1– 1,1292929 – 270––– 27 27 27000 – 15,209––– 15,209 15,209 15,209

DepreciationDDDeeepppreciatioreciatioreciationnn – 111––– 111111111 – 453––– 45 45 45333 – 187––– 1 1 1888777 – 178––– 17 17 17888 – 74– 74– 74– 74 – 122––– 122122122 – 1,125– 1– 1– 1,,,125125125

DisposalsDDDisisisppposalsosalsosals 71717171 132131313222 6666 115111111555 27272727 351351351351

Reclassifi cation / additionReclassiReclassiReclassifififi cation / addition cation / addition cation / additionfi cation / additionfififi cation / additionfi cation / additionfi cation / additionfififi cation / additionfi 1111 – 30– 3– 3– 3000 – 1– 1– 1– 1 31313131 0000 1111

Currency translation differencesCurrency translation diCurrency translation diCurrency translation difffffferenceserenceserences 12121212 195111959595 33333333 41444111 27222777 – 1––– 111 307333070707

As at 30.4. AAAs at 30.4. s at 30.4. s at 30.4. – 659– – – 659659659 – 10,200– 1– 1– 10,0,0,222000000 – 1,477– 1– 1– 1,4,4,4777777 – 1,943– 1– 1– 1,9,9,9444333 – 1,030––– 1 1 1,0,0,0333000 – 366––– 366366366 – 15,675––– 15,675 15,675 15,675

Net carrying values  30.4.08Net carryinNet carryinNet carryinggg values  30.4.0 values  30.4.0 values  30.4.0888 1,190111,,,191919000 3,0933,3,3,090909333 275275275275 1,1781,1,1,171717888 280280280280 267222676767 6,283666,,,282828333

Net carrying values 1.5.07Net carryinNet carryinNet carryinggg values 1.5.0 values 1.5.0 values 1.5.0777 1,0361,1,1,000333666 2,3272,322,322,32777 255222555555 1,006111,,,006006006 231222313131 269222696969 5,1245,15,15,1242424

of which fi nance leasesooof which fif which fif which fi nance lease nance lease nance leasef which fi nance leasef which fif which fif which fi nance leasef which fi nance leasef which fi nance leasef which fif which fif which fi nance leasef which fi sss 801801801801 1,144111,1,1,1444444 0000 0000 53555333 108101010888 2,1062,102,102,10666

Insured valuesIIInsured valuesnsured valuesnsured values 9,8259,89,89,8252525

8.2 Property, plant and equipment in the previous year888.2 Pro.2 Pro.2 Proppperty, erty, erty, ppplant and equilant and equilant and equipppment in the ment in the ment in the ppprevious yearrevious yearrevious year
1,000 CHF 111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHF HF HF Land, buildings/LLLand, buildinand, buildinand, buildingggsss/// Machinery/MachineryMachineryMachinery/// ITITITIT IndustrialIIIndustrindustrindustrialalal Offi ce furnitureOOOffiffiffi ce furnitur ce furnitur ce furniturffi ce furniturffiffiffi ce furniturffi ce furniturffi ce furniturffiffiffi ce furniturffi eee MotorMoMoMotttooorrr TotalTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll

installationsinstallatiinstallatiinstallatiooonsnsns toolstttoooooolslsls hardwarehhhardwareardwareardware plantppplantlantlant and equipmentaaand end end eqqquiuiuipppmenmenmenttt vehiclesvvvehiclesehiclesehicles 06/0706/06/06/070707

CostCCCosososttt

As at 1.5.AAAsss at 1. at 1. at 1.555... 1,5611,51,51,5666111 11,25111,2511,2511,25111 1,583111,583,583,583 2,523222,52,52,52333 1,3841,381,381,38444 490490490490 18,792111888,79,79,79222

AdditionsAdditiAdditiAdditiooonnnsss 31333111 681686868111 158111585858 183181818333 45454545 184111848484 1,2821,21,21,2828282

DisposalsDDDisisisppposalsosalsosals – 76––– 7 7 7666 – 114– 114– 114– 114 – 108––– 1 1 1080808 – 16– 16– 16– 16 – 100– 1– 1– 1000000 – 146––– 14 14 14666 – 560––– 56 56 56000

Currency translation differencesCurrencCurrencCurrencyyy translation di translation di translation difffffferenceserenceserences 80808080 523525252333 47474747 127127127127 31313131 11111111 819888191919

As at 30.4. AAAsss at  at  at 3330.4. 0.4. 0.4. 1,5961,591,591,59666 12,3411112,342,342,34111 1,680111,68,68,68000 2,8172,8172,8172,817 1,3601,31,31,3606060 539539539539 20,33320,3320,3320,33333

Accumulated depreciationAAAccumuccumuccumulllated deated deated depppreciatioreciatioreciationnn

As at 1.5.As at 1.5.As at 1.5.As at 1.5. – 515– 51– 51– 51555 – 9,354– 9– 9– 9,,,353535444 – 1,328– 1– 1– 1,,,323232888 – 1,576––– 1 1 1,,,576576576 – 1,125– 1– 1– 1,,,121212555 – 295––– 295 295 295 – 14,193– 14– 14– 14,,,191919333

DepreciationDDDepreciatioepreciatioepreciationnn – 93––– 9 9 9333 – 334––– 33 33 33444 – 152––– 1 1 1525252 – 156––– 1 1 1555666 – 73––– 7 7 7333 – 95– – – 959595 – 903––– 9 9 9030303

DisposalsDDDisposalsisposalsisposals 76777666 114111111444 96969696 5555 96969696 129121212999 516555111666

Reclassifi cation / additionReclassifiReclassifiReclassifi cati cati catiReclassifi catiReclassifiReclassifiReclassifi catiReclassifi catiReclassifi catiReclassifiReclassifiReclassifi catiReclassifi ooon / additin / additin / additiooonnn 3333 – 3– – – 333 0000

Currency translation differencesCurrencCurrencCurrencyyy translation differences translation differences translation differences – 28––– 2 2 2888 – 440––– 44 44 44000 – 44––– 444444 – 84––– 888444 – 24– 24– 24– 24 – 9––– 999 – 629––– 666292929

As at 30.4. AAAsss at  at  at 3330.4. 0.4. 0.4. – 560– 56– 56– 56000 – 10,014– 10– 10– 10,,,010101444 – 1,425– 1– 1– 1,,,425425425 – 1,811– 1– 1– 1,8,8,8111111 – 1,129– 1– 1– 1,,,121212999 – 270––– 27 27 27000 – 15,209––– 15 15 15,,,222000999

Net carrying values 30.4.07NNNNet carrying vaet carrying vaet carrying valllues 30.4.0ues 30.4.0ues 30.4.0777 1,0361,1,1,000333666 2,327222,,,327327327 255255255255 1,006111,,,006006006 231232323111 269222696969 5,1245,125,125,12444

Net carrying values 1.5.06NNNet carryinet carryinet carryinggg values 1.5.0 values 1.5.0 values 1.5.0666 1,046111,,,040404666 1,8971,1,1,898989777 255222555555 947999474747 259222555999 195111999555 4,5994,4,4,599599599

of which fi nance leasesooof which fif which fif which fi nance lease nance lease nance leasef which fi nance leasef which fif which fif which fi nance leasef which fi nance leasef which fi nance leasef which fif which fif which fi nance leasef which fi sss 880880880880 678676767888 24242424 105111000555 15111555 96999666 1,798111,,,798798798

Insured valuesIIInsured vnsured vnsured vaaalueslueslues 10,0151110,00,00,0151515
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9.2 Intangible assets in the previous year9.2 Intangible assets in the previous yea9.2 Intangible assets in the previous yea9.2 Intangible assets in the previous yearrr
1,000 CHF111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHHHFFF BusinessBusinesBusinesBusinessss OwnOOOwwwnnn Trade-TTTrrraaadedede---  TotalTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll

softwaresososoftwarftwarftwareee ProductPPPrrroooducducducttt marks,marmarmarkkksss,,, 06/07060606///000777

devel-dededevvvelelel--- patents,pppatentsatentsatents,,,

opmentopmenopmenopmenttt otherooottthhhererer

CostCoCoCosssttt

As at 1.5.AAAs at 1.5.s at 1.5.s at 1.5. 1,020111,,,020202000 1,316111,,,313131666 9999 2,345222,,,343434555

AdditionsAAAdditionsdditionsdditions 268222686868 151111555111 75777555 494494494494

DisposalsDDDisposalsisposalsisposals – 135––– 13 13 13555 – 9––– 999 – 144– – – 144144144

Currency translationCCCurrency translatiourrency translatiourrency translationnn

differencesdifferencesdifferencesdifferences 5555 15151515 20202020

As at 30.4.As at 30.4.As at 30.4.As at 30.4. 1,1581,1,1,151515888 1,4821,1,1,444828282 75777555 2,715222,,,717171555

Accumulated amortisationAccumulated amortisationAccumulated amortisationAccumulated amortisation

As at 1.5.AAAs at 1.5.s at 1.5.s at 1.5. – 428– 42– 42– 42888 – 38– – – 383838 – 9––– 999 – 475– 47– 47– 47555

AmortisationAAAmmmooortisatirtisatirtisationonon – 166––– 166 166 166 – 201– 2– 2– 2010101 – 3––– 333 – 370– 37– 37– 37000

DisposalsDDDisposalsisposalsisposals 135131313555 9999 144144144144

Currency translationCurrencCurrencCurrencyyy translatio translatio translationnn

differencesdifferencesdifferencesdifferences – 5– – – 555 – 3– – – 333 – 8– – – 888

As at 30.4. AAAs at 30.4. s at 30.4. s at 30.4. – 464– 464– 464– 464 – 242– 242– 242– 242 – 3––– 333 – 709– 70– 70– 70999

Net carrying values Net carryinNet carryinNet carryinggg values  values  values 

30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.000777 694696969444 1,240111,24,24,24000 72727272 2,006222,006,006,006

30.04.06303030...0004.4.4.060606 592592592592 1,2781,1,1,272727888 0000 1,870111,,,888707070

As at the balance sheet date there were no indications of possibleAs at the balance sheet date there were no indications of As at the balance sheet date there were no indications of As at the balance sheet date there were no indications of pppossibleossibleossible
impairment of intangible assets.iiimpairment of intanmpairment of intanmpairment of intangggible assetsible assetsible assets...

The business software comprises company-specifi c or commonly The business soThe business soThe business soffftware comprises company-specitware comprises company-specitware comprises company-speciftware comprises company-speciffftware comprises company-speciftware comprises company-speciftware comprises company-speciffftware comprises company-specif fififi c or commonly  c or commonly  c or commonly fi c or commonly fififi c or commonly fi c or commonly fi c or commonly fififi c or commonly fi
used systems such as ERP, CRM, fi nancial and Internet applica-uuused systems such as ERP, CRM, sed systems such as ERP, CRM, sed systems such as ERP, CRM, fififi nancial and Internet applica- nancial and Internet applica- nancial and Internet applica-fi nancial and Internet applica-fififi nancial and Internet applica-fi nancial and Internet applica-fi nancial and Internet applica-fififi nancial and Internet applica-fi
tions.tions.tions.tions.

The product development and launch costs refer solely to self-The The The ppproduct develoroduct develoroduct developppment and launch costs refer solely to self-ment and launch costs refer solely to self-ment and launch costs refer solely to self-
developed new products namely new products from Cybelec SAdeveloped new products namely new products from Cybelec developed new products namely new products from Cybelec developed new products namely new products from Cybelec SSSAAA
(FASTware), Mavilor Motors SA (project name NovaGamma) as(((FASTwareFASTwareFASTware))), Mavilor Motors SA , Mavilor Motors SA , Mavilor Motors SA (((proproprojjject name NovaGammaect name NovaGammaect name NovaGamma))) as as as
well as Infranor Electronics SAS (project name GemDriver), for well as Infranor Electronics SAS (project name GemDriver), for well as Infranor Electronics SAS (project name GemDriver), for well as Infranor Electronics SAS (project name GemDriver), for 
which supply agreements have already been signed.which supply awhich supply awhich supply agggreements have already reements have already reements have already bbbeen sieen sieen sigggnednedned...

Trademark rights are purchased product trademarks whichTrademarTrademarTrademarkkk rights are purchased product trademar rights are purchased product trademar rights are purchased product trademarkkks whichs whichs which
continue to be registered in the leading industrialised nations.continue to be registered in the leading industrialised nations.continue to be registered in the leading industrialised nations.continue to be registered in the leading industrialised nations.
Licences and patents concern purchased marketing rights forLicences and patents concern purchased marketinLicences and patents concern purchased marketinLicences and patents concern purchased marketinggg ri ri riggghts forhts forhts for
complementary third-party products and purchased patents forcomcomcomppplementary third-lementary third-lementary third-ppparty arty arty ppproducts and roducts and roducts and pppurchased urchased urchased pppatents foratents foratents for
motion automation products. Trademark rights and marketingmmmotion automation products. Trademarotion automation products. Trademarotion automation products. Trademarkkk rights and mar rights and mar rights and markkketingetingeting
licences developed within the business are not capitalised.licences developed within the business are not capitalised.licences developed within the business are not capitalised.licences developed within the business are not capitalised.

As at the balance sheet date there were no indications of possibleAs at the balance sheet date there were no indications of As at the balance sheet date there were no indications of As at the balance sheet date there were no indications of pppossibleossibleossible
impairment of property, plant and equipment. The property, plant iiimmmpppairment of airment of airment of ppprororoppperty, erty, erty, ppplant and elant and elant and eqqquiuiuipppment. The ment. The ment. The ppprororoppperty, erty, erty, ppplant lant lant 
and equipment which were fi nanced by means of fi nance leasing aaand equipment which were nd equipment which were nd equipment which were fififi nanced by means o nanced by means o nanced by means ofi nanced by means ofififi nanced by means ofi nanced by means ofi nanced by means ofififi nanced by means ofi fff fififi nance leasing  nance leasing  nance leasing fi nance leasing fififi nance leasing fi nance leasing fi nance leasing fififi nance leasing fi
concern on the one hand the factory building in Lourdes, France, concern on the one hand the concern on the one hand the concern on the one hand the fffactory buildinactory buildinactory buildinggg in Lourdes, France,  in Lourdes, France,  in Lourdes, France, 
and on the other hand the machinery and annex to the factory aaand on the other hand the machinernd on the other hand the machinernd on the other hand the machineryyy and annex to the factor and annex to the factor and annex to the factoryyy
building in Spain.bbbuildinuildinuildinggg in  in  in SSSpain.pain.pain.

All leasing agreements include an option to buy at the calculatoryAll leasing agreements include an option to buy at the calculatoryAll leasing agreements include an option to buy at the calculatoryAll leasing agreements include an option to buy at the calculatory
residual value, which is usually zero. rrresidual value, which is usuallesidual value, which is usuallesidual value, which is usuallyyy zero.  zero.  zero. 

TTTThe lessor has not imposed any restrictions or conditions.hhhe e e lllessor essor essor hhhas not imas not imas not imppposeoseoseddd any restrictions or con any restrictions or con any restrictions or conddditionsitionsitions...

9. Intangible assets999. . . IIIntangible assetntangible assetntangible assetsss

9.1 Intangible assets in the year under review999.1 Intan.1 Intan.1 Intangggible assets in the year under reviewible assets in the year under reviewible assets in the year under review
1,000 CHF 111,000 CHF ,000 CHF ,000 CHF BusinessBusinBusinBusineeessssss OwnOwnOwnOwn  Trade- Tr Tr Traaadedede---  Total Tota Tota Totalll

 software s s soooftwarftwarftwareee ProductPPPrrroooducducducttt marksmamamarkrkrksss 07/080007/7/7/080808

devel-dddevelevelevel--- patents,pppatentsatentsatents,,,

opmentooopppmenmenmenttt otherooottthhhererer

CostCCCosososttt

As at 1.5.AAAs at 1.5.s at 1.5.s at 1.5. 1,1581,1,1,158158158 1,4821,1,1,484848222 75757575 2,7152,712,712,71555

AdditionsAAAdditidditidditiooonsnsns 514514514514 400444000000 36333666 950959595000

DisposalsDDDisposalsisposalsisposals – 9– – – 999 – 9– – – 999

Reclassifi cation / additionReclassiReclassiReclassifififi cation / addition cation / addition cation / additionfi cation / additionfififi cation / additionfi cation / additionfi cation / additionfififi cation / additionfi 171171717111 171111777111

Currency translationCCCurrency translatiourrency translatiourrency translationnn

differencesdifferencesdifferencesdifferences – 13– 1– 1– 1333 – 6––– 666 – 19––– 1 1 1999

As at 30.4. AAAsss at  at  at 3330.4. 0.4. 0.4. 1,650111,,,656565000 2,047222,,,040404777 111111111111 3,808333,,,808080888

Accumulated amortisationAccumulated amortisationAccumulated amortisationAccumulated amortisation

As at 1.5.AAAs at 1.5.s at 1.5.s at 1.5. – 464– 4– 4– 4666444 – 242– 242– 242– 242 – 3– – – 333 – 709––– 70 70 70999

AmortisationAAAmmmooortisatirtisatirtisationonon – 204– 2– 2– 2000444 – 236––– 2 2 2363636 – 5– – – 555 – 445––– 44 44 44555

DisposalsDDDisposalsisposalsisposals 9999 9999

Reclassifi cation / additionReclassiReclassiReclassifififi cation / addition cation / addition cation / additionfi cation / additionfififi cation / additionfi cation / additionfi cation / additionfififi cation / additionfi – 1– 1– 1– 1 – 171– 17– 17– 17111 – 172––– 17 17 17222

Currency translationCCCurrency translatiourrency translatiourrency translationnn

differencesdifferencesdifferencesdifferences 12121212 2222 14141414

As at 30.4. As at 30.4. As at 30.4. As at 30.4. – 648– 64– 64– 64888 – 647––– 64 64 64777 – 8––– 888 – 1,303––– 1 1 1,,,333000333

Net carrying values Net carrying values Net carrying values Net carrying values 

30.04.0830.04.030.04.030.04.0888 1,002111,00,00,00222 1,400111,,,444000000 103111030303 2,5052,502,502,50555

30.04.073330.04.070.04.070.04.07 694666949494 1,2401,1,1,240240240 72727272 2,0062,002,002,00666
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10. Income taxes1110. Income taxe0. Income taxe0. Income taxesss

10.1 Income taxes1110.1 0.1 0.1 IIIncomncomncomeee tax tax taxeeesss
Income taxes debited against the fi nancial statementsIIIncome taxes debited ancome taxes debited ancome taxes debited agggainst the fiainst the fiainst the fi nancial statement nancial statement nancial statementainst the fi nancial statementainst the fiainst the fiainst the fi nancial statementainst the fi nancial statementainst the fi nancial statementainst the fiainst the fiainst the fi nancial statementainst the fi sss
1,000 CHF 111,000 CHF ,000 CHF ,000 CHF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Current income tax expenditureCCCCurrent income tax exurrent income tax exurrent income tax expppenditurenditurenditureee 1,2661,261,261,26666 962962962962

Adjustments for income taxes relating toAdjustments for income taxes relating tAdjustments for income taxes relating tAdjustments for income taxes relating tooo

a different accounting periodaaa di di difffffferent accounting perioderent accounting perioderent accounting period – 41– 41– 41– 41 – 53– 5– 5– 5333

Deferred income tax expenditure / incomeDDDeeeffferred income tax expenditure / incomeerred income tax expenditure / incomeerred income tax expenditure / income – 322– – – 322322322 100100100100

Income taxes debited against fi nancial statementsIncome taxes debited against fiIncome taxes debited against fiIncome taxes debited against fi nancial statement nancial statement nancial statementIncome taxes debited against fi nancial statementIncome taxes debited against fiIncome taxes debited against fiIncome taxes debited against fi nancial statementIncome taxes debited against fi nancial statementIncome taxes debited against fi nancial statementIncome taxes debited against fiIncome taxes debited against fiIncome taxes debited against fi nancial statementIncome taxes debited against fi sss 903999000333 1,0091,1,1,009009009

Neither in the year under review nor the previous year wereNNNeither in the year under review nor the previous year wereeither in the year under review nor the previous year wereeither in the year under review nor the previous year were
income taxes debited or credited to share capital.iiincome taxes dencome taxes dencome taxes debbbited or credited to share caited or credited to share caited or credited to share capppital.ital.ital.

Reconciliation of the group’s effective tax rateRRReconciliation oeconciliation oeconciliation offf the group’s e the group’s e the group’s effffffective tax rateective tax rateective tax rate
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHF HF HF 07/08070707///000888 06/07060606///000777

Profi t before taxesPPPrororofififi t be t be t befi t befififi t befi t befi t befififi t befi fffore taxeore taxeore taxesss 3,6933,63,63,6999333 3,211333,21,21,21111

Expected income tax rateEEExpected income tax ratexpected income tax ratexpected income tax rate 30,3 %30,3 30,3 30,3 %%% 31,6 %31,6 %31,6 %31,6 %

Income taxes calculated usingIncome taxes calculated usingIncome taxes calculated usingIncome taxes calculated using

the theoretically applicable tax ratethe theoreticathe theoreticathe theoreticalllllly ay ay applpplpplicabicabicabllle tax rate tax rate tax rateee 1,1191,1,1,111111999 1,0131,1,1,010101333

Tax effect of tax-exempt incomeTTTax eax eax eTax eTTTax eTax eTax eTTTax eT ffffffect oect oect offf tax-exempt income tax-exempt income tax-exempt incomef tax-exempt incomefff tax-exempt incomef tax-exempt incomef tax-exempt incomefff tax-exempt incomef – 25––– 252525 – 37– 3– 3– 3777

Tax effect of non-tax-deductibleTTTax eax eax eTax eTTTax eTax eTax eTTTax eT ffffffect oect oect offf non-tax-deductible non-tax-deductible non-tax-deductiblef non-tax-deductiblefff non-tax-deductiblef non-tax-deductiblef non-tax-deductiblefff non-tax-deductiblef

expenditureseeexxxpppenditureenditureendituresss 71777111 90909090

Tax effect of income taxedTTTax effect ax effect ax effect Tax effect TTTax effect Tax effect Tax effect TTTax effect T ooof incf incf incooome taxeme taxeme taxeddd

at other ratesat otat otat othhher rateser rateser rates 27272727 76777666

Tax effect of non-refundableTTTax eax eax eTax eTTTax eTax eTax eTTTax eT ffffffect oect oect offf non-re non-re non-ref non-refff non-ref non-ref non-refff non-ref fffundablundablundableee

witholding taxeswwwitholdinitholdinitholdinggg taxe taxe taxesss 21212121 80888000

Value adjustments of deferred taxes capitalisedValue adValue adValue adjjjustments of deferred taxes capitaliseustments of deferred taxes capitaliseustments of deferred taxes capitaliseddd

to date on tax losses carried forwardtototo date  date  date ooon tax ln tax ln tax looosses carried fsses carried fsses carried fooorwarrwarrwarddd

or temporary discrepanciesooor temporary r temporary r temporary dddiscrepancieiscrepancieiscrepanciesss 0000 102111020202

Subsequent capitalisation of unreportedSSSubsequent capitalisation of unreporteubsequent capitalisation of unreporteubsequent capitalisation of unreporteddd

deferred taxes on tax losses carried deferred taxes deferred taxes deferred taxes ooon tax ln tax ln tax looosses carried sses carried sses carried 

forward or temporary discrepanciesffforward or temorward or temorward or temppporary discreorary discreorary discrepppancieancieanciesss – 261– 2– 2– 2616161 – 234––– 234234234

Expiry of tax losses carried forwardExExExpppiry of tax losses carried forwardiry of tax losses carried forwardiry of tax losses carried forward

on which deferred taxes wereooon which den which den which deffferred taxes wereerred taxes wereerred taxes were

capitalisedcapitalisedcapitalisedcapitalised 162111626262 299299299299

Tax losses in the current year for whichTTTax losses in the current year for whichax losses in the current year for whichax losses in the current year for whichTax losses in the current year for whichTTTax losses in the current year for whichTax losses in the current year for whichTax losses in the current year for whichTTTax losses in the current year for whichT

no deferred taxes are capitalisedno deferred taxes are cano deferred taxes are cano deferred taxes are capppitaliseitaliseitaliseddd – 210––– 21 21 21000 – 186– 1– 1– 1868686

Changes in the tax rateChanges in the tax ratChanges in the tax ratChanges in the tax rateee 33333333 – 112––– 112112112

Subsequent tax chargesSSSubsequent tax charubsequent tax charubsequent tax chargggeeesss

/tax relief for previous years/tax relief for /tax relief for /tax relief for ppprevious yearrevious yearrevious yearsss – 41––– 4 4 4111 – 53– 5– 5– 5333

OtherOOOthertherther 7777 – 29– – – 292929

TotalTTToooToTTToToToTTToT taltaltal 903903903903 1,009111,,,000000999

Effective income tax rateEEEffffffective income tax rateective income tax rateective income tax rate 24,5 %222444,,,5 5 5 %%% 31,4 %31,4 %31,4 %31,4 %

The anticipated income tax rate is a weighted average that takes TTThe anticipated income tax rate is a weihe anticipated income tax rate is a weihe anticipated income tax rate is a weiggghted averahted averahted averaggge that takes e that takes e that takes 
into account the probable rates at which profi ts of the individual into account the into account the into account the ppprobable rates at which robable rates at which robable rates at which ppprofi ts of the individual rofi ts of the individual rofi ts of the individual 
Group companies will be taxed in the respective tax jurisdictions.GGGroup companies will be taxed in the respective tax roup companies will be taxed in the respective tax roup companies will be taxed in the respective tax jjjurisdictions.urisdictions.urisdictions.

10.2 Composition of the deferred tax assets and liabilities1110.2 Composition of the deferred tax assets and liabilitie0.2 Composition of the deferred tax assets and liabilitie0.2 Composition of the deferred tax assets and liabilitiesss
Deferred tax assetsDeferred tax assetsDeferred tax assetsDeferred tax assets
1,000 CHF111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHFHFHF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Property, plant and equipmentPPProroroppperty, erty, erty, ppplant and elant and elant and eqqquiuiuipppmenmenmenttt 183181818333 0000

Other fi xed assetsOther fiOther fiOther fi xed assets xed assets xed assetsOther fi xed assetsOther fiOther fiOther fi xed assetsOther fi xed assetsOther fi xed assetsOther fiOther fiOther fi xed assetsOther fi 0000 232222323232

Current assetsCurrent Current Current aaassetssetssetsss 499444999999 422422422422

ProvisionsPPPrrrooovisivisivisiooonsnsns 276272727666 334334334334

PayablesPPPaaayyyaaabbblelelesss 96999666 115111111555

SubtotalSSSubtubtubtoootatatalll 1,054111,0,0,0555444 1,103111,,,101010333

thereof not recognizedttthereof not recohereof not recohereof not recogggnizenizenizeddd 0000 – 129– 1– 1– 1292929

Losses carried forward / Tax creditsLoLoLosses carried fsses carried fsses carried fooorward / rward / rward / Tax creditTax creditTax creditrward / Tax creditrward / rward / rward / Tax creditrward / Tax creditrward / Tax creditrward / rward / rward / Tax creditrward / sss 669666666999 463464646333

Total deferred tax assetsTotal dTotal dTotal defeefeeferrrrrreeed tax assd tax assd tax asseeetttsss 1,723111,,,727272333 1,437111,,,434343777

Deferred tax liabilitiesDeDeDeffferred tax liabilitieserred tax liabilitieserred tax liabilities
1,000 CHF1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHFHFHF 07/08000777///080808 06/07060606///000777

Other fi xed assetsOther fiOther fiOther fi xed assets xed assets xed assetsOther fi xed assetsOther fiOther fiOther fi xed assetsOther fi xed assetsOther fi xed assetsOther fiOther fiOther fi xed assetsOther fi 22222222 0000

Current assetsCurrent Current Current aaassetssetssetsss 416444111666 399393939999

ProvisionsPPPrrrooovisivisivisiooonsnsns 33333333 0000

LiabilitiesLLLiaiaiabbbilitiesilitiesilities 16111666 17171717

Total deferred tax liabilitiesTotal dTotal dTotal defeefeeferrrrrreeed tax liabilitid tax liabilitid tax liabilitieseses 487484848777 416414141666

of which recognized in the balance sheet as:ooof which recof which recof which recogggnized in the balance sheet asnized in the balance sheet asnized in the balance sheet as:::

Deferred tax liabilitiesDDDeferred tax liabilitieeferred tax liabilitieeferred tax liabilitiesss – 487– 4– 4– 4888777 – 416– 41– 41– 41666

Deferred tax assetsDDDeferred tax assetseferred tax assetseferred tax assets 1,723111,,,727272333 1,437111,,,434343777

Net deferred tax assetsNNNeeet dt dt defeefeeferrrrrreeed tax assd tax assd tax asseeetttsss 1,236111,236,236,236 1,0211,0211,0211,021

It is not expected that distributions by the Group and affi liatedIt is not expected that distributions by the It is not expected that distributions by the It is not expected that distributions by the GGGroup and aroup and aroup and affiffiffi liated liated liatedffi liatedffiffiffi liatedffi liatedffi liatedffiffiffi liatedffi
companies will generate appreciable additional tax liabilities. The companies will generate appreciable additional tax liabilities. The companies will generate appreciable additional tax liabilities. The companies will generate appreciable additional tax liabilities. The 
Infranor Group does not make provision for taxes on possible Infranor GrouInfranor GrouInfranor Grouppp does not make  does not make  does not make ppprovision for taxes on rovision for taxes on rovision for taxes on pppossible ossible ossible 
future distributions of profi ts retained by Group companies asfuture distributions of future distributions of future distributions of ppprofi ts retained by Grourofi ts retained by Grourofi ts retained by Grouppp com com compppanies asanies asanies as
these amounts are treated as permanently reinvested.ttthese amounts are treated as hese amounts are treated as hese amounts are treated as pppermanently reinvested.ermanently reinvested.ermanently reinvested.

10.3 Tax losses and tax credits brought forward1110.3 Tax losses and tax credits brou0.3 Tax losses and tax credits brou0.3 Tax losses and tax credits brouggght ht ht ffforwarorwarorwarddd

As of April 30, 2008, individual subsidiaries had brought forward As of April 30, 2008, individual subsidiaries had brouAs of April 30, 2008, individual subsidiaries had brouAs of April 30, 2008, individual subsidiaries had brouggght forward ht forward ht forward 
off-balance sheet tax losses totalling 10.04 million CHF (restated oooff-balance sheet tax losses totallinff-balance sheet tax losses totallinff-balance sheet tax losses totallinggg 10.04 million CHF (restated  10.04 million CHF (restated  10.04 million CHF (restated 
previous year: 9.58 million CHF) that can be set off against previous year: 9.58 million CHFprevious year: 9.58 million CHFprevious year: 9.58 million CHF))) that can be set off against  that can be set off against  that can be set off against 
taxable earnings in future fi nancial years. In this respect, deferredtttaxable earnings in axable earnings in axable earnings in fffuture uture uture fififi nancial years. In this respect, de nancial years. In this respect, de nancial years. In this respect, defi nancial years. In this respect, defififi nancial years. In this respect, defi nancial years. In this respect, defi nancial years. In this respect, defififi nancial years. In this respect, defi ffferrederrederred
tax assets are taken into account only insofar as it is probable tttax assets are taken into account only insofar as it is ax assets are taken into account only insofar as it is ax assets are taken into account only insofar as it is ppprobable robable robable 
that the associated tax credits can be realised. ttthat the associated tax credits can hat the associated tax credits can hat the associated tax credits can bbbe realised. e realised. e realised. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

These will expire on the following dates:These will expire on the followinThese will expire on the followinThese will expire on the followinggg dates: dates: dates:

Tax losses / tax credits for which no deferred taxes are capitalisedTTTax losses / tax credits ax losses / tax credits ax losses / tax credits Tax losses / tax credits TTTax losses / tax credits Tax losses / tax credits Tax losses / tax credits TTTax losses / tax credits T fffor which no deor which no deor which no deffferred taxes are caerred taxes are caerred taxes are capppitaliseditaliseditalised
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHF HF HF 07/08070707///000888 06/07000666///070707

Expire in 1 yearEEExpire in 1 yeaxpire in 1 yeaxpire in 1 yearrr 312333111222 0000

Expire in 2 – 3 yearsEEExpire in 2 – 3 yearsxpire in 2 – 3 yearsxpire in 2 – 3 years 680666808080 727777222777

Expire in 4 – 7 yearsEEExxxpppire in 4 – 7 yearsire in 4 – 7 yearsire in 4 – 7 years 727727727727 276276276276

Expire in more than 7 yearsEEExxxpppire in more than 7 yearsire in more than 7 yearsire in more than 7 years 2,721222,,,727272111 2,274222,,,274274274

ImprescriptibleIIImprescriptiblmprescriptiblmprescriptibleee 5,5975,5,5,597597597 6,2996,2996,2996,299

TotalTotalTotalTotal 10,0371110,0370,0370,037 9,576999,57,57,57666

11. Financial liabilities1111. Financia1. Financia1. Financialll llliabiiabiiabilllitiitiitieseses

11.1 Current fi nancial liabilities1111.1 Current fi1.1 Current fi1.1 Current fi nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie nancial liabilitie1.1 Current fi nancial liabilitie1.1 Current fi1.1 Current fi1.1 Current fi nancial liabilitie1.1 Current fi nancial liabilitie1.1 Current fi nancial liabilitie1.1 Current fi1.1 Current fi1.1 Current fi nancial liabilitie1.1 Current fi sss
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHF HF HF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

Banks overdraftsBanks overdraBanks overdraBanks overdraffftttftffftftftffftf sss 2,409222,,,444090909 2,697222,,,696969777

Bank loans, falling due within one yearBank loans, Bank loans, Bank loans, fffallinallinallinggg due within one yea due within one yea due within one yearrr 2,216222,,,222111666 3,069333,,,069069069

Total current liabilities due to banksTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll current  current  current llliabiiabiiabilllities due to banities due to banities due to banksksks 4,6254,6254,6254,625 5,766555,7,7,7666666

Liabilities fromLLLiabilities friabilities friabilities frooommm

derivative fi nancial instrumentsddderivative fierivative fierivative fi nancial instruments nancial instruments nancial instrumentserivative fi nancial instrumentserivative fierivative fierivative fi nancial instrumentserivative fi nancial instrumentserivative fi nancial instrumentserivative fierivative fierivative fi nancial instrumentserivative fi 2222 0000

Loans from government institutionsLLLoans oans oans fffrom government institutionrom government institutionrom government institutionsss 129111292929 116111111666

Obligations under fi nance leases,ObliObliObligggations under fiations under fiations under fi nance leases, nance leases, nance leases,ations under fi nance leases,ations under fiations under fiations under fi nance leases,ations under fi nance leases,ations under fi nance leases,ations under fiations under fiations under fi nance leases,ations under fi

falling due within one yearfffallinallinallinggg due within one yea due within one yea due within one yearrr 373373737333 272272272272

Total current interest-bearing liabilitiesTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll current interest-bearin current interest-bearin current interest-bearinggg llliabiiabiiabilllitiesitiesities 5,1295,5,5,121212999 6,154666,,,151515444

The reduction in fi nancial liabilities can be attributed to increasedThe reduction in fi nancial liabilities can be attributed to increasedThe reduction in fi nancial liabilities can be attributed to increasedThe reduction in fi nancial liabilities can be attributed to increased
internal fi nancing (cash fl ow and use of liquidity).iiinternal fi nancing (cash fl ow and use of liquidity).nternal fi nancing (cash fl ow and use of liquidity).nternal fi nancing (cash fl ow and use of liquidity).

Current liabilities due to banks by currency with average interestCCCurrent liabilities due to banks by currency with averaurrent liabilities due to banks by currency with averaurrent liabilities due to banks by currency with averaggge intereste intereste interest
ratesrrratatateeesss
1,000 CHF 111,000 CHF ,000 CHF ,000 CHF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 EffectiveEEEffffffeeectivctivctiveee 30.04.07333000...0004.4.4.000777 EffectiveEEEffeffeffectivctivctiveee

interestiiinterestnterestnterest interestiiinteresnteresnteresttt

ratesrararattteseses ratesratesratesrates

CHFCCCHHHFFF 1,4941,1,1,494949444 4,81 %444,,,81 81 81 %%% 1,7821,71,71,7888222 4,69 %444,69 %,69 %,69 %

EUREUREUREUR 3,049333,04,04,04999 6,17 %6,17 6,17 6,17 %%% 3,8433,843,843,84333 4,55 %444,55 %,55 %,55 %

USDUSUSUSDDD 82888222 5,85 %5,85 5,85 5,85 %%% 0000 n / annn///aaa

GBPGBGBGBPPP 0000 n / an n n ///aaa 141141141141 8,00 %888,,,00 00 00 %%%

TotalTTToooToTTToToToTTToT taltaltal 4,625444,625,625,625 5,72 %555,,,72 72 72 %%% 5,766555,,,766766766 4,48 %4,4,4,48 48 48 %%%

The following loan covenants have been agreed to with the lead-The following loan covenants have been agreed to with the leadThe following loan covenants have been agreed to with the leadThe following loan covenants have been agreed to with the lead---
ing banks CREDIT SUISSE and Zurich Cantonal Bank, including aiiing banks CREDIT ng banks CREDIT ng banks CREDIT SSSUIUIUISSSSSSE and Zurich Cantonal Bank, including aE and Zurich Cantonal Bank, including aE and Zurich Cantonal Bank, including a
pari passu clause pertaining to all Swiss banks:pari passu clause pertaining to all Swiss banks:pari passu clause pertaining to all Swiss banks:pari passu clause pertaining to all Swiss banks:

Equity ratio of at least 40 percent EqEqEquity ratio of at least 40 uity ratio of at least 40 uity ratio of at least 40 pppercent ercent ercent 
(shareholders’ equity + subordinated borrowings – intangible (shareholders’ equity + subordinated borrowings – intangible (shareholders’ equity + subordinated borrowings – intangible (shareholders’ equity + subordinated borrowings – intangible 
assets) / (balance sheet total – intangible assets). The calculationaaassetsssetsssets))) /  /  / (((balance sheet total – intangible assetsbalance sheet total – intangible assetsbalance sheet total – intangible assets))). The calculation. The calculation. The calculation
takes place at quarterly intervals.takes place at quarterly intervalstakes place at quarterly intervalstakes place at quarterly intervals...

– – – – ––––

Interest coverage factor at least 4.0 x:Interest coveraInterest coveraInterest coveraggge factor at least 4.0 x:e factor at least 4.0 x:e factor at least 4.0 x:
EBIT for the previous 4 quarters / (gross interest on senior debt EEEBIT for the previous 4 quarters / (gross interest on senior debt BIT for the previous 4 quarters / (gross interest on senior debt BIT for the previous 4 quarters / (gross interest on senior debt 
for the previous 4 quarters) without interest expense on subordi-for the previous 4 quartersfor the previous 4 quartersfor the previous 4 quarters))) without interest expense on subordi- without interest expense on subordi- without interest expense on subordi-
nated borrowings for the previous 4 quarters. The calculation nated borrowinnated borrowinnated borrowingggs s s fffor the previous 4 quarters. The calculation or the previous 4 quarters. The calculation or the previous 4 quarters. The calculation 
takes place at quarterly intervals. tttakes akes akes ppplace at lace at lace at qqquarterly intervals. uarterly intervals. uarterly intervals. 

Senior indebtedness factor of 2.0 x: SSSenior indebtedness factor of 2.0 x: enior indebtedness factor of 2.0 x: enior indebtedness factor of 2.0 x: 
(current fi nancial liabilities + long-term bank liabilities + other (((current fi nancial liabilities + long-term bank liabilities + other current fi nancial liabilities + long-term bank liabilities + other current fi nancial liabilities + long-term bank liabilities + other 
long-term fi nancial liabilities [without subordinated borrowings]lonlonlonggg-term fi-term fi-term fi nancial liabilities  nancial liabilities  nancial liabilities -term fi nancial liabilities -term fi-term fi-term fi nancial liabilities -term fi nancial liabilities -term fi nancial liabilities -term fi-term fi-term fi nancial liabilities -term fi [[[without subordinated borrowinwithout subordinated borrowinwithout subordinated borrowingggsss]]]
– cash or cash equivalents) / EBITDA for the previous 4 quarters. – cash or cash e– cash or cash e– cash or cash eqqquivalents) / EBITDA for the uivalents) / EBITDA for the uivalents) / EBITDA for the ppprevious 4 revious 4 revious 4 qqquarters. uarters. uarters. 
The calculation takes place at quarterly intervals.TTThe calculation tahe calculation tahe calculation takkkes es es ppplace at lace at lace at qqquarterly intervals.uarterly intervals.uarterly intervals.

The loans are not available for any active loans made by the TTThe loans are not available he loans are not available he loans are not available fffor anor anor anyyy active loans made b active loans made b active loans made byyy the  the  the 
Infranor Group to the Perrot Duval Group.InInInfffranor ranor ranor GGGroup to the Perrot Duval roup to the Perrot Duval roup to the Perrot Duval GGGroup.roup.roup.

As of April 30, 2008, the applicable covenants had been compliedAs of AAs of AAs of Apppril 30, 2008, the aril 30, 2008, the aril 30, 2008, the apppppplicable covenants had been comlicable covenants had been comlicable covenants had been compppliedliedlied
with in full. All Swiss banks have received a joint security from wwwith in full. All ith in full. All ith in full. All SSSwiss banks have received a wiss banks have received a wiss banks have received a jjjoint security from oint security from oint security from 
Infranor Inter AG to the amount of the said credit limit.InInInfffranranranooor Inter Ar Inter Ar Inter AGGG t t tooo the am the am the amooount unt unt ofofof the said credit limit. the said credit limit. the said credit limit.of the said credit limit.ofofof the said credit limit.of the said credit limit.of the said credit limit.ofofof the said credit limit.of

Loan agreements with foreign banks are on the basis of assign-LLLoan aoan aoan agggreements with foreireements with foreireements with foreigggn banks are on the basis of assin banks are on the basis of assin banks are on the basis of assigggn-n-n-
ments of individual accounts receivable and of unsecured loans mmments of individual accounts receivable and of unsecured loans ents of individual accounts receivable and of unsecured loans ents of individual accounts receivable and of unsecured loans 
guaranteed by Infranor Inter Ltd.guaranteed by Infranor Inter Ltdguaranteed by Infranor Inter Ltdguaranteed by Infranor Inter Ltd...

11.2 Non-current fi nancial liabilities1111.2 Non-curr1.2 Non-curr1.2 Non-curreeent nt nt fififi nancial liabiliti nancial liabiliti nancial liabilitifi nancial liabilitifififi nancial liabilitifi nancial liabilitifi nancial liabilitifififi nancial liabilitifi eseses
1,000 CHF1,1,1,000 CHF000 CHF000 CHF 30.04.083330.04.080.04.080.04.08 30.04.0730.04.030.04.030.04.0777

Long-term bank loans (1 – 5 years)LLLonononggg-term bank loans (1 – 5 years-term bank loans (1 – 5 years-term bank loans (1 – 5 years))) 0000 66666666

Total long-term bank liabilitiesTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll lllong-term banong-term banong-term bankkk llliabiiabiiabilllitiesitiesities 0000 66666666

Loans from government institutions (1 – 5 years)LLLoans from government institutions (1 – 5 yearsoans from government institutions (1 – 5 yearsoans from government institutions (1 – 5 years))) 146141414666 281282828111

Obligations under fi nance leases (1 – 5 years)Obligations under fiObligations under fiObligations under fi nance leases  nance leases  nance leases Obligations under fi nance leases Obligations under fiObligations under fiObligations under fi nance leases Obligations under fi nance leases Obligations under fi nance leases Obligations under fiObligations under fiObligations under fi nance leases Obligations under fi (((1 – 5 years1 – 5 years1 – 5 years))) 977999777777 804804804804

Total long-term interest-bearing liabilitiesTotal long-term interest-bearing liabilitieTotal long-term interest-bearing liabilitieTotal long-term interest-bearing liabilitiesss 1,1231,11,11,1232323 1,151111,,,151151151

For information on covenants, please refer to Note 11.1. The FFFor inor inor inffformation on covenants, please reormation on covenants, please reormation on covenants, please refffer to Note 11.1. The er to Note 11.1. The er to Note 11.1. The 
effective interest rate on the long-term bank liabilities in euros for effective interest rate on the loneffective interest rate on the loneffective interest rate on the loneffective interest rate on the longgg-term bank liabilities in euros for -term bank liabilities in euros for -term bank liabilities in euros for 
the countervalue of 0.06 million CHF was 4.30 percent in thethe countervalue of 0.06 million CHF was 4.30 the countervalue of 0.06 million CHF was 4.30 the countervalue of 0.06 million CHF was 4.30 pppercent in theercent in theercent in the
previous year.ppprevrevreviiious year.ous year.ous year.
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Obligations from fi nance leasingOOObligations from fibligations from fibligations from fi nance leasin nance leasin nance leasinbligations from fi nance leasinbligations from fibligations from fibligations from fi nance leasinbligations from fi nance leasinbligations from fi nance leasinbligations from fibligations from fibligations from fi nance leasinbligations from fi ggg
1,000 CHF 111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHF HF HF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

(nominal), due for payment:(((nominalnominalnominal))), due for , due for , due for pppayment:ayment:ayment:

– in one year– – – iiin one n one n one yyyeaeaearrr 423423423423 308303030888

– in 2 – 5 years– – – iiin 2 – 5 yearsn 2 – 5 yearsn 2 – 5 years 1,0351,0351,0351,035 867888676767

Total nominal valueTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll nomina nomina nominalll va va vallluuueee 1,4581,451,451,45888 1,175111,,,175175175

./. future fi nancial expenses./. future fi./. future fi./. future fi nancial ex nancial ex nancial ex./. future fi nancial ex./. future fi./. future fi./. future fi nancial ex./. future fi nancial ex./. future fi nancial ex./. future fi./. future fi./. future fi nancial ex./. future fi pppensesensesenses – 108––– 10 10 10888 – 99– – – 999999

Total cash value of minimum leasing obligationsTotal cash value oTotal cash value oTotal cash value offf minimum leasin minimum leasin minimum leasinggg obli obli obligggationsationsations 1,350111,,,353535000 1,0761,1,1,070707666

Balancing according to due date:BaBaBalllancing according to due date:ancing according to due date:ancing according to due date:

 – up to one year (in short-term – u – u – uppp to one year (in short-term to one year (in short-term to one year (in short-term

interest-bearing liabilities)iiinterest-bearing liabilitiesnterest-bearing liabilitiesnterest-bearing liabilities))) 373373737333 272272272272

– 2 – 5 years (in long-term– 2 – 5 years – 2 – 5 years – 2 – 5 years (((in long-termin long-termin long-term

interest-bearing liabilities)iiinterest-bearinnterest-bearinnterest-bearinggg liabilities liabilities liabilities))) 977999777777 804808080444

Total cash value of minimum leasing obligationsTotal cash value of minimum leasing obligationsTotal cash value of minimum leasing obligationsTotal cash value of minimum leasing obligations 1,3501,351,351,35000 1,0761,01,01,0777666

The obligations under fi nance leases contain mainly the factory The obliThe obliThe obligggations under fi nance leases contain mainly the factory ations under fi nance leases contain mainly the factory ations under fi nance leases contain mainly the factory 
plant of Infranor Electronics SAS in Lourdes and the productionppplant of Infranor Electronics SAS in Lourdes and the lant of Infranor Electronics SAS in Lourdes and the lant of Infranor Electronics SAS in Lourdes and the ppproductionroductionroduction
machinery of Mavilor Motors SA in Barcelona. mmmachinery of Mavilor Motors achinery of Mavilor Motors achinery of Mavilor Motors SSSA in Barcelona. A in Barcelona. A in Barcelona. 

11.3 Subordinated convertible bond1111.3 1.3 1.3 SSSubordinatubordinatubordinateeed convd convd conveeertiblrtiblrtibleee bond bond bond
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 CHF 000 CHF 000 CHF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.0730.04.030.04.030.04.0777

Par value of subordinated convertible bond PPPar value ar value ar value ooof subf subf subooordinated crdinated crdinated cooonvertible bnvertible bnvertible booond nd nd 

at issue dateaaat issue datet issue datet issue date 9,0009,9,9,000000000 9,000999,,,000000000

./. Share of equity portion./. ./. ./. SSShare of ehare of ehare of eqqquity uity uity ppportionortionortion – 33––– 333333 – 123– 12– 12– 12333

./. Share of transaction costs./. Share of transaction cost./. Share of transaction cost./. Share of transaction costsss – 18– 1– 1– 1888 – 96– – – 969696

Fair value Fair value Fair value Fair value 8,949888,94,94,94999 8,781888,78,78,78111

./. Cumulative bonds converted./. ./. ./. CCCumulative bumulative bumulative booonds cnds cnds cooonvertednvertednverted – 5,620– 5,62– 5,62– 5,62000 – 317– – – 333111777

Carrying value CCCarryinarryinarryinggg value  value  value 3,3293,3,3,323232999 8,4648,8,8,464646444

On December 18, 2002, the shareholders of Infranor Inter AG OOOn December 18, 2002, the shareholders of Infranor Inter AG n December 18, 2002, the shareholders of Infranor Inter AG n December 18, 2002, the shareholders of Infranor Inter AG 
subscribed to a subordinated, seven-year convertible bond forsssubscribed to a subordinated, seven-year convertible bond foubscribed to a subordinated, seven-year convertible bond foubscribed to a subordinated, seven-year convertible bond forrr
a total amount of CHF 9 million. The bond carries a coupon ofa total amount oa total amount oa total amount offf CHF 9 million. The bond carries a coupon o CHF 9 million. The bond carries a coupon o CHF 9 million. The bond carries a coupon of CHF 9 million. The bond carries a coupon offf CHF 9 million. The bond carries a coupon of CHF 9 million. The bond carries a coupon of CHF 9 million. The bond carries a coupon offf CHF 9 million. The bond carries a coupon of fff
5 percent. Bondholders are entitled to convert four bonds, each 5 percent. Bondholders are entitled to convert 5 percent. Bondholders are entitled to convert 5 percent. Bondholders are entitled to convert fffour bonds, each our bonds, each our bonds, each 
with a par value of 10 CHF, into one new Infranor Inter AG bearer with a with a with a pppar value of 10 CHF, into one new Infranor Inter AG bearer ar value of 10 CHF, into one new Infranor Inter AG bearer ar value of 10 CHF, into one new Infranor Inter AG bearer 
share with a par value of 20 CHF, between June 16, 2003, and ssshare with a hare with a hare with a pppar value of 20 CHF, between June 16, 2003, and ar value of 20 CHF, between June 16, 2003, and ar value of 20 CHF, between June 16, 2003, and 
December 11, 2009. DDDecember 11ecember 11ecember 11,,, 2009.  2009.  2009. 

After 5 years, i. e. from December 18, 2007, the issuer may repay AAAfffter 5 years, i. e. ter 5 years, i. e. ter 5 years, i. e. fter 5 years, i. e. fffter 5 years, i. e. fter 5 years, i. e. fter 5 years, i. e. fffter 5 years, i. e. f fffrom December 18, 2007, the issuer may repay rom December 18, 2007, the issuer may repay rom December 18, 2007, the issuer may repay 
the bond at any time prior to maturity at par plus accrued interest, the the the bbbond at any time ond at any time ond at any time ppprior to maturity at rior to maturity at rior to maturity at pppar ar ar ppplus accrued interest, lus accrued interest, lus accrued interest, 
provided the issuer observes a notice period of 30 calendar daysppprovided the issuer observes a notice rovided the issuer observes a notice rovided the issuer observes a notice ppperiod of 30 calendar dayseriod of 30 calendar dayseriod of 30 calendar days
(hard call). (((hard callhard callhard call))). . . 

After June 16, 2003, the issuer may repay the bond at any time AAAfffter June 16, 2003, the issuer may repay the bond at any time ter June 16, 2003, the issuer may repay the bond at any time ter June 16, 2003, the issuer may repay the bond at any time fter June 16, 2003, the issuer may repay the bond at any time fffter June 16, 2003, the issuer may repay the bond at any time fter June 16, 2003, the issuer may repay the bond at any time fter June 16, 2003, the issuer may repay the bond at any time fffter June 16, 2003, the issuer may repay the bond at any time f
prior to its maturity, at par plus accrued interest, provided a ppprior to its maturity, at rior to its maturity, at rior to its maturity, at pppar ar ar plplplus accrueus accrueus accrueddd interest,  interest,  interest, ppprovirovirovidddeeeddd a  a  a 
notice period of 30 calendar days is observed, and provided there notice notice notice ppperiod of 30 calendar days is observed, and eriod of 30 calendar days is observed, and eriod of 30 calendar days is observed, and ppprovided there rovided there rovided there 
is at least one transaction in the issuer’s shares on the SWX iiis at least s at least s at least ooone transactine transactine transactiooon in the issuer’s shares n in the issuer’s shares n in the issuer’s shares ooon the n the n the SSSWX WX WX 
Swiss Exchange on at least 45 out of 90 trading days after JuneSwiss Exchange on at least 45 out of 90 trading days after JuneSwiss Exchange on at least 45 out of 90 trading days after JuneSwiss Exchange on at least 45 out of 90 trading days after June
16, 2003, and the closing price on at least 45 of these 90 trading16, 2003, and the closin16, 2003, and the closin16, 2003, and the closinggg price on at least 45 of these 90 tradin price on at least 45 of these 90 tradin price on at least 45 of these 90 tradinggg
days is at least 80.00 CHF or twice the conversion price. Noticedays is at least 80.00 CHF or twice the conversion days is at least 80.00 CHF or twice the conversion days is at least 80.00 CHF or twice the conversion ppprice. Noticerice. Noticerice. Notice
must be given within the 20 trading days directly following the mmmust be given within the 20 trading days directly following the ust be given within the 20 trading days directly following the ust be given within the 20 trading days directly following the 
aforementioned time period of 90 trading days (soft call). aforementioned time period of 90 trading days aforementioned time period of 90 trading days aforementioned time period of 90 trading days (((soft callsoft callsoft call))). . . 

The subordinated convertible bond launched on December 18, TTThe suhe suhe subbbordinated convertiordinated convertiordinated convertibbble le le bbbond launched on ond launched on ond launched on DDDecemecemecembbber 18, er 18, er 18, 
2002, was used to pay down liabilities due to banks in the 2002, was used to 2002, was used to 2002, was used to pppay down liabilities due to banay down liabilities due to banay down liabilities due to bankkks in the s in the s in the 
amount of CHF 7.39 million CHF in the 2002/03 business year.amount oamount oamount offf CHF 7.39 million CHF in the 2002/03 business year CHF 7.39 million CHF in the 2002/03 business year CHF 7.39 million CHF in the 2002/03 business yearf CHF 7.39 million CHF in the 2002/03 business yearfff CHF 7.39 million CHF in the 2002/03 business yearf CHF 7.39 million CHF in the 2002/03 business yearf CHF 7.39 million CHF in the 2002/03 business yearfff CHF 7.39 million CHF in the 2002/03 business yearf ...

11.4 Subordinated “CDO PULS1”,1111.4 Subordinated “CDO PULS1”,1.4 Subordinated “CDO PULS1”,1.4 Subordinated “CDO PULS1”,
1,000 CHF111,000 CHF,000 CHF,000 CHF 30.04.083330.04.080.04.080.04.08 30.04.07333000...0004.4.4.070707

Par value of subordinated CDOPPPar value ar value ar value ooof subf subf subooordinated CDrdinated CDrdinated CDOOO

2006 – 13 at issue date2006 – 13 at issue 2006 – 13 at issue 2006 – 13 at issue dddateateate 8,300888,,,303030000 8,3008,8,8,300300300

./. Share of transaction costs./. Share of transaction cost./. Share of transaction cost./. Share of transaction costsss – 164– 1– 1– 1646464 – 195– 1– 1– 1959595

Book valueBook valueBook valueBook value 8,136888,13,13,13666 8,1058,108,108,10555

The subordinated CDO holder is introduced on page 44. The termTTThe subordinated CDhe subordinated CDhe subordinated CDOOO holder is introduced on page 44. The term holder is introduced on page 44. The term holder is introduced on page 44. The term
is from July 25, 2006, to July 13, 2013.is from Julis from Julis from Julyyy 25, 2006, to Jul 25, 2006, to Jul 25, 2006, to Julyyy 13, 2013 13, 2013 13, 2013...

The nominal interest rate is fi xed at 7.26 percent for the entire TTThe nominal interest rate is fi xed at 7.26 he nominal interest rate is fi xed at 7.26 he nominal interest rate is fi xed at 7.26 pppercent for the entire ercent for the entire ercent for the entire 
period, and the effective rate is at 7.75 percent. The coupon date period, and the eperiod, and the eperiod, and the effffffective rate is at 7.75 percent. The coupon date ective rate is at 7.75 percent. The coupon date ective rate is at 7.75 percent. The coupon date 
is every quarter.is every quarteris every quarteris every quarter...

The agreed covenants for the CDO are as follows:TTThe ahe ahe agggreed covenants for the CDreed covenants for the CDreed covenants for the CDOOO are as follows: are as follows: are as follows:

Level of debt less than 250 percent (Ratio of: a) total liabilitiesLLLevel of debt less than 250 evel of debt less than 250 evel of debt less than 250 pppercent (Ratio of: a) total liabilitiesercent (Ratio of: a) total liabilitiesercent (Ratio of: a) total liabilities
disregarding the total par value of the CDO but plus other subor-disregarding the total par value of the CDO but plus other subor-disregarding the total par value of the CDO but plus other subor-disregarding the total par value of the CDO but plus other subor-
dinated debt instruments, and b) shareholders’ equity taking the dinated debt instruments, and bdinated debt instruments, and bdinated debt instruments, and b))) shareholders’ equity takin shareholders’ equity takin shareholders’ equity takinggg the  the  the 
CDO into account.)CDO into account.)CDO into account.)CDO into account.)

Interest coverage of more than 100 percent (ratio EBITDA/net Interest coverage of more than 100 percent (ratio EBITDA/net Interest coverage of more than 100 percent (ratio EBITDA/net Interest coverage of more than 100 percent (ratio EBITDA/net 
fi nancing costs)fififi nancing costs nancing costs nancing costsfi nancing costsfififi nancing costsfi nancing costsfi nancing costsfififi nancing costsfi )))

As of April 30, 2008, the applicable covenants had been compliedAs of AAs of AAs of Apppril 30, 2008, the aril 30, 2008, the aril 30, 2008, the apppppplicable covenants had been comlicable covenants had been comlicable covenants had been compppliedliedlied
with in full. The borrower is Infranor Holding SA, the subholding wwwith in full. The borrower is Infranor Holdinith in full. The borrower is Infranor Holdinith in full. The borrower is Infranor Holdinggg SA, the subholdin SA, the subholdin SA, the subholdinggg
for the Infranor Division. Infranor Inter AG has issued a joint for the Infranor Division. Infranor Inter AG has issued a for the Infranor Division. Infranor Inter AG has issued a for the Infranor Division. Infranor Inter AG has issued a jjjoint oint oint 
security for the amount of the collateralised debt obligation in security security security fffor the amount oor the amount oor the amount offf the collateralised debt obligation in  the collateralised debt obligation in  the collateralised debt obligation in f the collateralised debt obligation in fff the collateralised debt obligation in f the collateralised debt obligation in f the collateralised debt obligation in fff the collateralised debt obligation in f
favour of the lender. fffavavavooour ur ur ofofof the lender.  the lender.  the lender. of the lender. ofofof the lender. of the lender. of the lender. ofofof the lender. of

12. Trade accounts payable by currency1112. Trade accounts 2. Trade accounts 2. Trade accounts pppayable by currencayable by currencayable by currencyyy
1,000 CHF111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHHHFFF 30.04.0830.04.030.04.030.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

CHFCHFCHFCHF 1,935111,,,935935935 1,900111,,,900900900

EUREEEURURUR 4,7704,4,4,777777000 3,3193,313,313,31999

USDUSUSUSDDD 102101010222 2,5772,572,572,57777

CNYCCCNYNYNY 273222777333 643666444333

Total trade accounts TTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll trad trad tradeee accounts  accounts  accounts 

payablepppayableayableayable 7,080777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7080808000 8,4398,8,8,434343999

13. Other current liabilities1113. Other current liabilities3. Other current liabilities3. Other current liabilities
1,000 CHF1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHFHFHF 30.04.0830.04.0830.04.0830.04.08 30.04.073330.04.00.04.00.04.0777

Other liabilitiesOther liabilitieOther liabilitieOther liabilitiesss 414414414414 663663663663

CommissionsCoCoCoCommissimmissimmissiooonnnsss 389333888999 187187187187

Subtotal fi nancial instrumentsSubtotal fiSubtotal fiSubtotal fi nancial instruments nancial instruments nancial instrumentsSubtotal fi nancial instrumentsSubtotal fiSubtotal fiSubtotal fi nancial instrumentsSubtotal fi nancial instrumentsSubtotal fi nancial instrumentsSubtotal fiSubtotal fiSubtotal fi nancial instrumentsSubtotal fi 803888000333 850888505050

Customers’ prepaymentsCustomers’ Customers’ Customers’ ppprererepppaymentsaymentsayments 117117117117 21212121

TotalTotalTotalTotal 920999222000 871888717171

––––––––
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As in the previous year, there were no other liabilities to related AAAs in the s in the s in the ppprevious year, there were no other liarevious year, there were no other liarevious year, there were no other liabbbilities to related ilities to related ilities to related 
companiescomcomcompppanananiiieeesss

14. Accruals and deferred income1114. Accruals and d4. Accruals and d4. Accruals and defeefeeferrrrrreeed incomd incomd incomeee
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 CHF 000 CHF 000 CHF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.0730.04.030.04.030.04.0777

Personnel costs cash-fl ow  relevantPPPersersersooonnel cnnel cnnel cooosts cash-fl sts cash-fl sts cash-fl ooow  relevantw  relevantw  relevant 2,9442,942,942,94444 2,4072,42,42,4070707

Cost of materials / overheadCCCooost st st ooof materials / f materials / f materials / oooverheaverheaverheaddd 1,641111,,,646464111 1,0611,1,1,060606111

InterestIIInteresnteresnteresttt 109109109109 190111909090

Subtotal fi nancial instrumentsSSSubtotal ubtotal ubtotal fififi nancial instrum nancial instrum nancial instrumfi nancial instrumfififi nancial instrumfi nancial instrumfi nancial instrumfififi nancial instrumfi eeentsntsnts 4,694444,6,6,6999444 3,658333,65,65,65888

Personnel costsPPPersersersooonnel cnnel cnnel cooostsstssts

not cash-fl ow relevantnnnooot cash-fl t cash-fl t cash-fl ooow relevantw relevantw relevant 427427427427 317333111777

TotalToToTotatatalll 5,1215,5,5,121212111 3,9753,93,93,9777555

15. Short-term provisions1115. Short-term 5. Short-term 5. Short-term ppprovisionrovisionrovisionsss
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHF HF HF Warran-WWWaaarrrrrraaan-n-n- LegalLeLeLegggaaalll Restruc-RRRestruc-estruc-estruc- TotalToToTotatatalll TotalToToTotaltaltal

tiestttiesiesies casescccaseaseasesss turingturinturinturinggg 07/08000777///080808 06/07060606///000777

As at 1.5.AAAsss at 1. at 1. at 1.555... 571555717171 0000 164164164164 735735735735 736777333666

Currency translation CCCurrency translation urrency translation urrency translation 

differencesdddifferencesifferencesifferences – 15––– 151515 0000 – 19––– 1 1 1999 – 34– 3– 3– 3444 35353535

Utilized and notUUUtilized and nottilized and nottilized and not

taken to incomettttaken to incomaken to incomaken to incomeee – 1,168– 1,16– 1,16– 1,16888 0000 – 70––– 7 7 7000 – 1,238– 1– 1– 1,,,238238238 – 736––– 73 73 73666

Reversed andReversed Reversed Reversed aaandndnd

taken to incomettttaaakkken ten ten tooo inc inc incooommmeee – 104– 1– 1– 1040404 0000 – 75––– 757575 – 179– 17– 17– 17999 – 94– – – 949494

Provided and PPPrrrooovided and vided and vided and 

taken to incomettttaken to incomaken to incomaken to incomeee 1,450111,,,450450450 153153153153 160161616000 1,7631,1,1,777636363 794777999444

As at 30.4. AAAsss at  at  at 3330.4. 0.4. 0.4. 734777333444 153153153153 160160160160 1,0471,0471,0471,047 735777333555

The provisions for warranties were provided for repairs and for The provisions The provisions The provisions fffor warranties were provided or warranties were provided or warranties were provided fffor repairs and or repairs and or repairs and fffor or or 
replacing defective products. They are based fi rstly on a cost rrreplacineplacineplacinggg de de defffective products. They are based ective products. They are based ective products. They are based fififi rstly on a cost  rstly on a cost  rstly on a cost fi rstly on a cost fififi rstly on a cost fi rstly on a cost fi rstly on a cost fififi rstly on a cost fi
estimate based on known facts, and secondly on empirical valueseeestimate based on known facts, and secondly on emstimate based on known facts, and secondly on emstimate based on known facts, and secondly on empppirical valuesirical valuesirical values
for further development work on newly launched products. fffor further develoor further develoor further developppment work on newly launched ment work on newly launched ment work on newly launched ppproducts. roducts. roducts. 

The restructuring costs include liabilities from the restructuring The restructuring costs include liabilities The restructuring costs include liabilities The restructuring costs include liabilities fffrom the restructuring rom the restructuring rom the restructuring 
that is in progress in Switzerland and will be completed in that is in prothat is in prothat is in progggress in Switzerland and will be completed in ress in Switzerland and will be completed in ress in Switzerland and will be completed in 
2008/09.222008008008///090909...

The provisions for legal disputes pertain among other things toThe provisions for legal disputes pertain among other things tThe provisions for legal disputes pertain among other things tThe provisions for legal disputes pertain among other things tooo
a legal case with a supplier concerning a bad delivery. aaa legal case with a supplier concerning a bad delivery.  legal case with a supplier concerning a bad delivery.  legal case with a supplier concerning a bad delivery. 

16. Long-term provisions1116. 6. 6. LLLong-term provong-term provong-term proviiisssiiionsonsons
1,000 CHF111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHHHFFF EmployeeEmEmEmppployeloyeloyeeee EmployeeEEEmmmppployeloyeloyeeee TotalTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll TotalToToTotaltaltal

benefi tbenefibenefibenefi t t tbenefi tbenefibenefibenefi tbenefi tbenefi tbenefibenefibenefi tbenefi benefi tbbbenefi enefi enefi ttt 07/08000777///080808 06/07060606///000777

obligationsobobobligationligationligationsss obligationsooobbbligationsligationsligations

fi nancedfififi n n nfi nfififi nfi nfi nfififi nfi aaancedncednced notnnnooottt

bybybyby fi nancedfififi n n nfi nfififi nfi nfi nfififi nfi aaancencenceddd

plan assetsppplan assetlan assetlan assetsss by planbbby y y ppplalalannn

assetsaaassetsssetsssets

As at 1.5.AAAAsss at 1. at 1. at 1.555... 375333777555 458444585858 833888333333 774777777444

Currency translation CCCurrency translation urrency translation urrency translation 

differencesdifferencesdifferencesdifferences – 7––– 777 0000 – 7– 7– 7– 7 0000

Reversed and RRReversed and eversed and eversed and 

taken to incometttaken to incomaken to incomaken to incomeee – 37––– 37 37 37 – 270––– 27 27 27000 – 307– – – 303030777 – 7– – – 777

Provided and taken toPPPrrrooovided and taken tvided and taken tvided and taken tooo

incomeiiincncncooomememe 102111000222 0000 102111020202 66666666

As at 30.4.AAAs at 30.4.s at 30.4.s at 30.4. 433444333333 188188188188 621666222111 833833833833

The anticipated outfl ow of funds provided for in the case of The anticiThe anticiThe anticipppated outfl ow of funds ated outfl ow of funds ated outfl ow of funds ppprovided for in the case of rovided for in the case of rovided for in the case of 
employee benefi t obligations extends over a period of 20 years employee benefi t obligations extends over a period of 20 years employee benefi t obligations extends over a period of 20 years employee benefi t obligations extends over a period of 20 years 
and partly occurs indirectly via independent pension funds.and partly occurs indirectly via independent pension and partly occurs indirectly via independent pension and partly occurs indirectly via independent pension fffunds.unds.unds.

17. Pension plans1117. Pension p7. Pension p7. Pension plllansansans

The Group operates various employee benefi t plans in and The GrouThe GrouThe Grouppp o o oppperates various emerates various emerates various emppployee benefiloyee benefiloyee benefi t  t  t loyee benefi t loyee benefiloyee benefiloyee benefi t loyee benefi t loyee benefi t loyee benefiloyee benefiloyee benefi t loyee benefi ppplans in and lans in and lans in and 
outside of Switzerland for employees that satisfy the participationoooutside of utside of utside of SSSwitzerland for employees that satisfy the participationwitzerland for employees that satisfy the participationwitzerland for employees that satisfy the participation
criteria. These plans include defi ned-benefi t plans as well as criteria. These plans include decriteria. These plans include decriteria. These plans include defififi ned-bene ned-bene ned-benefi ned-benefififi ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefififi ned-benefi fififi t plans as well as  t plans as well as  t plans as well as fi t plans as well as fififi t plans as well as fi t plans as well as fi t plans as well as fififi t plans as well as fi
defi ned-contribution plans that cover the employees of the Group defidefidefi ned-contribution  ned-contribution  ned-contribution  ned-contribution defi ned-contribution defi ned-contribution defi ned-contribution defidefidefidefi ned-contribution defidefidefidefi ned-contribution defidefidefi ned-contribution defi ned-contribution defi ned-contribution defidefidefi ned-contribution defi ppplans that cover the emlans that cover the emlans that cover the emppployees of the Grouloyees of the Grouloyees of the Grouppp
for death, disability and retirement. fffor death, disability and retirement. or death, disability and retirement. or death, disability and retirement. 

Benefi ts are usually dependent on one or more factors such as BBBeneeneenefififi ts are usually dependent on one or more  ts are usually dependent on one or more  ts are usually dependent on one or more fi ts are usually dependent on one or more fififi ts are usually dependent on one or more fi ts are usually dependent on one or more fi ts are usually dependent on one or more fififi ts are usually dependent on one or more fi fffactors such as actors such as actors such as 
the number of years the employee was covered in the plan, age, the number othe number othe number offf years the employee was covered in the plan, age,  years the employee was covered in the plan, age,  years the employee was covered in the plan, age, f years the employee was covered in the plan, age, fff years the employee was covered in the plan, age, f years the employee was covered in the plan, age, f years the employee was covered in the plan, age, fff years the employee was covered in the plan, age, f
pensionable salary and to some extent on the accumulated oldpppensionaensionaensionabbble salary and to some extent on the accumulated oldle salary and to some extent on the accumulated oldle salary and to some extent on the accumulated old
age capital. The assets of the funded pension plans are heldaaaggge capital. The assets of the funded pension plans are helde capital. The assets of the funded pension plans are helde capital. The assets of the funded pension plans are held
within separate foundations or insurances and may not revert to within sewithin sewithin seppparate foundations or insurances and may not revert to arate foundations or insurances and may not revert to arate foundations or insurances and may not revert to 
the employer. the employer. the employer. the employer. 

Defi ned-benefi t pension plans DefiDefiDefiDefi ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefiDefi ned-benefiDefi ned-benefiDefi ned-benefiDefiDefi ned-benefiDefiDefiDefi ned-benefiDefi ned-benefiDefi ned-benefiDefiDefiDefi ned-benefiDefi  t pension plans  t pension plans  t pension plans  t pension plans  ned-benefi t pension plans  ned-benefi t pension plans  ned-benefi t pension plans  ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefi t pension plans  ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefi t pension plans  ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefi t pension plans  ned-benefi t pension plans  ned-benefi t pension plans  ned-benefi ned-benefi ned-benefi t pension plans  ned-benefi

The following amounts were recorded in the income statementThe followinThe followinThe followinggg amounts were recorded in the income statement amounts were recorded in the income statement amounts were recorded in the income statement
(see also Note 21.1) as personnel costs:(((see also Note 21.1see also Note 21.1see also Note 21.1))) as personnel costs: as personnel costs: as personnel costs:
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Employee benefi t expensesEmEmEmppployee benefiloyee benefiloyee benefi t ex t ex t exloyee benefi t exloyee benefiloyee benefiloyee benefi t exloyee benefi t exloyee benefi t exloyee benefiloyee benefiloyee benefi t exloyee benefi pppensesensesenses
1,000 CHF 111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHF HF HF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Current service costCurrent service cosCurrent service cosCurrent service costtt 436436436436 409404040999

Interest on obligationIIInterest on obligationterest on obligationterest on obligationnn 381333888111 220222222000

Expected return on plan assetsEEExpected return on plan assetxpected return on plan assetxpected return on plan assetsss – 529– – – 529529529 – 354––– 333555444

Prior service cost / (gain) recogniced in yearPPPrior service cost / (rior service cost / (rior service cost / (gggain) recoain) recoain) recogggniced in yearniced in yearniced in year 64666444 184184184184

Net actuarial losses (gains)Net actuarial losses (gains)Net actuarial losses (gains)Net actuarial losses (gains)

recognised rrrecogniseecogniseecogniseddd – 2––– 222 0000

Current service costsCCCurrurrurreeent snt snt seeervicrvicrviceee cost cost costsss 350350350350 459444595959

Actual return on plan assetsAAActual return on ctual return on ctual return on ppplan assetlan assetlan assetsss – 60––– 606060 330333333000

Changes in the present value of the defi ned benefi t obligationCCChanges in the present value of the defihanges in the present value of the defihanges in the present value of the defi ned benefi ned benefi ned benefihanges in the present value of the defi ned benefihanges in the present value of the defihanges in the present value of the defihanges in the present value of the defi ned benefihanges in the present value of the defi ned benefihanges in the present value of the defi ned benefihanges in the present value of the defihanges in the present value of the defihanges in the present value of the defi ned benefihanges in the present value of the defi  t obligatio t obligatio t obligatio ned benefi t obligatio ned benefi ned benefi ned benefi t obligatio ned benefi t obligatio ned benefi t obligatio ned benefi ned benefi ned benefi t obligatio ned benefi nnn
1,000 CHF 111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHF HF HF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

Defi ned benefi t obligation as of 1.5.DDDeeefififi ned bene ned bene ned benefi ned benefififi ned benefi ned benefi ned benefififi ned benefi fififi t obli t obli t oblifi t oblifififi t oblifi t oblifi t oblifififi t oblifi gggation as oation as oation as offf 1.5. 1.5. 1.5. 13,189111333,,,181818999 7,4017,7,7,404040111

Current service costCurrent service cosCurrent service cosCurrent service costtt 436436436436 409404040999

Plan participants’ contributionsPPPlan participants’ contributionlan participants’ contributionlan participants’ contributionsss 540555444000 394393939444

Interest on obligationIIInterest on oblinterest on oblinterest on obligggatioatioationnn 381333818181 220222222000

Benefi t payments andBenefiBenefiBenefi t  t  t Benefi t BenefiBenefiBenefi t Benefi t Benefi t BenefiBenefiBenefi t Benefi pppayments andayments andayments and

net transferralsnet transnet transnet transffferralserralserrals – 816– 81– 81– 81666 3,2623,3,3,262626222

Benefi t payments by employerBeneBeneBenefififi t payments by employe t payments by employe t payments by employefi t payments by employefififi t payments by employefi t payments by employefi t payments by employefififi t payments by employefi rrr – 15––– 151515 – 29– 2– 2– 2999

Actuarial (gains) / lossesActuarial (Actuarial (Actuarial (gggains) / lossesains) / lossesains) / losses 206222000666 301301301301

Past service costPPPast service cast service cast service cooosssttt 0000 1,210111,,,210210210

Exchange differencesExchange differenceExchange differenceExchange differencesss – 6– – – 666 21212121

Closing defi ned benefi t obligationCCClosinlosinlosinggg de de defififi ned bene ned bene ned benefi ned benefififi ned benefi ned benefi ned benefififi ned benefi fififi t obli t obli t oblifi t oblifififi t oblifi t oblifi t oblifififi t oblifi gggationationation 13,9151113,3,3,915915915 13,18913,113,113,1898989

Changes in the fair value of plan assetsCCChanhanhanggges in the es in the es in the fffair value oair value oair value offf plan assets plan assets plan assets
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 CHF 000 CHF 000 CHF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.0730.04.030.04.030.04.0777

As at 1.5.AAAsss at 1. at 1. at 1.555... 12,322111222,,,322322322 7,9427,947,947,94222

Plan participants contributionsPPPlan lan lan ppparticiarticiarticipppants contributionsants contributionsants contributions 540545454000 394394394394

Contributions by employerCCCContributions by emontributions by emontributions by emppployeloyeloyerrr 540545454000 394394394394

Benefi t payments and net transferralsBeneBeneBenefififi t payments and net trans t payments and net trans t payments and net transfi t payments and net transfififi t payments and net transfi t payments and net transfi t payments and net transfififi t payments and net transfi ffferralserralserrals – 816– 81– 81– 81666 3,262333,,,262626222

Expected return on plan assetsExpected return on plan assetExpected return on plan assetExpected return on plan assetsss 529529529529 354353535444

Actuarial gains or (losses)Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial gggains or (losses)ains or (losses)ains or (losses) – 589– 5– 5– 5898989 – 24– – – 242424

Exchange differencesExchanExchanExchanggge differencee differencee differencesss 0000 0000

As at 30.4.As at 30.4As at 30.4As at 30.4... 12,526121212,,,525252666 12,322111222,,,323232222

The pension assets on April 30, 2008, do not include any sharesThe The The pppension assets on Aension assets on Aension assets on Apppril 30, 2008, do not include any sharesril 30, 2008, do not include any sharesril 30, 2008, do not include any shares
of Infranor Inter AG. The pension assets contain no real estateofofof In In Inof Inofofof Inof Inof Inofofof Inof fffranor Inter Aranor Inter Aranor Inter AGGG. The pension assets contain no real estate. The pension assets contain no real estate. The pension assets contain no real estate
used by the Group or other assets used by the Group. The antici-uuused by the sed by the sed by the GGGroup or other assets used by the roup or other assets used by the roup or other assets used by the GGGroup. The antici-roup. The antici-roup. The antici-
pated employer contributions for fi scal year 2008/09 amount to pppated emated emated emppployer contributions for fi scal year 2008/09 amount to loyer contributions for fi scal year 2008/09 amount to loyer contributions for fi scal year 2008/09 amount to 
0.6 million CHF.0.6 million CHF.0.6 million CHF.0.6 million CHF.

Amount recognised in the balance sheetAAAmount recognised in the balance sheetmount recognised in the balance sheetmount recognised in the balance sheet
1,000 CHF111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHFHFHF 30.04.0830.04.030.04.030.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

Present value of funded obligationPPPresent value of funded obligationresent value of funded obligationresent value of funded obligation 13,482131313,,,482482482  12,814 12 12 12,8,8,8111444

Fair value of plan assetsFair value oFair value oFair value offf plan assets plan assets plan assetsf plan assetsfff plan assetsf plan assetsf plan assetsfff plan assetsf – 12,526––– 1 1 12,2,2,555262626 – 12,322– 12,322– 12,322– 12,322

Under-/(Over-)fundingUnder-/(Over-)fundingUnder-/(Over-)fundingUnder-/(Over-)funding 956956956956 492444999222

Present value of PPPresent value resent value resent value ooof f f 

funded obligationsfffunded obligationunded obligationunded obligationsss 433444333333 375333777555

Unrecognised priorUUUnrecognised priornrecognised priornrecognised prior

service benefi t/(cost)ssservice benefiervice benefiervice benefi t/ t/ t/ervice benefi t/ervice benefiervice benefiervice benefi t/ervice benefi t/ervice benefi t/ervice benefiervice benefiervice benefi t/ervice benefi (((costcostcost))) – 209– 209– 209– 209 – 273– 27– 27– 27333

Unrecognised net gains/(losses)UUUnreconreconrecogggnised net nised net nised net gggains/(lossesains/(lossesains/(losses))) – 559– 55– 55– 55999 239239239239

Net liabilityNNNet et et llliabiiabiiabilllititityyy 621666222111 833888333333

The following principal assumptions form the basis for the TTThe followinhe followinhe followinggg principal assumptions form the basis for the  principal assumptions form the basis for the  principal assumptions form the basis for the 
actuarial calculation:actuariaactuariaactuarialll ca ca calllcucuculllation:ation:ation:

Actuarial assumptions usedAAActuarial assumptions usedctuarial assumptions usedctuarial assumptions used
Assumptions for defi ned benefi t obligationsAssumptions for defiAssumptions for defiAssumptions for defi ned benefi ned benefi ned benefiAssumptions for defi ned benefiAssumptions for defiAssumptions for defiAssumptions for defi ned benefiAssumptions for defi ned benefiAssumptions for defi ned benefiAssumptions for defiAssumptions for defiAssumptions for defi ned benefiAssumptions for defi  t obligations t obligations t obligations ned benefi t obligations ned benefi ned benefi ned benefi t obligations ned benefi t obligations ned benefi t obligations ned benefi ned benefi ned benefi t obligations ned benefi 30.04.083330.04.080.04.080.04.08 30.04.0730.04.030.04.030.04.0777

Discount rateDDDiscount rateiscount rateiscount rate 3,44 %3,44 3,44 3,44 %%% 2,97 %222,97 %,97 %,97 %

Future salary increasesFuture salary increasesFuture salary increasesFuture salary increases 2,93 %222,93 ,93 ,93 %%% 2,94 %2,2,2,94 %94 %94 %

Future pension indexationsFFFuture uture uture pppension indexationsension indexationsension indexations 0,73 %0,0,0,73 73 73 %%% 0,73 %0,0,0,73 73 73 %%%

Assumptions for expensesAssumptions for expenseAssumptions for expenseAssumptions for expensesss 07/080007/7/7/080808 07/08070707///000888

Discount rateDDDiscisciscooount rateunt rateunt rate 2,97 %2,2,2,97 97 97 %%% 3,00 %333,,,00 00 00 %%%

Expected return on plan assetsEEExxxpppected return on ected return on ected return on ppplan assetlan assetlan assetsss 4,25 %4,4,4,25 25 25 %%% 4,30 %444,,,30 30 30 %%%

The pension assets consist of the following essential asset TTThe pension assets consist of the followinhe pension assets consist of the followinhe pension assets consist of the followinggg essential asset  essential asset  essential asset 
classes:clclclaaasses:sses:sses:

Essential asset classesEEEsssssseeentiantiantialll ass ass asseeet ct ct clllassassasseeesss
Valuation date 30.4.Valuation date 30.4Valuation date 30.4Valuation date 30.4... 2008200820082008 ExpectedEEExxxpppectedectedected 2007200200200777 Expected Expected Expected Expected 

in %in in in %%% returnrrreturneturneturn in %iiin n n %%% return rrreteteturn urn urn 

EquitiesEqEqEquitieuitieuitiesss 23222333 7,2 %777,,,7,777,7,7,777,72 %2 %2 % 27272727 6,8 %6,6,6,8 8 8 %%%

BondsBBBondondondsss 37333777 3,4 %333,,,4 %4 %4 % 34343434 3,0 %3,3,3,0 0 0 %%%

Real estateReReReaaal estl estl estaaatetete 3333 4,5 %444,5 ,5 ,5 %%% 4444 4,5 %444,5 %,5 %,5 %

Alternative investmentsAlternAlternAlternaaative investmentstive investmentstive investments 8888 7,2 %7,2 7,2 7,2 %%% 10101010 6,8 %666,8 %,8 %,8 %

Others including cashOOOthers includinthers includinthers includinggg cash cash cash 29222999 2,5 %2,2,2,5 %5 %5 % 25222555 2,5 %222,,,5 5 5 %%%

TotalTotalTotalTotal 100111000000 100111000000

07/08070707///000888 06/07060606///000777

Average return onAAAverage return onverage return onverage return onAverage return onAAAverage return onAverage return onAverage return onAAAverage return onA

pension assetspppension assetsension assetsension assets 4,4 %4,4,4,4 %4 %4 % 4,3 %4,4,4,3 3 3 %%%

Neither fi nancial instruments from our own company nor realNNNeither fi nancial instruments from our own comeither fi nancial instruments from our own comeither fi nancial instruments from our own compppany nor realany nor realany nor real
estate or other fi xed assets were invested in the pension assets.estate or other estate or other estate or other fififi xed assets were invested in the pension assets xed assets were invested in the pension assets xed assets were invested in the pension assetsfi xed assets were invested in the pension assetsfififi xed assets were invested in the pension assetsfi xed assets were invested in the pension assetsfi xed assets were invested in the pension assetsfififi xed assets were invested in the pension assetsfi ...

The following table shows how the actual development ofTTThe followinhe followinhe followinggg table shows how the actual development of table shows how the actual development of table shows how the actual development of
obligations and assets for the benefi t plans deviates from their ooobliblibligggations and assets for the benefi t plans deviates from their ations and assets for the benefi t plans deviates from their ations and assets for the benefi t plans deviates from their 
expected development.exexexpppected develoected develoected developppment.ment.ment.
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Adjustment based on past experienceAAAdjustment based on past experiencedjustment based on past experiencedjustment based on past experience
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 CHF 000 CHF 000 CHF 2008222000000888 2007222007007007 2006222000000666 2,005222,,,000000555

Valuation date 30.4.VVValuatialuatialuatiValuatiVVValuatiValuatiValuatiVVValuatiV ooon date n date n date 3330.40.40.4...

Defi ned benefi t obligationDDDefiefiefi ned benefi ned benefi ned benefiefi ned benefiefiefiefi ned benefiefi ned benefiefi ned benefiefiefiefi ned benefiefi  t obligatio t obligatio t obligatio ned benefi t obligatio ned benefi ned benefi ned benefi t obligatio ned benefi t obligatio ned benefi t obligatio ned benefi ned benefi ned benefi t obligatio ned benefi nnn 13,915131313,,,919191555 13,189111333,,,111888999 7,401777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7401401401 7,261777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7262626111

Fair value of plan assetsFair value oFair value oFair value offf plan assets plan assets plan assetsf plan assetsfff plan assetsf plan assetsf plan assetsfff plan assetsf

– 12,526– 1– 1– 1222,5,5,5262626 – 12,322– 12,32– 12,32– 12,32222 – 7,942– 7,942– 7,942– 7,942 – 7,347––– 7,34 7,34 7,34777

Under-/(Over-)fundingUnder-/(Over-)fundinUnder-/(Over-)fundinUnder-/(Over-)fundinggg 1,389111,3,3,3898989 867888666777 – 541– – – 545454111 – 86– 8– 8– 8666

Experience adjustmentsEEExperience adxperience adxperience adjjjustmentustmentustmentsss

on plan liabilitiesooon plan lian plan lian plan liabbbilitieilitieilitiesss – 417– 417– 417– 417 297292929777 – 146– 14– 14– 14666

Experience adjustmentsEEExperience adjustmentsxperience adjustmentsxperience adjustments

on plan assetsooon n n ppplan assetslan assetslan assets – 589– 5– 5– 5898989 – 24– – – 242424 528555282828

Defi ned-contribution pension plansDefi ned-contribution pension plansDefi ned-contribution pension plansDefi ned-contribution pension plans
The Group contributes to several defi ned-contribution pension The GrouThe GrouThe Grouppp contributes to several defi contributes to several defi contributes to several defi ned-contribution  ned-contribution  ned-contribution  contributes to several defi ned-contribution  contributes to several defi contributes to several defi contributes to several defi ned-contribution  contributes to several defi ned-contribution  contributes to several defi ned-contribution  contributes to several defi contributes to several defi contributes to several defi ned-contribution  contributes to several defi pppension ension ension 
plans. The expense to be recognised corresponds to the amount plans. The expense to be recognised corresponds to the amount plans. The expense to be recognised corresponds to the amount plans. The expense to be recognised corresponds to the amount 
of contributions paid by the employer.ofofof contributions paid by the employer contributions paid by the employer contributions paid by the employerof contributions paid by the employerofofof contributions paid by the employerof contributions paid by the employerof contributions paid by the employerofofof contributions paid by the employerof ...

1,000 CHF 111,000 CHF ,000 CHF ,000 CHF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Company contributionsCCComomompppany contributionany contributionany contributionsss 203222000333 168111666888

The anticipated contributions by the employer in 2008/09 will be TTThe anticipated contrihe anticipated contrihe anticipated contribbbutions utions utions bbby the employer in 2008/09 will y the employer in 2008/09 will y the employer in 2008/09 will bbbe e e 
in the same range as those in the business year under review.iiin the same rann the same rann the same ranggge as those in the e as those in the e as those in the bbbusiness year under reviewusiness year under reviewusiness year under review...

18. Shares and share capital1118. 8. 8. SSShares and share cahares and share cahares and share capppitaitaitalll

18.1 Shares  1118.1 Shar8.1 Shar8.1 Shareees  s  s  
NumberNumbNumbNumbererer 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Issued bearer shares, each with a par value of 20.00 CHFIIIssued bearer shares, each with a ssued bearer shares, each with a ssued bearer shares, each with a pppar value of 20.00 CHFar value of 20.00 CHFar value of 20.00 CHF

As at 1.5.AAAs at 1.5.s at 1.5.s at 1.5. 642,925642642642,,,925925925 640,800666404040,8,8,8000000

Bonds converted into bearer sharesBBBonds converted into onds converted into onds converted into bbbearer sharesearer sharesearer shares 132,571132,132,132,575757111 2,1252,2,2,121212555

As at 30.4. AAAsss at  at  at 3330.4. 0.4. 0.4. 775,496775,49775,49775,49666 642,92566642,9242,9242,92555

of which own stockooof which f which f which ooown stwn stwn stooockckck 11,11011,1111,1111,11000 11,1101111,111,111,11000

18.2 Treasury shares1118.2 8.2 8.2 TTTreasurreasurreasurTreasurTTTreasurTreasurTreasurTTTreasurT yyy shares shares shares
07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

NumberNNNumbeumbeumberrr CHF*CCCHF*HF*HF* NumberNNNumberumberumber CHF*CCCHF*HF*HF*

Balance as at 1.5.BalancBalancBalanceee as at 1.5 as at 1.5 as at 1.5... 11,110111111,,,111111000 443,291444434343,,,291291291 9,9109,9,9,919191000 386,490383838666,,,490490490

AdditionsAdditionsAdditionsAdditions 0000 0000 1,2001,201,201,20000 56,8015556,6,6,888000111

DisposalsDDDisposalsisposalsisposals 0000 0000 0000 0000

Balance as at 30.4.BaBaBalllance as at 30.4.ance as at 30.4.ance as at 30.4. 11,11011,1111,1111,11000 443,29144443,29143,29143,291 11,110111111,,,111111000 443,2914444443,2913,2913,291

**** Acquisition costAAAcquisition costcquisition costcquisition cost

The holding of treasury stock is used to cover an existing options TTThe holdinhe holdinhe holdinggg of treasury stock is used to cover an existin of treasury stock is used to cover an existin of treasury stock is used to cover an existinggg options  options  options 
program. Further details can be found in Note 21.5 on page 57 of program. Further details can be found in Note 21.5 on page 57 of program. Further details can be found in Note 21.5 on page 57 of program. Further details can be found in Note 21.5 on page 57 of 
the consolidated annual fi nancial statementsttthe che che cooonsnsnsooolidated annual lidated annual lidated annual fififi nancial statement nancial statement nancial statementfi nancial statementfififi nancial statementfi nancial statementfi nancial statementfififi nancial statementfi sss

18.3 Share capital  1118.3 Share capital  8.3 Share capital  8.3 Share capital  
CHFCCCHFHFHF 30.04.083330.04.080.04.080.04.08 30.04.07333000...0004.4.4.070707

Share capitalShare caShare caShare capppitaitaitalll 15,509,920151515,,,509509509,,,929292000 12,858,500121212,,,858858858,,,500500500

Conditional share capitalConditional share caConditional share caConditional share capppitalitalital 3,540,080333,,,540540540,,,080808000 6,191,5006,6,6,191191191,,,500500500

of which allocated for convertible bondofofof which allocated  which allocated  which allocated of which allocated ofofof which allocated of which allocated of which allocated ofofof which allocated of fffor convertible bondor convertible bondor convertible bond – 1,690,080––– 1 1 1,,,690690690,,,080808000 – 4,341,500– 4,341,500– 4,341,500– 4,341,500

Remaining conditional share capitalRemaining conditional share capitaRemaining conditional share capitaRemaining conditional share capitalll 1,850,000111,,,88850,0050,0050,00000 1,850,000111,850,000,850,000,850,000

The Infranor Inter AG shares held by the company itself (treasury The Infranor Inter AG shares held by the company itself The Infranor Inter AG shares held by the company itself The Infranor Inter AG shares held by the company itself (((treasury treasury treasury 
shares) are openly deducted from equity (see also the consoli-shares) are oshares) are oshares) are oshares) are opppenly deducted from eenly deducted from eenly deducted from eqqquity (see also the consoli-uity (see also the consoli-uity (see also the consoli-
dated statement of changes in equity on page 35).dated statement of chandated statement of chandated statement of changgges in equity on paes in equity on paes in equity on paggge 35)e 35)e 35)...

19. Impact of foreign currencies on the income statement1119. Impact o9. Impact o9. Impact offf ffforeign currencies on the income statementoreign currencies on the income statementoreign currencies on the income statement
Change as against the previous yearCCChange as against the previous yeahange as against the previous yeahange as against the previous yearrr 30.04.0830.04.0830.04.0830.04.08 30.04.073330.04.00.04.00.04.0777

Net salesNet sNet sNet saaaleslesles 0,1 %0,1 0,1 0,1 %%% 0,7 %0,7 %0,7 %0,7 %

EBITDAEBITDEBITDEBITDAAA – 1,6 %––– 1,6  1,6  1,6 %%% 2,6 %2,6 %2,6 %2,6 %

20.1 Net sales by products2220.1 0.1 0.1 NNNet saet saet sallles by productses by productses by products
1,000 CHF111,000 CHF,000 CHF,000 CHF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

ServomotorsSSServervervooommmoootttooorsrsrs 23,36923,36923,36923,369 22,966222222,,,999666666

Servo-amplifi ersSSServo-amervo-amervo-amppplifilifilifi er er erlifi erlifilifilifi erlifi erlifi erlifilifilifi erlifi sss 19,221191919,,,222222111 18,84018,818,818,8404040

ControlsControlControlControlsss 22,67222,622,622,6777222 19,799111999,,,797979999

Traded productsTTTraded productsraded productsraded products 4,363444,,,363363363 2,9442,942,942,94444

Service, spare partes, repairsSSService, service, service, spppare are are pppartes, reartes, reartes, repppairsairsairs 5,939555,939,939,939 6,738666,73,73,73888

Total net salesTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll net sa net sa net sallleeesss 75,564777555,,,565656444 71,287777111,,,282828777

20.2 Net sales by sector2220.2 Net sales b0.2 Net sales b0.2 Net sales byyy sector sector sector
1,000 CHF111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHFHFHF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Industrial manufacturingIIIndustrial manufacturingndustrial manufacturingndustrial manufacturing 57 %57 57 57 %%% 52 %5552 2 2 %%%

Industrial handling and assemblyIIIndustrial handling and assemblndustrial handling and assemblndustrial handling and assemblyyy 16 %161616 %%% 15 %1115 %5 %5 %

Processing industryPPProcessinrocessinrocessinggg industry industry industry 6 %6 6 6 %%% 8 %888 %%%

PackagingPPPacacackkkaaaggginininggg 4 %444 %%% 4 %444 %%%

OtherOOOthertherther 17 %17 17 17 %%% 21 %2221 1 1 %%%

Total net salesTotal nTotal nTotal neeet salt salt saleseses 100 %100 100 100 %%% 100 %100 100 100 %%%
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21. Personnel costs2221. Personnel costs1. Personnel costs1. Personnel costs

21.1 Personnel costs2221.1 P1.1 P1.1 Peeersonnrsonnrsonneeel costsl costsl costs
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 CHF 000 CHF 000 CHF 07/08070707///000888 06/07060606///000777

Wages and bonusesWWWaaaggges and bonuseses and bonuseses and bonuses 20,4062220,400,400,40666 19,16019,119,119,1606060

Development cost capitalizedDDDeveloeveloevelopppment cost cament cost cament cost capppitalizeitalizeitalizeddd – 270– 27– 27– 27000 – 151– – – 151151151

Share-based paiementsSSShare-based hare-based hare-based pppaiementaiementaiementsss 0000 5555

Cost of defi ned benefi t pension plans Cost oCost oCost offf de de def defff def def defff def fififi ned bene ned bene ned benefi ned benefififi ned benefi ned benefi ned benefififi ned benefi fififi t pension plans  t pension plans  t pension plans fi t pension plans fififi t pension plans fi t pension plans fi t pension plans fififi t pension plans fi

as per note 17aaas per note 17s per note 17s per note 17 350350350350 459444595959

Social security and other personnel costsSSSocial security and other ocial security and other ocial security and other pppersonnel costersonnel costersonnel costsss 4,7974,74,74,7999777 4,499444,4,4,4999999

Total personnel costsTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll pppersonneersonneersonnelll cost cost costsss 25,283222555,,,222838383 23,97223,923,923,9777222

21.2 Number of employees by region2221.2 Number of employees by regio1.2 Number of employees by regio1.2 Number of employees by regionnn
07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

SwitzerlandSSSwitzerlanwitzerlanwitzerlanddd 72727272 70777000

Europe excl. SwitzerlandEEEurope excl. Switzerlanurope excl. Switzerlanurope excl. Switzerlanddd 177111777777 181181181181

North AmericaNorth AmericaNorth AmericaNorth America 23232323 25222555

AsiaAsiAsiAsiaaa 27272727 22222222

TotalToToTotatatalll 299299299299 298222999888

21.3 Number of employees by role2221.3 Number of em1.3 Number of em1.3 Number of emppployees by roleloyees by roleloyees by role
07/08070707///000888 06/07060606///000777

Sales, engineering, serviceSSSales, engineering, servicales, engineering, servicales, engineering, serviceee 92999222 91999111

ProductionPPProductioroductioroductionnn 115115115115 116111111666

Research and developmentResearch and develoResearch and develoResearch and developppmenmenmenttt 47474747 43434343

AdministrationAAAdministratidministratidministrationonon 45454545 48484848

TotalTTToooToTTToToToTTToT taltaltal 299299299299 298222999888

21.4 Average number of employees and personnel costs2221.4 Average number o1.4 Average number o1.4 Average number offf employees and personnel costs employees and personnel costs employees and personnel costs
07/08070707///000888 06/07060606///000777

Average number of employees Average number of employees Average number of employees Average number of employees 299299299299 284284284284

during the fi nancial yearddduring the uring the uring the fififi nancial yea nancial yea nancial yeafi nancial yeafififi nancial yeafi nancial yeafi nancial yeafififi nancial yeafi rrr

Personnel costs in 1,000 CHFPPPersonnel costs in 1,000 CHFersonnel costs in 1,000 CHFersonnel costs in 1,000 CHF 25,2832225,25,25,2838383 23,9722223,973,973,97222

Personnel costs per employee in 1,000 CHF PPPersonnel costs ersonnel costs ersonnel costs ppper emer emer emppployee in 1,000 loyee in 1,000 loyee in 1,000 CCCHF HF HF 84.78884.74.74.7 84.684.84.84.666

21.5 Option plan21.5 21.5 21.5 OpOpOption tion tion ppplanlanlan
Number of optionsNumber of oNumber of oNumber of oppptiontiontionsss 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

(1 option gives right to 1 bearer share(1 option (1 option (1 option gggives riives riives riggght to 1 bearer shareht to 1 bearer shareht to 1 bearer share

of Infranor Inter AG)ooof Infranor Inter AGf Infranor Inter AGf Infranor Inter AG)))

Outstanding at the beginning of the periodOOOutstanding at the beginning of the periodutstanding at the beginning of the periodutstanding at the beginning of the period 5,4105,415,415,41000 5,5105,515,515,51000

Expenditure (sales)ExExExpppenditure (sales)enditure (sales)enditure (sales) 0000 1,4001,41,41,4000000

Exercised during the periodEEExercised during the periodxercised during the periodxercised during the period 0000 0000

Expired / cancelled during the periodEEExpired / cancelled during the perioxpired / cancelled during the perioxpired / cancelled during the perioddd – 750– 7– 7– 7505050 – 1,500––– 1 1 1,,,500500500

Outstanding at the end of the period OOOutstandinutstandinutstandinggg at the end of the period  at the end of the period  at the end of the period 4,660444,66,66,66000 5,4105,415,415,41000

Average strike price of outstanding optionsAveraAveraAveraggge strike price of outstandine strike price of outstandine strike price of outstandinggg option option optionsss 49.07494949.07.07.07 54.505554.4.4.505050

Options with a sales restriction periodOpOpOptions with a sales restriction tions with a sales restriction tions with a sales restriction ppperioerioerioddd

of 0 to 3 years  ooof 0 to 3 f 0 to 3 f 0 to 3 yyyears  ears  ears  2,600222,,,666000000 2,600222,,,600600600

Exercisable within 1 yearExercisable within 1 Exercisable within 1 Exercisable within 1 yyyearearear 332332332332 750757575000

Exercisable within 1 to 5 years Exercisable within 1 to 5 years Exercisable within 1 to 5 years Exercisable within 1 to 5 years 2,028222,02,02,02888 2,0602,2,2,060060060

Exercisable within 5 to 8 years Exercisable within 5 to 8 years Exercisable within 5 to 8 years Exercisable within 5 to 8 years 2,3002,302,302,30000 2,600222,600,600,600

Average remaining contractual lifeAverage remaining contractual lifAverage remaining contractual lifAverage remaining contractual lifeee 8 Jahre888 JJJahrahrahreee 8 Jahre8 8 8 JJJahrahrahreee

Number of options “in the money”Number oNumber oNumber offf options “in the money” options “in the money” options “in the money”f options “in the money”fff options “in the money”f options “in the money”f options “in the money”fff options “in the money”f 2,6282,2,2,628628628 3,728333,,,727272888

Number of options “out of money” Number oNumber oNumber offf options “out o options “out o options “out of options “out offf options “out of options “out of options “out offf options “out of fff money”  money”  money” f money” fff money” f money” f money” fff money” f 2,032222,032,032,032 1,6821,6821,6821,682

The employee’s stock option plan is described on page 47.The employee’s stocThe employee’s stocThe employee’s stockkk option plan is described on page 47. option plan is described on page 47. option plan is described on page 47.

The options cannot be covered by the conditional share capital. TTThe ohe ohe oppptions cannot tions cannot tions cannot bbbe covered e covered e covered bbby the conditional share cay the conditional share cay the conditional share capppital. ital. ital. 
Consequently, the company’s holdings of Infranor Inter treasury Consequently, the company’s holdinConsequently, the company’s holdinConsequently, the company’s holdingggs of Infranor Inter treasury s of Infranor Inter treasury s of Infranor Inter treasury 
shares to cover these option rights will be maintained.ssshares to cover these option rihares to cover these option rihares to cover these option riggghts will be maintained.hts will be maintained.hts will be maintained.

22. General and administrative costs2222. G2. G2. Geeennneeeral and administrativral and administrativral and administrativeee cost cost costsss
1,000 CHF111,000 CHF,000 CHF,000 CHF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Administrative costsAAAdministrative cdministrative cdministrative cooostststsss 1,323111,,,323232333 1,080111,,,080080080

IT costsITITIT costs costs costs 302333000222 206222000666

Travel costsTTTravel costsravel costsravel costs 426426426426 471471471471

Consultancy and audit feesConsultancConsultancConsultancyyy and audit  and audit  and audit fffeeeeeesss 874888777444 867888676767

Services from related companiesSSSServices from related comervices from related comervices from related compppanieanieaniesss 498444989898  452 4 4 4525252

Services to related partiesSSServices to related ervices to related ervices to related pppartiesartiesarties – 33– 3– 3– 3333 – 61––– 61 61 61

Total general and administrative costsTotal Total Total gggeneral and administrative costseneral and administrative costseneral and administrative costs 3,3903,3,3,393939000 3,0153,3,3,010101555

23. Sales costs2223. 3. 3. SSSales costales costales costsss
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHF HF HF 07/08000777///080808 06/07060606///000777

MarketingMarketinMarketinMarketinggg 180180180180 131111313131

ExhibitionsExhibitiExhibitiExhibitiooonnnsss 133131313333 268222666888

CommissionCoCoCommissimmissimmissiooonnn 587555888777 540540540540

Representative offi ceReReRepppresentative offiresentative offiresentative offi ce ce ceresentative offi ceresentative offiresentative offiresentative offi ceresentative offi ceresentative offi ceresentative offiresentative offiresentative offi ceresentative offi 1111 178111777888

Travel expensesTTTravel expensesravel expensesravel expenses 1,146111,,,141414666 940999404040

MiscellaneousMiscellaneMiscellaneMiscellaneoooususus 136111363636 141111444111

Total sales costsTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll sa sa sallles costses costses costs 2,1832,12,12,1838383 2,1982,2,2,191919888
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24. Other operating expenses2224. 4. 4. OOOther operatinther operatinther operatinggg expense expense expensesss

24.1 Details on other operating expenses2224.1 Details on other operating expenses4.1 Details on other operating expenses4.1 Details on other operating expenses
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHF HF HF 07/08070707///000888 06/07060606///000777

Production and engineering expensesPPProduction and enroduction and enroduction and engggineerinineerinineeringgg expenses expenses expenses 2,0422,0422,0422,042 1,804111,80,80,80444

Costs relating to a different accounting period, Costs relatinCosts relatinCosts relatinggg to a different accountin to a different accountin to a different accountinggg period,  period,  period, 

restructuring costsrrrestructurinestructurinestructuringgg cost cost costsss 328323232888 307333000777

Rental costsRRRental costsental costsental costs 1,731111,,,737373111 1,7841,1,1,777848484

Warranty costsWWWarrantarrantarrantyyy cost cost costsss 1,016111,0,0,0111666 927999222777

Accounts receivable lossesAccAccAccooounts receivable lunts receivable lunts receivable looossessessesss

and bad debt allowancesaaand nd nd bbbad dead dead debbbt allt allt allooowanceswanceswances 232222323232 124124124124

External R&D costs, cost of trademarkEEExternal R&D costsxternal R&D costsxternal R&D costs,,, cost of trademar cost of trademar cost of trademarkkk 618616161888

and patent rightsanananddd patent rig patent rig patent righhhtststs 500500500500

Total other operating expensesTotal other operatinTotal other operatinTotal other operatinggg expense expense expensesss 5,849555,84,84,84999 5,564555,5,5,5646464

The R&D item in the income statement shows only externalThe R&D item in the income statement shows only externalThe R&D item in the income statement shows only externalThe R&D item in the income statement shows only external
research and development costs including prototyping costs asrrresearch and development costs includinesearch and development costs includinesearch and development costs includinggg prototypin prototypin prototypinggg costs as costs as costs as
well as current costs for trademark and patent rights. In the well as current costs for trademark and patent riwell as current costs for trademark and patent riwell as current costs for trademark and patent riggghts. In the hts. In the hts. In the 
current accounting period, 0.13 million CHF in external costs in current accountincurrent accountincurrent accountinggg period, 0.13 million CHF in external costs in  period, 0.13 million CHF in external costs in  period, 0.13 million CHF in external costs in 
accordance with IAS 38.57 f were capitalised for the products aaaccordance with IAccordance with IAccordance with IASSS 38.57 f were capitalised for the products  38.57 f were capitalised for the products  38.57 f were capitalised for the products 
launched (previous year: zero). The total research and develop-launched launched launched (((previous year: zeroprevious year: zeroprevious year: zero))). The total research and develop-. The total research and develop-. The total research and develop-
ment costs are allocated to various items in the income state-mmment costs are aent costs are aent costs are allllllocateocateocateddd to various items in t to various items in t to various items in thhhe income state-e income state-e income state-
ment and break down as follows:mmment and break down as follows:ent and break down as follows:ent and break down as follows:

24.2 Total research and development costs2224.2 Total research and develo4.2 Total research and develo4.2 Total research and developppment costsment costsment costs
1,000 CHF 1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHF HF HF 07/08070707///000888 06/07060606///000777

Internal engineeringIIInternal engineerinnternal engineerinnternal engineeringgg 4,0474,4,4,000474747 3,455333,45,45,45555

External engineeringEEExternal enxternal enxternal engggineerinineerinineeringgg 315315315315 455455455455

Materials, tools and miscellaneous itemsMMMaterialsaterialsaterials,,, tools and miscellaneous item tools and miscellaneous item tools and miscellaneous itemsss 256222555666 228222222888

PatentsPPPatentatentatentsss 51515151 98999888

Total development costsTotal develoTotal develoTotal developppment costsment costsment costs 4,669444,669,669,669 4,236444,23,23,23666

as % of net salesas as as %%% of net sales of net sales of net sales 6,2 %666,2 ,2 ,2 %%% 5,9 %555,9 %,9 %,9 %

25. Other operating income2225. Other operatin5. Other operatin5. Other operatinggg income income income
1,000 CHF 111,000 CHF ,000 CHF ,000 CHF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Commission incomeCoCoCommissimmissimmissiooon incn incn incooommmeee 471471471471 335335335335

Income relating to a different accounting periodIIIncome relating to a different accounting periodncome relating to a different accounting periodncome relating to a different accounting period 146141414666 131131131131

Other incomeOther incomeOther incomeOther income 174174174174 0000

TotalTotalTotalTotal 791777919191 466444666666

Commission income increased due to the successful product Commission income increased due to the successCommission income increased due to the successCommission income increased due to the successffful product ul product ul product 
representation of slewing rings and special bearings by Infranor rrrepresentation oepresentation oepresentation offf slewin slewin slewinf slewinfff slewinf slewinf slewinfff slewinf ggg rin rin ringggs and special bearins and special bearins and special bearingggs by Ins by Ins by Infffranor ranor ranor 
Spain SLU.SSSpppain SLU.ain SLU.ain SLU.

26. Depreciation and amortization26. De26. De26. Deppprecrecreciiiatatatiiion anon anon anddd amort amort amortiiizatzatzatiiiooonnn
1,000 CHF111,000 CHF,000 CHF,000 CHF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Depreciation of property, plant and equipmentDDDeeepppreciation of reciation of reciation of ppprororoppperty, erty, erty, ppplant and elant and elant and eqqquiuiuipppmenmenmenttt 1,125111,,,125125125 903999000333

Amortisation of intangible assetsAmortisation oAmortisation oAmortisation offf intangible asset intangible asset intangible assetf intangible assetfff intangible assetf intangible assetf intangible assetfff intangible assetf sss 445445445445 370370370370

Total depreciation and amortisationTotal depreciation and amortisationTotal depreciation and amortisationTotal depreciation and amortisation 1,5701,571,571,57000 1,2731,271,271,27333

The increased amortisation of intangible assets is the result of TTThe increased amortisation ohe increased amortisation ohe increased amortisation offf intangible assets is the result o intangible assets is the result o intangible assets is the result of intangible assets is the result offf intangible assets is the result of intangible assets is the result of intangible assets is the result offf intangible assets is the result of fff
the investment in software and product development. Morettthe investment in sohe investment in sohe investment in soffftware and product development. Moretware and product development. Moretware and product development. Moreftware and product development. Moreffftware and product development. Moreftware and product development. Moreftware and product development. Moreffftware and product development. Moref
details can be found in Notes 8 and 9 on pages 49 and 50.details can be found in Notes 8 and 9 on padetails can be found in Notes 8 and 9 on padetails can be found in Notes 8 and 9 on paggges 49 and 50.es 49 and 50.es 49 and 50.

27. Financial result27. Financial result27. Financial result27. Financial result
1,000 CHF1,1,1,000 000 000 CCCHFHFHF 07/08000777///080808 06/07060606///000777

Interest receivedIIIntntnteeerrreeest rst rst reeeccceeeiviviveeeddd 59555999 47474747

Net foreign exchange gainsNet Net Net ffforeioreioreigggn exchann exchann exchanggge e e gggainsainsains 55555555 357353535777

Total fi nance incomeTotal fiTotal fiTotal fi nance incom nance incom nance incomTotal fi nance incomTotal fiTotal fiTotal fi nance incomTotal fi nance incomTotal fi nance incomTotal fiTotal fiTotal fi nance incomTotal fi eee 114114114114 404444040404

Interest paid to banks and  third partiesIIInterest nterest nterest pppaid to banaid to banaid to bankkks and  third s and  third s and  third pppartiesartiesarties – 396– 39– 39– 39666 – 347– – – 333444777

Convertible bond interest expenseConvertible bond interest expensConvertible bond interest expensConvertible bond interest expenseee – 338– – – 333333888 – 424––– 424424424

Transaction costs / TTTransaction costs / ransaction costs / ransaction costs / 

Equity proportion of convertible bondEEEqqquity uity uity ppprororoppportion of convertible bondortion of convertible bondortion of convertible bond – 168– 16– 16– 16888 – 84––– 848484

Interest expense of collateralized debt obligationIIInterest expense of collateralized debt oblinterest expense of collateralized debt oblinterest expense of collateralized debt obligggationationation – 603– 60– 60– 60333 – 603– 60– 60– 60333

Collaterised debt obligation transaction costsCollaterised debt obligation transaction costCollaterised debt obligation transaction costCollaterised debt obligation transaction costsss – 31– – – 313131 – 23––– 2 2 2333

Bank expensesBank expensesBank expensesBank expenses – 287– 2– 2– 2888777 – 242– 242– 242– 242

Total fi nance expensesTotal fiTotal fiTotal fi nance expenses nance expenses nance expensesTotal fi nance expensesTotal fiTotal fiTotal fi nance expensesTotal fi nance expensesTotal fi nance expensesTotal fiTotal fiTotal fi nance expensesTotal fi – 1,823– 1,– 1,– 1,888222333 – 1,723––– 1,72 1,72 1,72333

Financial resultFinanciaFinanciaFinanciaFinancialll resu resu resulllttt – 1,709– 1,709– 1,709– 1,709 – 1,319– 1– 1– 1,3,3,3111999

In order to enhance comparability, the classifi cation of the previ-IIIn order to enhance comparability, the classin order to enhance comparability, the classin order to enhance comparability, the classifififi cation o cation o cation ofi cation ofififi cation ofi cation ofi cation ofififi cation ofi fff the previ the previ the previf the previfff the previf the previf the previfff the previf ---
ous years’ fi gures has been adjusted so that the fi nancial cost isooous years’ fi us years’ fi us years’ fi gggures has been adjusted so that the fi nancial cost isures has been adjusted so that the fi nancial cost isures has been adjusted so that the fi nancial cost is
shown in more detail and the net foreign exchange gains/lossesshown in more detail and the net foreign exchange gains/lossesshown in more detail and the net foreign exchange gains/lossesshown in more detail and the net foreign exchange gains/losses
are shown.are share share shooownwnwn...

28. Earnings per share2228. 8. 8. EEEarninarninarningggs per shars per shars per shareee

28.1 Undiluted earnings per share 2228.1 Undiluted earnings per share 8.1 Undiluted earnings per share 8.1 Undiluted earnings per share 
07/08000777///080808 06/07060606///000777

Net profi t/(loss) (in CHF)Net profiNet profiNet profi t/ t/ t/Net profi t/Net profiNet profiNet profi t/Net profi t/Net profi t/Net profiNet profiNet profi t/Net profi (((losslossloss))) (((in CHFin CHFin CHF))) 2,789,840222,,,789789789,,,848484000 2,201,6522,201,6522,201,6522,201,652

Weighted average number of WWWeieieiggghted averahted averahted averaggge number oe number oe number offf

outstanding sharesoooutstandinutstandinutstandinggg share share sharesss 709,211709,21709,21709,21111 641,863666414141,,,868686333

Less average number of treasury sharesLLLess average number of treasury shareess average number of treasury shareess average number of treasury sharesss – 11,110– 11– 11– 11,,,111111000 – 10,510––– 10 10 10,,,510510510

Number of shares on which calculation is basedNumber oNumber oNumber offf shares on which calculation is based shares on which calculation is based shares on which calculation is basedf shares on which calculation is basedfff shares on which calculation is basedf shares on which calculation is basedf shares on which calculation is basedfff shares on which calculation is basedf 698,101666989898,,,101010111 631,353666313131,,,353535333

Undiluted earnings per share in CHFUndiluted earninUndiluted earninUndiluted earningggs per share in CHFs per share in CHFs per share in CHF 4.00444...000000 3.49333.4.4.4999

Earnings per share increased in spite of the issue of an additionalEEEarnings per share increased in spite oarnings per share increased in spite oarnings per share increased in spite offf the issue o the issue o the issue of the issue offf the issue of the issue of the issue offf the issue of fff an additional an additional an additionalf an additionalfff an additionalf an additionalf an additionalfff an additionalf
132,571 shares due to the exercise of conversion rights during 132,571 shares due to the exercise o132,571 shares due to the exercise o132,571 shares due to the exercise offf conversion ri conversion ri conversion rif conversion rifff conversion rif conversion rif conversion rifff conversion rif ggghts durinhts durinhts duringgg
2007/08.200720072007///08.08.08.
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28.2 Diluted earnings per share 2228.2 Di8.2 Di8.2 Dillluted earninuted earninuted earningggs per share s per share s per share 
07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Net profi t/(loss) (in CHF)Net Net Net ppprofi t/(loss) (in CHFrofi t/(loss) (in CHFrofi t/(loss) (in CHF))) 2,789,840222,,,789789789,,,848484000 2,201,652222,,,201201201,,,656565222

Saved interest on convertible bondsSSSaved interest on convertible bondsaved interest on convertible bondsaved interest on convertible bonds

adjusted net profi t (in CHF)aaadjusted net profidjusted net profidjusted net profi t  t  t djusted net profi t djusted net profidjusted net profidjusted net profi t djusted net profi t djusted net profi t djusted net profidjusted net profidjusted net profi t djusted net profi (((in CHFin CHFin CHF))) 403,796403,79403,79403,79666 433,78644433,7833,7833,78666

Interest and transaction costs IIInterest and transactinterest and transactinterest and transactiooon cn cn cooosts sts sts 

for the new sharesfofofor the new sharer the new sharer the new sharesss 123,262111232323,,,262262262 2,7272,2,2,777272727

./. tax effect on saved interest./. tax effect on saved interest./. tax effect on saved interest./. tax effect on saved interest

and transaction costsaaannnddd transaction cost transaction cost transaction costsss – 41,269– 41– 41– 41,269,269,269 – 34,179– 34,17– 34,17– 34,17999

Adjusted net profi t (in CHF)Adjusted net profi t (in CHF)Adjusted net profi t (in CHF)Adjusted net profi t (in CHF) 3,275,6303,275,633,275,633,275,63000 2,603,986222,603,98,603,98,603,98666

Number of shares on which calculation is based,Number of shares on which calculation is basedNumber of shares on which calculation is basedNumber of shares on which calculation is based,,,

undiluteduuundilutendilutendiluteddd 698,101666989898,,,101010111 631,353666313131,,,353535333

Dilutive effect of remainingDDDilutive eilutive eilutive effffffect oect oect offf remaining remaining remainingf remainingfff remainingf remainingf remainingfff remainingf

conversion rightsconversion riconversion riconversion righghghtststs 201,89822201,8901,8901,89888 216,893216,89216,89216,89333

Weighted averageWeighted averageWeighted averageWeighted average

 number of shares used in number of shares used i number of shares used i number of shares used innn

 calculating diluted earnings per share calculatin calculatin calculatinggg diluted earnin diluted earnin diluted earningggs per shars per shars per shareee 899,999888999999,,,999999999 848,2468884448,8,8,242424666

Diluted earnings per share in CHFDDDiluted earnings per share in CHFiluted earnings per share in CHFiluted earnings per share in CHF 3.64333...646464 3.07333...070707

The diluted earnings per share were stated incorrectly in previ-TTThe diluted earnings per share were stated incorrectly in previhe diluted earnings per share were stated incorrectly in previhe diluted earnings per share were stated incorrectly in previ---
ous years because of the use of an erroneous formula. The errorooous us us yyyears because of the use of an erroneous formula. The errorears because of the use of an erroneous formula. The errorears because of the use of an erroneous formula. The error
was used continuously, which is why the absolute number, but was used continuously, which is why the awas used continuously, which is why the awas used continuously, which is why the abbbsolute numsolute numsolute numbbber, er, er, bbbut ut ut 
not the change, was stated incorrectly (correct in previous yearnot the change, was stated incorrectly (correct in previous yearnot the change, was stated incorrectly (correct in previous yearnot the change, was stated incorrectly (correct in previous year
would be 3.07 CHF instead of 2.34 CHF). The breakdown of the would be 3.07 CHF instead of 2.34 CHFwould be 3.07 CHF instead of 2.34 CHFwould be 3.07 CHF instead of 2.34 CHF))). The breakdown of the . The breakdown of the . The breakdown of the 
previous years’ fi gures in the table was adapted accordingly.previous years’ previous years’ previous years’ fififigggures in the table was adapted accordinures in the table was adapted accordinures in the table was adapted accordingggly.ly.ly.

29. Contingent liabilities2229. Contingent liabilitie9. Contingent liabilitie9. Contingent liabilitiesss
1,000 CHF 111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHF HF HF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

Guarantees provided by Infranor Inter AG Guarantees Guarantees Guarantees ppprovided by Infranor Inter AG rovided by Infranor Inter AG rovided by Infranor Inter AG 

for banks and landlordsfffor banks and landlordor banks and landlordor banks and landlordsss 12,7531112,2,2,757575333 12,4031112,402,402,40333

Infranor Inter AG guarantee for collateralisedIIInnnfffranor Inter Aranor Inter Aranor Inter AGGG ggguarantee uarantee uarantee fffor collateraliseor collateraliseor collateraliseddd

debt obligation PULS CDO 2006 – 1debt oblidebt oblidebt obligggation PULS CDation PULS CDation PULS CDOOO 2006 –  2006 –  2006 – 111 8,300888,30,30,30000 8,3008,8,8,300300300

Guarantees furnished to third partiesGuarantees furnished to third Guarantees furnished to third Guarantees furnished to third pppartiesartiesarties 90909090 60666000

TotalTTToooToTTToToToTTToT taltaltal 21,143222111,,,141414333 20,763222000,,,767676333

Group companies drew on bank limits, which are guaranteedGGGroup companies drew on bank limits, which are guaranteedroup companies drew on bank limits, which are guaranteedroup companies drew on bank limits, which are guaranteed
by Infranor Inter AG,  in the amount of 3.2 million CHF (previousbbby Infranor Inter AG,  in the amount of 3.2 million CHF y Infranor Inter AG,  in the amount of 3.2 million CHF y Infranor Inter AG,  in the amount of 3.2 million CHF (((previouspreviousprevious
year 4.1 million CHF) as of the end of April 2008. As of April 30, year 4.1 million CHFyear 4.1 million CHFyear 4.1 million CHF))) as of the end of April 2008. As of April 30,  as of the end of April 2008. As of April 30,  as of the end of April 2008. As of April 30, 
2008, the bank credit limits (with and without guarantees from 222008, the bank credit limits (with and without 008, the bank credit limits (with and without 008, the bank credit limits (with and without ggguarantees from uarantees from uarantees from 
Infranor Inter AG) of all Group companies, including discounting IIInfranor Inter AG) of all Group companies, includinnfranor Inter AG) of all Group companies, includinnfranor Inter AG) of all Group companies, includinggg discountin discountin discountinggg
limits, amounted to a total of 20,1 million CHF (previous year:limits, amounted to a total of 20,1 million CHF limits, amounted to a total of 20,1 million CHF limits, amounted to a total of 20,1 million CHF (((previous year:previous year:previous year:
19.7 million CHF).19.7 million CHF19.7 million CHF19.7 million CHF).).).

30. Pledged assets3330. P0. P0. Pllledededggged assetsed assetsed assets
1,000 CHF111,000 CHF,000 CHF,000 CHF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

Assignment of individual accounts receivableAssignment of individual accounts receivableAssignment of individual accounts receivableAssignment of individual accounts receivable 663666666333 1,224111,224,224,224

TotalTTToooToTTToToToTTToT taltaltal 663663663663 1,224111,,,222222444

The French engineering company and the Spanish engineering TTThe French engineering company and the he French engineering company and the he French engineering company and the SSSpanish engineering panish engineering panish engineering 
company fi nance their current assets partially through assigned company company company fififi nance their current assets partially through assigned  nance their current assets partially through assigned  nance their current assets partially through assigned fi nance their current assets partially through assigned fififi nance their current assets partially through assigned fi nance their current assets partially through assigned fi nance their current assets partially through assigned fififi nance their current assets partially through assigned fi
receivables and discounted bills and checks. receivables and discreceivables and discreceivables and discooounted bills and checks. unted bills and checks. unted bills and checks. 

31. Off-balance sheet obligations under operating leases and3331. 1. 1. OOOff-balance sheet obligations under operating leases andff-balance sheet obligations under operating leases andff-balance sheet obligations under operating leases and
rental agreementsrrrental aental aental agggreementsreementsreements
1,000 CHF1,1,1,000 CHF000 CHF000 CHF 30.04.0830.04.0830.04.0830.04.08 30.04.0730.04.030.04.030.04.0777

ObligationsObliObliObligggationationationsss

– due within one year– due within one year– due within one year– due within one year 1,119111,11,11,11999 1,389111,,,383838999

– due in 1 to 5 years– due in 1 to 5 – due in 1 to 5 – due in 1 to 5 yyyearearearsss 3,3503,3,3,353535000 2,982222,,,999888222

– due over 5 years– – – dddue over 5 ue over 5 ue over 5 yyyearearearsss 1,1781,1,1,178178178 2,1522,2,2,152152152

TotalTotalTotalTotal 5,647555,,,666474747 6,523666,52,52,52333

The obligations consist almost exclusively of rental contractsThe obligations consist almost exclusively oThe obligations consist almost exclusively oThe obligations consist almost exclusively offf rental contracts rental contracts rental contractsf rental contractsfff rental contractsf rental contractsf rental contractsfff rental contractsf
for buildings used by the Group. The longest rental contract still fffor buildinor buildinor buildingggs used by the s used by the s used by the GGGroup. The lonroup. The lonroup. The longggest rental contract still est rental contract still est rental contract still 
has 9 years to run and was drawn up for the Cybelec SA building.hhhas 9 years to run and was drawn up for the Cybelec SA buildinas 9 years to run and was drawn up for the Cybelec SA buildinas 9 years to run and was drawn up for the Cybelec SA buildinggg...
The remaining rent obligation for this contract amounts toThe remaininThe remaininThe remaininggg rent obli rent obli rent obligggation for this contract amounts tation for this contract amounts tation for this contract amounts tooo
3.5 million CHF.333.5 milli.5 milli.5 milliooon CHF.n CHF.n CHF.

32. Transactions with related parties3332. 2. 2. TTTransactions with reransactions with reransactions with reTransactions with reTTTransactions with reTransactions with reTransactions with reTTTransactions with reT lllated partiesated partiesated parties
1,000 CHF111,000 CHF,000 CHF,000 CHF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Gross salaries, bonus, feesGross salariesGross salariesGross salaries,,, bonus bonus bonus,,, fee fee feesss 975999757575 826828282666

Social charges & pension chargesSSSSocial charges & pension chargeocial charges & pension chargeocial charges & pension chargesss

paid by employerpaid paid paid bbby employey employey employerrr 48444888 48484848

Share-based compensationSSShare-based compensationhare-based compensationhare-based compensation 0000 5555

Other compensationOOOther compensatiother compensatiother compensationnn 3333 0000

Compensation paid to executive membersCCComomompppensation ensation ensation pppaid to executive membersaid to executive membersaid to executive members

 of governing bodies o o offf gggoverninoverninoverninggg bodies bodies bodies 1,026111,0,0,0222666 879888777999

Gross salaries, bonus, feesGGGross salaries, bonus, ross salaries, bonus, ross salaries, bonus, fffeeeeeesss 34343434 37373737

Social charges & pension chargesSSSSocial charocial charocial charggges es es &&& pension char pension char pension chargggeeesss

paid by employerpppaid aid aid bbby emy emy emppployeloyeloyerrr 2222 2222

Other compensationOther compensatioOther compensatioOther compensationnn 6666 6666

Compensation paid to non-executive members CCCompensation paid to non-executive members ompensation paid to non-executive members ompensation paid to non-executive members 

of the Board of Directorsooof the Board of Directorsf the Board of Directorsf the Board of Directors 42424242 45454545

Gross salaries, bonus, feesGGGross salariesross salariesross salaries,,, bonus bonus bonus,,, fffeeeeeesss 703703703703 338333333888

Social charges & pension chargesSSSocial charges & pension chargesocial charges & pension chargesocial charges & pension charges

paid by employerpaid by employepaid by employepaid by employerrr 97999777 59595959

Other compensationOOOther comther comther compppensatioensatioensationnn 27272727 6666

Compensation paid to other CCComomompppensation ensation ensation pppaid to other aid to other aid to other 

group management membersgggroup manaroup manaroup managggement memement memement membbbersersers 827888272727 403404040333

Total compensationTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll compensation compensation compensation 1,8951,1,1,888959595 1,3271,1,1,327327327
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For the purpose of comparability, “Other compensation” has FFFor the or the or the pppurururpppose of comose of comose of comppparability, “Other comarability, “Other comarability, “Other compppensation” has ensation” has ensation” has 
been added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures.bbbeen added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fieen added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fieen added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures. gures. gures.een added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures.een added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fieen added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fieen added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures.een added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures.een added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures.een added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fieen added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fieen added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi gures.een added to the classifi cation of the previous years’ fi

The obligatory detailed information according to Section 663b bis The obligatory detailed information according to Section 663b bis The obligatory detailed information according to Section 663b bis The obligatory detailed information according to Section 663b bis 
of the Swiss Code of Obligations concerning purchases made by ooof the Swiss Code of f the Swiss Code of f the Swiss Code of OOObliblibligggations concerninations concerninations concerninggg purchases made by  purchases made by  purchases made by 
offi cers are a constituent part of the annual fi nancial statement oooffiffiffi cers are a constituent  cers are a constituent  cers are a constituent ffi cers are a constituent ffiffiffi cers are a constituent ffi cers are a constituent ffi cers are a constituent ffiffiffi cers are a constituent ffi pppart of the annual fiart of the annual fiart of the annual fi nancial statement  nancial statement  nancial statement art of the annual fi nancial statement art of the annual fiart of the annual fiart of the annual fi nancial statement art of the annual fi nancial statement art of the annual fi nancial statement art of the annual fiart of the annual fiart of the annual fi nancial statement art of the annual fi
made by Infranor Inter AG and are listed in detail on pages 69 mmmade by Infranor Inter AG and are listed in detail on pages 69 ade by Infranor Inter AG and are listed in detail on pages 69 ade by Infranor Inter AG and are listed in detail on pages 69 
and 70.aaand 70nd 70nd 70...

In the 2007/08 fi nancial year, the Group had six executive com-IIIn the 2007/08 fi nancial year, the Groun the 2007/08 fi nancial year, the Groun the 2007/08 fi nancial year, the Grouppp had six executive com- had six executive com- had six executive com-
pany offi cers (executive members of the Board of Directors and pppany offi cers (executive members of the Board of Directors and any offi cers (executive members of the Board of Directors and any offi cers (executive members of the Board of Directors and 
other members of Group Management), of which one personooother members of Group Management), of which one personther members of Group Management), of which one personther members of Group Management), of which one person
was an offi cer for nine months. In the previous year there were was an owas an owas an offiffiffi cer  cer  cer ffi cer ffiffiffi cer ffi cer ffi cer ffiffiffi cer ffi fffor nine months. In the previous year there were or nine months. In the previous year there were or nine months. In the previous year there were 
fi ve executive offi cers, of which one person was an offi cer forfififi ve executive o ve executive o ve executive ofi ve executive ofififi ve executive ofi ve executive ofi ve executive ofififi ve executive ofi ffiffiffi cers, o cers, o cers, offi cers, offiffiffi cers, offi cers, offi cers, offiffiffi cers, offi fff which one person was an o which one person was an o which one person was an of which one person was an offf which one person was an of which one person was an of which one person was an offf which one person was an of ffiffiffi cer  cer  cer ffi cer ffiffiffi cer ffi cer ffi cer ffiffiffi cer ffi fffororor
three months. The compensation for Martin Bölsterli is regulatedthree months. The compensation for Martin Bölsterli is rethree months. The compensation for Martin Bölsterli is rethree months. The compensation for Martin Bölsterli is regggulatedulatedulated
in a management agreement with the sole proprietorship Martin iiin a manan a manan a managggement aement aement agggreement with the sole proprietorship Martin reement with the sole proprietorship Martin reement with the sole proprietorship Martin 
Bölsterli, Zug. The option plan for Martin Bölsterli elapsed on BBBölsterli, Zug. The option plan ölsterli, Zug. The option plan ölsterli, Zug. The option plan fffor Martin Bölsterli elapsed on or Martin Bölsterli elapsed on or Martin Bölsterli elapsed on 
April 30, 2007, and was not renewed. There are no employment April 30, 2007, and was not renewed. There are no employment April 30, 2007, and was not renewed. There are no employment April 30, 2007, and was not renewed. There are no employment 
contracts with non-standard periods of notice (more than one contracts with non-standard periods of notice contracts with non-standard periods of notice contracts with non-standard periods of notice (((more than one more than one more than one 
year) or with severance payment arrangements. No compensation year) or with severance payment arranyear) or with severance payment arranyear) or with severance payment arrangggements. No compensation ements. No compensation ements. No compensation 
has been paid to former offi cers. Compensation is paid to new hhhas been as been as been pppaid to former offiaid to former offiaid to former offi cers. Com cers. Com cers. Comaid to former offi cers. Comaid to former offiaid to former offiaid to former offi cers. Comaid to former offi cers. Comaid to former offi cers. Comaid to former offiaid to former offiaid to former offi cers. Comaid to former offi pppensation is ensation is ensation is pppaid to new aid to new aid to new 
members of Group Management pro rata temporis. mmmembers oembers oembers offf GGGroup Management pro rata temporis. roup Management pro rata temporis. roup Management pro rata temporis. 

Share ownershipSSShare ownershihare ownershihare ownershippp

As the main shareholder, Perrot Duval Holding SA held 74.0 per-As the main shareholder, Perrot Duval Holding As the main shareholder, Perrot Duval Holding As the main shareholder, Perrot Duval Holding SSSA held 74.0 perA held 74.0 perA held 74.0 per---A held 74.0 per-A held 74.0 perA held 74.0 perA held 74.0 per-A held 74.0 per-A held 74.0 per-A held 74.0 perA held 74.0 perA held 74.0 per-A held 74.0 per
cent of the share capital, and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim SA held cent of cent of cent of the share capital, and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim SA held the share capital, and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim SA held the share capital, and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim SA held 
4.7 percent, thus amounting to a total of 78.7 percent of the share 4.7 percent, thus amountin4.7 percent, thus amountin4.7 percent, thus amountinggg to a total of 78.7 percent of the share  to a total of 78.7 percent of the share  to a total of 78.7 percent of the share 
capital as of April 30, 2008 (previous year: 77.3 percent). Therecacacapppital as of Aital as of Aital as of Apppril 30, 2008 (ril 30, 2008 (ril 30, 2008 (ppprevious year: 77.3 revious year: 77.3 revious year: 77.3 pppercent). Thereercent). Thereercent). There
are no other shareholders with more than 3 percent of the voting aaare no other shareholders with more than 3 percent of the voting re no other shareholders with more than 3 percent of the voting re no other shareholders with more than 3 percent of the voting 
rights (in accordance with Section 663c of the Swiss Code of rrrights ights ights (((in accordance with Section 663c of the Swiss Code of in accordance with Section 663c of the Swiss Code of in accordance with Section 663c of the Swiss Code of 
Obligations). OOObliblibligggationsationsations))). . . 

Perrot Duval Holding AG and its subsidiaries have convertedPPPerrot Duval Holdinerrot Duval Holdinerrot Duval Holdinggg AG and its subsidiaries have converted AG and its subsidiaries have converted AG and its subsidiaries have converted
all of its convertible bond holdings for the countervalue ofaaall of its convertible bond holdings for the countervalue ofll of its convertible bond holdings for the countervalue ofll of its convertible bond holdings for the countervalue of
3.68 million CHF (status as of April 30, 2007, according to the3.68 million CHF 3.68 million CHF 3.68 million CHF (((status as of April 30, 2007, according to thestatus as of April 30, 2007, according to thestatus as of April 30, 2007, according to the
annual report) into shares in Infranor Inter as of March 30, 2008.aaannual reportnnual reportnnual report))) into shares in Infranor Inter as of March 30, 2008. into shares in Infranor Inter as of March 30, 2008. into shares in Infranor Inter as of March 30, 2008.

The Board of Directors and Group Management held a total of The Board of Directors and Group ManaThe Board of Directors and Group ManaThe Board of Directors and Group Managggement held a total of ement held a total of ement held a total of 
3558 shares (0.5 percent) in Infranor Inter AG as of April 30, 2008.3558 shares (0.5 3558 shares (0.5 3558 shares (0.5 pppercent) in Infranor Inter AG as of Aercent) in Infranor Inter AG as of Aercent) in Infranor Inter AG as of Apppril 30, 2008.ril 30, 2008.ril 30, 2008.

The Board of Directors of Infranor Inter AG has no knowledge of The Board oThe Board oThe Board offf Directors o Directors o Directors of Directors offf Directors of Directors of Directors offf Directors of fff In In Inf Infff Inf Inf Infff Inf fffranor Inter Aranor Inter Aranor Inter AGGG has no knowledge o has no knowledge o has no knowledge offf
any parties related to members of the Board of Directors or toaaany ny ny ppparties related to members of the Board of Directors or toarties related to members of the Board of Directors or toarties related to members of the Board of Directors or to
Group Management who are shareholders in Infranor Inter AG.GGGroup Manaroup Manaroup Managggement who are shareholders in Infranor Inter AG.ement who are shareholders in Infranor Inter AG.ement who are shareholders in Infranor Inter AG.

Other transactionsOOOther transactionsther transactionsther transactions
1,000 CHF111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHFHFHF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Rent to companies of the Perrot Duval GroupRent to comRent to comRent to compppanies of the Perrot Duval Grouanies of the Perrot Duval Grouanies of the Perrot Duval Grouppp 341333444111 709777000999

Management services providedlManagement services providedlManagement services providedlManagement services providedl

by Perrot Duva Management Ltd.by Perrot Duva Manaby Perrot Duva Manaby Perrot Duva Managggement Ltdement Ltdement Ltd... 498494949888 471444717171

Management services providedManaManaManagggement services providedement services providedement services provided

by ISA Management S.A.by Iby Iby ISSSA Management A Management A Management SSS.A.A.A...

to Perrot Duval Groupttto Perrot Duval o Perrot Duval o Perrot Duval GGGrouprouproup – 33– – – 333333 – 50––– 50 50 50

Legal advice provided by Board memberLLLeeegggal advice provided by Board memberal advice provided by Board memberal advice provided by Board member

Dr. iur R. MüllerDDDr. iur R. Müller. iur R. Müller. iur R. Müllerrr 13111333 11111111

All transactions have been conducted at arm’s length. Apart fromAll transactions have been conducted at arm’s lenAll transactions have been conducted at arm’s lenAll transactions have been conducted at arm’s lengggth. Apart th. Apart th. Apart fffromromrom
the above-mentioned compensation, no further monetary pay-ttthe above-mentioned comhe above-mentioned comhe above-mentioned compppensation, no further monetary ensation, no further monetary ensation, no further monetary pppayayay---
ments were made.mmments were ments were ments were madadadeee...

33. Events after the balance sheet date3333. Ev3. Ev3. Eveeents aftnts aftnts afteeer thr thr theee balanc balanc balanceee sh sh sheeeeeet datt datt dateee

Between the balance sheet date and the date of publication of BBBetween the balance sheet date and the date of etween the balance sheet date and the date of etween the balance sheet date and the date of pppublication of ublication of ublication of 
this Annual Report, no events occurred which could have a ttthis Annual Rehis Annual Rehis Annual Reppport, no events occurred which could have a ort, no events occurred which could have a ort, no events occurred which could have a 
material impact on the consolidated fi nancial statements formmmaterial impact on the consolidated aterial impact on the consolidated aterial impact on the consolidated fififi nancial statements  nancial statements  nancial statements fi nancial statements fififi nancial statements fi nancial statements fi nancial statements fififi nancial statements fi fffororor
2007/08200720072007///080808

34. Proposal of the Board of Directors3334. Pro4. Pro4. Proppposal oosal oosal offf the Board o the Board o the Board offf Directors Directors Directors

The Board of Directors proposed to the Annual Shareholders’TTThe Board of Directors proposed to the Annual Shareholders’he Board of Directors proposed to the Annual Shareholders’he Board of Directors proposed to the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi nancial yearMeetinMeetinMeetinggg on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi nancial year nancial year nancial year on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi nancial year on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi nancial year on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi nancial year on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi nancial year on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi nancial year on September 11, 2008 a dividend for the fi
2007/08 of 2.00 CHF (previous year: 1.50 CHF) per bearer share.2007/08 of 2.00 CHF (2007/08 of 2.00 CHF (2007/08 of 2.00 CHF (ppprevious year: 1.50 CHF) revious year: 1.50 CHF) revious year: 1.50 CHF) ppper bearer share.er bearer share.er bearer share.
This represents a total dividend payment of 1.53 million CHF.TTThis rehis rehis repppresents a total dividend resents a total dividend resents a total dividend pppayment of 1.53 million CHFayment of 1.53 million CHFayment of 1.53 million CHF...ayment of 1.53 million CHF.ayment of 1.53 million CHFayment of 1.53 million CHFayment of 1.53 million CHF.ayment of 1.53 million CHF.ayment of 1.53 million CHF.ayment of 1.53 million CHFayment of 1.53 million CHFayment of 1.53 million CHF.ayment of 1.53 million CHF

35. Approval of the annual fi nancial statements3335. Approval of the annual fi5. Approval of the annual fi5. Approval of the annual fi nancial statement nancial statement nancial statement5. Approval of the annual fi nancial statement5. Approval of the annual fi5. Approval of the annual fi5. Approval of the annual fi nancial statement5. Approval of the annual fi nancial statement5. Approval of the annual fi nancial statement5. Approval of the annual fi5. Approval of the annual fi5. Approval of the annual fi nancial statement5. Approval of the annual fi sss

The consolidated annual fi nancial statements were approved andTTThe consolidated annual fi nancial statements were ahe consolidated annual fi nancial statements were ahe consolidated annual fi nancial statements were apppppproved androved androved and
released for publication by the Board of Directors of Infranorreleased released released fffor publication by the Board oor publication by the Board oor publication by the Board offf Directors o Directors o Directors of Directors offf Directors of Directors of Directors offf Directors of fff In In Inf Infff Inf Inf Infff Inf fffranorranorranor
Inter AG at its meeting on July 4, 2008. The Board of Directors willInter AInter AInter AGGG at its meeting on July 4, 2008. The Board o at its meeting on July 4, 2008. The Board o at its meeting on July 4, 2008. The Board offf Directors will Directors will Directors willf Directors willfff Directors willf Directors willf Directors willfff Directors willf
recommend to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on Septemberrecommend to the Annual Shareholders’ Meetinrecommend to the Annual Shareholders’ Meetinrecommend to the Annual Shareholders’ Meetinggg on September on September on September
11, 2008, that the annual fi nancial statements be approved.11, 2008, that the annual fi nancial statements be a11, 2008, that the annual fi nancial statements be a11, 2008, that the annual fi nancial statements be apppppprovedrovedroved...

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of the Group Auditors

Report of the statutory auditors to the general meeting of

INFRANOR INTER AG, ZÜRICH

As group auditors, we have audited the consolidated fi nancial statements (balance sheet, income 
statement, cash fl ow statement, statement of changes in equity, and notes), pages 32 to 60, of Infranor 
Inter AG for the year ended April 30, 2008. Other auditors have audited the fi nancial statements of
the foreign operations included in the consolidated fi nancial statements.the foreign operations included in the consolidated fi nancial statements.the foreign operations included in the consolidated fi

These consolidated fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements based on our audit. We confi rm that is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements based on our audit. We confi rm that is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements based on our audit. We confi
we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualifi cation and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards and with International Standards 
on Auditing (ISA), which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated fi nancial statements are free of material misstatement. We have exam-
ined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated fi nancial ined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated fi nancial ined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated fi
statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles used, signifi cant estimates made and the 
overall consolidated fi nancial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the fi nancial position, In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the fi nancial position, In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the fi
the results of operations and the cash fl ows of Infranor Inter AG in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

We recommend that the fi nancial statements submitted to you be approved.

July 4, 2008

Deloitte AG

    

Martin Welser   Stefan Weber
Auditor in charge



62



Infranor Inter AG Financial Report

64 Balance Sheet

65 Income Statement

66 Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

71 Appropriation of Available Earnings

73 Statutory Auditor’s Report



 64Infranor Inter AG Financial Report 2007/2008 

Balance Sheet of Infranor Inter AG

CHFCCCHHHFFF NoteNoNoNotetete 30.04.0830.04.030.04.030.04.0888 %%%% 30.04.073330.04.070.04.070.04.07 %%%%

AssetsAAAssetssetssetsss

Current assetsCCCurrurrurreeent assnt assnt asseeetttsss

Cash and cash equivalentsCash and cash equivalentCash and cash equivalentCash and cash equivalentsss 1,007,1011,001,001,00777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7111000111 3,53,53,53,5 1,794,3381,794,331,794,331,794,33888 5,9555,9,9,9

Treasury sharesTTTreasury sharesreasury sharesreasury shares 1111 443,291444444333,,,222919191 1,61,1,1,666 443,291443,29443,29443,29111 1,5111,,,555

Other receivablesOOOther receivablether receivablether receivablesss 2222 17,6001117,6007,6007,600 0,10,0,0,111 8,8508,858,858,85000 0,0000,,,000

Deferred chargesDDDeferred chargeeferred chargeeferred chargesss 3333 5,360555,,,363636000 0,00,00,00,0 9,0369,9,9,036036036 0,0000,0,0,0

Total current assetsTotal currTotal currTotal curreeent assnt assnt asseeetttsss 1,473,3521,1,1,4747473,33,33,3555222 5,25,25,25,2 2,255,5152,2,2,255255255,,,515515515 7,4777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7444

Fixed assetsFixed assetFixed assetFixed assetsss

InvestmentsIIInvestmentsnvestmentsnvestments 4444 21,636,828222111,,,636636636,8,8,8222888 76,3767676,,,333 21,477,795222111,,,477477477,,,477,477477477,477,477,477477477,477777999555 71,2777111,2,2,2

Loans to group companiesLLLoans to group companiesoans to group companiesoans to group companies 5555 5,260,0005,5,5,2626260,0000,0000,000 18,5111888,5,5,5 6,450,000666,,,450450450,,,000000000 21,4222111,,,444

Total fi xed assetsTotal Total Total fififi x x xfi xfififi xfi xfi xfififi xfi eeed assd assd asseeetttsss 26,896,828222666,,,896896896,,,828828828 94,8999444,8,8,8 27,927,79527,927,79527,927,79527,927,795 92,69992,62,62,6

Total assetsTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll asset asset assetsss 28,370,180222888,370,1,370,1,370,1888000 100,011100,00,00,000 30,183,310303030,,,183183183,,,313131000 100,0100,0100,0100,0

LiabilitiesLiabilitiLiabilitiLiabilitieseses

Current liabilitiesCCCurrent liabilitiesurrent liabilitiesurrent liabilities

Current liabilitiesCCCurrent liabilitieurrent liabilitieurrent liabilitiesss 6666 27,273272727,,,27,272727,27,27,272727,27272727333 0,1000,1,1,1 6,482666,,,484848222 0,0000,0,0,0

Loans from group companiesLLLoans from group companieoans from group companieoans from group companiesss 7777 200,00022200,00000,00000,000 0,70,0,0,777 280,000282828000,,,000000000 0,9000,,,999

Accruals and deferred incomeAccruals and deAccruals and deAccruals and deffferred incomeerred incomeerred income 8888 344,401344344344,,,444000111 1,2111,2,2,2 423,168423,16423,16423,16888 1,4111,4,4,4

Total current liabilitiesTotal current liabilitieTotal current liabilitieTotal current liabilitiesss 571,674571,571,571,666777444 2,02,2,2,000 709,6507070709,9,9,666555000 2,32,32,32,3

Long-term liabilitiesLonLonLonggg-term -term -term llliabiiabiiabilllitieitieitiesss

Subordinated convertible bond 2002 – 09SSSubordinated convertible bond 2002 – 0ubordinated convertible bond 2002 – 0ubordinated convertible bond 2002 – 0999 9999 3,380,1603,3,3,380380380,,,160160160 11,9111111,9,9,9 8,683,0008,8,8,666888333,,,000000000 28,828,828,828,8

Total long-term liabilitiesTotal lonTotal lonTotal longgg-term liabilitie-term liabilitie-term liabilitiesss 3,380,160333,380,160,380,160,380,160 11,91111,1,1,999 8,683,0008,683,008,683,008,683,00000 28,82228,8,8,888

Shareholders’ equitySSShareholders’ ehareholders’ ehareholders’ eqqquituituityyy

Share capitalSSShare cahare cahare capppitaitaitalll 10, 11111000,,, 1 1 1111 15,509,920151515,,,555000999,,,929292000 54,7545454,,,777 12,858,500121212,8,8,85558,8,8,505050000 42,6444222,,,666

Legal reserve LLLegal reserve egal reserve egal reserve 12121212 4,485,420444,,,485485485,,,420420420 15,8151515,8,8,8 1,707,5001,707,501,707,501,707,50000 5,7555,7,7,7

Reserve for treasury sharesReserve Reserve Reserve fffor treasury shareor treasury shareor treasury sharesss 12121212 467,12844467,1267,1267,12888 1,61,1,1,666 467,12844467,1267,1267,12888 1,5111,,,555

Balance brought forward from previous yearBalance brouBalance brouBalance brouggght forward from previous yeaht forward from previous yeaht forward from previous yearrr 12121212 4,683,310444,6,6,68883,3103,3103,310 16,516,16,16,555 4,741,876444,,,741741741,,,876876876 15,715,715,715,7

Increase in holding of treasury sharesIIIIncrease in holding of treasury sharencrease in holding of treasury sharencrease in holding of treasury sharesss 12121212 0000 0,00,00,00,0 – 56,801––– 56 56 56 56– 56 56 56– 56,8,8,8000111 – 0,2– 0– 0– 0,2,2,2

Profi t for the yearPPPrororofififi t  t  t fi t fififi t fi t fi t fififi t fi fffor the or the or the yyyearearear 12121212 – 727,432– 7– 7– 7222777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7444323232 – 2,5– – – 2,52,52,5 1,072,457111,,,072072072,,,457457457 3,63,3,3,666

Unappropriated retained earningsUUUnappropriated retained earninnappropriated retained earninnappropriated retained earningsgsgs 12121212 3,955,878333,955,878,955,878,955,878 14,014,14,14,000 5,757,5325,757,535,757,535,757,53222 19,119,19,19,111

Total shareholders’ equityTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll shareho shareho shareholllders’ eders’ eders’ eqqquituituityyy 12121212 24,418,34624,4124,4124,41888,34,34,34666 86,18886,6,6,111 20,790,660202020,79,79,79000,,,660660660 68,968,968,968,9

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equityTotal liabilities and shareholders’ equityTotal liabilities and shareholders’ equityTotal liabilities and shareholders’ equity 28,370,180282828,,,370370370,,,180180180 100,0100,0100,0100,0 30,183,310303030,,,111888333,,,310310310 100,0111000000,0,0,0
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Income Statement of Infranor Inter AG

CHFCCCHHHFFF NoteNNNoteoteote 07/080007/7/7/080808 %%%% 06/07000666///070707 %%%%

Income from investmentsIIIncncncooome frme frme frooom investmentm investmentm investmentsss 13131313 1,942,7721,1,1,942942942,,,777777222 79,6777999,6,6,6 1,491,795111,,,444999111,,,777999555 77,577,577,577,5

Finance incomeFFFinance incominance incominance incomeee 14141414 496,443444969696,,,444444333 20,420,420,420,4 433,137433433433,,,137137137 22,5222222,,,555

Total incomeTotal incomTotal incomTotal incomeee 2,439,2152,2,2,444333999,2,2,2151515 100,0100,0100,0100,0 1,924,9321,924,931,924,931,924,93222 100,011100,00,00,000

General and administrative costsGeneral and administrative cGeneral and administrative cGeneral and administrative cooostststsss 15151515 – 407,677– 407,67– 407,67– 407,67777 – 16,7– 16,7– 16,7– 16,7 – 379,560– 379,5– 379,5– 379,5606060 – 19,7– 1– 1– 1999,7,7,7

Write-downs on investments andWWWrite-drite-drite-dooowns wns wns ooon investments andn investments andn investments and

loans to Group companiesloans to loans to loans to GGGroup companieroup companieroup companiesss 16161616 – 2,398,623––– 2 2 2 2– 2 2 2– 2,,,398398398,,,626262333 – 98,3– 98– 98– 98,,,333 0000 0,0000,0,0,0

Financial expensesFinancial expensesFinancial expensesFinancial expenses 17111777 – 360,347– 360,34– 360,34– 360,34777 – 14,8– 14,– 14,– 14,888 – 425,302– 425,3– 425,3– 425,3020202 – 22,1––– 22, 22, 22,111

Profi t before taxesPPProfirofirofi t before taxe t before taxe t before taxerofi t before taxerofirofirofi t before taxerofi t before taxerofi t before taxerofirofirofi t before taxerofi sss – 727,432– 727– 727– 727,,,– 727,– 727– 727– 727,– 727,– 727,– 727– 727– 727,– 727434343222 – 29,8– 29– 29– 29,8,8,8 1,120,070111,,,120120120,,,070707000 58,2585858,2,2,2

TaxesTaTaTaxexexesss 18181818 0000 0,00,00,00,0 – 47,613– 47,613– 47,613– 47,613 – 2,5– 2,5– 2,5– 2,5

Profi t for the yearPPProfirofirofi t for the  t for the  t for the rofi t for the rofirofirofi t for the rofi t for the rofi t for the rofirofirofi t for the rofi yyyeaeaearrr – 727,432– 727,43– 727,43– 727,43222 – 29,8– 29,– 29,– 29,888 1,072,457111,0,0,0727272,,,457457457 55,755,755,755,7
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

4. Investments444. . . IIInvnvnveeestmstmstmeeentsntsnts

CompaniesCompaniesCompaniesCompanies Number of Number oNumber oNumber offf CurrencyCurrencCurrencCurrencyyy Par valuePaPaPar vr vr vaaalueluelue Nom. ShareNom. SharNom. SharNom. Shareee InterestIIIntntnteeerrreeesssttt 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07333000...0004.4.4.000777

sharesssshhhaaaresresres per shareppper shareer shareer share capital cacacapppital ital ital %%%% 1,000 CHF111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHFHFHF 1,000 CHF 111,,,000 000 000 CCCHF HF HF 

in 1,000in 1in 1in 1,,,000000000

Cybelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bains CCCyyybelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bains belec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bains belec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bains 250250250250 CHFCCCHHHFFF 1,000111,,,000000000 250222505050 100100100100 12,40512,4012,4012,40555 10,100111000,1,1,1000000

Infranor Holding S.A., CH-CoppetIIInfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinggg S.A., CH-Coppe S.A., CH-Coppe S.A., CH-Coppettt 2,182222,182,182,182 CHFCCCHHHFFF 500500500500 1,0911,1,1,000919191 100100100100 9,0329,039,039,03222 3,794333,7,7,7999444

ISA Management S.A., CH-CoppetISISISA ManaA ManaA Managggement ement ement SSS.A., CH-Coppe.A., CH-Coppe.A., CH-Coppettt 200200200200 CHFCCCHHHFFF 1,0001,1,1,000000000 200222000000 100100100100 200222000000 100100100100

Mavilor Motors S.A.Mavilor Motors Mavilor Motors Mavilor Motors SSS.A..A..A.

ES-Sta. Perpètua de MogodaES-Sta. PerpES-Sta. PerpES-Sta. Perpèèètua de Mogodtua de Mogodtua de Mogodaaa 2,2502,252,252,25000 EUREEEURURUR 60606060 135131313555 100100100100 0000 4,1834,14,14,1838383

Infranor Holdings USA, Inc., US-Dover IIInfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinnfranor Holdingggs USA, Inc., US-Dover s USA, Inc., US-Dover s USA, Inc., US-Dover 1,6201,1,1,666222000 USDUSDUSDUSD 1111 2222 100100100100 0000 2,301222,3,3,3000111

Infranor Asia Ltd, CH-ZurichIIInfranor Asia Ltdnfranor Asia Ltdnfranor Asia Ltd,,, CH-Zuric CH-Zuric CH-Zurichhh 300300300300 CHFCCCHHHFFF 1,0001,0001,0001,000 300300300300 100100100100 0000 300300300300

Violet Indim S.A., CH-CoppetViolet Indim Violet Indim Violet Indim SSS.A., CH-Co.A., CH-Co.A., CH-Coppppppeeettt 100100100100 CHFCCCHHHFFF 1,0001,1,1,000000000 100111000000 100100100100 0000 100100100100

ISA Innovations S.A., CH-Coppet                          IIISA Innovations S.A., CH-Coppet                          SA Innovations S.A., CH-Coppet                          SA Innovations S.A., CH-Coppet                          SA Innovations S.A., CH-Coppet                          SA Innovations S.A., CH-Coppet                          SA Innovations S.A., CH-Coppet                          50555000 CHFCCCHHHFFF 1,0001,1,1,000000000 50555000 100100100100 0000 600666000000

Total net carrying amountTotal net carryinTotal net carryinTotal net carryinggg amoun amoun amounttt 21,6372221,1,1,637637637 21,47821,47821,47821,478

The investments are subjected to an annual intrinsic value checkThe investments are subThe investments are subThe investments are subjjjected to an annual intrinsic value checkected to an annual intrinsic value checkected to an annual intrinsic value check
using DCF methods on the balance sheet date. In their entirety,uuusinsinsinggg D D DCCCF methods on the balance sheet date. In their entirety,F methods on the balance sheet date. In their entirety,F methods on the balance sheet date. In their entirety,
the investment values that are shown do not exceed the historical ttthhhe investment vae investment vae investment valllues tues tues thhhat are sat are sat are shhhown own own dddo not exceeo not exceeo not exceeddd t t thhhe e e hhhistoricaistoricaistoricalll
acquisition costs. aaacccqqquuuiiisssiiitttiiion costs. on costs. on costs. 

The new strategic alignment into two divisions means that the The new strategic alignment into two divisions means that the The new strategic alignment into two divisions means that the The new strategic alignment into two divisions means that the 
legal structure has been adapted to the operating structure. lelelegggal structure has al structure has al structure has bbbeen adapted to the operatineen adapted to the operatineen adapted to the operatinggg structure.  structure.  structure. 
Infranor Holding SA, Coppet, holds all investments belonging to IIInfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinggg SA, Coppet, holds all investments belon SA, Coppet, holds all investments belon SA, Coppet, holds all investments belonggginininggg to  to  to 
the Infranor Division, and Cybelec SA, Yverdon-les-Bains, is thethe Infranor Division, and Cybelec the Infranor Division, and Cybelec the Infranor Division, and Cybelec SSSA, Yverdon-les-Bains, is theA, Yverdon-les-Bains, is theA, Yverdon-les-Bains, is the
parent company of the Cybelec Division. For this reason, theparent company oparent company oparent company offf the Cybelec Division. For this reason, the the Cybelec Division. For this reason, the the Cybelec Division. For this reason, thef the Cybelec Division. For this reason, thefff the Cybelec Division. For this reason, thef the Cybelec Division. For this reason, thef the Cybelec Division. For this reason, thefff the Cybelec Division. For this reason, thef
investments Mavilor Motors SA, Infranor Holdings USA, Inc., ISA iiinvestments Mavilor Motors SA, Infranor Holdings USA, Inc., ISA nvestments Mavilor Motors SA, Infranor Holdings USA, Inc., ISA nvestments Mavilor Motors SA, Infranor Holdings USA, Inc., ISA 
Innovations SA and Infranor Asia Ltd were transferred to Infranor IIInnovations SA and Infranor Asia Ltd were transferred to Infranor nnovations SA and Infranor Asia Ltd were transferred to Infranor nnovations SA and Infranor Asia Ltd were transferred to Infranor 
Holding SA at book value by means of a capital increase. The HHHoldinoldinoldinggg SSSA at book value by means of a capital increase. The A at book value by means of a capital increase. The A at book value by means of a capital increase. The 
investment Violet-Indim SA was merged with Infranor Holding iiinvestment Violet-Indim nvestment Violet-Indim nvestment Violet-Indim SSSA was merged with Infranor Holding A was merged with Infranor Holding A was merged with Infranor Holding 
SA.SSSA.A.A.

Balance SheetBBBalance Sheetalance Sheetalance Sheet

1. Treasury shares111. Treasury shares. Treasury shares. Treasury shares
07/08000777///080808 06/07060606///000777

NumberNNNumbumbumbererer CHF*CHF*CHF*CHF* NumberNNNumbumbumbeeerrr CHF*CCCHF*HF*HF*

Balance as at 1.5.BaBaBalllance as at 1.5ance as at 1.5ance as at 1.5... 11,11011,1111,1111,11000 443,29144443,29143,29143,291 9,910999,91,91,91000 386,49033386,49086,49086,490

AdditionsAAAdditidditidditiooonnnsss 0000 0000 1,200111,,,202020000 56,801555666,8,8,8000111

DisposalsDDDisposalsisposalsisposals 0000 0000 0000 0000

Balance as at 30.4.BalancBalancBalanceee as at 30.4. as at 30.4. as at 30.4. 11,11011,1111,1111,11000 443,291444444333,,,222919191 11,11011,1111,1111,11000 443,29144443,2943,2943,29111

*  Acquisition cost*  *  *  AcAcAcqqquisition costuisition costuisition cost

The holding of treasury stock is used to cover an optionsThe holdinThe holdinThe holdinggg o o offf treasury stock is used to cover an options treasury stock is used to cover an options treasury stock is used to cover an optionsf treasury stock is used to cover an optionsfff treasury stock is used to cover an optionsf treasury stock is used to cover an optionsf treasury stock is used to cover an optionsfff treasury stock is used to cover an optionsf
program that expired on April 30, 2007, and was not extended. proproprogggram that expired on ram that expired on ram that expired on AAApril 30, 2007, and was not extended. pril 30, 2007, and was not extended. pril 30, 2007, and was not extended. 
Further details can be found in Note 21.5 on page 57 of theFFFurther details can be found in Note 21.5 on paurther details can be found in Note 21.5 on paurther details can be found in Note 21.5 on paggge 57 of thee 57 of thee 57 of the
consolidated annual fi nancial statement.cccooonsnsnsooolidated annual lidated annual lidated annual fififi nancial statement. nancial statement. nancial statement.fi nancial statement.fififi nancial statement.fi nancial statement.fi nancial statement.fififi nancial statement.fi

2. Other receivables2. 2. 2. OOOther receivablether receivablether receivablesss

Only withholding-tax assets are shown under this heading. OOOnly withholding-tax assets are shown under this heading. nly withholding-tax assets are shown under this heading. nly withholding-tax assets are shown under this heading. 

3. Deferred income333. Deferred incom. Deferred incom. Deferred incomeee

The “Deferred income” item mainly consists of accruals forTTThe “Dehe “Dehe “Deffferred income” item mainly consists oerred income” item mainly consists oerred income” item mainly consists offf accruals  accruals  accruals f accruals fff accruals f accruals f accruals fff accruals f fffororor
SWX charges.SWX chargesSWX chargesSWX charges...

5. Loans to Group companies555. Loans to . Loans to . Loans to GGGroup companiesroup companiesroup companies
CHFCCCHFHFHF 30.04.083330.04.080.04.080.04.08 30.04.0730.04.030.04.030.04.0777

Infranor Holding S.A., CH-CoppetIIInfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinggg S.A., CH-Coppet S.A., CH-Coppet S.A., CH-Coppet 3,460,000333,460,00,460,00,460,00000 1,460,000111,4,4,4606060,,,000000000

Cybelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-BainsCybelec Cybelec Cybelec SSS.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bain.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bain.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bainsss 1,800,000111,8,8,8000000,,,000000000 2,800,000222,,,800800800,,,000000000

Infranor Holdings US, Inc., USA-DoverIIInfranor Holdings Unfranor Holdings Unfranor Holdings USSS, Inc., U, Inc., U, Inc., USSSA-DoverA-DoverA-Dover 0000 2,190,0002,2,2,190190190,,,000000000

TotalTotalTotalTotal 5,260,0005,5,5,2626260,0000,0000,000 6,450,000666,450,000,450,000,450,000

Due to the loan increase to Infranor Holding SA, its subsidiariesDue to the loan increase to Infranor Holding Due to the loan increase to Infranor Holding Due to the loan increase to Infranor Holding SSSA, its subsidiariesA, its subsidiariesA, its subsidiaries
were able to make early repayment of liabilities due to banks for wwwere able to make early repayment oere able to make early repayment oere able to make early repayment offf liabilities due to banks  liabilities due to banks  liabilities due to banks f liabilities due to banks fff liabilities due to banks f liabilities due to banks f liabilities due to banks fff liabilities due to banks f fffor or or 
the equivalent amount. The loan to Infranor Holdings USA, Inc. ttthe equivalent amount. The loan to Infranor Holdinhe equivalent amount. The loan to Infranor Holdinhe equivalent amount. The loan to Infranor Holdingggs USA, Inc. s USA, Inc. s USA, Inc. 
was written off completely during the course of statutory balancewwwas written off completely durinas written off completely durinas written off completely duringgg the course of statutory balance the course of statutory balance the course of statutory balance
sheet reorganisation of the US companies.sheet reorganisation of the Usheet reorganisation of the Usheet reorganisation of the USSS companies. companies. companies.
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6. Current liabilities6. Current liabilities6. Current liabilities6. Current liabilities
CHFCCCHHHFFF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

Debts towards third partiesDDDeeebbbts towards third ts towards third ts towards third pppartieartieartiesss 19,243111999,,,242424333 6,4826,6,6,444828282

Debts towardsDDDebts towardebts towardebts towardsss

group companiesgggroup companroup companroup companiiieeesss 8,030888,03,03,03000 0000

TotalToToTotatatalll 27,2732227,277,277,27333 6,482666,48,48,48222

7. Loans from Group companies7. Loans from Grou7. Loans from Grou7. Loans from Grouppp com com compppanieanieaniesss
CHFCCCHHHFFF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

ISA Innovations S.A., CH-CoppetISISISA Innovations A Innovations A Innovations SSS.A., CH-Co.A., CH-Co.A., CH-Coppppppeeettt 200,00022200,00000,00000,000 200,000200200200,,,000000000

Violet-Indim S.A., CH-CoppetViolet-Indim S.A., CH-CoppeViolet-Indim S.A., CH-CoppeViolet-Indim S.A., CH-Coppettt 0000 80,0008880,0000,0000,000

TotalTotalTotalTotal 200,000200,00200,00200,00000 280,000280,000280,000280,000

8. Accruals and deferred income888. Accruals and d. Accruals and d. Accruals and deeefffeeerrrrrreeed incomd incomd incomeee
CHFCCCHHHFFF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07333000...0004.4.4.070707

Annual report and annual shareholders’ meetingAAAnnual report and annual shareholdersnnual report and annual shareholdersnnual report and annual shareholders’’’ meetin meetin meetinggg 168,6451116668,8,8,645645645 168,737168168168,,,737373777

Interest on convertible bondsIIInterest on convertinterest on convertinterest on convertibbble le le bbbondsondsonds 60,658666000,,,656565888 144,717111444444,,,717171777

Auditing expensesAuditing expenseAuditing expenseAuditing expensesss 74,54474,74,74,555444444 70,18670,170,170,1868686

Taxes / miscellaneousTTTaxes / miscellaneouaxes / miscellaneouaxes / miscellaneouTaxes / miscellaneouTTTaxes / miscellaneouTaxes / miscellaneouTaxes / miscellaneouTTTaxes / miscellaneouT sss 40,5544440,550,550,55444 39,52839,5239,5239,52888

TotalToToTotatatalll 344,40133344,4044,4044,40111 423,168444232323,,,161616888

9. Subordinated convertible bond 2002 – 2009999. Subordinat. Subordinat. Subordinateeed convd convd conveeertiblrtiblrtibleee bond 2002 – 2009 bond 2002 – 2009 bond 2002 – 2009
CHFCCCHHHFFF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

Par value of subordinated convertible bondPPPar valuar valuar valueee o o offf subordinat subordinat subordinateeed convd convd conveeertiblrtiblrtibleee bond bond bond

as at 1.5.asasas at  at  at 111...555... 8,683,000888,,,683683683,,,000000000 8,768,0008,8,8,7676768,8,8,000000000

Converted Converted Converted Converted – 5,302,840––– 5,302,84 5,302,84 5,302,84000 – 85,000– 85,000– 85,000– 85,000

Paid backPaPaPaid bid bid baaaccckkk 0000 0000

Par value of subordinated convertible bondPPPar value of subordinated convertible bondar value of subordinated convertible bondar value of subordinated convertible bond

as at 30.4.aaas at 3s at 3s at 3000.4..4..4. 3,380,160333,,,380380380,,,161616000 8,683,0008,8,8,666888333,,,000000000

A seven-year subordinated convertible bond was issued on A seven-year subordinated convertible bond was issued on A seven-year subordinated convertible bond was issued on A seven-year subordinated convertible bond was issued on 
December 18, 2002. The bond carries a coupon of 5 percent.DDDecember 18, 2002. The bond carries a coupon oecember 18, 2002. The bond carries a coupon oecember 18, 2002. The bond carries a coupon offf 5 percent. 5 percent. 5 percent.f 5 percent.fff 5 percent.f 5 percent.f 5 percent.fff 5 percent.f
Bondholders are entitled to convert four bonds, each with a par BBBondholders are entitled to convert ondholders are entitled to convert ondholders are entitled to convert fffour bonds, each with a par our bonds, each with a par our bonds, each with a par 
value of 10.00 CHF, into one new Infranor Inter AG bearer share value of 10.00 CHFvalue of 10.00 CHFvalue of 10.00 CHF,,,value of 10.00 CHF,value of 10.00 CHFvalue of 10.00 CHFvalue of 10.00 CHF,value of 10.00 CHF,value of 10.00 CHF,value of 10.00 CHFvalue of 10.00 CHFvalue of 10.00 CHF,value of 10.00 CHF into one new Infranor Inter AG bearer share  into one new Infranor Inter AG bearer share  into one new Infranor Inter AG bearer share 
with a par value of 20.00 CHF between June 16, 2003, andwith a with a with a pppar value of 20.00 CHF between June 16, 2003, andar value of 20.00 CHF between June 16, 2003, andar value of 20.00 CHF between June 16, 2003, and
December 11, 2009. According to Point 5.3 of the terms of the DDDecember 11, 2009. According to Point 5.3 of the terms of the ecember 11, 2009. According to Point 5.3 of the terms of the ecember 11, 2009. According to Point 5.3 of the terms of the 
bond issue, the bond may be repaid at par, in part or in full,bbbond issue, the bond may be repaid at par, in part or in ond issue, the bond may be repaid at par, in part or in ond issue, the bond may be repaid at par, in part or in fffullullull,,,
from June 16, 2003, onwards. According to Point 5.2, the bond fffrom June 16, 2003, onwards. According to Point 5.2, the bond rom June 16, 2003, onwards. According to Point 5.2, the bond rom June 16, 2003, onwards. According to Point 5.2, the bond 
may be repaid by the issuer at any time prior to maturity at par mmmay ay ay bbbe ree ree repppaid aid aid bbby the issuer at any time y the issuer at any time y the issuer at any time ppprior to maturity at rior to maturity at rior to maturity at pppar ar ar 
plus accrued interest from December 18, 2007, provided that theppplus accrued interest from December 18, 2007, lus accrued interest from December 18, 2007, lus accrued interest from December 18, 2007, ppprovided that therovided that therovided that the
issuer observes a notice period of 30 calendar days.iiissuer observes a notice period ossuer observes a notice period ossuer observes a notice period offf 30 calendar days. 30 calendar days. 30 calendar days.f 30 calendar days.fff 30 calendar days.f 30 calendar days.f 30 calendar days.fff 30 calendar days.f

Perrot Duval Holding SA and its 100 percent subsidiary Bleu-PPPerrot Duval Holding SA and its 100 percent subsidiary Bleu-errot Duval Holding SA and its 100 percent subsidiary Bleu-errot Duval Holding SA and its 100 percent subsidiary Bleu-
Indim SA converted all of its bonds on March 30, 2008. BecauseIIIndim SA converted all of its bonds on March 30, 2008. Becausendim SA converted all of its bonds on March 30, 2008. Becausendim SA converted all of its bonds on March 30, 2008. Because
third-party bond holders also converted bonds, the investment third-third-third-ppparty bond holders also converted bonds, the investment arty bond holders also converted bonds, the investment arty bond holders also converted bonds, the investment 
ratio of Perrot Duval Holding SA and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim SA rrratio of Perrot Duval Holding atio of Perrot Duval Holding atio of Perrot Duval Holding SSSA and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim A and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim A and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim SSSA A A 
increased only slightly from 77.3 percent to 78.7 percent.iiincreased only slightly ncreased only slightly ncreased only slightly fffrom 77.3 percent to 78.7 percent.rom 77.3 percent to 78.7 percent.rom 77.3 percent to 78.7 percent.

10. Share capital1110. Share ca0. Share ca0. Share capppitaitaitalll
Number of bearer shares issuedNumber Number Number ooof bearer shares issuef bearer shares issuef bearer shares issueddd 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.000777

With a par value of 20.00 CHFWith a With a With a pppar value of 20.00 CHar value of 20.00 CHar value of 20.00 CHFFF no.nonono... 775,496777757575,,,496496496 642,925642642642,,,925925925

Share capital as at 30.4.SSShare cahare cahare capppital as at 30.4ital as at 30.4ital as at 30.4... CHFCHCHCHFFF 15,509,920111555,,,555000999,,,929292000 12,858,50012,12,12,888555888,50,50,50000

Conditional capital (177,004 sharesConditional capital Conditional capital Conditional capital (((177,004 shares177,004 shares177,004 shares

with a par value of 20.00 CHF)with a with a with a pppar value of 20.00 CHF)ar value of 20.00 CHF)ar value of 20.00 CHF) CHFCCCHHHFFF 3,540,0803,540,03,540,03,540,0888000 6,191,500666,191,5,191,5,191,5000000

Treasury sharesTTTreasurreasurreasuryyy shares shares shares no.nonono... 11,110111111,,,111111000 11,110111111,,,111111000

The conditional capital was created for the issue of the convertibleTTThe conditional cahe conditional cahe conditional capppital was created for the issue of the convertibleital was created for the issue of the convertibleital was created for the issue of the convertible
bond of December 18, 2002, together with the conversion of bank bbbond of December 18, 2002, together with the conversion of bank ond of December 18, 2002, together with the conversion of bank ond of December 18, 2002, together with the conversion of bank 
debt.dddeeebtbtbt...

In the year under review, 530,284 convertible bonds amountingIIIn the year under review, 530,284 convertin the year under review, 530,284 convertin the year under review, 530,284 convertibbble le le bbbonds amountinonds amountinonds amountinggg
to 5,302,840 CHF were converted into 132,571 bearer sharesttto 5,302,840 CHF were converted into 132,571 bearer shareso 5,302,840 CHF were converted into 132,571 bearer shareso 5,302,840 CHF were converted into 132,571 bearer shares
at a nominal price of 20.00 CHF. The premium amounted toat a nominal at a nominal at a nominal ppprice of 20.00 CHF. The rice of 20.00 CHF. The rice of 20.00 CHF. The pppremium amounted toremium amounted toremium amounted to
2,651,420 CHF.222,,,651651651,,,420 CHF.420 CHF.420 CHF.

Infranor Inter AG therefore holds a total of 11,110 treasury sharesInfranor Inter AG therefore holds a total of 11,110 treasurInfranor Inter AG therefore holds a total of 11,110 treasurInfranor Inter AG therefore holds a total of 11,110 treasuryyy shares shares shares
in accordance with Note 1 on page 66. Because the option plan in accordance with in accordance with in accordance with NNNote 1 on paote 1 on paote 1 on paggge 66. e 66. e 66. BBBecause the option plan ecause the option plan ecause the option plan 
expired on April 30, 2007, without being renewed, no increaseexpired on April 30, 2007, without being renewed, no increaseexpired on April 30, 2007, without being renewed, no increaseexpired on April 30, 2007, without being renewed, no increase
was required.wwwas required.as required.as required.

The bearer shares are listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange inTTThe bearer shares are listed on the SWX Swiss Exchanhe bearer shares are listed on the SWX Swiss Exchanhe bearer shares are listed on the SWX Swiss Exchanggge ine ine in
Zurich. Security no. 724 910; Telekurs and Swissquote: INI;Zurich. Security no. 724 910; Telekurs and SwissZurich. Security no. 724 910; Telekurs and SwissZurich. Security no. 724 910; Telekurs and Swissqqquote: INIuote: INIuote: INI;;;
Thomson Reuters: INI.S.TTThhhooomsmsmsooon Reuters: INI.n Reuters: INI.n Reuters: INI.SSS...

11.Share ownership1111.Share ownershi1.Share ownershi1.Share ownershippp

As the main shareholder, Perrot Duval Holding SA held 74.0 per-As the main shareholder, Perrot Duval HoldinAs the main shareholder, Perrot Duval HoldinAs the main shareholder, Perrot Duval Holdinggg SSSA held 74.0 per-A held 74.0 per-A held 74.0 per-
cent of the share capital, and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim SA held cent of the cent of the cent of the share capital, and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim share capital, and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim share capital, and its subsidiary Bleu-Indim SSSA held A held A held 
4.7 percent for a total of 78.7 percent as of April 30, 2008 (previous4.7 percent for a total of 78.7 percent as of April 30, 2008 4.7 percent for a total of 78.7 percent as of April 30, 2008 4.7 percent for a total of 78.7 percent as of April 30, 2008 (((previouspreviousprevious
year: total of 77.3 percent).yyyear: total of 77.3 ear: total of 77.3 ear: total of 77.3 pppercent)ercent)ercent)...

 There are no other shareholders with more than 3 percent of the  There are no other shareholders with more than 3  There are no other shareholders with more than 3  There are no other shareholders with more than 3 pppercent of the ercent of the ercent of the 
voting rights (under Section 663c of the Swiss Code of Obliga-vvvoting rights oting rights oting rights (((under Section 663c of the Swiss Code of Obliga-under Section 663c of the Swiss Code of Obliga-under Section 663c of the Swiss Code of Obliga-
tions). The Board of Directors and Group Management held atttionsionsions))). The Board of Directors and Group Management held a. The Board of Directors and Group Management held a. The Board of Directors and Group Management held a
total of 3,558 shares (0.5 percent) in Infranor Inter AG as of April tttotal of 3,558 shares (0.5 otal of 3,558 shares (0.5 otal of 3,558 shares (0.5 pppercent) in Infranor Inter AG as of Aercent) in Infranor Inter AG as of Aercent) in Infranor Inter AG as of Apppril ril ril 
30, 2008.30, 2008.30, 2008.30, 2008.
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12. Shareholders’ equity1112. Shareholders’ e2. Shareholders’ e2. Shareholders’ eqqquituituityyy
ShareSSSharharhareee LegalLLLeeegggalalal ReserveRRReserveeserveeserve Unappro-UUUnananapppppprororo--- TotalTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll

capitalcccaaapppitalitalital reserverereressseeervrvrveee for treasuryfor treasurfor treasurfor treasuryyy priatedpppriateriateriateddd

sharesssshhharesaresares retainedretaineretaineretaineddd

earningsearnearnearniiingngngsss

Balance as at 1.5.BaBaBalllance as at 1.5ance as at 1.5ance as at 1.5... 12,858,50012,858,50012,858,50012,858,500 1,707,500111,7,7,70007,57,57,5000000 467,128467,12467,12467,12888 5,757,5325,757,55,757,55,757,5323232 20,790,6602220,790,660,790,660,790,66000

Appropriation of earningsAppropriation of earninAppropriation of earninAppropriation of earningsgsgs 126,500126126126,,,500500500 – 126,500––– 126 126 126,,,500500500 0000

DividendDDDividividivideeendndnd – 947,722– 947– 947– 947,,,– 947,– 947– 947– 947,– 947,– 947,– 947– 947– 947,– 947727272222 – 947,722––– 947 947 947,,, 947, 947 947 947, 947, 947, 947 947 947, 947777222222

Increase in share capital as a result of convertible bondIIIncrease in share capital as a result oncrease in share capital as a result oncrease in share capital as a result offf convertible bon convertible bon convertible bonf convertible bonfff convertible bonf convertible bonf convertible bonfff convertible bonf ddd 2,651,420222,,,66651,4251,4251,42000 2,651,420222,,,66651,4251,4251,42000 5,302,840555,302,84,302,84,302,84000

Loss for the fi nancial yearLLLoss for the fioss for the fioss for the fi nancial year nancial year nancial yeaross for the fi nancial yeaross for the fioss for the fioss for the fi nancial yeaross for the fi nancial yeaross for the fi nancial yeaross for the fioss for the fioss for the fi nancial yeaross for the fi – 727,432– 7– 7– 72227,47,47,4323232 – 727,432––– 727,43 727,43 727,43222

Balance as at 30.4.BaBaBalllance as at 30.4.ance as at 30.4.ance as at 30.4. 15,509,920151515,,,509509509,,,920920920 4,485,420444,,,485485485,,,420420420 467,128467467467,,,467,467467467,467,467,467467467,467121212888 3,955,878333,,,955955955,,,878787888 24,418,346242424,,,4141418,8,8,343434666

Income StatementIIIncome Statementncome Statementncome Statement

13. Income from investments1113. Incom3. Incom3. Incomeee fffrom invrom invrom inveeestmstmstmeeentntntsss
CHFCCCHHHFFF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Cybelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-BainsCybelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-BainCybelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-BainCybelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bainsss 900,000900,00900,00900,00000 500,000555000000,,,000000000

Mavilor Motors S.A., ES-Sta. Perpètua de MogodaMavilor Motors S.A., ES-Sta. PerpMavilor Motors S.A., ES-Sta. PerpMavilor Motors S.A., ES-Sta. Perpèèètua de Motua de Motua de Mogggodaodaoda 526,772555262626,,,772772772 472,2954447772,2952,2952,295

Infranor Holding S.A., CH-CoppetIIInfranor Holding nfranor Holding nfranor Holding SSS.A., CH-Coppe.A., CH-Coppe.A., CH-Coppettt 360,0003336660,0000,0000,000 500,000500500500,,,000000000

ISA Innovations SA, CH-CoppetIIISA Innovations SA, CH-CoppeSA Innovations SA, CH-CoppeSA Innovations SA, CH-Coppettt 110,0001111110,0000,0000,000 19,5001119,5009,5009,500

ISA Management SA, CH-CoppetIIISA ManaSA ManaSA Managggement SA, CH-Coppeement SA, CH-Coppeement SA, CH-Coppettt 46,00046,0046,0046,00000 0000

TotalToToTotatatalll 1,942,772111,942,772,942,772,942,772 1,491,795111,,,444999111,,,777959595

14. Finance income1114. 4. 4. FiFiFinancnancnanceee iiincomncomncomeee
CHFCCCHHHFFF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Interest income IIInterest incnterest incnterest incooome me me 

Cybelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-BainsCCCyyybelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bainbelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bainbelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les-Bainsss 178,480111787878,,,484848000 164,771164164164,,,777777111

Infranor Holding S.A., CH-CoppetIIInfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinggg S.A., CH-Coppet S.A., CH-Coppet S.A., CH-Coppet 80,3008880,300,300,30000 142,32011142,3242,3242,32000

Infranor Holdings USA Inc, US-DoverIIInfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinnfranor Holdingggs USA Inc, US-Doves USA Inc, US-Doves USA Inc, US-Doverrr 179,477111777999,477,477,477 103,2061110003,23,23,2060606

ISA Managment S.A., CH-CoppetISISISA ManaA ManaA Managggment ment ment SSS.A., CH-Coppet.A., CH-Coppet.A., CH-Coppet 5,9595,5,5,959595999 0000

Infranor Asia Ltd, ZurichIIInfranor Asia Ltdnfranor Asia Ltdnfranor Asia Ltd,,, Zurich Zurich Zurich 0000 4,0094,4,4,000000999

Subtotal interest income from group companiesSSSubtotal interest income ubtotal interest income ubtotal interest income fffrom rom rom gggroup companieroup companieroup companiesss 444,216444444444,2,2,2111666 414,306414,30414,30414,30666

Bank interest BBBaaank interest nk interest nk interest 35,54233335,545,545,54222 18,8311118,838,838,83111

Foreign exchange gainsForeiForeiForeigggn exchann exchann exchanggge e e gggainainainsss 16,68516,616,616,6888555 0000

TotalToToTotatatalll 496,443496496496,,,444444333 433,137433,433,433,111373737

15. General and administrative costs1115. General and administrative cost5. General and administrative cost5. General and administrative costsss
CHFCCCHFHFHF 07/08000777/08/08/08 06/07060606///000777

Personnel costsPPPersonnel costsersonnel costsersonnel costs – 38,507––– 38 38 38,,,507507507 – 39,573– 39– 39– 39,,,575757333

Auditing costs for holding company & groupAuditinAuditinAuditinggg costs for holdin costs for holdin costs for holdinggg company &  company &  company & gggrourourouppp – 80,000––– 80,00 80,00 80,00000 – 94,000– 94,– 94,– 94,000000000

Tax on capital and other taxesTTTax on caax on caax on caTax on caTTTax on caTax on caTax on caTTTax on caT pppital and other taxeital and other taxeital and other taxesss – 8,902– – – 888,902,902,902 – 24,989– 24,98– 24,98– 24,98999

Publications & General AssemblyPPPublications ublications ublications &&& General Assembl General Assembl General Assemblyyy – 207,406––– 207 207 207,,, 207, 207 207 207, 207, 207, 207 207 207, 207404040666 – 180,000– 180– 180– 180,,,000000000

Other administrative expenseOther administrative exOther administrative exOther administrative expppenseenseense – 72,862––– 72 72 72,,,862862862 – 40,998– 40– 40– 40,,,999999888

TotalTTToooToTTToToToTTToT taltaltal – 407,677––– 4 4 4000777,,,7,777,7,7,777,7677677677 – 379,560––– 379,560 379,560 379,560

16. Write-downs on investments and loans to Group companies1116. Write-downs on investments and loans to 6. Write-downs on investments and loans to 6. Write-downs on investments and loans to GGGrourourouppp com com compppanieanieaniesss
CHFCHCHCHFFF 07/08000777///080808 06/07060606///000777

Write-down on loan to:WWWrite-drite-drite-dooown wn wn ooon ln ln loooan tan tan tooo:::

Infranor Holdings USA, Inc., US-DoverIIInfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinnfranor Holdingggs Us Us USSSA, Inc., UA, Inc., UA, Inc., USSS-Dover-Dover-Dover – 2,557,656– 2,557,65– 2,557,65– 2,557,65666 0000

Write-down on investments:WWWrite-drite-drite-dooown wn wn ooon investments:n investments:n investments:

Infranor Asia Ltd, CH-ZürichIIInnnfffranor Asia Ltdranor Asia Ltdranor Asia Ltd,,, CH-Züric CH-Züric CH-Zürichhh – 300,000––– 3 3 300,00000,00000,000 0000

Infranor Holdings USA, Inc., US-DoverIIInfranor Holdinnfranor Holdinnfranor Holdingggs USA, Inc., US-Dovers USA, Inc., US-Dovers USA, Inc., US-Dover – 2,000,905––– 2,000,905 2,000,905 2,000,905 0000

Recapture of depreciation:Recapture of depreciationRecapture of depreciationRecapture of depreciation:::

below cost of acquisitionbelow cost of acbelow cost of acbelow cost of acqqquisitiouisitiouisitionnn

Cybelec S.A., CH-Yverdon-les BainsCCCyyybelec belec belec SSS.A., CH-Yverdon-les Bain.A., CH-Yverdon-les Bain.A., CH-Yverdon-les Bainsss 2,304,940222,,,333000444,,,949494000 0000

ISA Management S.A., CH-CoppetIIISA Management S.A., CH-CoppeSA Management S.A., CH-CoppeSA Management S.A., CH-Coppettt 99,999999999,,,999999999 0000

ISA Innovation S.A., CH-CoppetIIIISA Innovation S.A., CH-CoppeSA Innovation S.A., CH-CoppeSA Innovation S.A., CH-Coppettt 54,99954,54,54,999999999 0000

TotalToToTotatatalll – 2,398,623––– 2,39 2,39 2,39888,62,62,62333 0000

The revaluation of investments and loans to Group companiesThe revaluation of investments and loans to GrouThe revaluation of investments and loans to GrouThe revaluation of investments and loans to Grouppp com com compppaniesaniesanies
is explained in Notes 4 and 5 on page 66. The US companiesiiis explained in Notes 4 and 5 on pas explained in Notes 4 and 5 on pas explained in Notes 4 and 5 on paggge 66. The US companiese 66. The US companiese 66. The US companies
were reorganised before the transfer to Infranor Holding AG.  were reorwere reorwere reorggganised before the transfer to Infranor Holdinanised before the transfer to Infranor Holdinanised before the transfer to Infranor Holdinggg AG.   AG.   AG.  
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17. Finance costs1117. 7. 7. FiFiFinance costnance costnance costsss
CHFCCCHHHFFF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07060606///000777

Interest paid on convertible bondIIInterest nterest nterest pppaid on convertiaid on convertiaid on convertibbble le le bbbondondond – 432,650––– 432 432 432 432– 432 432 432– 432,,,656565000 – 438,400––– 43 43 438,8,8,400400400

Change to interest accrualsChange to interest accrualsChange to interest accrualsChange to interest accruals

for convertible bondfofofor cr cr cooonvertible bnvertible bnvertible booonnnddd 84,0598884,054,054,05999 14,73014,7314,7314,73000

Bank interest and FX transaction lossBanBanBanBankkk interest and FX transacti interest and FX transacti interest and FX transactiooon ln ln looossssss – 4,330– 4,33– 4,33– 4,33000 – 1,632––– 1, 1, 1,666333222

Subtotal fi nance costs paid to third parties   SSSubtotal ubtotal ubtotal fififi nance costs  nance costs  nance costs fi nance costs fififi nance costs fi nance costs fi nance costs fififi nance costs fi pppaid to third aid to third aid to third ppparties   arties   arties   – 352,921––– 352 352 352 352– 352 352 352– 352,,,929292111 – 425,302– 425– 425– 425,,,303030222

Interest ISA Innovations S.A., CH-CoppetIIInterest ISA Innovations S.A., CH-Coppenterest ISA Innovations S.A., CH-Coppenterest ISA Innovations S.A., CH-Coppettt – 3,426– – – 3,3,3,444262626 0000

Interest Violet-Indim S.A., CH-CoppetIIInterest Violet-Indim S.A., CH-Coppenterest Violet-Indim S.A., CH-Coppenterest Violet-Indim S.A., CH-Coppettt – 4,000– 4,00– 4,00– 4,00000 0000

Subtotal fi nance costs paid to group companiesSSSubtotal fi nance costs paid to group companiesubtotal fi nance costs paid to group companiesubtotal fi nance costs paid to group companies – 7,426––– 7,42 7,42 7,42666 0000

TotalToToTotatatalll – 360,347––– 360 360 360,,,347347347 – 425,302– 425– 425– 425,,,303030222

18.Taxes 

Taxes on earnings in the previous year (47,613 CHF) arose from 
the Spanish basic tax on dividends. Because of the double-
taxation agreement with Spain, this ceased to apply in the fi nancial taxation agreement with Spain, this ceased to apply in the fi nancial taxation agreement with Spain, this ceased to apply in the fi
year just ending. 

19. Compensation, loans and investments made by members of the Board of Directors and Group Management1119. Compensation, loans and investments made by members of the Board of Directors and Group Management9. Compensation, loans and investments made by members of the Board of Directors and Group Management9. Compensation, loans and investments made by members of the Board of Directors and Group Management
Pension fund &PPPensiensiensiooon fund n fund n fund &&&

Fixed grossFFFixed grosixed grosixed grossss Variable grossVVVariaariaariaVariaVVVariaVariaVariaVVVariaV bbble grosle grosle grossss social securitysocial securitsocial securitsocial securityyy

CHFCCCHHHFFF remunerationremunerationremunerationremuneration remunerationremuneratioremuneratioremunerationnn chargeschchchargeargeargesss OthersOthersOthersOthers TotalTTToooToTTToToToTTToT taltaltal

Board of directorsBoard of dirBoard of dirBoard of direeectorsctorsctors

Nicolas EichenbergerNicolas EichenberNicolas EichenberNicolas Eichenbergggererer ChairmanCCChhhaaairmirmirmaaannn 152,000152,152,152,000000000 81,0008881,001,001,00000 18,05418,05418,05418,054 0000 251,05422251,0551,0551,05444

Martin Bölsterli *)Martin Bölsterli *Martin Bölsterli *Martin Bölsterli *))) Delegate of the Board of DDDeleeleelegggate of the Board oate of the Board oate of the Board offf

Directors / CEODirectors / CEODirectors / CEODirectors / CEO 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000

François JaquierFranFranFrançççois Jaquieois Jaquieois Jaquierrr DirectorDDDirectorirectorirector 17,00011117,007,007,00000 0000 1,0291,021,021,02999 3,0003,0003,0003,000 21,029212121,0,0,0292929

Richard MüllerRichRichRichaaard Müllerd Müllerd Müllerrr DirectorDDDirectorirectorirector 17,00011117,7,7,000000000 0000 1,0291,1,1,000222999 3,0003,3,3,000000000 21,02921,02921,02921,029

Francesc Cruellas *)Francesc Cruellas *Francesc Cruellas *Francesc Cruellas *))) DirectorDDDirectirectirectooorrr 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000

TotalToToTotatatalll 186,000111888666,,,000000000 81,000888111,,,000000000 20,112202020,,,112112112 6,000666,,,000000000 293,112222939393,,,111111222

Group ManagementGGGroup Manaroup Manaroup Managggementementement

Total Group ManagementTTTotal Group Manaotal Group Manaotal Group ManaTotal Group ManaTTTotal Group ManaTotal Group ManaTotal Group ManaTTTotal Group ManaT gggemenemenementtt 1,094,5001,1,1,00094,594,594,5000000 350,731353535000,73,73,73111 126,864126,864126,864126,864 29,9302229,939,939,93000 1,602,025111,602,025,602,025,602,025

Highest individual compensationHHHiiiggghest individual compensatiohest individual compensatiohest individual compensationnn Martin Bölsterli *)Martin Bölsterli *)Martin Bölsterli *)Martin Bölsterli *) 340,000333404040,,,000000000 82,500888222,,,505050000 0000 0000 422,500422422422,,,505050000

*) Remunerations made to the executive members of corporate bodies Martin Bölsterli and Francesc Cruellas are listed under Group ***) Remunerations made to the executive members of cor) Remunerations made to the executive members of cor) Remunerations made to the executive members of corppporate bodies Martin Bölsterli and Francesc Cruellas are listed under Grouorate bodies Martin Bölsterli and Francesc Cruellas are listed under Grouorate bodies Martin Bölsterli and Francesc Cruellas are listed under Grouppp
Management because they do not receive any direct compensation as members of the Board of Directors of Infranor Inter AG.ManaManaManagggement because they do not receive any direct compensation as members of the Board of Directors of Infranor Inter AG.ement because they do not receive any direct compensation as members of the Board of Directors of Infranor Inter AG.ement because they do not receive any direct compensation as members of the Board of Directors of Infranor Inter AG.

The amounts are gross amounts and include social security 
contributions that must be paid by employees. The compensation 
also includes payments from other Group companies. Compen-
sation for Martin Bölsterli is defi ned in a management agreement 
with the sole proprietorship Martin Bölsterli, Zug. The option
plan for Martin Bölsterli elapsed on April 30, 2007, and was not 
renewed. 

No compensation etc. has been paid to former members of the 
Board of Directors, Group Management or related parties.
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20. Participation rates2220. Part0. Part0. Partiiicccipipipatatatiiion rateson rateson rates
CHFCCCHHHFFF Bearer sharesBBBeeeaaarer shrer shrer shaaarereresss OptionsOptionOptionOptionsss

30.04.083330.04.080.04.080.04.08 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888

Board of directorsBoard oBoard oBoard offf dir dir direeectorsctorsctors

Nicolas EichenbergerNNNicolas icolas icolas EEEichenichenichenbbbergerergererger ChairmanCCChairmanhairmanhairman 610666111000 0000

Martin Bölsterli *)Martin Bölsterli *Martin Bölsterli *Martin Bölsterli *))) Delegate of the Board of Directors / CEODDDeleeleelegggate of the Board of Directors / CEate of the Board of Directors / CEate of the Board of Directors / CEOOO 1,2981,2981,2981,298 4,6604,4,4,660660660

François JaquierFranFranFrançççois Jaquieois Jaquieois Jaquierrr DirectorDDDirectirectirectooorrr 450444505050 0000

Richard MüllerRRRichard ichard ichard MMMülleülleüllerrr DirectorDDDirectirectirectooorrr 50555000 0000

Francesc Cruellas *)Francesc Cruellas *Francesc Cruellas *Francesc Cruellas *))) Executive DirectorEEExecutive xecutive xecutive DDDirectorirectorirector 1,1001,1,1,101010000 0000

TotalTotalTotalTotal 3,5083,503,503,50888 4,6604,664,664,66000

Remaining Members of Group ManagementRemaining Members of Group ManagemenRemaining Members of Group ManagemenRemaining Members of Group Managementtt

Pius BernetPPPius ius ius BBBerneterneternet CFOCCCFFFOOO 0000 0000

Jean-Pierre van GriethuysenJJJean-Pierre van ean-Pierre van ean-Pierre van GGGriethuriethuriethuyyysesesennn CEO Cybelec DivisionCCCEO CEO CEO Cyyybelec Divisiobelec Divisiobelec Divisionnn 50555000 0000

Bruno GuanziroliBruno Bruno Bruno GGGuanziroluanziroluanziroliii Sen. VP Sales & MarketingSSSen. VP Sales & Marketinen. VP Sales & Marketinen. VP Sales & Marketinggg 0000 0000

TotalTTTotaotaotaTotaTTTotaTotaTotaTTTotaT lll 50505050 0000

*) Martin Bölsterli and Francesc Cruellas are executive members of corporate bodies*)*)*) Martin Bölsterli and Francesc Cruellas are executive members of corporate bodie Martin Bölsterli and Francesc Cruellas are executive members of corporate bodie Martin Bölsterli and Francesc Cruellas are executive members of corporate bodiesss

The Infranor Group has no knowledge of any parties related to The Infranor Group has no knowledge of any parties related to The Infranor Group has no knowledge of any parties related to The Infranor Group has no knowledge of any parties related to 
members of the Board of Directors or to Group Managementmmmembers oembers oembers offf the Board o the Board o the Board of the Board offf the Board of the Board of the Board offf the Board of fff Directors or to  Directors or to  Directors or to f Directors or to fff Directors or to f Directors or to f Directors or to fff Directors or to f GGGroup Managementroup Managementroup Management
who are shareholders in Infranor Inter AG.whwhwhooo are shareh are shareh are sharehooolders in Inlders in Inlders in Infffranranranooor Inter Ar Inter Ar Inter AGGG...

21. Contingent liabilities2221. Contingent liabilities1. Contingent liabilities1. Contingent liabilities
1,000 CHF 111,000 ,000 ,000 CCCHF HF HF 30.04.083330.04.00.04.00.04.0888 30.04.07303030...0004.4.4.070707

Guarantees provided by Infranor Inter AG GGGuarantees provided by Inuarantees provided by Inuarantees provided by Infffranor Inter Aranor Inter Aranor Inter AGGG

for banks and landlordsfofofor banks and landlr banks and landlr banks and landlooordrdrdsss 12,227111222,,,222222777 12,4031112,42,42,4030303

Infranor Inter AG guarantee for collateralizedIIInfranor Inter AG nfranor Inter AG nfranor Inter AG ggguarantee for collateralizeduarantee for collateralizeduarantee for collateralized

debt obligation PULS CDO 2006 – 1dddebt obligation PULS CDebt obligation PULS CDebt obligation PULS CDOOO 2006 –  2006 –  2006 – 111 8,300888,,,303030000 8,3008,8,8,300300300

Guarantees furnished to third partiesGGGuarantees uarantees uarantees fffurnished to third partiesurnished to third partiesurnished to third parties 60606060 60666000

20,5872220,5870,5870,587 20,763202020,7,7,7636363

Bank limits were utilised by Group companies at the end ofBBBank limits were utilised by ank limits were utilised by ank limits were utilised by GGGroup companies at the end oroup companies at the end oroup companies at the end offf
April 2008 in the amount of 3.2 million CHF (previous year:April 2008 in the amount of 3.2 million CHF April 2008 in the amount of 3.2 million CHF April 2008 in the amount of 3.2 million CHF (((previous yearprevious yearprevious year:::
4.1 million CHF). As of April 30, 2008, the credit limits of all4.1 million CHF). As of A4.1 million CHF). As of A4.1 million CHF). As of Apppril 30, 2008, the credit limits of alril 30, 2008, the credit limits of alril 30, 2008, the credit limits of allll
Group companies (with and without guarantees from InfranorGGGroup companies (with and without roup companies (with and without roup companies (with and without ggguarantees from Infranoruarantees from Infranoruarantees from Infranor
Inter AG), including discounting limits, amounted to a total of IIInter AGnter AGnter AG))), including discounting limits, amounted to a total of , including discounting limits, amounted to a total of , including discounting limits, amounted to a total of 
19.7 million CHF (previous year: 19.7 million CHF).19.7 million CHF 19.7 million CHF 19.7 million CHF (((previous year: 19.7 million CHFprevious year: 19.7 million CHFprevious year: 19.7 million CHF)))...

According to Section 32 (1e) of the Swiss Value Added Tax Act, AccordinAccordinAccordinggg to Section 32 (1e) of the Swiss Value Added Tax Act,  to Section 32 (1e) of the Swiss Value Added Tax Act,  to Section 32 (1e) of the Swiss Value Added Tax Act, 
Infranor Inter AG is jointly and severally liable for all VAT owedIIInfranor Inter AG is jointly and severally liable for all VAT owenfranor Inter AG is jointly and severally liable for all VAT owenfranor Inter AG is jointly and severally liable for all VAT oweddd
by Group companies in Switzerland. bbby Group companies in y Group companies in y Group companies in SSSwitzerland. witzerland. witzerland. 

Otherwise, there are no guarantees or pledges in respect of OOOtherwise, there are no therwise, there are no therwise, there are no ggguarantees or pleduarantees or pleduarantees or pledggges in respect of es in respect of es in respect of 
Infranor Inter AG’s assets.IIInfranor Inter AG’s assetsnfranor Inter AG’s assetsnfranor Inter AG’s assets...

22. Events after the balance sheet date  

No events occurred after the balance sheet date which could have 
a material impact on the 2007/08 annual fi nancial statements. a material impact on the 2007/08 annual fi nancial statements. a material impact on the 2007/08 annual fi

There are no other circumstances which the company is required 
to disclose under Section 663b of the Swiss Code of Obligations.
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Resolution for the 2006/07 business yearRRResolution for the 2006/07 business esolution for the 2006/07 business esolution for the 2006/07 business yyyeaeaearrr
CHFCCCHHHFFF 07/080007/7/7/080808 06/07000666///070707

Balance brought forward from previous yearBalance brought forward from previous yeaBalance brought forward from previous yeaBalance brought forward from previous yearrr 4,683,310444,,,683683683,,,313131000 4,741,8764,4,4,741741741,8,8,8767676

Allocation to reserve for treasury stockAllocation to reserve Allocation to reserve Allocation to reserve fffor treasuror treasuror treasuryyy stoc stoc stockkk 0000 – 56,801––– 56 56 56,8,8,8010101

Profi t for the business yearPPPrororofififi t  t  t fi t fififi t fi t fi t fififi t fi fffor the business or the business or the business yyyeaeaearrr – 727,432– 7– 7– 72227,47,47,4323232 1,072,457111,,,00072,45772,45772,457

Unappropriated retained earnings available to the Annual Shareholders’ MeetingUnappropriated retained earnings available to the Annual Shareholders’ MeetinUnappropriated retained earnings available to the Annual Shareholders’ MeetinUnappropriated retained earnings available to the Annual Shareholders’ Meetinggg 3,955,8783,955,3,955,3,955,888777888 5,757,5325,757,55,757,55,757,5323232

The Board of Directors will propose to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting onThe Board of Directors will propose to the Annual The Board of Directors will propose to the Annual The Board of Directors will propose to the Annual SSShareholders’ Meeting onhareholders’ Meeting onhareholders’ Meeting on
11th September 2008 that unappropriated retained earnings be utilised as follows:11th September 2008 that unappropriated retained earnings be utilised as follows11th September 2008 that unappropriated retained earnings be utilised as follows11th September 2008 that unappropriated retained earnings be utilised as follows:::

Distribution of a dividend of 10 % percent or CHF 2.00 per bearer share*DDDistribution of a dividend of 10 % istribution of a dividend of 10 % istribution of a dividend of 10 % pppercent or CHF 2.00 ercent or CHF 2.00 ercent or CHF 2.00 ppper bearer share*er bearer share*er bearer share* 1,528,7721,521,521,52888,772,772,772 947,722999474747,,,47,474747,47,47,474747,47777222222

Allocated to statutory reservesAAAllocated to statutorllocated to statutorllocated to statutoryyy reserves reserves reserves 150,0001115550,0000,0000,000 126,500111262626,,,505050000

Carried forward to new accountCarried Carried Carried ffforward to new accounorward to new accounorward to new accounttt 2,277,1062,2,2,277277277,,,277,277277277,277,277,277277277,277111000666 4,683,3104,4,4,666888333,,,313131000

Total available to Annual Shareholders’ MeetingTotal available to Annual Shareholders’ MeetinTotal available to Annual Shareholders’ MeetinTotal available to Annual Shareholders’ Meetinggg 3,955,8783,955,873,955,873,955,87888 5,757,5325,757,5325,757,5325,757,532

*  No dividend on Treasury Shares amounting to 11’110*  *  *  No dividend on Treasury No dividend on Treasury No dividend on Treasury SSShares amountinhares amountinhares amountinggg to 11’11 to 11’11 to 11’11000
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Statutory Auditors’ Report

To the general meeting of Infranor Inter AG, Zurich

INFRANOR INTER AG, ZÜRICH

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and the fi nancial statements (balance sheet, 
income statement and notes, on pages 64 to 71) of Infranor Inter AG for the year ended April 30, 2008. The prior 
year fi nancial statements have been audited by another auditor. In their auditors’ report dated July 6, 2007 an 
unqualifi ed opinion has been issued.

These fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We confi rm that we meet the legal requirements 
concerning professional qualifi cation and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards and with the Interna-tional Standards
on Auditing (ISA), which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the fi nancial statements are free from material mis-statement. We have examined on a test basis 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. We have also assessed the 
accounting principles used, signifi cant esti-mates made and the overall fi nancial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and fi nancial statements and the proposed appropriation of available 
earnings (on page 71) comply with Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the fi nancial statements submitted to you be approved.

Deloitte AG

    

Martin Welser   Stefan Weber  Stefan Weber
Auditor in charge

July 4, 2008 
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Adresses
As at May 1, 2008

Infranor Division

Engineering companies

Infranor S.A. 
Place de la Gare 5 
CH-1296 Coppet

Phone +41 (0)22 960 70 70 
Fax +41 (0)22 960 70 80

Sales offi ce Zurich Sales offi ce Zurich Sales offi
Schaffhauserstrasse 418, 
P. O. Box 
CH-8050 Zurich

Phone+41 (0)44 308 50 00
Fax +41 (0)44 308 50 09

www.infranor.ch 
infranor@infranor.ch

Infranor Asia Ltd. 
Schaffhauserstrasse 418, 
P. O. Box 
CH-8050 Zurich

Phone +41 (0)44 307 45 00 
Fax +41 (0)44 307 45 10

Representative Offi ce Shanghai Representative Offi ce Shanghai Representative Offi
26H, No. 1800, 
West Zhongshan Rd 
CN-200233 Shanghai

Phone +86 21 6440 1095
Fax +86 21 6440 1097

www.infranor.cn 
jiong.pan@infranor.cn

Infranor S.A.S. 
Sales company
3, avenue Louis Delage 
F-91310 Linas

Phone +33 1 69 63 35 15 
Fax +33 1 69 63 35 16

www.infranor-france.com 
infranor@infranorfrance.com

Infranor S.L.U. 
Alfonso XII, No 345 
E- 08912 Badalona 
(Barcelona)

Phone +34 93 460 16 31 
Fax +34 93 399 96 08

www.infranor.es 
infranor@infranor.es

Infranor B.V. 
Albert Einsteinstraat 6 
NL-3261 LP Oud-Beijerland

Phone +31 186 610 155 
Fax +31 186 614 535

www.infranor.nl 
info@infranor.nl

Infranor GmbH 
Donaustrasse 19A 
D-63452 Hanau

Phone +49 6181 18012 0 
Fax +49 6181 18012 90

www.infranor.de 
info@infranor.de

Infranor Ltd. 
Unit 60A, Smithbrook Kilns 
Cranleigh 
UK-Surrey GU6 8JJ

Phone +44 1483 274 887 
Fax +44 1483 276 037

www.infranor.ltd.uk 
sales@infranor.ltd.uk

Infranor, Inc. 

www.infranorusa.com 
info@infranorusa.com

Product companies

Automotion, Inc. 
4480, Varsity Drive 
USA-Ann Arbor, MI 48108

Phone +1 734 662 7771 
Fax +1 734 662 3707

www.automotioninc.com 
sales@automotioninc.com

Infranor Electronics S.A.S. 
Avenue Jean Moulin, BP 142 
F-65104 Lourdes Cedex

Phone +33 562 941 067 
Fax +33 562 421 869

www.infranor.fr 
infranor@infranor.fr

Mavilor Motors S.A. 
Poligono Industrial Urvasa 
C. / Berguedà-Empordà 
E-08130 Sta. Perpètua de Mogoda 
(Barcelona)

Phone +34 93 574 36 90 
Fax +34 93 574 35 70

www.mavilor.es 
mavilor@mavilor.es

MESA Automation GmbH 
Maybachufer 48–51 
D-12045 Berlin

Phone +49 30 613 90 80 
Fax +49 30 623 17 66

www.mesa-berlin.de 
service@mesa-berlin.de

Cybelec Division

Cybelec S.A. 
27, rue des Uttins 
CH-1401 Yverdon-les-Bains

Phone +41 (0)24 447 02 00 
Fax +41 (0)24 447 02 01

www.cybelec.ch 
info@cybelec.ch

Cybelec S.r.l. 
Via Paisiello 14 
I-20131 Milano

Phone +39 02 204 80 897 
Fax +39 02 204 80 898

www.cybelec.it 
info@cybelec.it

Cybelec Numerical Control 
Technology (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. 
RoomB4-1, Forward Hi-tech Zone 
33 Forward Rd, Jiading District 
CN-201 818 Shanghai

Phone +86 21 64 40 10 95 
Fax +86 21 64 40 10 97

www.cybelec.com.cn 
yiwanli@cybelec.com.cn

Representative Offi ce USA Representative Offi ce USA Representative Offi
366, Washington Street 
US-Marseilles, IL 61341

Phone + 1 815 795 3335 
Fax + 1 815 795 3337

www.cybelec.ch 
oley.bob@gmail.com

Head offi ce

Infranor Inter AG
Schaffhauserstrasse 418, 
P. O. Box
CH-8050 Zurich

Phone +41 (0)44 307 45 00
Fax +41 (0)44 307 45 10
www.infranor.com
info@infrainter.ch

Sw
itz

er
la

nd
B

en
el

ux
S

pa
in

C
hi

na

C
hi

na
G

er
m

an
y

G
er

m
an

y
U

SA
Sw

itz
er

la
nd

Sw
itz

er
la

nd
S

pa
in

U
SA

Fr
an

ce
It

al
y

Sw
itz

er
la

nd
Fr

an
ce

U
ni

te
d 

K
in

gd
om

U
SA

Sw
itz

er
la

nd

299 Ballardvale Street, Suite 4 
USA-Wilmington, MA 01887-1013

Phone +1 978 988 9002
Fax +1 978 988 9112





Drafting and editing: Peter Fenkart, 
corporate communications consultant, Zollikon
Design: losego & renfer, Zurich
Photos: Mattenbach AG, Winterthur; Hans Meier, Zurich;
Roland Fritsch, Berlin; Schiess & Schmidt AG, Zurich
Printing: DAZ Druckerei Albisrieden AG, Zurich
08/2008

Dieser Geschäftsbericht 
ist auch in deutscher Sprache erhältlich.

Ce rapport annuel
existe également en français.

In case of doubt
the german version applies.
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Infranor Inter AG
Schaffhauserstrasse 418
P. O. Box
CH-8050 Zurich

Phone +41 (0)44 307 45 00
Fax +41 (0)44 307 45 10

www.infranor.com 

Responsible 
for Investor Relations:
Martin Bölsterli, 
Chairman of the Board 
of Directors

Phone +41 (0)44 307 45 28
Fax +41 (0)44 307 45 10

boelsterli@infrainter.ch


